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Partl. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Iltem 1. Financial Statements .

FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Unaudited)

September 30, December 31,
2018 2017
(In millions)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,556 $ 4,447
Trade accounts receivable 1,064 1,246
Income and other tax receivables 226 325
Inventories:
Materials and supplies, net 1,439 1,305
Mill and leach stockpiles 1,439 1,422
Product 1,169 1,166
Other current assets 402 270
Assets held for sale 626 508
Total current assets 10,921 10,689
Property, plant, equipment and mine development costs, net 23,013 22,934
Long-term mill and leach stockpiles 1,355 1,409
Other assets 2,460 2,270
Total assets $ 37,749 $ 37,302
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 2,396 $ 2,321
Accrued income taxes 645 565
Current portion of environmental and asset retirement obligations 460 388
Dividends payable 73 —
Current portion of debt 4 1,414
Liabilities held for sale 273 323
Total current liabilities 3,851 5,011
Long-term debt, less current portion 11,123 11,703
Deferred income taxes 3,839 3,649
Environmental and asset retirement obligations, less current portion 3,564 3,631
Other liabilities 1,918 2,012
Total liabilities 24,295 26,006
Equity:
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock 158 158
Capital in excess of par value 26,603 26,751
Accumulated deficit (12,526) (14,722)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5632) (487)
Common stock held in treasury (3,726) (3,723)
Total stockholders’ equity 9,977 7,977
Noncontrolling interests 3,477 3,319
Total equity 13,454 11,296
Total liabilities and equity $ 37,749 $ 37,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Unaudited)

Revenues
Cost of sales:
Production and delivery
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Total cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Mining exploration and research expenses
Environmental obligations and shutdown costs
Net gain on sales of assets
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Net gain on early extinguishment of debt
Other income (expense), net

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity in
affiliated companies’ net earnings

Provision for income taxes

Equity in affiliated companies’ net earnings

Net income from continuing operations

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations

Net income

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Net income attributable to common stockholders

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

Dividends declared per share of common stock

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions, except per share amounts)
4,908 $ 4,310 $ 14,944 11,362
3,069 2,794 8,792 7,462
458 418 1,351 1,257
3,527 3,212 10,143 8,719
101 104 341 362
27 27 72 60
8 72 76 76
(70) (33) (126) (66)
3,593 3,382 10,506 9,151
1,315 928 4,438 2,211
(143) (304) (436) (633)
— 11 8 8
14 9) 63 9)
1,186 626 4,073 1,577
(522) (387) (1,543) (747)
4 3 5 6
668 242 2,535 836
(4) 3 (19) 50
664 245 2,516 886
(108) 35 (399) (106)
— — = )
556 $ 280 $ 2,117 776
0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.47 0.50
— — (0.01) 0.03
0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.46 0.53
0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.46 0.50
— — (0.01) 0.03
0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.45 0.53
1,450 1,448 1,449 1,447
1,458 1,454 1,458 1,453
0.05 $ — $ 0.15 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)

Net income

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:
Unrealized gains on securities
Defined benefit plans:

Actuarial gains arising during the period, net of taxes of $48 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2017

Amortization of unrecognized amounts included in net periodic benefit costs
Foreign exchange (losses) gains
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
Total comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to common stockholders

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)

664 $ 245  § 2,516 886
— — — 2
— — — 69
13 12 36 42
(1) 1 (2) =
12 13 34 113

676 258 2,550 999

(109) 35 (399) (118)

567 $ 293 $ 2,151 881
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FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended

Cash flow from operating activities:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Net gain on sales of assets
Stock-based compensation
Net charges for Cerro Verde royalty dispute
Payments for Cerro Verde royalty dispute
Net charges for environmental and asset retirement obligations, including accretion
Payments for environmental and asset retirement obligations
Net charges for defined pension and postretirement plans
Pension plan contributions
Net gain on early extinguishment of debt
Deferred income taxes

Loss (gain) on disposal of discontinued operations

Decrease in long-term mill and leach stockpiles

Non-cash drillship settlements/idle rig costs and other oil and gas adjustments
Oil and gas contract settlement payments
Other, net
Changes in working capital and other tax payments:

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Other current assets

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accrued income taxes and timing of other tax payments

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital expenditures:
North America copper mines
South America
Indonesia
Molybdenum mines
Other
Proceeds from sales of assets
Intangible water rights and other, net

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from debt
Repayments of debt
Cash dividends paid:

Common stock

Noncontrolling interests
Stock-based awards net proceeds (payments)
Debt financing costs and other, net

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents
Decrease (increase) in cash and cash equivalents in assets held for sale
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at beginning of year

September 30,
2018 2017
(In millions)
2,516 $ 886
1,351 1,257
(126) (66)
70 58
— 359
(32) (32)
206 196
(179) (85)
59 95
(60) (152)
(8) (8)
202 77
19 (41)
54 181
— (33)
— (70)
7 1
321 420
(326) (314)
(16) (7)
(2) (93)
(131) 393
3,925 3,012
(413) (106)
(188) (65)
(695) (663)
(6) 4)
(89) (182)
10 68
(91) (2)
(1,472) (954)
475 795
(2,410) (1,991)
(145) 2
(241) (67)
4 (10)
(23) (12)
(2,340) (1,287)
113 771
55 (45)
4,631 4,403




Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at end of period $ 4,799 $ 5,129

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY (Unaudited)
THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30

Stockholders’ Equity

Accumu- Common Stock
Common Stock lated Held in Treasury
Other Total
Number Capital in Accum- Compre- Number Stock- Non-
of At Par Excess of ulated hensive of At holders’ controlling Total
Shares Value Par Value Deficit Loss Shares Cost Equity Interests Equity
(In millions)
Balance at June 30, 2018 1,579 $ 158 $26,667 $(13,161) $ (464) 130 $(3,726) $ 9474 $ 3,368 $12,842
Stock-based compensation, including the tender of
shares — — 9 — — — — 9 — 9
Dividends — — (73) — — — — (73) — (73)
Adoption of new accounting standard for reclassification
of income taxes (refer to Note 11) — — — 79 (79) — — — — —
Net income attributable to common stockholders — — — 556 — — — 556 — 556
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — — 108 108
Other comprehensive income — — — — 11 — — 11 1 12
Balance at September 30, 2018 1,579 $ 158  $26,603 $(12,526) $ (532) 130 $(3,726) $ 9977 $ 3477 $13,454
Stockholders’ Equity
Accumu- Common Stock
Common Stock lated Held in Treasury
Other Total
Number Capital in Accum- Compre- Number Stock- Non-
of At Par Excess of ulated hensive of At holders’  controlling Total
Shares Value Par Value Deficit Loss Shares Cost Equity Interests Equity
(In millions)
Balance at June 30, 2017 1577 $ 158 $26,734 $(16,043) $ (456) 130 $(3,720) $ 6673 $ 3,320 $ 9,993
Exercised and vested stock-based awards 1 — — — — — — — — —
Stock-based compensation, including the tender of
shares — — 9 — — — ) 7 — 7
Dividends — — — — — — — — (28) (28)
Net income attributable to common stockholders — — — 280 — — — 280 — 280
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — — (35) (35)
Other comprehensive income — — — — 13 — — 13 — 13
Balance at September 30, 2017 1578 $ 158 $26,743  $(15763) $ (443) 130 $(3,722) $ 6,973 $ 3,257 $10,230

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY (Unaudited)
NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30

Stockholders’ Equity

Accumu- Common Stock
Common Stock lated Held in Treasury
Other Total
Number Capital in Accum- Compre- Number Stock- Non-
of At Par Excess of ulated hensive of At holders’  controlling Total
Shares Value Par Value Deficit Loss Shares Cost Equity Interests Equity
(In millions)
Balance at December 31, 2017 1,578 $ 158  $ 26,751 $(14,722) $ (487) 130 $(3,723) $ 7977 $ 3319 $11,296
Exercised and vested stock-based awards 1 — 8 — — — — 8 — 8
Stock-based compensation, including the tender of
shares — — 62 — — — 3) 59 — 59
Dividends — — (218) — — — — (218) (241) (459)
Adoption of new accounting standard for reclassification
of income taxes (refer to Note 11) — — — 79 (79) — — — — —
Net income attributable to common stockholders — — — 2,117 — — — 2,117 — 2,117
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — — 399 399
Other comprehensive income — — — — 34 — — 34 — 34
Balance at September 30, 2018 1,579 $ 158 $26,603 $(12,526) $ (532) 130 $(3,726) $ 9,977 $ 3477 $13,454
Stockholders’ Equity
Accumu- Common Stock
Common Stock lated Held in Treasury
Other Total
Number Capital in Accum- Compre- Number Stock- Non-
of At Par Excess of ulated hensive of At holders’ controlling Total
Shares Value Par Value Deficit Loss Shares Cost Equity Interests Equity
(In millions)
Balance at December 31, 2016 1,574 $ 157 $26,690 $(16,540) $ (548) 129  $(3,708) $ 6,051 $ 3206 $ 9257
Exercised and vested stock-based awards 4 1 4 — — — — 5 — 5
Stock-based compensation, including the tender of
shares — — 49 — — 1 (14) 35 — 35
Dividends, including forfeited dividends — — — 1 — — — 1 (67) (66)
Net income attributable to common stockholders — — — 776 — — — 776 — 776
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests,
including discontinued operations — — — — — — — — 110 110
Other comprehensive income — — — — 105 — — 105 8 113
Balance at September 30, 2017 1,578 $ 158 $26,743 $(15763) $ (443) 130 $(3,722) $ 6,973 $ 3,257 $10,230

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and do not include all
information and disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States (U.S.). Therefore, this information should be
read in conjunction with Freeport-McMoRan Inc.’s (FCX) consolidated financial statements and notes contained in its annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 . The information furnished herein reflects all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of
the results for the interim periods reported. With the exception of the accounting for discontinued operations, assets held for sale and the remeasurement of a
pension plan in second-quarter 2017, all such adjustments are, in the opinion of management, of a normal recurring nature. Operating results for the nine -
month period ended September 30, 2018 , are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2018.

Assets Held for Sale. FCX continues to market and evaluate the fair value of its effective 56 percent interest in Freeport Cobalt, which includes the large-
scale cobalt refinery in Kokkola, Finland, and the related sales and marketing business. During third-quarter 2018, the fair value evaluations resulted in an
increase to the estimated fair value less costs to sell of $50 million (included in net gain on sales of assets in the consolidated statements of income).

FCX is continuing to assess opportunities for its Kisanfu copper and cobalt exploration project, located in the Democratic of Republic of Congo, including
development of the project on its own or a sale of all or a minority stake in the project. In second-quarter 2018, management concluded it no longer believes
that it is probable an outright sale will occur in the near term and the related assets and liabilities should no longer be classified as held for sale. In addition,
because of this conclusion, revisions to the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017, included a $90 million increase to property, plant,
equipment and mine development costs, net, with an offsetting reduction in current assets held for sale, and a $27 million increase to deferred income taxes,
with an offsetting reduction in current liabilities held for sale.

NOTE 2. EARNINGS PER SHARE

FCX calculates its basic net income per share of common stock under the two-class method and calculates its diluted net income per share of common stock
using the more dilutive of the two-class method or the treasury-stock method. Basic net income per share of common stock was computed by dividing net
income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share of
common stock was calculated by including the basic weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding adjusted for the effects of all potential dilutive
shares of common stock, unless their effect would be anti-dilutive.
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Reconciliations of net income and weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding for purposes of calculating basic and diluted net income per share
follow (in millions, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Net income from continuing operations $ 668 $ 242 $ 2,535 $ 836
Net (income) loss from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests (108) 35 (399) (106)
Undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities (4) 3) 5) 3)
Net income from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders 556 274 2,131 727
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (4) 3 (19) 50
Net income from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — (4)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders (4) 3 (19) 46
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 552 $ 277 $ 2,112 $ 773
Basic weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 1,450 1,448 1,449 1,447
Add shares issuable upon exercise or vesting of dilutive stock options and restricted stock units 8 6 9 a 6
Diluted weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 1,458 1,454 1,458 1,453
Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:

Continuing operations $ 0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.47 $ 0.50
Discontinued operations — — (0.01) 0.03
$ 0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.46 $ 0.53

Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Continuing operations $ 0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.46 $ 0.50
Discontinued operations — — (0.01) 0.03
$ 0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.45 $ 0.53

a. Excludes approximately 2 million shares of common stock for the first nine months of 2018 associated with outstanding stock options with exercise prices less than the
average market price of FCX’s common stock that were anti-dilutive.

Outstanding stock options with exercise prices greater than the average market price of FCX’'s common stock during the period are excluded from the
computation of diluted net income per share of common stock. Stock options for 38 million shares of common stock were excluded for both third-quarter 2018
and third-quarter 2017 , 35 million for the first nine months of 2018 and 42 million for the first nine months of 2017 .

NOTE 3. INVENTORIES, INCLUDING LONG-TERM MILL AND LEACH STOCKPILES

The components of inventories follow (in millions):

September 30,
2018 December 31, 2017
Current inventories:
Total materials and supplies, net 2 $ 1,439 $ 1,305
Mill stockpiles $ 287 $ 360
Leach stockpiles 1,152 1,062
Total current mill and leach stockpiles $ 1,439 $ 1,422
Raw materials (primarily concentrate) $ 299 $ 265
Work-in-process 174 154
Finished goods 696 747
Total product inventories $ 1,169 $ 1,166
Long-term inventories:
Mill stockpiles $ 285 $ 300
Leach stockpiles 1,070 1,109
Total long-term mill and leach stockpiles $ 1,355 $ 1,409

a. Materials and supplies inventory was net of obsolescence reserves totaling $25 million at September 30, 2018 , and $29 million at December 31, 2017 .

NOTE 4. INCOME TAXES



Variations in the relative proportions of jurisdictional income result in fluctuations to FCX’s consolidated effective income tax rate. FCX’s consolidated effective

income tax rate was 38 percent for the first nine months of 2018 and 47 percent for the first nine months of 2017 . Geographic sources of FCX’s (provision for)
benefit from income taxes follow (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017

U.S. operations $ (6) $ 2 a $ 2 b $ 24 a
International operations (516) (389) ¢ (1,545) (771) ¢

Total $ (522) $ (387) $ (1,543) $ (747)
a. Inclu?es net tax (charges) credits of $(10) million in third-quarter 2017 and $21 million for the first nine months of 2017 associated with alternative minimum tax credit

carryforwards.

b. Includes a tax credit of $5 million associated with the settlement of a state income tax examination.

c. Includes net charges of $2 million associated with the Cerro Verde mining royalties dispute, consisting of tax charges of $127 million for disputed royalties and other

related mining taxes for the period October 2011 through the year 2013 (when royalties were determined based on operating income), mostly offset by a tax benefit of

$125 million associated with disputed royalties and other related mining taxes for the period December 2006 through the year 2013. Refer to Note 8 for further
discussion of the Cerro Verde royalty dispute.

As a result of the unfavorable Peruvian Supreme Court ruling on the Cerro Verde royalty dispute in October 2017, FCX recorded pre-tax charges of $357
million to income from continuing operations and $2 million of net tax expense in third-quarter 2017 and for the first nine months of 2017 . FCX’s consolidated
effective income tax rate was 39 percent for the first nine months of 2017 excluding these charges.

The December 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Act) included significant modifications to then-existing U.S. tax laws and created many new complex tax
provisions. As of December 31, 2017, FCX recorded provisional impacts of the tax effects related to specific provisions and continues to evaluate other
provisions of the Act. During the first nine months of 2018 , no adjustments were made to the provisional amounts recorded at December 31, 2017, as FCX

has not fully completed its analysis of the Act, and the provisional amounts continue to represent FCX’s best estimates. FCX’s current analysis of the Act
indicates that there may be adjustments to tax receivables associated

10



Table of Contents

with minimum tax credit refunds resulting from an ongoing review of tax positions taken in prior years and impacts from the Act’'s Global Intangible Low-Taxed
Income provisions resulting in use of net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards against income that would not generate a net tax liability absent the availability of
NOLs. FCX continues to carry a valuation allowance against all U.S. federal NOLs. During fourth-quarter 2018, FCX will finalize its calculations, including
quantifying potential impacts discussed above, as it completes its analysis of the Act.

NOTE 5. DEBT AND EQUITY

The components of debt follow (in millions):

September 30,
2018 December 31, 2017
Senior notes and debentures:
Issued by FCX $ 9,594 $ 11,429
Issued by Freeport Minerals Corporation (FMC) 358 358
Issued by Freeport-McMoRan Oil & Gas LLC (FM O&G LLC) — 54
Cerro Verde credit facility 1,171 1,269
Other 4 7
Total debt @ 11,127 13,117
Less current portion of debt (4) (1,414)
Long-term debt $ 11,123 $ 11,703

a. Includes additions for unamortized fair value adjustments totaling $60 million at September 30, 2018 ( $97 million at December 31, 2017 ), and is net of reductions for
unamortized net discounts and unamortized debt issuance costs totaling $73 million at September 30, 2018 ( $85 million at December 31, 2017 ).

Revolving Credit Facility. At September 30, 2018 , there were no borrowings outstanding and $13 million in letters of credit issued under FCX's revolving
credit facility, resulting in availability of approximately $3.5 billion , of which approximately $1.5 billion could be used for additional letters of credit.

In April 2018, FCX, PT Freeport Indonesia (PT-FI) and FM O&G LLC entered into a new $3.5 billion , five -year, unsecured revolving credit facility, which
replaced FCX'’s prior revolving credit facility (scheduled to mature on May 31, 2019). The new revolving credit facility is available until April 20, 2023, with
$500 million available to PT-FI, and up to $1.5 billion available in letters of credit, and has a substantially similar structure and terms as the prior revolving
credit facility. Interest on loans made under the new revolving credit facility will, at the option of FCX, be determined based on the adjusted London Interbank
Offered rate or the alternate base rate (each as defined in the new revolving credit facility) plus a spread to be determined by reference to FCX'’s credit
ratings. The new revolving credit facility contains customary affirmative covenants and representations, and also contains a number of negative covenants
that, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the ability of FCX's subsidiaries that are not borrowers or guarantors to incur additional
indebtedness (including guarantee obligations) and FCX's or its subsidiaries’ ability to: create liens on assets; enter into sale and leaseback transactions;
engage in mergers, liquidations and dissolutions; and sell assets. FCX’s new revolving credit facility also contains financial ratios governing maximum total
leverage and minimum interest expense coverage. FCX’s total leverage ratio (ratio of total debt to consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA), as defined in the credit agreement) cannot exceed 3.75 x, and the minimum interest expense coverage ratio (ratio of consolidated
EBITDA to consolidated cash interest expense, as defined in the credit agreement) is 2.25 x.

Senior Notes. In March 2018, FCX’s 2.375% Senior Notes matured, and the $1.4 billion outstanding principal balance was repaid.
On April 4, 2018, FCX redeemed $454 million of aggregate principal amount of outstanding senior notes (as discussed in Early Extinguishment of Debt).

Cerro Verde Credit Facility. In March 2018, Cerro Verde prepaid $100 million of its credit facility.
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Early Extinguishment of Debt. During second-quarter 2018, FCX redeemed in full certain senior notes, and holders received the principal amounts together
with the redemption premiums and accrued and unpaid interest up to the redemption date. A summary of these redemptions follows (in millions):

Principal Amount Net Adjustments Book Value Redemption Value Gain
FCX 6.75% Senior Notes due 2022 $ 404 $ 22 426 $ 418  $
FM O&G LLC 6 7/ ¢ % Senior Notes due 2023 50 4 54 52
$ 454 § 26 $ 480 $ 470 % 10

Partially offsetting the $10 million gain were losses of $2 million for the first nine months of 2018 , primarily associated with entering into the new revolving
credit facility.

During third-quarter 2017 and for the first nine months of 2017, FCX redeemed in full certain senior notes, which resulted in gains of $11 million . Partially
offsetting the gain on early extinguishment of debt for the first nine months of 2017 was a net loss of $3 million , primarily associated with the modification of
Cerro Verde's credit facility in second-quarter 2017.

Interest Expense, Net. Consolidated interest costs (before capitalized interest and excluding interest expense associated with disputed Cerro Verde royalties
totaling $1 million in third-quarter 2018 , $7 million for the first nine months of 2018 and $141 million in third-quarter 2017 and for the first nine months of 2017)
totaled $166 million in third-quarter 2018 , $196 million in third-quarter 2017 , $501 million for the first nine months of 2018 and $583 million for the first nine
months of 2017 . Capitalized interest added to property, plant, equipment and mine development costs, net, totaled $24 million in third-quarter 2018 , $33
million in third-quarter 2017 , $72 million for the first nine months of 2018 and $91 million for the first nine months of 2017 .

Common Stock. In February 2018, FCX's Board of Directors (the Board) reinstated a cash dividend on FCX’s common stock. On September 26, 2018, the
Board declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per share, which was paid on November 1, 2018, to common stockholders of record as of October 15,
2018.

NOTE 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FCX does not purchase, hold or sell derivative financial instruments unless there is an existing asset or obligation, or it anticipates a future activity that is likely
to occur and will result in exposure to market risks, which FCX intends to offset or mitigate. FCX does not enter into any derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes, but has entered into derivative financial instruments in limited instances to achieve specific objectives. These objectives principally
relate to managing risks associated with commodity price changes, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Commodity Contracts. From time to time, FCX has entered into derivative contracts to hedge the market risk associated with fluctuations in the prices of
commodities it purchases and sells. Derivative financial instruments used by FCX to manage its risks do not contain credit risk-related contingent provisions.
As of September 30, 2018 , and December 31, 2017 , FCX had no price protection contracts relating to its mine production. A discussion of FCX'’s derivative
contracts and programs follows.
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Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments — Fair Value Hedges

Copper Futures and Swap Contracts. Some of FCX’s U.S. copper rod customers request a fixed market price instead of the Commaodity Exchange Inc.
(COMEX) average copper price in the month of shipment. FCX hedges this price exposure in a manner that allows it to receive the COMEX average price in
the month of shipment while the customers pay the fixed price they requested. FCX accomplishes this by entering into copper futures or swap contracts.
Hedging gains or losses from these copper futures and swap contracts are recorded in revenues. FCX did not have any significant gains or losses resulting
from hedge ineffectiveness during the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 . At September 30, 2018 , FCX held copper futures and swap
contracts that qualified for hedge accounting for 78 million pounds at an average contract price of $2.81 per pound, with maturities through June 2020.

A summary of gains (losses) recognized in revenues for derivative financial instruments related to commodity contracts that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedge transactions, including the unrealized gains (losses) on the related hedged item follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Copper futures and swap contracts:

Unrealized gains (losses):

Derivative financial instruments $ 7 $ — $ (12) $ (1)

Hedged item — firm sales commitments (7) — 12 1
Realized (losses) gains:

Matured derivative financial instruments (19) 12 17) 21

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Embedded Derivatives. Certain FCX concentrate and cathode contracts are provisionally priced at the time of shipment. The provisional prices are finalized in
a specified future month (generally one to four months from the shipment date) based on quoted monthly average copper settlement prices on the London
Metal Exchange (LME) or COMEX and quoted monthly average London Bullion Market Association (LBMA) gold settlement prices as specified in the contract.
FCX receives market prices based on prices in the specified future month, which results in price fluctuations until the date of settlement. Similarly, FCX
purchases copper and cobalt under contracts that provide for provisional pricing. FCX applies the normal purchases and normal sales scope exception in
accordance with derivatives and hedge accounting guidance to the host sales agreements since the contracts do not allow for net settlement and always
result in physical delivery. Sales and purchases with a provisional sales price contain an embedded derivative ( i.e. , the price settlement mechanism is settled
after the time of delivery) that is required to be bifurcated from the host contract. The host contract is the sale or purchase of the metals contained in the
concentrate or cathode at the then-current metal price as defined in the contract. Mark-to-market price fluctuations from these embedded derivatives are
recorded through the settlement date and are reflected in revenues for sales contracts and in inventory for purchase contracts.

A summary of FCX’s embedded derivatives at September 30, 2018 , follows:

Average Price

Per Unit
Open Positions Contract Market Maturities Through

Embedded derivatives in provisional sales contracts:

Copper (millions of pounds) 567 $ 282 $ 2.84 January 2019

Gold (thousands of ounces) 375 1,201.40 1,188.75 December 2018
Embedded derivatives in provisional purchase contracts:

Copper (millions of pounds) 125 2.78 2.84 January 2019

Cobalt (millions of pounds) @ 7 23.80 22.14 December 2018

a. Relates to assets held for sale.
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Copper Forward Contracts. Atlantic Copper, FCX’s wholly owned smelting and refining unit in Spain, enters into copper forward contracts designed to hedge
its copper price risk whenever its physical purchases and sales pricing periods do not match. These economic hedge transactions are intended to hedge
against changes in copper prices, with the mark-to-market hedging gains or losses recorded in cost of sales. At September 30, 2018 , Atlantic Copper held net
copper forward sales contracts for 31 million pounds at an average contract price of $2.73 per pound, with maturities through November 2018.

Summary of (Losses) Gains. A summary of the realized and unrealized (losses) gains recognized in operating income for commodity contracts that do not
qualify as hedge transactions, including embedded derivatives, follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Embedded derivatives in provisional sales contracts: @
Copper $ (93) $ 133 $ (242) $ 275
Gold and other metals (25) 4 (37) 22
Copper forward contracts ° 9 9) 17 (14)

a. Amounts recorded in revenues.
b. Amounts recorded in cost of sales as production and delivery costs.

Unsettled Derivative Financial Instruments
A summary of the fair values of unsettled commodity derivative financial instruments follows (in millions):

September 30,
2018 December 31, 2017

Commodity Derivative Assets:
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments :

Copper futures and swap contracts $ 5 §$ 11
Derivatives not designated as hedqing instruments :
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper and gold
sales/purchase contracts 49 155
Copper forward contracts — 1

Total derivative assets $ 54 §$ 167

Commodity Derivative Liabilities:
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments :

Copper futures and swap contracts $ 5 §$
Derivatives not designated as hedqing instruments :
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper and gold
sales/purchase contracts 50 31
Copper forward contracts 4 2

Total derivative liabilities $ 59 § 33

The table above and the following table excludes $12 million of embedded derivatives in provisional cobalt purchase contracts (in a gross asset position) at
September 30, 2018, and $24 million (in a gross liability position) at December 31, 2017, which are both reflected in liabilities held for sale.

14



Table of Contents

FCX’s commodity contracts have netting arrangements with counterparties with which the right of offset exists, and it is FCX’s policy to generally offset
balances by contract on its balance sheet. FCX’'s embedded derivatives on provisional sales/purchase contracts are netted with the corresponding
outstanding receivable/payable balances. A summary of these unsettled commodity contracts that are offset in the balance sheets follows (in millions):

Assets Liabilities

September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017 September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

Gross amounts recognized:
Commodity contracts:
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper

and gold sales/purchase contracts $ 49 $ 155 $ 50 $ 31
Copper derivatives 5 12 9 2
54 167 59 33

Less gross amounts of offset:
Commodity contracts:
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper

and gold sales/purchase contracts 12 — 12 —
Copper derivatives 5 1 5 1
17 1 17 1

Net amounts presented in balance sheet:
Commodity contracts:
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper

and gold sales/purchase contracts 81 155 38 31
Copper derivatives — 11 4 1
$ g7 B 166 $ 42 $ 32

Balance sheet classification:

Trade accounts receivable $ 32 3 151§ 24 % —
Other current assets — 11 — —
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5 4 18 32

$ 37§ 166 $ 42 3 32

Credit Risk. FCX is exposed to credit loss when financial institutions with which it has entered into derivative transactions (commodity, foreign exchange and
interest rate swaps) are unable to pay. To minimize the risk of such losses, FCX uses counterparties that meet certain credit requirements and periodically
reviews the creditworthiness of these counterparties. FCX does not anticipate that any of the counterparties it deals with will default on their obligations. As of
September 30, 2018 , the maximum amount of credit exposure associated with derivative transactions was $49 million (including embedded derivatives in
provisional cobalt purchase contracts of $12 million).

Other Financial Instruments. Other financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, restricted cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, investment securities, legally restricted funds, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, dividends payable and long-term debt. The carrying value
for cash and cash equivalents (which included time deposits of $2.4 billion at September 30, 2018 , and $2.9 billion at December 31, 2017 ), restricted cash,
restricted cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and dividends payable approximates fair value because of their
short-term nature and generally negligible credit losses (refer to Note 7 for the fair values of investment securities, legally restricted funds and long-term debt).

In addition, as of September 30, 2018 , FCX has contingent consideration assets related to certain 2016 asset sales (refer to Note 7 for the related fair values
and to Note 2 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , for further discussion of these instruments).
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Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash and Restricted Cash Equivalents. The following table provides a reconciliation of total cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows to the components presented in the consolidated
balance sheets (in millions):

September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

Balance sheet components:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4556 $ 4,447
Restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents included in:
Other current assets 116 52
Other assets 127 132

Total cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents presented in the consolidated statements
of cash flows $ 4799 $ 4,631

FCX’s restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents are primarily related to PT-FI's commitment for smelter development in Indonesia; guarantees and
commitments for certain mine closure and reclamation obligations, and customs duty taxes; and funds held as cash collateral for surety bonds related to
plugging and abandonment obligations of certain oil and gas properties. Restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents are classified as a current or long-
term asset based on the timing and nature of when or how the cash is expected to be used or when the restrictions are expected to lapse. Restricted cash
and restricted cash equivalents are comprised of time deposits and money market funds.

NOTE 7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value accounting guidance includes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).
FCX did not have any significant transfers in or out of Level 3 during third-quarter 2018 .

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a new Accounting Standards Update (ASU) in connection with the disclosure

framework project that modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. FCX early adopted this ASU in third-quarter 2018, which did not
have a material impact on its financial statements.
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FCX’s financial instruments are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value except for contingent consideration associated with the sale of the
Deepwater Gulf of Mexico (GOM) oil and gas properties (which was recorded under the loss recovery approach) and debt. A summary of the carrying amount
and fair value of FCX’s financial instruments (including those measured at net asset value (NAV) as a practical expedient), other than cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, restricted cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and dividends payable (refer to Note 6)
follows (in millions):

At September 30, 2018

Carrying Fair Value
Amount Total NAV Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investment securities: °
U.S. core fixed income fund $ 24 $ 24 $ 24 $ —  $ —  $ —
Equity securities 5 5 — 5 — —
Total 29 29 24 5) — —
Legally restricted funds: @
U.S. core fixed income fund 54 54 54 — — —
Government bonds and notes 31 31 — — 31 —
Government mortgage-backed securities 39 39 — — 39 —
Corporate bonds 28 28 — — 28 —
Asset-backed securities 14 14 — — 14 —
Collateralized mortgage-backed securities 8 8 — — 8 —
Money market funds 3 3 — & — —
Municipal bonds 1 1 — — 1 —
Total 178 178 54 3 121 —
Derivatives:
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper and gold
sales/purchase contracts in a gross asset position ¢4 49 49 — — 49 —
Copper futures and swap contracts °© 5 5 —_ 4 1 —
Contingent consideration for the sales of
TF Holdings Limited (TFHL) and onshore
Callifornia oil and gas properties @ 167 167 = = 167 =
Total 221 221 — 4 217 —
Contingent consideration for the sale of the
Deepwater GOM oil and gas properties 2 148 130 = = = 130
Liabilities
Derivatives: ©
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper and gold
sales/purchase contracts in a gross liability position $ 50 $ 50 §$ — 3 — 3 50 $ —
Copper futures and swap contracts 5 5 — 4 1 —
Total 55 55 — 4 51 —
Long-term debt, including current portion © 11,127 10,865 = — 10,865 —
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At December 31, 2017

Carrying Fair Value
Amount Total NAV Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investment securities: 2P
U.S. core fixed income fund $ 25 $ 25 $ 25 $ —  $ —  $ —
Equity securities 5 5 — 5 — —
Total 30 30 25 5 — —
Legally restricted funds: @
U.S. core fixed income fund 55 55 55) — = =
Government bonds and notes 40 40 — — 40 —
Corporate bonds 32 32 — = 32 =
Government mortgage-backed securities 27 27 — — 27 —
Asset-backed securities 15 15 — = 15 =
Money market funds 11 11 — 11 — —
Collateralized mortgage-backed securities 8 8 — = 8 =
Municipal bonds 1 1 — — 1 —
Total 189 189 55 11 123 —
Derivatives:
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper and gold
sales/purchase contracts in a gross asset position © 155 155 — — 155 —
Copper futures and swap contracts °© 11 11 — 9 2 —
Copper forward contracts °© 1 1 — — 1 —
Contingent consideration for the sales of TFHL
and onshore California oil and gas properties 2 108 108 = = 108 =
Total 275 275 — 9 266 —
Contingent consideration for the sale of the
Deepwater GOM oil and gas properties 2 150 134 — — — 134
Liabilities
Derivatives: ¢
Embedded derivatives in provisional copper and gold
sales/purchase contracts in a gross liability position 4 $ 31 $ 31§ — 3 — 31§ —
Copper forward contracts 2 2 — 1 1 —
Total 33 33 — 1 32 —
Long-term debt, including current portion © 13,117 13,269 — — 13,269 —

a. Current portion included in other current assets and long-term portion included in other assets.

b. Excludes time deposits (which approximated fair value) included in (i) other current assets of $116 million at September 30, 2018 , and $52 million at December 31,
2017 , primarily associated with PT-FI's mine closure and reclamation guarantees and its disputed incremental export duty and (ii) other assets of $126 million at
September 30, 2018 , and $123 million at December 31, 2017 , primarily associated with an assurance bond to support PT-FI's commitment for smelter development
in Indonesia.

c. Refer to Note 6 for further discussion and balance sheet classifications.

d. Excludes embedded derivatives in provisional cobalt purchase contracts of $12 million at September 30, 2018 , and $24 million at December 31, 2017 (refer to Note 6
for further discussion).

e. Recorded at cost except for debt assumed in acquisitions, which were recorded at fair value at the respective acquisition dates. In addition, debt excludes $160 million
at September 30, 2018 , and $112 million at December 31, 2017 , related to assets held for sale (which approximated fair value).

Valuation Techniques. The U.S. core fixed income fund is valued at NAV. The fund strategy seeks total return consisting of income and capital appreciation
primarily by investing in a broad range of investment-grade debt securities, including U.S. government obligations, corporate bonds, mortgage-backed
securities, asset-backed securities and money market instruments. There are no restrictions on redemptions (which are usually within one business day of
notice).
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Money market funds are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted market prices in active markets.

Equity securities are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded and, as such, are classified within
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Fixed income securities (government securities, corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, collateralized mortgage-backed securities and municipal bonds)
are valued using a bid-evaluation price or a mid-evaluation price. A bid-evaluation price is an estimated price at which a dealer would pay for a security. A
mid-evaluation price is the average of the estimated price at which a dealer would sell a security and the estimated price at which a dealer would pay for a
security. These evaluations are based on quoted prices, if available, or models that use observable inputs and, as such, are classified within Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy.

FCX’s embedded derivatives on provisional copper concentrate, copper cathode and gold purchases and sales are valued using quoted monthly LME or
COMEX copper forward prices and the adjusted LBMA gold prices at each reporting date based on the month of maturity (refer to Note 6 for further
discussion); however, FCX’s contracts themselves are not traded on an exchange. As a result, these derivatives are classified within Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

FCX’s embedded derivatives on provisional cobalt purchases, included in liabilities held for sale, are valued using quoted monthly LME cobalt forward prices
or average published Metals Bulletin cobalt prices, subject to certain adjustments as specified by the terms of the contracts, at each reporting date based on
the month of maturity (Level 2).

FCX's derivative financial instruments for copper futures and swap contracts and copper forward contracts that are traded on the respective exchanges are
classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted monthly COMEX or LME prices at each reporting date based on the
month of maturity (refer to Note 6 for further discussion). Certain of these contracts are traded on the over-the-counter market and are classified within Level 2
of the fair value hierarchy based on COMEX and LME forward prices.

As reported in Note 2 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , in November 2016, FCX’s sale of its interest in TFHL
included contingent consideration of up to $120 million in cash, consisting of $60 million if the average copper price exceeds $3.50 per pound and $60 million
if the average cobalt price exceeds $20 per pound, both during the 24-month period beginning January 1, 2018 . Also in 2016, FCX Oil & Gas LLC’s (FM
O&G) sale of its onshore California oil and gas properties included contingent consideration of up to $150 million , consisting of $50 million per year for 2018,
2019 and 2020 if the price of Brent crude oil averages over $70 per barrel in each of these calendar years. Future changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration derivative for the sale of TFHL will continue to be recorded in discontinued operations and for the onshore California oil and gas properties will
continue to be recorded in operating income. The fair value of the contingent consideration derivative was (i) $57 million at September 30, 2018 , and $74
million at December 31, 2017 , associated with the sale of TFHL and (ii) $110 million at September 30, 2018 , and $34 million at December 31, 2017 ,
associated with the sale of the onshore California oil and gas properties. The contingent consideration derivatives are included in other assets in the
consolidated balance sheets except for $49 million included in other current assets at September 30, 2018 . These fair values were calculated based on
average commodity price forecasts through applicable maturity dates using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The models use various observable inputs,
including Brent crude oil forward prices, historical copper and cobalt prices, volatilities, discount rates and settlement terms. As a result, these contingent
consideration assets are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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As reported in Note 2 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , in December 2016, FM O&G'’s sale of its Deepwater
GOM oil and gas properties included up to $150 million in contingent consideration that was recorded at the total amount under the loss recovery approach.
The contingent consideration will be received over time as future cash flows are realized in connection with a third-party production handling agreement for an
offshore platform. The first collection occurred in third-quarter 2018. The contingent consideration included in (i) other current assets totaled $12 million at
September 30, 2018 , and $24 million at December 31, 2017 , and (ii) other assets totaled $136 million at September 30, 2018 , and $126 million at
December 31, 2017 . The fair value of this contingent consideration was calculated based on a discounted cash flow model using inputs that include third-
party estimates for reserves, production rates and production timing, and discount rates. Because significant inputs are not observable in the market, the
contingent consideration is classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Long-term debt, including current portion, is valued using available market quotes and, as such, is classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

The techniques described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values.
Furthermore, while FCX believes its valuation techniques are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different techniques or
assumptions to determine fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. There have been
no changes in the techniques used at September 30, 2018 , as compared to those techniques used at December 31, 2017 .

A summary of the changes in the fair value of FCX’s Level 3 instrument, contingent consideration for the sale of the Deepwater GOM oil and gas properties,
during the first nine months of 2018 follows (in millions):

Fair value at January 1, 2018 $ 134
Net unrealized loss related to assets still held at the end of the period (2)
Settlements (2)
Fair value at September 30, 2018 $ 130

NOTE 8. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Environmental

Cyprus Tohono, a wholly owned subsidiary of FMC, had historical mining operations in south central Arizona, and groundwater issues at the site are expected
to require remediation. FCX increased its recorded environmental obligation for this contingency by $44 million with a corresponding charge to operating
income in second-quarter 2018 to reflect an updated assessment of remediation alternatives. There was no significant update to this matter during third-
quarter 2018, which was also disclosed in Note 8 of FCX’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018.

As reported in Note 12 of FCX'’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , in third-quarter 2017, FCX recorded a $59 million
charge to operating income related to an increase in its Borough of Carteret environmental obligation as a result of off-site soil sampling in public and private
areas near the former smelter. In addition, for the first nine months of 2017, FCX recorded a $41 million credit to operating income associated with updated
cash flow and timing estimates for environmental obligations at former uranium mining sites in Arizona and New Mexico.

Litigation

There were no significant updates to previously reported legal proceedings included in Note 12 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017 , other than the matter below, which was also disclosed in Note 8 of FCX’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March
31, 2018, and June 30, 2018.

On April 1, 2016, a purported class action titled David Garcia v. Freeport-McMoRan Oil & Gas LLC was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California for
the County of Santa Barbara (Case No. 16CV01305) against FM O&G LLC, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of FCX. A former FM O&G LLC employee
filed the case, which alleges violations of various California employment laws and seeks relief for past wages, overtime, penalties, interest and attorney’s fees.
The primary issue underlying the claims is whether compensation must be paid to non-exempt shift workers on platforms located offshore California on the
outer-continental shelf for sleep time and other non-working
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time. In June 2016, FM O&G LLC removed the case to the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California, Santa Barbara (the District Court). In
September 2016, the District Court dismissed the complaint on the grounds that all four FM O&G LLC platforms potentially involved are located in federal
waters, that federal law, not state law, applies, and that federal law does not require an employer to compensate for non-work time. In October 2016, the
plaintiff appealed the dismissal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit (Ninth Circuit). In June 2017, the Ninth Circuit stayed the Garcia case pending
its decision in another case involving essentially the same legal issues, titled Newton v. Parker Drilling Management Services, Lid . In February 2018, a three-
judge panel of the Ninth Circuit ruled in favor of the plaintiffs in the Newton case. Because that decision conflicts with longstanding precedent in the Fifth
Circuit and could set a precedent that will result in a reversal of the dismissal in the Garcia case, FM O&G LLC and others filed amicus briefs in April 2018 in
support of Parker Drilling’s petition for an en banc rehearing in the Newton case. The Ninth Circuit denied that request on April 27, 2018, but modified its
original opinion noting that the question of whether the Ninth Circuit’s holding should be applied retrospectively is reserved for the District Court’s
consideration on remand. On May 16, 2018, the Ninth Circuit granted Parker Drilling’s motion to stay further proceedings in the District Court pending the
possible filing of a petition for review by the U.S. Supreme Court, which was filed in September 2018. FCX expects to learn whether the U.S. Supreme Court
will grant review of the Ninth Circuit’'s decision in the Newton case in early 2019. The Ninth Circuit has placed the Garcia case on administrative hold pending
the U.S. Supreme Court’s consideration of the petition for review in the Newton case.

The amount of the exposure in the Garcia case is uncertain because FM O&G LLC has potential defenses to the claims even if state law would be applied;
however, absent success on those defenses, FCX estimates that the exposure could be in the range of approximately $60 million to $100 million if California
wage and hour law is applied retroactively to FM O&G LLC’s operations offshore California. FCX has not established a reserve for this contingency because it
believes that its legal position is correct and does not believe a loss is probable. FCX intends to vigorously defend this matter.

Tax and Other Matters

Cerro Verde Royalty Dispute

As reported in Note 12 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, SUNAT, Peru’s national tax authority, assessed mining
royalties on ore processed by the Cerro Verde concentrator, which commenced operations in late 2006, for the period December 2006 to December 2011. In
2018, SUNAT issued assessments for the period January 2012 to December 2013. Cerro Verde contested each of these assessments because it believes
that its 1998 stability agreement exempts from royalties all minerals extracted from its mining concession, irrespective of the method used for processing such
minerals. No assessments can be issued for years after 2013, as Cerro Verde began paying royalties on all of its production in January 2014 under its new
15-year stability agreement. Since 2014, Cerro Verde has been paying the disputed assessments for the period from December 2006 through December
2008 under an installment program ( $177 million paid by Cerro Verde through September 30, 2018). In October 2017, the Peruvian Supreme Court issued a
ruling in favor of SUNAT that the assessments of royalties for the year 2008 on ore processed by the Cerro Verde concentrator were proper under Peruvian
law. As a result of the unfavorable Peruvian Supreme Court ruling on the 2008 royalty dispute, Cerro Verde has recorded cumulative charges totaling $487
million ( $355 million net of tax benefits and $187 million net of noncontrolling interests), which were primarily recorded in third-quarter 2017 and consist of
$244 million in royalty assessments, $158 million of penalties and interest related to the December 2006 to December 2008 assessments, and $85 million for
related items (primarily associated with the special mining tax and net assets tax) that Cerro Verde would have incurred under the view that its concentrator
was not stabilized.

In September 2018, the Peruvian Tax Tribunal denied Cerro Verde’s request to waive penalties and interest for the period January 2009 through September
2011. In October 2018, SUNAT served Cerro Verde with demands for payments associated with the Tax Tribunal ruling, including interest and penalties, for
the period January 2009 through September 2011. Without waiving its rights to appeal these claims, Cerro Verde expects to begin making monthly payments
starting in second-quarter 2019 under a 66-month payment plan and believes amounts paid for penalties and interest would be recoverable following judicial
appeals.
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Cerro Verde acted in good faith in applying the provisions of its 1998 stability agreement and continues to evaluate alternatives to defend its rights in the
Peruvian judicial system and under international law. Cerro Verde intends to continue to pursue waivers available under Peruvian law of penalties and interest
associated with this matter and has not recorded charges for potential penalties and interest totaling $406 million ( $217 million net of noncontrolling interests)
at September 30, 2018, for the period January 2009 to December 2013 as FCX believes that Cerro Verde should obtain waivers under Peruvian law.

Other Peru Tax Matters
There were no significant changes to other Peru tax matters during third-quarter 2018 (refer to Note 12 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 ).

Indonesia Tax Matters

There were no significant updates to previously reported Indonesia tax matters included in Note 12 of FCX'’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017 , other than the surface water tax matter below, which was also updated in Note 8 of FCX’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarters
ended March 31, 2018, and June 30, 2018, and the mine development costs matter below.

PT-FI received assessments from the local regional tax authority in Papua, Indonesia, for additional taxes and penalties related to surface water taxes for the
period from January 2011 through August 2018. PT-FI has filed or will file appeals of these assessments with the Indonesia Tax Court. During the first half of
2018, the Indonesia Tax Court ruled partially in favor of PT-FI with respect to assessments for the period January 2016 through April 2016 by reducing these
assessments that amounted to $20 million , including penalties, to $12 million , including penalties (based on the exchange rate at September 30, 2018), or an
approximate 40 percent reduction. Hearings in the Indonesia Tax Court related to assessments for the period from May 2016 through April 2017 have
concluded with no written decisions issued.

During 2017, PT-FI filed reconsideration request petitions to the Indonesia Supreme Court with respect to assessments for the period from January 2011
through December 2015; and in second-quarter 2018, filed reconsideration request petitions with respect to the Indonesia Tax Court decisions related to the
assessments for the period from January 2016 through April 2016. In second-quarter 2018, the Indonesia Supreme Court issued favorable decisions relating
to surface water tax assessments for the period January 2011 through July 2015. The Indonesia Supreme Court ruling concluded that PT-FI and the
Indonesian government are bound by PT-FI's Contract of Work (COW), which is lex specialis, and prevails as the law for the parties to the COW that should
be carried out in good faith. As a result, FCX estimates the total amount of the assessments, including penalties, (based on the exchange rate at September
30, 2018) for the period from August 2015 through August 2018 totals $173 million , including $87 million in penalties. As of September 30, 2018 , no charges
have been recorded for these assessments because PT-FI believes its COW exempts it from these payments. As of November 9, 2018 , PT-FI has not paid
and does not intend to pay these assessments.

In September 2018, PT-FI received an unfavorable decision from the Indonesian Tax Court with respect to its appeal of disallowed items on its 2012 corporate
income tax return. The most significant disallowed item relates to the tax treatment of mine development costs. A similar decision on PT-FI's 2014 corporate
income tax return was announced in October 2018. PT-FI will appeal these decisions to the Indonesian Supreme Court because it believes the COW is
explicit about the tax treatment associated with mine development costs. No adjustments have been recorded for this matter as of September 30, 2018,
because FCX believes PT-FI has properly determined and paid its taxes. As of September 30, 2018 , PT-FI had long-term receivables totaling approximately
$300 million related to this matter. FCX estimates the potential exposure for penalties for the years 2013, 2016 and 2017 in which the Indonesian tax
authorities may assert that PT-FI has underpaid income taxes totals $212 million based on the exchange rate as of September 30, 2018.

Indonesia Mining Contract. Refer to Note 13 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , for further discussion. The
following is the latest information related to PT-FI's COW and the pending divestment transaction.

In October 2017, Indonesia’s Ministry of Environment and Forestry (the Ministry) notified PT-FI of administrative sanctions related to certain activities the
Ministry indicated are not reflected in PT-FI's environmental permit. The Ministry also notified PT-FI that certain operational activities were inconsistent with
factors set forth in PT-FI's environmental permitting studies and that additional monitoring and improvements need to be undertaken related to air quality,
water drainage, treatment and handling of certain wastes, and tailings management. PT-FI has been
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engaged in a process to update its permits through submissions and dialogue with the Ministry that began in late 2014, and PT-FI believes that it has
submitted the required documentation to update such permits. In April 2018, the Ministry issued decrees imposing unattainable environmental standards
related to PT-FI's controlled riverine tailings management system that must be complied with by October 2018. The decrees, which PT-FI believes are
contrary to the Indonesian government’s obligations under PT-FI's COW, conflict with PT-FI's approved environmental management programs and existing
environmental permits. If these unattainable environmental standards are not modified or delayed, PT-FI could be adversely affected, including possible
shutdown of its operations. PT-Fl is currently engaged in constructive discussions with the Ministry in working toward a resolution of these issues. During
these discussions, the Ministry has advised PT-FI that the transition period for compliance with the decrees will be extended for up to an additional six
months.

On September 27, 2018, FCX, PT-FI, PT Indocopper Investama (PT-Il) and PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminium (Persero) (PT Inalum), a state-owned enterprise
that currently holds 9.36 percent of PT-FI's outstanding common stock, entered into a Divestment Agreement on previously agreed economic terms in
connection with PT Inalum’s acquisition of shares of PT-FI. Under the Divestment Agreement, PT Inalum will acquire, for cash consideration of $350 million ,
100 percent of FCX's interests in PT-1I, which owns 9.36 percent of PT-FI (equates to a 5.6 percent interest in the project after 2022). PT Inalum also entered
into a definitive agreement with Rio Tinto to acquire, for cash consideration of $3.5 billion , all of Rio Tinto's interests ( 40 percent interest in the project after
2022) associated with its joint venture with PT-FI (the Joint Venture). The arrangements provide for FCX and existing PT-FI shareholders to retain the
economics of the revenue and cost sharing arrangements under the Joint Venture and for FCX to continue to manage PT-FI's operations. Following
completion of the transaction, PT Inalum's share ownership will be 51.2 percent of PT-FI (subject to a dividend assignment mechanism to replicate the Joint
Venture economics), and FCX's ownership will be 48.8 percent .

PT-FI has agreed to complete the construction of a smelter within five years of the closing, with economics shared pro rata by FCX and PT Inalum according
to their respective equity ownership in PT-FI. Concurrent with the closing of the divestment transaction, PT-FI will be granted a special mining license (IUPK)
providing long-term mining rights with assured legal and fiscal terms and legal enforceability through 2041. The IUPK issued at closing will initially be valid
through 2031 and will include an assured extension through 2041 upon PT-FI's satisfaction of agreed conditions, including those related to smelter
construction and payment of state revenues in accordance with the IUPK.

The transaction, which is expected to close in late 2018 or early 2019, is subject to certain conditions, including the documentation and issuance by the
Indonesian government of the IUPK providing for the extension and stability of PT-FI's long-term mining rights with assured legal and fiscal terms and legal
enforceability through 2041 in a form acceptable to FCX and PT Inalum; resolution of environmental regulatory matters that include amendments to the
decrees imposing unattainable environmental standards on PT-FI pending before the Ministry satisfactory to the Indonesian government, FCX and PT Inalum;
various other Indonesian regulatory actions and approvals, including modification or revocation of current regulations and the implementation of new
regulations by the Indonesian government and assurances or approvals by Indonesian tax authorities with respect to the pending transaction; and receipt of
customary regulatory approvals from international competition authorities.

The Divestment Agreement provides FCX and PT Inalum with the right to terminate, in certain circumstances, including if the transaction is not consummated
on or before December 31, 2018, subject to a six-month extension, if needed, to obtain regulatory approvals from international competition authorities.

PT-FI's export license is effective through February 15, 2019. In October 2018, PT-FI's temporary IUPK was extended to November 30, 2018, and PT-FI will
continue to seek extensions to its temporary IUPK until closing of the pending transaction. On February 28, 2018, PT Smelting (PT-FI's 25 percent -owned
smelter and refinery in Indonesia) received an extension of its anode slimes export license through February 26, 2019.

Until the pending transaction is completed, PT-FI has reserved all rights under its COW.
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NOTE 9. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

FCX has organized its mining operations into four primary divisions — North America copper mines, South America mining, Indonesia mining and Molybdenum
mines, and operating segments that meet certain thresholds are reportable segments. Separately disclosed in the following tables are FCX’s reportable
segments, which include the Morenci, Cerro Verde and Grasberg (Indonesia Mining) copper mines, the Rod & Refining operations and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining.

Intersegment sales between FCX'’s business segments are based on terms similar to arms-length transactions with third parties at the time of the sale.
Intersegment sales may not be reflective of the actual prices ultimately realized because of a variety of factors, including additional processing, timing of sales
to unaffiliated customers and transportation premiums.

FCX defers recognizing profits on sales from its mines to other segments, including Atlantic Copper Smelting & Refining and on 25 percent of PT-FI’s sales to
PT Smelting, until final sales to third parties occur. Quarterly variations in ore grades, the timing of intercompany shipments and changes in product prices
result in variability in FCX’s net deferred profits and quarterly earnings.

FCX allocates certain operating costs, expenses and capital expenditures to its operating divisions and individual segments. However, not all costs and
expenses applicable to an operation are allocated. U.S. federal and state income taxes are recorded and managed at the corporate level (included in
Corporate, Other & Eliminations), whereas foreign income taxes are recorded and managed at the applicable country level. In addition, most mining
exploration and research activities are managed on a consolidated basis, and those costs, along with some selling, general and administrative costs, are not
allocated to the operating divisions or individual segments. Accordingly, the following Financial Information by Business Segment reflects management
determinations that may not be indicative of what the actual financial performance of each operating division or segment would be if it was an independent
entity.

Product Revenues. FCX'’s revenues attributable to the products it sold for the third quarters and first nine months of 2018 and 2017 follow (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017

Copper:

Concentrate $ 1,743 $ 1,571 $ 5,093 $ 3,793

Cathode 1,271 1,197 4,159 3,192

Rod and other refined copper products 561 604 1,899 1,818
Gold 1,073 495 2,814 1,334
Molybdenum 286 213 882 661
Other @ 381 307 1,179 819
Adjustments to revenues:

Treatment charges (162) (147) (433) (378)

Royalty expense © (75) (46) (217) (112)

Export duties © (52) (21) (153) (62)
Revenues from contracts with customers 5,026 4173 15,223 11,065
Embedded derivatives ¢ (118) 137 (279) 297
Total consolidated revenues $ 4,908 $ 4,310 $ 14,944 $ 11,362
a. Primarily includes revenues associated with cobalt, silver, oil, gas and natural gas liquids.
b. Reflects royalties for sales from PT-FI and Cerro Verde that will vary with the volume of metal sold and the prices of copper and gold.
c. Reflects PT-FI export duties.
d. Refer to Note 6 for discussion of embedded derivatives related to FCX’s provisionally priced concentrate and cathode sales contracts.
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Financial Information by Business Segment

(In millions)
Atlantic Corporate,
North America Copper Mines South America Copper Other
Cerro Indonesia Molybdenum Rod & Smelting & Elimi- FCX
Morenci Other Total Verde Other Total Mining Mines Refining & Refining nations Total
Three Months Ended September
30, 2018
Revenues:
a b
Unaffiliated customers $ 30 $ 2 $ 32 $ 687 $ 122 $ 809 $ 1703 $ — $ 1212 §$ 579 $ 573 $4,908
Intersegment 467 587 1,054 71 — 71 61 101 8 — (1,295) —
c
Production and delivery 304 485 789 519 105 624 522 76 1,215 559 (716) 3,069
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 43 45 88 122 20 142 181 20 3 6 18 458
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 1 — 1 3 — 3 29 — — 5 63 101
Mining exploration and research
expenses — 1 1 — — — — — — — 26 27
Environmental obligations and
shutdown costs — 2 2 — — — — — — — 6 8
d
Net gain on sales of assets — — — — — — — — — — (70) (70)
Operating income (loss) 149 56 205 114 (3) 111 1,032 5 2 9 (49) 1,315
Interest expense, net 1 — 1 15 — 15 — — — i 120 143
Provision for income taxes — — — 37 5 42 424 — — — 56 522
Total assets at September 30, e
2018 2,826 4,465 7,291 8,613 1,709 10,322 11,764 1,808 284 835 5,445 37,749
Capital expenditures 63 118 181 47 3 50 246 4 1 3 22 507
Three Months Ended September
30, 2017
Revenues:
a b
Unaffiliated customers $ 57 $ 40 $ 97 $ 80 $ 109 $ 959 $ 1,121 $ — $1137 $ 554 $ 442  $4,310
Intersegment 460 548 1,008 64 — 64 — 65 8 1 (1,146) —
f 9
Production and delivery 242 410 652 683 76 759 407 57 1,140 533 (754) 2,794
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 42 54 96 116 18 134 136 20 2 7 23 418
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 1 1 2 2 — 2 32 — — 4 64 104
Mining exploration and research
expenses — — — — — — — — — — 27 27
Environmental obligations and
shutdown costs — — — — — — — — — — 72 72
d
Net gain on sales of assets — — — — — — — — — — (33) (33)
Operating income (loss) 232 123 355 113 15 128 546 (12) 3 11 (103) 928
f
Interest expense, net 1 — 1 156 — 156 1 — — 5 141 304
f
Provision for income taxes — — — 134 5 139 233 — — 1 14 387
Total assets at September 30, e
2017 2,844 4,223 7,067 8,851 1,595 10,446 11,100 1,885 264 751 5,814 37,327
Capital expenditures 26 13 39 17 3 20 206 2 1 5 41 314

a. Includes PT-Fl's sales to PT Smelting totaling $827 million in third-quarter 2018 and $652 million in third-quarter 2017 .

b. Includes revenues from FCX's molybdenum sales company, which includes sales of molybdenum produced by the Molybdenum mines and by certain of the North America and South
America copper mines.

c. Includes charges of $69 million associated with Cerro Verde’s new three-year collective labor agreement.

d. Includes gains in third-quarter 2018 of $50 million associated with an increase to the estimated fair value less costs to sell for Freeport Cobalt (refer to Note 1) and $20 million
reflecting adjustments to the fair value of the potential contingent consideration related to the 2016 sale of onshore California oil and gas properties, and a gain in third-quarter 2017 of
$33 million associated with the sale of oil and gas properties.

e. Includes assets held for sale, primarily Freeport Cobalt, totaling $626 million at September 30, 2018 , and $459 million at September 30, 2017 .

f. Includes net charges of $216 million in production and delivery costs, $141 million in interest expense and $2 million in provision for income taxes associated with disputed royalties for
prior years.

g. Includes an $8 million decrease related to the adoption of the new guidance for the presentation of net periodic benefit cost for pension and other postretirement benefit plans (refer to
Note 11 for further discussion).
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Financial Information by Business Segment (continued)

(In millions)

Atlantic Corporate,
North America Copper Mines South America Mining Copper Other
Cerro Indonesia Molybdenum Rod & Smelting & Elimi- FCX
Morenci Other Total Verde Other Total Mining Mines Refining & Refining nations Total
Nine Months Ended September
30, 2018
Revenues:
b
Unaffiliated customers $ 58 $ 30 $ 88 $2,031 $ 443 $2474 $ 4,863 — $ 398 $ 1,758 $ 1,777 $14,944
Intersegment 1,636 1,917 3,553 273 — 273 114 307 24 2 (4,273) —
Production and delivery 892 1,477 2,369 1,391 354 1,745 1,404 214 3,992 1,694 (2,626) 8,792
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 133 141 274 336 66 402 534 60 8 20 53 1,351
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 3 2 5 7 — v 96 — — 16 217 341
Mining exploration and research
expenses — 2 2 — — — — — — — 70 72
Environmental obligations and
shutdown costs — 2 2 — — — — — — — 74 76
d
Net gain on sales of assets — — — — — — — — — — (126) (126)
Operating income (loss) 666 323 989 570 23 593 2,943 33 8 30 (158) 4,438
Interest expense, net 3 — 3 48 — 48 — — — 18 367 436
Provision for income taxes — — — 207 15 222 1,254 — — 1 66 1,543
Capital expenditures 151 262 413 178 10 188 695 6 & 10 76 1,391
Nine Months Ended September
30, 2017
Revenues:
b
Unaffiliated customers $ 168 $ 122 $ 290 $2,057 $ 332 $2,389 $ 2,720 — $ 329 $ 1412 $ 1,261 $11,362
Intersegment 1,354 1,704 3,058 237 — 237 — 199 22 1 (3,517) —
Production and delivery 765 1,273 2,038 1,450 245 1,695 1,224 167 3,296 1,369 (2,327) 7,462
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 138 192 330 332 60 392 372 58 7 21 77 1,257
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 2 2 4 7 — 7 92 — — 13 246 362
Mining exploration and research
expenses — 2 2 — — — — — — — 58 60
Environmental obligations and
shutdown costs — — — — — — — — — — 76 76
Net gain on sales of assets d
— — — — — — — — — — (66) (66)
Operating income (loss) 617 357 974 505 27 532 1,032 (26) 9 10 (320) 2,211
Interest expense, net 2 1 3 187 — 187 1 — — 13 429 633
Provision for income taxes — — — 288 10 298 435 — — 4 10 747
Capital expenditures 78 28 106 60 5 65 663 4 3 30 149 1,020

a. Includes PT-FI's sales to PT Smelting totaling $2.1 billion for the first nine months of 2018 and $1.4 billion for the first nine months of 2017 .

b. Includes revenues from FCX’s molybdenum sales company, which includes sales of molybdenum produced by the Molybdenum mines and by certain of the North America and South

America copper mines.

c. Includes charges of $69 million associated with Cerro Verde's new three-year collective labor agreement.

d. Includes gains for the first nine months of 2018 of $50 million associated with an increase to the estimated fair value less costs to sell for Freeport Cobalt (refer to Note 1) and $76
million reflecting adjustments to the fair value of the potential contingent consideration related to the 2016 sale of onshore California oil and gas properties; and net gains for the first
nine months of 2017 , primarily associated with sales of oil and gas properties of $49 million and a favorable adjustment of $13 million associated with the estimated fair value less
costs to sell for the Kisanfu exploration project.

e. Includes net charges of $216 million in production and delivery, $141 million in interest expense and $2 million in provision for income taxes associated with disputed royalties for

prior years.

f. Includes net charges at PT-F| associated with workforce reductions totaling $112 million in production and delivery costs and $5 million in selling, general and administrative
expenses.

g. Includes a $35 million decrease related to the adoption of the new guidance for the presentation of net periodic benefit cost for pension and other postretirement benefit plans (refer
to Note 11 for further discussion).
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NOTE 10. GUARANTOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All of the senior notes issued by FCX are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior basis jointly and severally by FM O&G LLC, as guarantor, which is
a 100 -percent-owned subsidiary of FM O&G and FCX. The guarantee is an unsecured obligation of the guarantor and ranks equal in right of payment with all
existing and future indebtedness of FM O&G LLC, including indebtedness under FCX’s revolving credit facility. The guarantee ranks senior in right of payment
with all of FM O&G LLC'’s future subordinated obligations and is effectively subordinated in right of payment to any debt of FM O&G LLC'’s subsidiaries. The
indentures provide that FM O&G LLC’s guarantee may be released or terminated for certain obligations under the following circumstances: (i) all or
substantially all of the equity interests or assets of FM O&G LLC are sold to a third party; or (ii) FM O&G LLC no longer has any obligations under any FM
O&G senior notes or any refinancing thereof and no longer guarantees any obligations of FCX under the revolving credit facility or any other senior debt or, in
each case, any refinancing thereof.

The following condensed consolidating financial information includes information regarding FCX, as issuer, FM O&G LLC, as guarantor, and all other non-
guarantor subsidiaries of FCX. Included are the condensed consolidating balance sheets at September 30, 2018 , and December 31, 2017 , and the related
condensed consolidating statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 , and the
condensed consolidating statements of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 (in millions), which should be read in conjunction
with FCX’s notes to the consolidated financial statements.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
September 30, 2018

FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX
ASSETS
Current assets $ 549 $ 577 $ 10,817  $ (1,022) $ 10,921
Property, plant, equipment and mine development costs, net 19 3 22,991 — 23,013
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries 19,681 — — (19,681) —
Other assets 546 67 3,279 (77) 3,815
Total assets $ 20,795 $ 647 $ 37,087 % (20,780) $ 37,749
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities $ 246 $ 137  § 4614 $ (1,146) $ 3,851
Long-term debt, less current portion 9,594 6,784 5,095 (10,350) 11,123
Deferred income taxes 820 2 — 3,019 — 3,839
Environmental and asset retirement obligations, less current
portion — 209 3,355 — 3,564
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries — 601 10,424 (11,025) —
Other liabilities 158 3,340 1,907 (3,487) 1,918
Total liabilities 10,818 11,071 28,414 (26,008) 24,295
Equity:
Stockholders’ equity 9,977 (10,424) 5,832 4,592 9,977
Noncontrolling interests — — 2,841 636 3,477
Total equity 9,977 (10,424) 8,673 5,228 13,454
Total liabilities and equity $ 20,795 $ 647 $ 37,087 § (20,780) $ 37,749

a. All U.S.-related deferred income taxes are recorded at the parent company.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2017

FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX
ASSETS
Current assets $ 75 671 10,733 (790) 10,689
Property, plant, equipment and mine development costs, net 14 1 22,919 (10) 22,934
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries 19,570 — — (19,570) —
Other assets 943 48 3,179 (491) 3,679
Total assets $ 20,602 730 36,831 (20,861) 37,302
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities $ 1,683 220 4,046 (938) 5,011
Long-term debt, less current portion 10,021 6,512 5,440 (10,270) 11,703
Deferred income taxes 748 — 2,901 — 3,649
Environmental and asset retirement obligations, less current
portion — 201 3,430 — 3,631
Investments in consolidated subsidiary — 853 10,397 (11,250) —
Other liabilities 173 3,340 1,987 (3,488) 2,012
Total liabilities 12,625 11,126 28,201 (25,946) 26,006
Equity:
Stockholders’ equity 7,977 (10,396) 5,916 4,480 7,977
Noncontrolling interests — — 2,714 605 3,319
Total equity 7,977 (10,396) 8,630 5,085 11,296
Total liabilities and equity $ 20,602 730 36,831 (20,861) 37,302

a. All U.S.-related deferred income taxes are recorded at the parent company.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018

FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX
Revenues $ — $ 15 $ 4,893 — 4,908
Total costs and expenses 7 2) 3,588 — 3,593
Operating (loss) income (7) 17 1,305 — 1,315
Interest expense, net (93) (79) (96) 125 (143)
Other income (expense), net 124 — 15 (125) 14
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity in affiliated companies’ net
earnings (losses) 24 (62) 1,224 — 1,186
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes (188) 11 (345) — (522)
Equity in affiliated companies’ net earnings (losses) 720 (6) (54) (656) 4
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 556 (57) 825 (656) 668
Net loss from discontinued operations — — (4) — (4)
Net income (loss) 556 (57) 821 (656) 664
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
_ — (47) ®61) (108)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ 556 $ (57) $ 774 (717) 556
Other comprehensive income (loss) 11 — 11 (11) 11
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 567 $ (57) $ 785 (728) 567
Three Months Ended September 30, 2017
FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX
Revenues $ — 3 13 $ 4,297 — 4,310
Total costs and expenses 8 25 3,350 (1) 3,382
Operating (loss) income (8) (12) 947 1 928
Interest expense, net (116) (59) (218) 89 (304)
Other income (expense), net 97 3 9) (89) 2
(Loss) income before income taxes and equity in affiliated companies’
net earnings (losses) (27) (68) 720 1 626
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 21 24 (432) — (387)
Equity in affiliated companies’ net earnings (losses) 286 20 (20) (283) 3
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 280 (24) 268 (282) 242
Net income from discontinued operations — — 3 — 3
Net income (loss) 280 (24) 271 (282) 245
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests — — 69 (34) 35
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ 280 $ (24) $ 340 (316) 280
Other comprehensive income (loss) 13 — 13 (13) 13
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 293 § (24) $ 353 (329) 293
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018

Revenues $

Total costs and expenses

Operating (loss) income
Interest expense, net

Other income (expense), net

Income (loss) before income taxes and equity in affiliated companies’ net
earnings (losses)

(Provision for) benefit from income taxes

Equity in affiliated companies’ net earnings (losses)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

Net loss from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Total comprehensive income (loss) $

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017

Revenues $

Total costs and expenses

Operating (loss) income
Interest expense, net

Other income (expense), net

(Loss) income before income taxes and equity in affiliated companies’ net
earnings (losses)

(Provision for) benefit from income taxes

Equity in affiliated companies’ net earnings (losses)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

Net income from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests:
Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Total comprehensive income (loss) $

FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX

— 3 46 14,898 — 3 14,944

20 (10) 10,506 (10) 10,506

(20) 56 4,392 10 4,438
(294) (219) (273) 350 (436)
357 2 62 (350) 71

43 (161) 4,181 10 4,073
(282) 33 (1,292) (2) (1,543)
2,356 (10) (133) (2,208) 5
2,117 (138) 2,756 (2,200) 2,535
— — (19) — (19)
2,117 (138) 2,737 (2,200) 2,516
— — (220) (179) (399)
2,117  § (138) 2,517 (2,379) $ 2,117
34 — 34 (34) 34
2,151  § (138) 2,551 (2,413) $ 2,151

FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX

— 3 38 11,324 — 11,362

30 86 9,024 11 9,151

(30) (48) 2,300 (11) 2,211
(355) (167) (363) 252 (633)
255 3 (7) (252) (1)
(130) (212) 1,930 1) 1,577
(111) 74 (714) 4 (747)
1,017 14 (118) (907) 6
776 (124) 1,098 (914) 836

— — 50 — 50

776 (124) 1,148 (914) 886
— — (42) (64) (106)
— — (4) — (4)

776 $ (124) 1,102 (978) $ 776

105 — 105 (105) 105

881 §$ (124) 1,207 (1,083) $ 881
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018

FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activites ~ $ (181) $ (285) $ 4,391 $ — 3 3,925
Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (2) — (1,389) — (1,391)
Intercompany loans (558) — — 558 —
Dividends from (investments in) consolidated subsidiaries 2,726 — 65 (2,791) —
Asset sales and other, net 4 3 (88) — (81)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,170 3 (1,412) (2,233) (1,472)
Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from debt — — 475 — 475
Repayments of debt (1,826) (52) (532) — (2,410)
Intercompany loans — 327 231 (558) —
Cash dividends paid and contributions received, net (145) — (3,016) 2,775 (386)
Other, net (18) — 17) 16 (19)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,989) 275 (2,859) 2,233 (2,340)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and
restricted cash equivalents — (7) 120 — 113
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents in assets held for sale — — 55 — 55
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at
beginning of year — 7 4,624 — 4,631
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at end
of period $ — — 3 4799 § —  $ 4,799
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
FCX FM O&G LLC Non-guarantor Consolidated
Issuer Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations FCX
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activites ~ $ (222) $ (383) $ 3617 $ — 3 3,012
Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (24) (996) — (1,020)
Intercompany loans (609) — — 609 —
Dividends from (investments in) consolidated subsidiaries 1,757 (16) 93 (1,834) —
Asset sales and other, net — 58 8 — 66
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,148 18 (895) (1,225) (954)
Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from debt — — 795 — 795
Repayments of debt (915) (139) (937) — (1,991)
Intercompany loans — 512 97 (609) —
Cash dividends paid and contributions received, net 2) — (1,839) 1,772 (69)
Other, net 9) (11) (64) 62 (22)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (926) 362 (1,948) 1,225 (1,287)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and
restricted cash equivalents — (3) 774 — 771
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in assets held for sale — — (45) — (45)
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at
beginning of year — 11 4,392 — 4,403
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at end
of period $ — 3 8 § 5121 $ —  $ 5,129
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NOTE 11. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Revenue Recognition. In May 2014, FASB issued a new ASU related to revenue recognition. FCX adopted this standard effective January 1, 2018, under the
modified retrospective approach applied to contracts that remain in force at the adoption date. The adoption of this standard did not result in any financial
statement impacts or changes to FCX’s revenue recognition policies or processes as revenue is primarily derived from arrangements in which the transfer of
control coincides with the fulfillment of performance obligations (refer to Note 1 of FCX’s annual report on Form 10-K for disclosure of FCX’s revenue
recognition policy). In connection with the adoption of the standard and consistent with FCX’s policy prior to adoption of the standard, FCX has elected to
account for shipping and handling activities performed after control of goods has been transferred to a customer as a fulfillment cost recorded in production
and delivery costs on the consolidated statements of income.

FCX recognizes revenue for all of its products upon transfer of control in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those
products. Transfer of control is in accordance with the terms of customer contracts, which is generally upon shipment or delivery of the product. While
payment terms vary by contract, terms generally include payment to be made within 30 days, but not longer than 60 days. Certain of FCX’s concentrate and
cathode sales contracts also provide for provisional pricing, which is accounted for as an embedded derivative (refer to Note 6 for further discussion). For
provisionally priced sales, 90 percent to 100 percent of the provisional payment is made upon shipment or within 20 days, and final balances are settled in a
contractually specified future month (generally one to four months from the shipment date) based on quoted monthly average copper settlement prices on the
LME or COMEX and quoted monthly average LBMA gold settlement prices. FCX’s product revenues are also recorded net of treatment charges, royalties and
export duties. Refer to Note 9 for a summary of revenue by product type.

Financial Instruments. In January 2016, FASB issued an ASU that amends the guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments. This
ASU makes limited changes to prior guidance and amends certain disclosure requirements. FCX adopted this ASU effective January 1, 2018, and adoption
did not have a material impact on its financial statements.

Leases. In February 2016, FASB issued an ASU that will require lessees to recognize most leases on the balance sheet. This ASU allows lessees to make an
accounting policy election to not recognize a lease asset and liability for leases with a term of 12 months or less and do not have a purchase option that is
expected to be exercised. For public entities, this ASU is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early
adoption permitted. In July 2018, FASB issued a practical expedient, which FCX expects to elect, allowing for entities to apply the provisions of the updated
lease guidance at the January 1, 2019, effective date, without adjusting the comparative periods presented. FCX is completing an assessment of its lease
portfolio and is in the process of implementing a new system, collecting data, and designing processes and controls to account for its leases in accordance
with the new standard. Based on FCX’s efforts to date, it does not expect adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on its financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash. In November 2016, FASB issued an ASU that changes the classification and presentation of restricted cash and
restricted cash equivalents on the statement of cash flows. The ASU requires that a statement of cash flows include the change during the period in the total
of cash, cash equivalents and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally described as
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period
total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. FCX adopted this ASU effective January 1, 2018, and adjusted its consolidated statement of cash flows
for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, to include restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents with cash and cash equivalents.
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The impact of adopting this ASU for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, follows (in millions):

Impact of Adoption

Current Presentation

Previously
Reported
Accrued income taxes and changes in other tax payments included in cash flow from operating
activities $ 399
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,018
Other, net included in cash flow from investing activities (22)
Net cash used in investing activities (974)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents 757
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,245
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents at end of period 4,957

$ (6)

©)
20
20
14
158
172

$ 393
3,012
(2)
(954)

771

4,403

5,129

Net Periodic Pension and Postretirement Benefit Cost. In March 2017, FASB issued an ASU that changes how entities with defined benefit pension or other
postretirement benefit plans present net periodic benefit cost in the income statement. This ASU requires the service cost component of net periodic benefit
cost to be presented in the same income statement line item or items as other compensation costs for those employees who are receiving the benefit. In
addition, only the service cost component is eligible for capitalization when applicable ( i.e. , as a cost of inventory or an internally constructed asset). The
other components of net periodic benefit cost are required to be presented separately from the service cost component and outside of operating income.
These other components of net periodic benefit cost are not eligible for capitalization, and FCX elected to include these other components in other income
(expense), net. FCX adopted this ASU effective January 1, 2018, and adjusted its presentation in the consolidated statements of income for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2017, to conform with the new guidance. The impact of adopting this ASU for the three and nine months ended September

30, 2017, follows (in millions):

Production and delivery

Total cost of sales

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Environmental obligations and shutdown costs
Total costs and expenses

Operating income

Other income (expense), net

Production and delivery

Total cost of sales

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Mining exploration and research expenses
Environmental obligations and shutdown costs
Total costs and expenses

Operating income

Other income (expense), net

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017

Previously Current
Reported Impact of Adoption Presentation
$ 2,802 § @8 $ 2,794
3,220 (8) 3,212
106 2) 104
73 (1) 72
3,393 (11) 3,382
917 11 928
2 (11) 9)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
Previously Current
Reported Impact of Adoption Presentation
$ 7,497 $ (35) $ 7,462
8,754 (35) 8,719
366 (4) 362
61 (1) 60
81 (5) 76
9,196 (45) 9,151
2,166 45 2,211
36 (45) 9)
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Tax Reform Reclassification. In February 2018, FASB issued an ASU that allows entities to elect to reclassify the stranded income tax effects caused by the
Act in accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) to retained earnings. This election applies to the U.S. federal income tax rate change from 35
percent to 21 percent. FCX elected to early adopt this standard effective July 1, 2018, which resulted in a one-time reclassification totaling $79 million from
AOCI to retained earnings in third-quarter 2018 . FCX has not elected to reclassify other “indirect” income tax effects of the Act stranded in AOCI. Any
additional income tax effects stranded in AOCI will continue to pass through earnings in future periods as specific classes of AOCI items are reversed in full.

NOTE 12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

FCX evaluated events after September 30, 2018 , and through the date the consolidated financial statements were issued, and determined any events or
transactions occurring during this period that would require recognition or disclosure are appropriately addressed in these consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF
FREEPORT-McMoRan INC.

Results of Review of Interim Financial Statements

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Freeport-McMoRan Inc. (the Company) as of September 30, 2018 , the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, and equity for the three and nine -month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 , the
consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine -month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 , and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated interim financial statements”). Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the consolidated
interim financial statements for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2017 , the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash flows and equity
for the year then ended, and the related notes (not presented herein); and in our report dated February 20, 2018, we expressed an unqualified audit opinion
on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017
, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

Basis for Review Results

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. A review of interim financial
statements consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion
regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
November 9, 2018
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Iltem 2. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

In Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A), “‘we,” “us” and “our” refer to Freeport-McMoRan Inc.
(FCX) and its consolidated subsidiaries. You should read this discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, the related MD&A and the
discussion of our Business and Properties in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , filed with the United States (U.S.)
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The results of operations reported and summarized below are not necessarily indicative of future operating
results (refer to “Cautionary Statement” for further discussion). References to “Notes” are Notes included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited). Throughout MD&A, all references to income or losses per share are on a diluted basis.

OVERVIEW

We are a leading international mining company with headquarters in Phoenix, Arizona. We operate large, long-lived, geographically diverse assets with
significant proven and probable reserves of copper, gold and molybdenum. We are the world’s largest publicly traded copper producer. Our portfolio of assets
includes the Grasberg minerals district in Indonesia, one of the world’s largest copper and gold deposits; and significant mining operations in the Americas,
including the large-scale Morenci minerals district in North America and the Cerro Verde operation in South America.

We believe that we have a high-quality portfolio of long-lived copper assets positioned to generate long-term value. We continue to advance a project to
develop the Lone Star oxide ores near the Safford operation in eastern Arizona, and PT Freeport Indonesia (PT-FI) has several projects in the Grasberg
minerals district related to the development of its large-scale, long-lived, high-grade underground ore bodies. We are also pursuing other opportunities to
enhance our mines’ net present values, and we continue to advance studies for future development of our copper resources, the timing of which will be
dependent on market conditions.

Net income attributable to common stock totaled $556 million in third-quarter 2018 , $280 million in third-quarter 2017 , $2.1 billion for the first nine months of
2018 and $776 million for the first nine months of 2017 . The 2018 periods, compared with the 2017 periods, benefited from higher copper and gold sales
volumes, partly offset by higher production and delivery costs and income tax expense at our international operations. Refer to “Consolidated Results” for
further discussion.

During the first nine months of 2018 , we reduced total debt by $2.0 billion , and our Board of Directors (Board) reinstated a cash dividend on our common
stock. For the first nine months of 2018 , the Board has declared quarterly cash dividends totaling $0.15 per share of our common stock. Refer to Note 5 for
further discussion.

At September 30, 2018 , we had $4.6 billion in consolidated cash and cash equivalents and $11.1 billion in total debt. We had no borrowings and $3.5 billion
available under our $3.5 billion, unsecured revolving credit facility. Refer to Note 5 for further discussion.

In September 2018, we, PT-FI, PT Indocopper Investama (PT-l) and PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminium (Persero) (PT Inalum) entered into a Divestment
Agreement on previously agreed economic terms in connection with PT Inalum’s acquisition of shares of PT-FI. Under the Divestment Agreement, PT Inalum
will acquire, for cash consideration of $350 million, 100 percent of our interests in PT-II, which owns 9.36 percent of PT-FI (equates to a 5.6 percent interest
after 2022). PT Inalum also entered into a definitive agreement with Rio Tinto to acquire for cash consideration of $3.5 billion, all of Rio Tinto's interests (40
percent interest after 2022) associated with its joint venture with PT-FI (the Joint Venture). The arrangements provide for us and existing PT-FI shareholders
to retain the economics of the revenue and cost sharing arrangements under the Joint Venture and for us to continue to manage PT-Fl's operations. Following
completion of the transaction, PT-FI will have an expanded asset base as a result of Rio Tinto’s interest being merged into PT-FI, and PT Inalum's share
ownership will be 51.2 percent of PT-FI (subject to a dividend assignment mechanism to replicate the Joint Venture economics), and our ownership will be
48.8 percent. The transaction is expected to close in late 2018 or early 2019, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions.
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OUTLOOK

We continue to view the long-term outlook for our business positively, supported by limitations on supplies of copper and by the requirements for copper in the
world’s economy. Our financial results vary as a result of fluctuations in market prices primarily for copper, gold and molybdenum, as well as other factors.
World market prices for these commodities have fluctuated historically and are affected by numerous factors beyond our control. Refer to “Markets” for further
discussion. Because we cannot control the price of our products, the key measures that management focuses on in operating our business are sales
volumes, unit net cash costs, operating cash flow and capital expenditures.

Projections for 2018 and other forward looking statements in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q assume extension of PT-FI's long-term mining rights or an
extension of PT-FI's temporary special mining license (IUPK) after November 30, 2018. Refer to Note 8 for further discussion of Indonesia regulatory matters.
For other important factors that could cause results to differ materially from projections, refer to “Cautionary Statement.”

Consolidated Sales Volumes
Following are our projected consolidated sales volumes for the year 2018 :

Copper (millions of recoverable pounds):

North America copper mines 1,421
South America mining 1,232
Indonesia mining 1,163
Total 3,816
Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces) 2,453
Molybdenum (millions of recoverable pounds) 95 a

a. Projected molybdenum sales include 35 million pounds produced by our Molybdenum mines and 60 million pounds produced by our North America and South
America copper mines.

Consolidated sales volumes for fourth-quarter 2018 are expected to approximate 790 million pounds of copper, 330 thousand ounces of gold and 25 million
pounds of molybdenum.

Consolidated Unit Net Cash Costs

Quarterly unit net cash costs vary with fluctuations in sales volumes and realized prices, primarily for gold and molybdenum. Assuming average prices of
$1,200 per ounce of gold and $12.00 per pound of molybdenum for fourth-quarter 2018 and achievement of current sales volume and cost estimates,
consolidated unit net cash costs (net of by-product credits) for our copper mines are expected to average $1.06 per pound of copper for the year 2018 . The
impact of price changes for fourth-quarter 2018 on consolidated unit net cash costs would approximate $0.01 per pound for each $50 per ounce change in the
average price of gold and $0.005 per pound for each $2 per pound change in the average price of molybdenum. Refer to “Consolidated Results — Production
and Delivery Costs” for further discussion of consolidated production costs for our mining operations.

Consolidated Operating Cash Flow

Our consolidated operating cash flows vary with sales volumes, prices realized from copper, gold and molybdenum sales, production costs, income taxes,
other working capital changes and other factors. Based on current sales volume and cost estimates, and assuming average prices of $2.85 per pound of
copper, $1,200 per ounce of gold and $12.00 per pound of molybdenum for fourth-quarter 2018 , our consolidated operating cash flows are estimated to
approximate $4.2 billion for the year 2018 (net of $0.5 billion in working capital uses and timing of other tax payments). Projected consolidated operating cash
flows for the year 2018 also reflect an estimated income tax provision of $1.8 billion (refer to “Consolidated Results — Income Taxes” for further discussion of
our projected income tax rate for the year 2018 ). The impact of price changes during fourth-quarter 2018 on operating cash flows would approximate $105
million for each $0.10 per pound change in the average price of copper, $15 million for each $50 per ounce change in the average price of gold and $15
million for each $2 per pound change in the average price of molybdenum.
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Consolidated Capital Expenditures
Consolidated capital expenditures are expected to approximate $2.0 billion for the year 2018 , including $1.2 billion for major mining projects primarily
associated with underground development activities in the Grasberg minerals district and development of the Lone Star oxide project.

MARKETS

World prices for copper, gold and molybdenum can fluctuate significantly. During the period from January 2008 through September 2018 , the London Metal
Exchange (LME) copper settlement price varied from a low of $1.26 per pound in 2008 to a record high of $4.60 per pound in 2011; the London Bullion Market
Association (LBMA) PM gold price fluctuated from a low of $713 per ounce in 2008 to a record high of $1,895 per ounce in 2011; and the Metals Week
Molybdenum Dealer Oxide weekly average price ranged from a low of $4.46 per pound in 2015 to a high of $33.88 per pound in 2008. Copper, gold and
molybdenum prices are affected by numerous factors beyond our control as described further in “Risk Factors” contained in Part I, Item 1A. of our annual
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 .

LME Copper Prices
Through September 30, 2018

000s of metric tons
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—LME Copper Prices

This graph presents LME copper settlement prices and the combined reported stocks of copper at the LME, Commaodity Exchange Inc. (COMEX), a division of
the New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX), and the Shanghai Futures Exchange from January 2008 through September 2018 . Beginning in mid-2014,
copper prices declined because of concerns about slowing growth rates in China, a stronger U.S. dollar and a broad-based decline in commodity prices, but
began to improve in fourth-quarter 2016 and throughout 2017. During third-quarter 2018 , LME copper settlement prices ranged from a low of $2.64 per pound
to a high of $2.99 per pound, averaged $2.77 per pound and settled at $2.80 per pound on September 30, 2018 . The LME copper settlement price was $2.75
per pound on October 31, 2018 .
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We believe the underlying long-term fundamentals of the copper business remain positive, supported by the significant role of copper in the global economy
and a challenging long-term supply environment attributable to difficulty in replacing existing large mines’ output with new production sources. Future copper

prices are expected to be volatile and are likely to be influenced by demand from China and emerging markets, as well as economic activity in the U.S. and
other industrialized countries, the timing of the development of new supplies of copper and the production levels of mines and copper smelters.

LEBMA Gold Prices
Through September 30, 2018
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This graph presents LBMA PM gold prices from January 2008 through September 2018 . An improving economic outlook, stronger U.S. dollar and positive
equity performance contributed to lower demand for gold since 2014. During third-quarter 2018 , LBMA PM gold prices ranged from a low of $1,178 per ounce
to a high of $1,262 per ounce, averaged $1,213 per ounce, and closed at $1,187 per ounce on September 30, 2018 . The LBMA PM gold price was $1,215
per ounce on October 31, 2018 .

Metals Week Molybdenum Dealer Oxide Prices
Through September 30, 2018
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This graph presents the Metals Week Molybdenum Dealer Oxide weekly average prices from January 2008 through September 2018 . Molybdenum prices
declined beginning in mid-2014 because of weaker demand from global steel and stainless steel producers but have rebounded starting in 2016 with further
improvement in late-2017 and early 2018 before a decline in second-quarter 2018 . During third-quarter 2018 , the weekly average price of molybdenum
ranged from a low of $10.67 per pound to a high of $12.49 per pound, averaged $11.81 per pound, and was $11.76 per pound on September 30, 2018 . The
Metals Week Molybdenum Dealer Oxide weekly average price was $12.03 per pound on October 31, 2018 .

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018 2017 2018 2017
SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA (in millions, except per share amounts)
Revenues & $ 4,908 $ 4,310 $ 14,944 $ 11,362
Operating income 2:¢4 $ 1,315 ¢ $ 928 9§ 4,438 ¢ $ 2,211 f9
Net income from continuing operations " $ 668 $ 242 ik § 2,535 ikl § 836 ik
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations ™ $ 4 $ 3 $ (19) $ 50
Net income attributable to common stock $ 556 $ 280 $ 2,117 $ 776
Diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock:
Continuing operations $ 0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.46 $ 0.50
Discontinued operations — — (0.01) 0.03
$ 0.38 $ 0.19 $ 1.45 $ 0.53
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 1,458 1,454 1,458 1,453
Operating cash flows " $ 1,247 $ 1,183 $ 3,925 $ 3,012
Capital expenditures $ 507 $ 314 $ 1,391 $ 1,020
At September 30:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,556 $ 4,957 $ 4,556 $ 4,957
Total debt, including current portion $ 11,127 $ 14,782 $ 11,127 $ 14,782

a. Refer to Note 9 for a summary of revenues and operating income by operating division.

b. Includes adjustments to embedded derivatives for provisionally priced concentrate and cathode sales (refer to Note 6).

c. Includes net gains on sales of assets totaling $70 million ( $70 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.05 per share) in third-quarter 2018 , $33 million
( $33 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.02 per share) in third-quarter 2017 , $126 million ( $126 million to net income attributable to common
stock or $0.09 per share) for the first nine months of 2018 , and $66 million ( $66 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.05 per share) for the first
nine months of 2017 . Refer to “Net Gain on Sales of Assets” for further discussion.

Includes net charges to environmental obligations and related litigation reserves totaling $2 million ( $2 million to net income attributable to common stock or less than
$0.01 per share) in third-quarter 2018 , $64 million ( $64 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.04 per share) in third-quarter 2017 , $52 million ( $52
million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.04 per share) for the first nine months of 2018 , and $53 million ( $53 million to net income attributable to
common stock or $0.04 per share) for the first nine months of 2017 .

Includes charges totaling $69 million ( $22 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.02 per share) related to Cerro Verde’s new three-year collective
labor agreement (CLA). The first nine months of 2018 also include other net credits to mining operations totaling $10 million ( $4 million to net income attributable to
common stock or less than $0.01 per share).

Includes net charges of $9 million ( $5 million to net income attributable to common stock or less than $0.01 per share) in third-quarter 2017 and $117 million ( $62
million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.04 per share) for the first nine months of 2017 associated with workforce reductions at PT-FI. Also includes
other net credits (charges) to mining operations totaling $4 million ( $4 million to net income attributable to common stock or less than $0.01 per share) in third-quarter
2017 and $(24) million ( $(24) million to net income attributable to common stock or $(0.02) per share) for the first nine months of 2017 , primarily reflecting inventory
adjustments and asset impairment.

Includes net credits at oil and gas operations totaling $4 million ( $4 million to net income attributable to common stock or less than $0.01 per share) in third-quarter
2017 and $8 million ( $8 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.01 per share) for the first nine months of 2017 primarily related to drillship
settlements, partly offset by contract termination costs.
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We defer recognizing profits on intercompany sales until final sales to third parties occur. Refer to “Operations — Smelting & Refining” for a summary of net impacts
from changes in these deferrals.

Includes net charges of $188 million to net income attributable to common stock ($0.13 per share) for the third quarter and first nine months of 2017 associated with
disputed Cerro Verde royalties for prior years. Refer to Note 8 for further discussion.

Includes net gains on early extinguishment of debt totaling $11 million ( $11 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.01 per share) in third-quarter
2017 , $8 million ( $8 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.01 per share) for the first nine months of 2018 and $8 million ( $8 million to net income
attributable to common stock or $0.01 per share) for the first nine months of 2017 . Refer to Note 5 for further discussion.

Includes net tax (charges) credits of $(10) million ( $(0.01) per share) in third-quarter 2017 , $5 million (less than $0.01 per share) for the first nine months of 2018 and
$21 million ( $0.01 per share) for the first nine months of 2017 . Refer to “Income Taxes” for further discussion of these net tax credits (charges).

Includes interest received on tax refunds totaling $30 million ( $19 million to net income attributable to common stock or $0.01 per share), mostly associated with the
refund of PT-FI's prior years’ tax receivables.

Primarily reflects adjustments to the estimated fair value of contingent consideration related to the November 2016 sale of our interest in TF Holdings Limited (TFHL),
which will continue to be adjusted through December 31, 2019.

Includes net working capital sources (uses) sources and timing of other tax payments of $59 million in third-quarter 2018 , $46 million in third-quarter 2017 , $(154)
million for the first nine months of 2018 and $389 million for the first nine months of 2017 .

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
SUMMARY OPERATING DATA
Copper (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 1,006 996 2,972 2,730
Sales, excluding purchases 1,044 932 3,026 2,683
Average realized price per pound $ 280 $ 294 $ 2.96 $ 2.79
) i ) $ 173 ©§ 156 °§ 170 * § 159 ¢
Site production and delivery costs per pound 2
. $ 093 ©$ 120 °$ 095 b §$ 125 ¢
Unit net cash costs per pound 2
Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces)
Production 760 418 2,105 1,010
Sales, excluding purchases 837 355 2,123 969
Average realized price per ounce $ 1,191 $ 1290 $ 1,249 $ 1,261
Molybdenum (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 23 24 69 70
Sales, excluding purchases 22 22 70 7
Average realized price per pound $ 1240 $ 922 $ 12.41 $ 9.18

Reflects per pound weighted-average production and delivery costs and unit net cash costs (net of by-product credits) for all copper mines, before net noncash and
other costs. For reconciliations of per pound unit costs by operating division to production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported in our consolidated financial
statements, refer to “Product Revenues and Production Costs.”

Includes charges totaling $0.07 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2018 and $0.02 per pound of copper for the first nine months of 2018 associated with Cerro
Verde’s new three-year CLA.

Excludes fixed costs totaling $0.01 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2017 and $0.04 per pound of copper for the first nine months of 2017 associated with
workforce reductions at PT-FI.

Revenues

Consolidated revenues totaled $4.9 billion in third-quarter 2018 and $14.9 billion for the first nine months of 2018 , compared with $4.3 billion in third-quarter
2017 and $11.4 billion for the first nine months of 2017 . Revenues from our mining operations primarily include the sale of copper concentrate, copper
cathode, copper rod, gold in concentrate and molybdenum. Refer to Note 9 for a summary of product revenues.
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Following is a summary of changes in our consolidated revenues between periods (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
Consolidated revenues - 2017 period $ 4,310 $ 11,362
Higher (lower) sales volumes:
Copper 327 958
Gold 622 1,456
Molybdenum — (10)
(Lower) higher average realized prices:
Copper (146) 515
Gold (83) (27)
Molybdenum 73 227
Adjustments for prior period provisionally priced copper sales (206) (151)
Higher revenues from purchased copper 88 233
Higher Atlantic Copper revenues 24 347
Other, including intercompany eliminations (46) 34
Consolidated revenues - 2018 period $ 4,908 $ 14,944

Sales Volumes. Consolidated copper and gold sales volumes increased in the 2018 periods, compared to the 2017 periods, primarily reflecting higher ore
grades and operating rates in Indonesia. Consolidated molybdenum sales volumes in the 2018 periods approximated the 2017 periods.

Refer to “Operations” for further discussion of sales volumes at our mining operations.

Realized Prices. Our consolidated revenues can vary significantly as a result of fluctuations in the market prices of copper, gold and molybdenum. Third-
quarter 2018 average realized prices, compared with third-quarter 2017 , were 5 percent lower for copper, 8 percent lower for gold and 34 percent higher for
molybdenum, and average realized prices for the first nine months of 2018 , compared with the first nine months of 2017 , were 6 percent higher for copper, 1
percent lower for gold and 35 percent higher for molybdenum. Refer to “Markets” for further discussion.

As discussed below, substantially all of our copper concentrate and cathode sales contracts provide final copper pricing in a specified future month. We record
revenues and invoice customers at the time of shipment based on then-current LME prices, which results in an embedded derivative on provisionally priced
concentrate and cathode sales that is adjusted to fair value through earnings each period until final pricing on the date of settlement. Average realized copper
prices include net adjustments to current period provisionally priced copper sales totaling $18 million in third-quarter 2018 and $(172) million for the first nine
months of 2018 , compared with $38 million in third-quarter 2017 and $194 million for the first nine months of 2017 . Refer to Notes 6 and 9 for a summary of
total adjustments to prior period and current period provisionally priced sales.

Prior Period Provisionally Priced Copper Sales. Substantially all of our copper concentrate and cathode sales contracts provide final copper pricing in a
specified future month (generally one to four months from the shipment date) based primarily on quoted LME monthly average copper prices. We receive
market prices based on prices in the specified future period, which results in price fluctuations recorded through revenues until the date of settlement. We
record revenues and invoice customers at the time of shipment based on then-current LME prices, which results in an embedded derivative on our
provisionally priced concentrate and cathode sales that is adjusted to fair value through earnings each period, using the period-end forward prices, until final
pricing on the date of settlement. To the extent final prices are higher or lower than what was recorded on a provisional basis, an increase or decrease to
revenues is recorded each reporting period until the date of final pricing. Accordingly, in times of rising copper prices, our revenues benefit from adjustments
to the final pricing of provisionally priced sales pursuant to contracts entered into in prior periods; in times of falling copper prices, the opposite occurs. Net
adjustments to prior periods’ provisionally priced copper sales recorded in consolidated revenues totaled $(111) million in third-quarter 2018 and $(70) million
for the first nine months of 2018 , compared with $95 million in third-quarter 2017 and $81 million for the first nine months of 2017 . Refer to Notes 6 and 9 for
a summary of total adjustments to prior period and current period provisionally priced sales.

At September 30, 2018 , we had provisionally priced copper sales totaling 373 million pounds of copper (net of intercompany sales and noncontrolling
interests) recorded at an average of $2.84 per pound, subject to final pricing
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over the next several months. We estimate that each $0.05 change in the price realized from the September 30, 2018 , provisional price recorded would have
an approximate $11 million effect on our 2018 net income attributable to common stock. The LME copper price settled at $2.75 per pound on October 31,
2018 .

Purchased Copper. We purchase copper cathode primarily for processing by our Rod & Refining operations. Purchased copper volumes totaled 93 million
pounds in third-quarter 2018 and 257 million pounds for the first nine months of 2018 , compared with 75 million pounds in third-quarter 2017 and 195 million
for the first nine months of 2017 .

Atlantic Copper Revenues. Atlantic Copper revenues increased to $579 million in third-quarter 2018 , compared with $555 million in third-quarter 2017 ,
primarily reflecting higher gold sales volumes. Atlantic Copper revenues increased to $1.8 billion for the first nine months of 2018 , compared with $1.4 billion
for the first nine months of 2017 , primarily reflecting higher copper and gold sales volumes.

Production and Delivery Costs

Consolidated production and delivery costs totaled $3.1 billion in third-quarter 2018 and $2.8 billion in third-quarter 2017 . Third-quarter 2018 included charges
totaling $69 million associated with Cerro Verde’s new three-year CLA and third-quarter 2017 included charges totaling $216 million associated with disputed
royalties at Cerro Verde for prior years. Excluding these amounts, higher consolidated production and delivery costs in third-quarter 2018 primarily reflect
higher mining and milling costs in Indonesia and North America.

Consolidated production and delivery costs totaled $8.8 billion for the first nine months of 2018 and $7.5 billion for the first nine months of 2017 . The first nine
months of 2018 included charges totaling $69 million associated with Cerro Verde’s new three-year CLA. The first nine months of 2017 included charges
totaling $216 million associated with disputed royalties at Cerro Verde for prior years and charges totaling $112 million associated with workforce reductions at
PT-FI. Excluding these amounts, higher consolidated production and delivery costs for the first nine months of 2018 primarily reflects higher mining and milling
costs in North America, South America and Indonesia and higher purchases at our smelting and refining operations.

Mining Unit Site Production and Delivery Costs. Site production and delivery costs for our copper mining operations primarily include labor, energy and
commodity-based inputs, such as sulphuric acid, reagents, liners, tires and explosives. Consolidated unit site production and delivery costs (before net
noncash and other costs) for our copper mines averaged $1.73 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2018 and $1.70 per pound of copper for the first nine
months of 2018 , compared with $1.56 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2017 and $1.59 per pound of copper for the first nine months of 2017 . Higher
consolidated unit site production and delivery costs in the 2018 periods, compared with the 2017 periods, primarily reflect charges associated with Cerro
Verde's new three-year CLA and higher mining and milling costs in North America and South America, partly offset by higher copper sales volumes at PT-FI.
Refer to “Operations — Unit Net Cash Costs” for further discussion of unit net cash costs associated with our operating divisions and to “Product Revenues
and Production Costs” for reconciliations of per pound costs by operating division to production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported in our
consolidated financial statements.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization

Depreciation will vary under the unit-of-production (UOP) method as a result of changes in sales volumes and the related UOP rates at our mining operations.
Consolidated depreciation, depletion and amortization (DD&A) totaled $458 million in third-quarter 2018 and $1.4 billion for the first nine months of 2018,
compared with $418 million in third-quarter 2017 and $1.3 billion for the first nine months of 2017 .

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $101 million in third-quarter 2018 , $104 million in third-quarter 2017 , $341 million for the
first nine months of 2018 and $362 million for the first nine months of 2017 .

Mining Exploration and Research Expenses

Consolidated exploration and research expenses for our mining operations totaled $27 million in both third-quarter 2018 and 2017 , $72 million for the first
nine months of 2018 and $60 million for the first nine months of 2017 . Our mining exploration activities are generally associated with our existing mines,
focusing on opportunities to expand reserves and resources to support development of additional future production capacity. A drilling program to further
delineate the Lone Star resource continues to indicate significant additional mineralization in this district, with higher
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ore grades than our other North America copper mines. Exploration spending is expected to approximate $85 million for the year 2018 .

Environmental Obligations and Shutdown Costs

Environmental obligation costs reflect net revisions to our long-term environmental obligations, which vary from period to period because of changes to
environmental laws and regulations, the settlement of environmental matters and/or circumstances affecting our operations that could result in significant
changes in our estimates. Shutdown costs include care-and-maintenance costs and any litigation, remediation or related expenditures associated with closed
facilities or operations. Net charges for environmental obligations and shutdown costs totaled $8 million in third-quarter 2018 , $72 million in third-quarter 2017
and $76 million for both the first nine months of 2018 and 2017 . Refer to Note 8 for further discussion.

Net Gain on Sales of Assets

Net gain on sales of assets totaled $70 million in third-quarter 2018 and $126 million for the first nine months of 2018 , primarily reflecting adjustments to
assets held for sale and to the fair value of the potential contingent consideration related to the 2016 sale of onshore California oil and gas properties.
Potential contingent consideration related to this transaction consists of $50 million per year for 2018, 2019 and 2020 if the price of Brent crude oil averages
over $70 per barrel in each of these calendar years. The average Brent crude oil price for the first nine months of 2018 is above $70 per barrel.

Net gain on sales of assets totaled $33 million in third-quarter 2017 and $66 million for the first nine months of 2017 , primarily associated with oil and gas
transactions.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net includes interest associated with disputed Cerro Verde royalties (refer to Note 8 for additional discussion) totaling $1 million in third-
quarter 2018 , $7 million for the first nine months of 2018 and $141 million for the third quarter and first nine months of 2017 . Consolidated interest costs
(before capitalization and excluding interest expense associated with disputed Cerro Verde royalties) totaled $166 million in third-quarter 2018 , $196 million in
third-quarter 2017 , $501 million for the first nine months of 2018 and $583 million for the first nine months of 2017 . Lower interest costs in the 2018 periods,
compared with the 2017 periods, reflect a decrease in total debt.

Capitalized interest varies with the level of expenditures for our development projects and average interest rates on our borrowings, and totaled $24 million in
third-quarter 2018 , $33 million in third-quarter 2017 , $72 million for the first nine months of 2018 and $91 million for the first nine months of 2017 .

Income Taxes
Following is a summary of the approximate amounts used in the calculation of our consolidated income tax provision (in millions, except percentages):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018 2017
Income Tax

Income Effective (Provision) Income Effective Income Tax

(Loss) @ Tax Rate Benefit (Loss) @ Tax Rate (Provision) Benefit
us. $ 339 (1)% $ & ’ $ 66 (40)% $ 27 ’
South America 573 40% (229) 709 42% (296)
Indonesia 2,982 42% (1,254) 1,035 42% (435)
Cerro Verde royalty dispute @ N/A 7 (357) N/A @ °
Eliminations and other 186 N/A (37) 124 N/A (38)
Rate adjustment ¢ — N/A (33) — N/A (3)
Consolidated FCX $ 4073 38% ¢ $ (1543) $ 1,577 47% $ (747)

a. Represents income from continuing operations by geographic location before income taxes and equity in affiliated companies’ net earnings.

b. Includes tax credits of $5 million for first nine months of 2018 associated with the settlement of a state income tax examination and $21 million for the first nine months
of 2017 associated with anticipated recovery of alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards.

c. Reflects tax charges of $127 million for disputed royalties and other related mining taxes for the period October 2011 through the year 2013, mostly offset by a tax
benefit of $125 million associated with disputed royalties and other related mining taxes for the period December 2006 through the year 2013.
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d. In accordance with applicable accounting rules, we adjust our interim provision for income taxes to equal our consolidated tax rate.

e. The consolidated effective income tax rate is a function of the combined effective tax rates for the jurisdictions in which we operate. Accordingly, variations in the
relative proportions of jurisdictional income result in fluctuations to our consolidated effective income tax rate. Assuming achievement of current sales volume and cost
estimates and average prices of $2.85 per pound for copper, $1,200 per ounce for gold and $12.00 per pound for molybdenum for fourth-quarter 2018 , we estimate
our consolidated effective tax rate for the year 2018 would approximate 37 percent , and would decrease with higher prices.

Net (Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations of $(4) million in third-quarter 2018 , $3 million in third-quarter 2017 , $(19) million for the first nine months of
2018 and $50 million for the first nine months of 2017, primarily reflected adjustments to the fair value of the potential $120 million contingent consideration
related to the November 2016 sale of our interest in TFHL, which will continue to be adjusted through December 31, 2019.

OPERATIONS

North America Copper Mines

We operate seven open-pit copper mines in North America — Morenci, Bagdad, Safford, Sierrita and Miami in Arizona, and Chino and Tyrone in New Mexico.
All of the North America mining operations are wholly owned, except for Morenci. We record our 72 percent undivided joint venture interest in Morenci using
the proportionate consolidation method.

The North America copper mines include open-pit mining, sulfide ore concentrating, leaching and solution extraction/electrowinning (SX/EW) operations. A
majority of the copper produced at our North America copper mines is cast into copper rod by our Rod & Refining segment. The remainder of our North
America copper sales is in the form of copper cathode or copper concentrate, a portion of which is shipped to Atlantic Copper (our wholly owned smelter).
Molybdenum concentrate, gold and silver are also produced by certain of our North America copper mines.

Operating and Development Activities. We have significant undeveloped reserves and resources in North America and a portfolio of potential long-term
development projects. Future investments will be undertaken based on the results of economic and technical feasibility studies, and are dependent on market
conditions. We continue to study opportunities to reduce the capital intensity of our potential long-term development projects.

Through exploration drilling, we have identified a significant resource at our wholly owned Lone Star project located near the Safford operation in eastern
Arizona. An initial project to develop the Lone Star oxide ores commenced in first-quarter 2018, with first production expected by the end of 2020. Total capital
costs, including mine equipment and pre-production stripping, are expected to approximate $850 million and will benefit from the utilization of existing
infrastructure at the adjacent Safford operation. As of September 30, 2018 , approximately $200 million has been incurred for this project. Production from the
Lone Star oxide ores is expected to average approximately 200 million pounds of copper per year with an approximate 20-year mine life. The project also
advances exposure to a significant sulfide resource. We continue to advance drilling activities to define future large-scale development opportunities in

the Lone Star/Safford minerals district.

For further discussion of the risks associated with development projects, refer to Part I, ltem 1A. “Risk Factors” of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 , as updated in our subsequent quarterly reports on Form 10-Q.
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Operating Data. Following is a summary of consolidated operating data for the North America copper mines for the third quarters and first nine months of
2018 and 2017 :

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Operating Data, Net of Joint Venture Interests
Copper (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 349 375 1,051 1,151
Sales, excluding purchases 350 347 1,095 1,130
Average realized price per pound $ 277 $ 292 % 3.02 § 274
Molybdenum (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production @ 8 8 23 25
100% Operating Data
Leach operations
Leach ore placed in stockpiles (metric tons per day) 657,600 657,200 673,800 683,700
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.22 0.27 0.25 0.28
Copper production (millions of recoverable pounds) 242 252 723 763
Mill operations
Ore milled (metric tons per day) 297,800 297,200 297,900 300,000
Average ore grade (percent):
Copper 0.34 0.38 0.35 0.40
Molybdenum 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.03
Copper recovery rate (percent) 87.4 86.6 88.1 86.6
Copper production (millions of recoverable pounds) 173 195 531 603

a. Refer to “Consolidated Results” for our consolidated molybdenum sales volumes, which include sales of molybdenum produced at the North America copper mines.

North America’s consolidated copper sales volumes totaled 350 million pounds in third-quarter 2018 , 347 million pounds in third-quarter 2017 and 1.1 billion
pounds for both the first nine months of 2018 and 2017 . North America copper sales are estimated to approximate 1.4 billion pounds for the year 2018 ,
compared with 1.5 billion pounds in 2017 .

Unit Net Cash Costs. Unit net cash costs per pound of copper is a measure intended to provide investors with information about the cash-generating capacity
of our mining operations expressed on a basis relating to the primary metal product for our respective operations. We use this measure for the same purpose
and for monitoring operating performance by our mining operations. This information differs from measures of performance determined in accordance with
U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. This
measure is presented by other metals mining companies, although our measure may not be comparable to similarly titted measures reported by other
companies.
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Gross Profit per Pound of Copper and Molybdenum

The following table summarizes unit net cash costs and gross profit per pound at our North America copper mines. Refer to “Product Revenues and
Production Costs” for an explanation of the “by-product” and “co-product” methods and a reconciliation of unit net cash costs per pound to production and
delivery costs applicable to sales reported in our consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended September 30,

2018 2017
Co-Product Method Co-Product Method
By- Product Molyb- By- Product Molyb-
Method Copper denum @ Method Copper denum 2
Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 277  $ 277  $ 1154  $ 292 $ 292 % 7.59
Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below 1.98 1.79 9.76 1.65 1.55 5.55
By-product credits (0.26) — — (0.17) — —
Treatment charges 0.10 0.10 — 0.1 0.11 —
Unit net cash costs 1.82 1.89 9.76 1.59 1.66 5.55
DD&A 0.25 0.23 0.80 0.28 0.27 0.49
Noncash and other costs, net 0.08 0.06 0.29 0.04 0.04 0.06
Total unit costs 2.15 2.18 10.85 1.91 1.97 6.10
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales (0.02) (0.02) — 0.03 0.03 —
Gross profit per pound $ 060 $ 057 $ 069 $ 1.04 § 098 $ 1.49
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 350 350 345 345
Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) @ 8 8
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017
Co-Product Method Co-Product Method
By- Product Molyb- By- Product Molyb-
Method Copper denum @ Method Copper denum 2
Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 3.02 $ 3.02 $ 1153 $ 274  $ 274 $ 7.57
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and other costs shown
below 1.92 1.76 8.93 1.57 1.49 5.59
By-product credits (0.23) — — (0.16) — —
Treatment charges 0.10 0.10 — 0.1 0.10 —
Unit net cash costs 1.79 1.86 8.93 1.52 1.59 5.59
DD&A 0.25 0.23 0.76 0.29 0.27 0.56
Noncash and other costs, net 0.06 0.06 0.18 0.06 0.06 0.06
Total unit costs 2.10 2.15 9.87 1.87 1.92 6.21
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open
sales (0.01) (0.01) — — — —
Gross profit per pound $ 091 §$ 086 $ 166 $ 087 $ 082 $ 1.36
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 1,094 1,094 1,127 1,127
Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 2 23 25

a. Reflects sales of molybdenum produced by certain of the North America copper mines to our molybdenum sales company at market-based pricing.

Our North America copper mines have varying cost structures because of differences in ore grades and characteristics, processing costs, by-product credits
and other factors. Average unit net cash costs (net of by-product credits) for the North America copper mines of $1.82 per pound of copper in third-quarter
2018 and $1.79 for the first nine months of 2018 were higher than unit net cash costs of $1.59 per pound in third-quarter 2017 and $1.52 for the first nine
months of 2017 , primarily reflecting higher mining and milling costs and increased mining rates.

Because certain assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis, North America’s average unit depreciation rate may vary with asset additions and the level of
copper production and sales.
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Average unit net cash costs (net of by-product credits) for our North America copper mines are expected to approximate $1.78 per pound of copper for the
year 2018 , based on achievement of current sales volume and cost estimates and assuming an average molybdenum price of $12.00 per pound for fourth-
quarter 2018 . North

America’s average unit net cash costs for the year 2018 would change by approximately $0.01 per pound for each $2 per pound change in the average price
of molybdenum for fourth-quarter 2018 .

South America Mining
We operate two copper mines in South America — Cerro Verde in Peru (in which we own a 53.56 percent interest) and El Abra in Chile (in which we own a 51
percent interest), which are consolidated in our financial statements.

South America mining includes open-pit mining, sulfide ore concentrating, leaching and SX/EW operations. Production from our South America mines is sold
as copper concentrate or cathode under long-term contracts. Our South America mines also sell a portion of their copper concentrate production to Atlantic
Copper. In addition to copper, the Cerro Verde mine produces molybdenum concentrate and silver.

In August 2018, Cerro Verde and its workers’ union agreed to a new three year CLA effective September 1, 2018.

Operating and Development Activities. Cerro Verde’s expanded operations benefit from its large-scale, long-lived reserves and cost efficiencies. The Cerro
Verde expansion project, which achieved capacity operating rates in early 2016, expanded the concentrator facilities’ capacity from 120,000 metric tons of ore
per day to 360,000 metric tons of ore per day. During 2018, Cerro Verde received a modified environmental permit allowing it to operate its existing
concentrator facilities at rates up to 409,500 metric tons of ore per day. Cerro Verde's concentrator facilities have continued to perform well, with average mill
throughput rates of 384,800 metric tons of ore per day for the first nine months of 2018 .

We continue to evaluate a large-scale expansion at El Abra to process additional sulfide material and to achieve higher recoveries. El Abra’s large sulfide
resource could potentially support a major mill project similar to facilities constructed at Cerro Verde. Technical and economic studies are being advanced to
determine the optimal scope and timing for the project.

Operating Data. Following is a summary of consolidated operating data for our South America mining operations:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Copper (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 325 328 931 932
Sales 326 327 928 923
Average realized price per pound $ 280 $ 295 § 293 $ 2.82
Molybdenum (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production @ 7 8 20 21
Leach operations
Leach ore placed in stockpiles (metric tons per day) 194,400 164,000 203,100 136,900
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.34 0.36 0.32 0.37
Copper production (millions of recoverable pounds) 72 65 214 190
Mill operations
Ore milled (metric tons per day) 383,900 379,200 384,800 355,400
Average ore grade (percent):
Copper 0.39 0.44 0.39 0.44
Molybdenum 0.02 0.02 0.01 0.02
Copper recovery rate (percent) 86.1 80.9 83.2 82.7
Copper production (millions of recoverable pounds) 253 263 77 742

a. Refer to “Consolidated Results” for our consolidated molybdenum sales volumes, which include sales of molybdenum produced at Cerro Verde.
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South America’s consolidated copper sales volumes totaled 326 million pounds in third-quarter 2018 and 928 million pounds for the first nine months of 2018 ,
compared with sales of 327 million pounds in third-quarter 2017 and 923 million pounds for the first nine months of 2017 . Copper sales from South America
mines are expected to approximate 1.2 billion pounds of copper for the year 2018 , similar to copper sales volumes in 2017 .

Unit Net Cash Costs. Unit net cash costs per pound of copper is a measure intended to provide investors with information about the cash-generating capacity
of our mining operations expressed on a basis relating to the primary metal product for our respective operations. We use this measure for the same purpose
and for monitoring operating performance by our mining operations. This information differs from measures of performance determined in accordance with
U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. This
measure is presented by other metals mining companies, although our measure may not be comparable to similarly titted measures reported by other
companies.

Gross Profit per Pound of Copper

The following table summarizes unit net cash costs and gross profit per pound of copper at the South America mining operations. Unit net cash costs per
pound of copper are reflected under the by-product and co-product methods as the South America mining operations also had sales of molybdenum and
silver. Refer to “Product Revenues and Production Costs” for an explanation of the “by-product” and “co-product” methods and a reconciliation of unit net cash
costs per pound to production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported in our consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended September 30,

2018 2017
By-Product Co-Product By-Product Co-Product
Method Method Method Method

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 280 $ 280 $ 295 §$ 2.95
Site production and delivery, before net noncash a

and other costs shown below 1.84 1.70 1.60 1.50
By-product credits (0.23) — (0.19) —
Treatment charges 0.20 0.20 0.22 0.22
Royalty on metals = — 0.01 0.01

Unit net cash costs 1.81 1.90 1.64 1.73
DD&A 0.44 0.40 0.41 0.38
Noncash and other costs, net 0.04 0.04 069 °® 0.63

Total unit costs 2.29 2.34 2.74 2.74
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (0.16) (0.16) 0.18 0.18
Gross profit per pound $ 035 $ 030 $ 039 $ 0.39
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 326 326 327 327

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017
By-Product Co-Product By-Product Co-Product
Method Method Method Method

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 293 § 293 §$ 282 §$ 2.82
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and other costs shown a

below 1.80 1.66 1.55 1.45
By-product credits (0.24) — (0.17) —
Treatment charges 0.20 0.20 0.22 0.22
Royalty on metals — — 0.01 0.01

Unit net cash costs 1.76 1.86 1.61 1.68
DD&A 0.44 0.40 0.42 0.40
Noncash and other costs, net 0.05 0.05 0.25 ’ 0.23

Total unit costs 2.25 2.31 2.28 2.31
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales (0.04) (0.04) 0.04 0.04
Gross profit per pound $ 064 $ 058 $ 058 $ 0.55
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 928 928 923 923
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a. Includes charges totaling $0.21 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2018 and $0.07 per pound of copper for the first nine months of 2018 associated with Cerro
Verde’s new three-year CLA.

b. Includes charges totaling $0.66 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2017 and $0.23 per pound of copper for the first nine months of 2017 associated with disputed
Cerro Verde royalties for prior years.

Our South America mines have varying cost structures because of differences in ore grades and characteristics, processing costs, by-product credits and
other factors. Average unit net cash costs (net of by-product credits) of $1.81 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2018 were higher than unit net cash costs of
$1.64 per pound in third-quarter 2017 , primarily reflecting costs associated with Cerro Verde’s new three-year CLA. Average unit net cash costs (net of by-
product credits) of $1.76 for the first nine months of 2018 were higher than unit net cash costs of $1.61 for the first nine months of 2017 , primarily reflecting
costs associated with Cerro Verde’s new three-year CLA and higher mining and milling costs.

Revenues from Cerro Verde’s concentrate sales are recorded net of treatment charges, which will vary with Cerro Verde’s sales volumes and the price of
copper.

Because certain assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis, South America’s unit depreciation rate may vary with asset additions and the level of copper
production and sales.

Revenue adjustments primarily result from changes in prices on provisionally priced copper sales recognized in prior periods. Refer to “Consolidated Results
— Revenues” for further discussion of adjustments to prior period provisionally priced copper sales.

Average unit net cash costs (net of by-product credits) for our South America mining operations are expected to approximate $1.73 per pound of copper for
the year 2018 , based on current sales volume and cost estimates and assuming an average price of $12.00 per pound of molybdenum for fourth-quarter
2018 .

Indonesia Mining

Indonesia mining includes PT-FI's Grasberg minerals district, one of the world’s largest copper and gold deposits, in Papua, Indonesia. We own 90.64 percent
of PT-FI, including 9.36 percent owned through our wholly owned subsidiary, PT-Il. PT-FI produces copper concentrate that contains significant quantities of
gold and silver. Substantially all of PT-FI's copper concentrate is sold under long-term contracts, and during the first nine months of 2018 , approximately 40
percent of PT-FI's concentrate production was sold to PT Smelting (PT-FI’s 25-percent-owned smelter and refinery in Gresik, Indonesia).

PT-FI currently operates a proportionately consolidated unincorporated joint venture with Rio Tinto (the Joint Venture), under which Rio Tinto has a 40 percent
interest in certain assets and a 40 percent interest through 2022 in production exceeding specified annual amounts of copper, gold and silver. After 2022, all
production and related revenues and costs are shared 60 percent PT-FI and 40 percent Rio Tinto. Refer to Note 8 and below for discussion of the pending
transaction in which PT Inalum will acquire all of Rio Tinto’s interest associated with the Joint Venture and 100 percent of our interests in PT-II.

Regulatory Matters. On September 27, 2018, we, PT-FI, PT-ll and PT Inalum entered into a Divestment Agreement on previously agreed economic terms in
connection with PT Inalum’s acquisition of shares of PT-FI. Under the Divestment Agreement, PT Inalum will acquire, for cash consideration of $350 million,
100 percent of our interests in PT-1l, which owns 9.36 percent of PT-FI (equates to a 5.6 percent interest after 2022). PT Inalum also entered into a definitive
agreement with Rio Tinto to acquire for cash consideration of $3.5 billion, all of Rio Tinto's interests (40 percent interest after 2022) associated with the Joint
Venture.

The arrangements provide for us and existing PT-F| shareholders to retain the economics of the revenue and cost sharing arrangements under the Joint
Venture and for us to continue to manage PT-Fl's operations. Following completion of the transaction, PT-FI will have an expanded asset base as a result of
Rio Tinto’s interests being merged into PT-FI, and PT Inalum's share ownership will be 51.2 percent of PT-FI (subject to a dividend assignment mechanism to
replicate the Joint Venture economics), and our ownership will be 48.8 percent.

PT-FI has agreed to complete the construction of a smelter within five years of the closing, with economics shared pro rata by us and PT Inalum according to
our respective equity ownership in PT-FI. Concurrent with the closing of the divestment transaction, PT-FI will be granted an IUPK providing long-term mining
rights with assured legal and fiscal terms and legal enforceability through 2041. The IUPK issued at closing will initially be valid through 2031 a
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nd will include an assured extension through 2041 upon PT-FI’s satisfaction of agreed conditions, including those related to smelter construction and payment
of state revenues in accordance with the IUPK.

The transaction, which is expected to close in late 2018 or early 2019, is subject to certain conditions, including the documentation and issuance by the
Indonesian government of the IUPK providing for the extension and stability of PT-FI's long-term mining rights with assured legal and fiscal terms and legal
enforceability through 2041 in a form acceptable to us and PT Inalum; resolution of environmental regulatory matters that include amendments to the decrees
imposing unattainable environmental standards on PT-FI pending before the Ministry satisfactory to the Indonesian government, us and PT Inalum; various
other Indonesian regulatory actions and approvals, including modification or revocation of current regulations and implementation of new regulations by the
Indonesian government and assurances or approvals by Indonesian tax authorities with respect to the pending transaction; and receipt of customary
regulatory approvals from international competition authorities.

The Divestment Agreement provides us and PT Inalum with the right to terminate, in certain circumstances, including if the transaction is not consummated on
or before December 31, 2018, subject to a six month extension if needed, to obtain regulatory approvals from international competition authorities.

PT-FI's export license is effective through February 15, 2019, and PT-FI's temporary IUPK is effective through November 30, 2018. PT-FI will continue to seek
extensions to its temporary IUPK until closing of the pending transaction. Until the pending transaction is completed, PT-FI has reserved all rights under its
Contract of Work (COW).

For further discussion of the regulatory matters and risks associated with operations in Indonesia, refer to Part I, Item IA. “Risk Factors” of our annual report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , as updated in our subsequent quarterly reports on Form 10-Q.

Operating and Development Activities. PT-Fl is currently mining the final phase of the Grasberg open pit, which contains high copper and gold ore grades.
Following results of an economic analysis in the first half of 2018, PT-FI revised its mine plans to continue to mine ore from the open pit until transitioning to
the Grasberg Block Cave (GBC) underground mine in the first half of 2019.

PT-FI has several projects in the Grasberg minerals district related to the development of its large-scale, long-lived, high-grade underground ore bodies. In
aggregate, these underground ore bodies are expected to produce large-scale quantities of copper and gold following the transition from the Grasberg open
pit.

PT-FI's estimated annual capital spending on underground mine development projects is expected to average $0.8 billion per year ( $0.7 billion per year net to
PT-FI) over the next five years. Considering the long-term nature and size of these projects, actual costs could vary from these estimates.

As discussed above, PT-Fl is also evaluating plans for the development of a new copper smelter in Indonesia, including site selection, engineering, joint
venture and financing arrangements.

The following provides additional information on the continued development of the Common Infrastructure project, the GBC underground mine and the Deep
Mill Level Zone (DMLZ) ore body that lies below the Deep Ore Zone (DOZ) underground mine. Our current plans and mineral reserves in Indonesia assume
that PT-FI's long-term mining rights will be extended through 2041, as stated in the COW, which will be replaced by the IUPK upon completion of the pending
transaction.

For further discussion of the risks associated with development projects, refer to Part |, ltem 1A. “Risk Factors” of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 , as updated by Part II, ltem 1A. “Risk Factors” of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q.

Common Infrastructure and GBC Underground Mine. In 2004, PT-FI commenced its Common Infrastructure project to provide access to its large undeveloped
underground ore bodies located in the Grasberg minerals district through a tunnel system located approximately 400 meters deeper than its existing
underground tunnel system. In addition to providing access to our underground ore bodies, the tunnel system will enable PT-FI to conduct future exploration in
prospective areas associated with currently identified ore bodies. The tunnel system was completed to the Big Gossan terminal, and the Big Gossan mine was
brought into production in 2010. The Big Gossan underground mine was on care-and-maintenance status during most of 2017 and production restarted in
fourth-
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quarter 2017. Development of the GBC and DMLZ underground mines is advancing using the Common Infrastructure project tunnels as access.

The GBC underground mine accounts for approximately half of our recoverable proven and probable reserves in Indonesia. Substantial progress has been
made to prepare for the transition to mining of the GBC underground mine. First undercut blasting occurred in September 2018, and cave production is
scheduled for the first half of 2019. All underground mining levels and the ore flow system are being commissioned. Production rates over the next five years
are expected to ramp up to 130,000 metric tons of ore per day.

Aggregate mine development capital for the GBC underground mine and associated Common Infrastructure is expected to approximate $6.4 billion (incurred
between 2008 and 2023), with PT-FI's share totaling approximately $5.9 billion. Aggregate project costs totaling $3.8 billion have been incurred through
September 30, 2018 , including $0.5 billion during the first nine months of 2018 .

DMLZ. The DMLZ ore body lies below the DOZ mine at the 2,590-meter elevation and represents the downward continuation of mineralization in the Ertsberg
East Skarn system and neighboring Ertsberg porphyry. In September 2015, PT-FI initiated pre-commercial production that represented ore extracted during
the development phase for the purpose of obtaining access to the ore body. During second-quarter 2018, PT-F| initiated plans to conduct hydraulic fracturing
activities to manage rock stresses and pre-condition the DMLZ underground mine for large-scale production following mining induced seismic activity
experienced in 2017 and 2018. Hydraulic fracturing activities designed to safely manage production commenced in third-quarter 2018 and, to date, have
produced the expected effective results. PT-FI's revised mine plans for the DMLZ underground mine, which continue to be reviewed, currently project block
cave mining activities in the DMLZ underground mine to commence in mid-2019. PT-FI expects the DMLZ underground mine to reach full production rates of
80,000 metric tons per day in 2022. Estimates of timing of future production continue to be reviewed and may be modified as additional information becomes
available.

Drilling efforts continue to determine the extent of the ore body. Aggregate mine development capital costs for the DMLZ underground mine are expected to
approximate $3.1 billion (incurred between 2009 and 2021), with PT-FI's share totaling approximately $1.9 billion. Aggregate project costs totaling $2.4 billion
have been incurred through September 30, 2018 , including approximately $0.3 billion during the first nine months of 2018 .

Other Matters. As further discussed in “Risk Factors” contained in Part I. Item 1A of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 ,
there have been a series of shooting incidents within the PT-FI project area and in nearby areas. During the first nine months of 2018 , there were 12
additional shooting incidents, which resulted in 5 injuries. The safety of our workforce is a critical concern, and PT-FI continues to work with the Indonesian
government to address security issues. We also continue to limit the use of the road leading to our mining and milling operations to secured convoys.
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Operating Data. Following is a summary of consolidated operating data for our Indonesia mining operations:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Operating Data, Net of Joint Venture Interest
Copper (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 332 293 990 647
Sales 368 258 1,003 630
Average realized price per pound $ 281 $ 295 $ 293 $ 2.81
Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces)
Production 754 412 2,089 992
Sales 831 352 2,105 956
Average realized price per ounce $ 1,191 $ 1,290 $ 1,248 $ 1,261
100% Operating Data
Ore milled (metric tons per day): 2
Grasberg open pit 149,500 130,500 141,100 91,200
DOZ underground mine 31,000 34,500 33,200 29,400
DMLZ underground mine 2,500 2,400 2,600 3,100
GBC underground mine 3,700 4,200 3,800 3,600
Big Gossan underground mine 3,900 — 3,400 500
Total 190,600 171,600 184,100 127,800
Average ore grades:
Copper (percent) 1.00 0.91 1.06 1.00
Gold (grams per metric ton) 1.77 0.98 1.73 1.08
Recovery rates (percent):
Copper 92.4 91.1 924 91.6
Gold 85.7 84.7 85.5 84.9
Production:
Copper (millions of recoverable pounds) 337 277 1,030 670
Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces) 817 405 2,306 993

a. Amounts represent the approximate average daily throughput processed at PT-FI's mill facilities from each producing mine and from development activities that result
in metal production.

Indonesia mining’s consolidated sales of 368 million pounds of copper and 831 thousand ounces of gold in third-quarter 2018 and 1.0 billion pounds of copper
and 2.1 million ounces of gold for the first nine months of 2018 were higher than sales of 258 million pounds of copper and 352 thousand ounces of gold in
third-quarter 2017 and 630 million pounds of copper and 956 thousand ounces of gold for the first nine months of 2017, primarily reflecting higher operating
rates and ore grades.

Assuming achievement of planned operating rates for fourth-quarter 2018 , consolidated sales volumes from Indonesia mining are expected to approximate
1.16 billion pounds of copper and 2.45 million ounces of gold for the year 2018 , compared with 1.0 billion pounds of copper and 1.5 million ounces of gold for
the year 2017 .

As PT-FI transitions mining from the open pit to underground, its production is expected to be significantly lower in 2019 and 2020, compared to 2018. Metal
production is expected to improve significantly by 2021 following a ramp-up period.

Indonesia mining's projected sales volumes and unit net cash credits for the year 2018 are dependent on a number of factors, including operational
performance, workforce productivity, timing of shipments, and Indonesia regulatory matters, including extension of PT-FI's long-term mining rights or an
extension of PT-FI's temporary IUPK after November 30, 2018.

Unit Net Cash Costs. Unit net cash costs per pound of copper is a measure intended to provide investors with information about the cash-generating capacity
of our mining operations expressed on a basis relating to the primary metal product for our respective operations. We use this measure for the same purpose
and for monitoring operating performance by our mining operations. This information differs from measures of performance determined

53



Table of Contents

in accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance determined in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. This measure is presented by other metals mining companies, although our measure may not be comparable to similarly titted measures reported by
other companies.

Gross Profit per Pound of Copper and per Ounce of Gold

The following table summarizes the unit net cash costs and gross profit per pound of copper and per ounce of gold at our Indonesia mining operations. Refer
to “Product Revenues and Production Costs” for an explanation of “by-product” and “co-product” methods and a reconciliation of unit net cash costs per pound
to production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported in our consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017
Co-Product Method Co-Product Method

By-Product By-Product
Method Copper Gold Method Copper Gold
Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2.81 $ 2.81 $ 1,191 $ 295 % 295 $ 1,290
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and other costs shown below 1.40 0.71 300 1.41 0.88 384
Gold and silver credits (2.72) — — (1.80) — —
Treatment charges 0.26 0.13 57 0.27 0.17 74
Export duties 0.14 0.07 30 0.08 0.05 22
Royalty on metals 0.20 0.10 45 0.17 0.10 48
Unit net cash (credits) costs (0.72) 1.01 432 0.13 1.20 528
DD&A 0.49 0.25 105 0.53 0.33 143
Noncash and other costs, net UL Btz & e SRl e
Total unit (credits) costs (0.19) 1.28 545 0.75 1.59 696
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales (0.14) (0.14) (7) 0.11 0.11 4
PT Smelting intercompany profit (loss) 0.02 0.02 3 (0.07) (0.04) (19)
Gross profit per pound/ounce $ 288 §$ 141  § 642 $ 224 % 143 § 579
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 368 368 258 258
Gold sales (thousands of recoverable ounces) 831 352
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017
By-Product Co-Product Method By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Gold Method Copper Gold
Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 293 $ 293 $ 1,248 $ 281 §$ 281 $ 1,261
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and other costs shown below 1.36 0.71 304 1.70 1.00 447
Gold and silver credits (2.69) — — (1.98) — —
Treatment charges 0.26 0.13 57 0.27 0.16 71
Export duties 0.15 0.08 34 0.10 0.06 26
Royalty on metals 0.21 0.1 48 0.16 0.09 47
Unit net cash (credits) costs (0.71) 1.03 443 0.25 1.31 591
DD&A 0.53 0.28 119 0.59 0.35 156
Noncash and other costs, net 0.03 0.01 6 0.22 ’ 0.13 58
Total unit (credits) costs (0.15) 1.32 568 1.06 1.79 805
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales (0.04) (0.04) 8 0.06 0.06 9
PT Smelting intercompany loss (0.01) (0.01) (2) (0.03) (0.01) (7)
Gross profit per pound/ounce $ 303 $ 156 $ 686 $ 178  $ 1.07 $ 458
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 1,003 1,003 630 630
Gold sales (thousands of recoverable ounces) 2,105 956

a. Includes fixed costs charged directly to production and delivery costs totaling $0.03 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2017 and $0.18 per pound of copper for the
first nine months of 2017 associated with workforce reductions.
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A significant portion of PT-FI's costs are fixed and unit costs vary depending on production volumes and other factors. As a result of higher sales volumes and
gold and silver credits, Indonesia had unit net cash credits (including gold and silver credits) of $0.72 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2018 and $0.71 per
pound of copper for the first nine months of 2018 , compared with unit net cash costs of $0.13 per pound of copper in third-quarter 2017 and $0.25 per pound
of copper for the first nine months of 2017 .

Treatment charges vary with the volume of metals sold and the price of copper, and royalties vary with the volume of metals sold and the prices of copper and
gold.

Because certain assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis, PT-FI's unit depreciation rate varies with the level of copper production.

Revenue adjustments primarily result from changes in prices on provisionally priced copper sales recognized in prior periods. Refer to “Consolidated Results
— Revenues” for further discussion of adjustments to prior period provisionally priced copper sales.

PT Smelting intercompany profit (loss) represents the change in the deferral of 25 percent of PT-FI's profit on sales to PT Smelting. Refer to “Smelting &
Refining” below for further discussion.

Because of the fixed nature of a large portion of Indonesia’s costs, unit net cash credits/costs vary from quarter to quarter depending on copper and gold
volumes. Assuming an average gold price of $1,200 per ounce for fourth-quarter 2018 and achievement of current sales volume and cost estimates, unit net
cash credits (including gold and silver credits) for Indonesia mining are expected to approximate $0.54 per pound of copper for the year 2018 . Indonesia
mining’s unit net cash credits for the year 2018 would change by approximately $0.03 per pound for each $50 per ounce change in the average price of gold
for the fourth-quarter 2018 . As a result of lower expected copper and gold production during the transition from the open pit to the GBC underground mine,
Indonesia mining's unit net cash costs are expected to be higher in 2019 and 2020.

Molybdenum Mines

We have two wholly owned molybdenum mines in North America — the Henderson underground mine and the Climax open-pit mine - both in Colorado. The
Henderson and Climax mines produce high-purity, chemical-grade molybdenum concentrate, which is typically further processed into value-added
molybdenum chemical products. The majority of the molybdenum concentrate produced at the Henderson and Climax mines, as well as from our North
America and South America copper mines, is processed at our own conversion facilities.

Operating and Development Activities. Production from the Molybdenum mines totaled 8 million pounds of molybdenum in both third-quarter 2018 and 2017 ,
26 million pounds for the first nine months of 2018 and 24 million pounds for the first nine months of 2017 . Refer to “Consolidated Results” for our
consolidated molybdenum operating data, which includes sales of molybdenum produced at our Molybdenum mines, and from our North America and South
America copper mines, and refer to “Outlook” for projected consolidated molybdenum sales volumes.

Unit Net Cash Costs Per Pound of Molybdenum. Unit net cash costs per pound of molybdenum is a measure intended to provide investors with information
about the cash-generating capacity of our mining operations expressed on a basis relating to the primary metal product for our respective operations. We use
this measure for the same purpose and for monitoring operating performance by our mining operations. This information differs from measures of
performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance determined
in accordance with U.S. GAAP. This measure is presented by other metals mining companies, although our measure may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other companies.

Average unit net cash costs for our Molybdenum mines of $9.02 per pound of molybdenum in third-quarter 2018 and $8.64 per pound of molybdenum for the
first nine months of 2018 were higher than average unit costs of $7.82 per pound of molybdenum in third-quarter 2017 and $7.52 per pound of molybdenum
for the first nine months of 2017 , primarily reflecting higher operating rates and costs associated with ramp-up activity. Based on current sales volume and
cost estimates, average unit net cash costs for the Molybdenum mines are expected to approximate $8.80 per pound of molybdenum for the year 2018 . Refer
to “Product Revenues and Production Costs” for a reconciliation of unit net cash costs per pound to production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported
in our consolidated financial statements.
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Smelting and Refining

We wholly own and operate a smelter in Arizona (Miami smelter), a refinery in Texas (El Paso refinery) and a smelter and refinery in Spain (Atlantic Copper).
Additionally, PT-FI owns 25 percent of a smelter and refinery in Gresik, Indonesia (PT Smelting). Treatment charges for smelting and refining copper
concentrate consist of a base rate per pound of copper and per ounce of gold and are generally fixed. Treatment charges represent a cost to our mining
operations and income to Atlantic Copper and PT Smelting. Thus, higher treatment charges benefit our smelter operations and adversely affect our mining
operations. Our North America copper mines are less significantly affected by changes in treatment charges because these operations are largely integrated
with our Miami smelter and El Paso refinery. Through this form of downstream integration, we are assured placement of a significant portion of our
concentrate production.

Atlantic Copper smelts and refines copper concentrate and markets refined copper and precious metals in slimes. During the first nine months of 2018 ,
Atlantic Copper’s concentrate purchases from our copper mining operations included 13 percent from our North America copper mines, 6 percent from our
South America copper mining operations and 3 percent from our Indonesia mining operations, with the remainder purchased from third parties.

PT-FI's contract with PT Smelting provides for PT-FI to supply 100 percent of the copper concentrate requirements (subject to a minimum or maximum rate)
necessary for PT Smelting to produce 205,000 metric tons of copper annually on a priority basis. PT-FI may also sell copper concentrate to PT Smelting at
market rates for quantities in excess of 205,000 metric tons of copper annually. During the first nine months of 2018 , PT-FI supplied all of PT Smelting’s
concentrate requirements.

We defer recognizing profits on sales from our mining operations to Atlantic Copper and on 25 percent of PT-FI’s sales to PT Smelting until final sales to third
parties occur. Changes in these deferrals attributable to variability in intercompany volumes resulted in net (reductions) additions to net income attributable to
common stock of $(24) million in third-quarter 2018 , $24 million in third-quarter 2017 , $(4) million for the first nine months of 2018 and less than $1 million for
the first nine months of 2017 . Our net deferred profits on our inventories at Atlantic Copper and PT Smelting to be recognized in future periods’ net income
attributable to common stock totaled $85 million at September 30, 2018 . Quarterly variations in ore grades, the timing of intercompany shipments and
changes in product prices will result in variability in our net deferred profits and quarterly earnings.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

Our consolidated operating cash flows vary with prices realized from copper, gold and molybdenum; our sales volumes; production costs; income taxes; other
working capital changes; and other factors. We believe that we have a high-quality portfolio of long-lived copper assets positioned to generate long-term
value. We have commenced a project to develop the Lone Star oxide ores near the Safford operation in eastern Arizona, and PT-FI has several projects in the
Grasberg minerals district related to the development of its large-scale, long-lived, high-grade underground ore bodies. We are also pursuing other
opportunities to enhance net present values, and we continue to advance studies for future development of our copper resources, the timing of which will be
dependent on market conditions.

Cash
Following is a summary of the U.S. and international components of consolidated cash and cash equivalents available to the parent company, net of
noncontrolling interests’ share, taxes and other costs at September 30, 2018 (in billions):

Cash at domestic companies $ 2.7
Cash at international operations 1.9
Total consolidated cash and cash equivalents 4.6
Noncontrolling interests’ share (0.5)
Cash, net of noncontrolling interests’ share 4.1
Withholding taxes and other (0.1)
Net cash available $ 4.0

Cash held at our international operations is generally used to support our foreign operations’ capital expenditures, operating expenses, debt repayment,
working capital and other tax payments, or other cash needs. Management believes that sufficient liquidity is available in the U.S. from cash balances and
availability from our revolving credit facility. We have not elected to permanently reinvest earnings from our foreign subsidiaries, and we have recorded
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deferred tax liabilities for foreign earnings that are available to be repatriated to the U.S. From time to time, our foreign subsidiaries distribute earnings to the
U.S. through dividends that are subject to applicable withholding taxes and noncontrolling interests’ share.

Debt

Following is a summary of our total debt and the related weighted-average interest rates at September 30, 2018 (in billions, except percentages):
Weighted-
Average

Interest Rate

Senior Notes $ 9.9 4.6%
Cerro Verde credit facility 1.2 4.1%
Total debt $ 111 4.5%

At September 30, 2018 , we had no borrowings, $13 million in letters of credit issued and availability of $3.5 billion under our revolving credit facility, which
matures on April, 20, 2023.

Refer to Note 5 for further discussion of debt.

Operating Activities

We generated consolidated operating cash flows of $3.9 billion (net of $0.2 billion in working capital uses and timing of other tax payments) for the first nine
months of 2018 and $3.0 billion (including $0.4 billion in working capital sources and timing of other tax payments) for the first nine months of 2017 . Higher
operating cash flows for the first nine months of 2018 , compared to the first nine months of 2017 , primarily reflect higher copper and gold sales volumes and
higher copper prices.

Subject to future commodity prices for copper, gold and molybdenum, we expect estimated consolidated operating cash flows for the year 2018 , plus
available cash and availability under our credit facility, to be sufficient to fund our budgeted capital expenditures, cash dividends, noncontrolling interest
distributions and other cash requirements for the year. Refer to “Outlook” for further discussion of projected operating cash flows for the year 2018 . For a
discussion of regulatory matters in Indonesia that could have a significant impact on future results, refer to “Risk Factors,” contained in Part |, Item 1A. of our
annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 .

Investing Activities

Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures, including capitalized interest, totaled $1.4 billion for the first nine months of 2018 , including $0.9 billion for major
mining projects. Capital expenditures, including capitalized interest, totaled $1.0 billion for the first nine months of 2017 , including $0.6 billion for major mining
projects. Higher capital expenditures for the first nine months of 2018 , compared with the first nine months of 2017 , primarily reflect increased spending on
major mining projects mostly associated with development of the Lone Star oxide project. Refer to “Outlook” for further discussion of projected capital
expenditures for the year 2018 .

Financing Activities
Debt Transactions. Net repayments of debt for the first nine months of 2018 totaled $1.9 billion , primarily consisting of $1.4 billion for senior notes due March
2018 and $454 million for senior notes due in 2022 and 2023. Refer to Note 5 for further discussion.

Net repayments of debt for the first nine months of 2017 totaled $1.2 billion primarily for the redemption and repayment of senior notes and the repayment of
Cerro Verde's shareholder loans, partly offset by the additional borrowings on Cerro Verde’s credit facility.

Dividends. In February 2018, the Board reinstated a cash dividend on our common stock. We paid dividends on our common stock totaling $145 million for
the first nine months of 2018 . On September 26, 2018, FCX declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per share, which was paid November 1, 2018, to
shareholders of record as of October 15, 2018. The declaration of dividends is at the discretion of our Board and will depend upon our financial results, cash
requirements, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our Board.
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Common stock dividends of $2 million for the first nine months of 2017 related to accumulated dividends paid for vested stock-based compensation.

Cash dividends paid to noncontrolling interests totaled $241 million for the first nine months of 2018 and $67 million for the first nine months of 2017 . These
payments will vary based on the operating results and cash requirements of our consolidated subsidiaries.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

There have been no material changes in our contractual obligations since December 31, 2017 . Refer to Part I, ltems 7. and 7A. in our annual report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , for information regarding our contractual obligations.

CONTINGENCIES

Environmental and Asset Retirement Obligations

Our current and historical operating activities are subject to stringent laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. We perform a
comprehensive annual review of our environmental and asset retirement obligations and also review changes in facts and circumstances associated with
these obligations at least quarterly.

Other than as discussed in Note 8, there have been no material changes to our environmental and asset retirement obligations since December 31, 2017 .
Updated cost assumptions, including increases and decreases to cost estimates, changes in the anticipated scope and timing of remediation activities, and
settlement of environmental matters may result in additional revisions to certain of our environmental obligations. Refer to Note 12 in our annual report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , for further information regarding our environmental and asset retirement obligations.

Litigation and Other Contingencies

Other than as discussed in Note 8, there have been no material changes to our contingencies associated with legal proceedings, environmental and other
matters since December 31, 2017 . Refer to Note 12 and “Legal Proceedings” contained in Part I, ltem 3. of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 , as updated by Note 8 and Part Il, Item 1. “Legal Proceedings” of our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March
31, 2018, and September 30, 2018 , for further information regarding legal proceedings, environmental and other matters.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Refer to Note 11 for a summary of recently adopted accounting standards.
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PRODUCT REVENUES AND PRODUCTION COSTS

Unit net cash costs (credits) per pound of copper and molybdenum are measures intended to provide investors with information about the cash-generating
capacity of our mining operations expressed on a basis relating to the primary metal product for the respective operations. We use this measure for the same
purpose and for monitoring operating performance by our mining operations. This information differs from measures of performance determined in accordance
with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. These
measures are presented by other metals mining companies, although our measures may not be comparable to similarly titted measures reported by other
companies.

We present gross profit per pound of copper in the following tables using both a “by-product” method and a “co-product” method. We use the by-product
method in our presentation of gross profit per pound of copper because (i) the majority of our revenues are copper revenues, (ii) we mine ore, which contains
copper, gold, molybdenum and other metals, (iii) it is not possible to specifically assign all of our costs to revenues from the copper, gold, molybdenum and
other metals we produce and (iv) it is the method used by our management and Board to monitor our mining operations and to compare mining operations in
certain industry publications. In the co-product method presentations, shared costs are allocated to the different products based on their relative revenue
values, which will vary to the extent our metals sales volumes and realized prices change.

We show revenue adjustments for prior period open sales as a separate line item. Because these adjustments do not result from current period sales, these
amounts have been reflected separately from revenues on current period

sales. Noncash and other costs, which are removed from site production and delivery costs in the calculation of unit

net cash costs (credits), consist of items such as stock-based compensation costs, start-up costs, inventory adjustments, long-lived asset impairments,
restructuring and/or unusual charges. As discussed above, gold, molybdenum and other metal revenues at copper mines are reflected as credits against site
production and delivery costs in the by-product method. The following schedules are presentations under both the by-product and co-product methods
together with reconciliations to amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements.
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North America Copper Mines Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Molybdenum 2 Total

Revenues, excluding adjustments 971 $ 971 $ 93 24 1,088
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 695 628 79 15 722
By-product credits (90) — — — —
Treatment charges 35 34 — 1 35

Net cash costs 640 662 79 16 757
DD&A 88 80 2 88
Noncash and other costs, net 26 23 1 26
Total costs 754 765 87 19 871

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (7) 7) — — (7)
Gross profit 210 § 199 § 6 5! 210
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 350 350
Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) @ 8
Gross profit per pound of copper/molybdenum:
Revenues, excluding adjustments 277  $ 277 % 11.54
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1.98 1.79 9.76
By-product credits (0.26) — —
Treatment charges 0.10 0.10 —

Unit net cash costs 1.82 1.89 9.76
DD&A

0.25 0.23 0.80

Noncash and other costs, net 0.08 0.06 0.29

Total unit costs 2.15 2.18 10.85
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (0.02) (0.02) —
Gross profit per pound 060 $ 057 $ 0.69
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
(In millions) Production and

Revenues Delivery DD&A

Totals presented above 1,088 $ 722 $ 88
Treatment charges (6) 29 —
Noncash and other costs, net — 26 —
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (7) = =
Eliminations and other 11 12 —
North America copper mines 1,086 789 88
Other mining °© 4,544 2,996 352
Corporate, other & eliminations (722) (716) 18
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 4908 § 3,069 § 458

a. Reflects sales of molybdenum produced by certain of the North America copper mines to our molybdenum sales company at market-based pricing.
b. Includes gold and silver product revenues and production costs.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including South America mining, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper Smelting &
Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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North America Copper Mines Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Molybdenum @ Other ® Total
Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 1,011 $ 1,011 $ 62 $ 19 $ 1,092
Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below 571 536 45 11 592
By-product credits (60) — — — —
Treatment charges 39 38 — 1 39
Net cash costs 550 574 45 12 631
DD&A
96 90 4 2 96
Noncash and other costs, net 15 14 1 — 15
Total costs 661 678 50 14 742
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales 7 7 — — 7
Gross profit $ 357 § 340 $ 12  $ 5 § 357
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 345 345
Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 2 8

Gross profit per pound of copper/molybdenum:

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 292 § 292 § 7.59
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1.65 1.55 5.55
By-product credits (0.17) — —
Treatment charges 0.11 0.11 —

Unit net cash costs 1.59 1.66 5.55
DD&A

0.28 0.27 0.49

Noncash and other costs, net 0.04 0.04 0.06

Total unit costs 1.91 1.97 6.10
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 0.03 0.03 —
Gross profit per pound $ 1.04 $ 098 § 1.49

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions) Production and
Revenues Delivery DD&A

Totals presented above $ 1,092 $ 592 § 96
Treatment charges (8) 31 =
Noncash and other costs, net — 15 —
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 7 — —
Eliminations and other 14 14 —
North America copper mines 1,105 652 96
Other mining °© 3,909 2,896 299
Corporate, other & eliminations (704) (754) 23
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 4310 § 2,794  § 418

a. Reflects sales of molybdenum produced by certain of the North America copper mines to our molybdenum sales company at market-based pricing.
b. Includes gold and silver product revenues and production costs.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including South America mining, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper Smelting &
Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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North America Copper Mines Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018

(In millions)

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

By-product credits

Treatment charges
Net cash costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total costs

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

Gross profit

Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds)

Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) @

Gross profit per pound of copper/molybdenum:

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

By-product credits

Treatment charges
Unit net cash costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total unit costs

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

Gross profit per pound

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions)

Totals presented above

Treatment charges

Noncash and other costs, net

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

Eliminations and other

North America copper mines

Other mining °©

Corporate, other & eliminations

As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements

a. Reflects sales of molybdenum produced by certain of the North America copper mines to our molybdenum sales company at market-based pricing.

b. Includes gold and silver product revenues and production costs.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including South America mining, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper Smelting &

Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Molybdenum 2 Total
3,301 $ 3301 § 260 $ 69 3,630
2,100 1,933 202 39 2,174
(255) — — — —
109 105 — 4 109
1,954 2,038 202 43 2,283
273 250 17 6 273
68 63 4 1 68
2,295 2,351 223 50 2,624
(5) (5) — — (5)
1,001  $ 945  § 37 $ 19 1,001
1,094 1,094
23
302 § 302 § 11.53
1.92 1.76 8.93
(0.23) — —
0.10 0.10 —
1.79 1.86 8.93
0.25 0.23 0.76
0.06 0.06 0.18
2.10 2.15 9.87
(0.01) (0.01) —
091 § 086 $ 1.66
Production
Revenues and Delivery DD&A
3,630 $ 2,174 § 273
19) 90 —
— 68 —
(5) — —
35 37 1
3,641 2,369 274
13,799 9,049 1,024
(2,496) (2,626) 53
14,944  § 8792 § 1,351
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North America Copper Mines Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Molybdenum @ Total
Revenues, excluding adjustments 3,091 $ 3,091 184 $ 62 3,337
Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below 1,777 1,672 136 34 1,842
By-product credits (181) — — — —
Treatment charges 121 116 — 5 121
Net cash costs 1,717 1,788 136 39 1,963
DD&A 329 309 14 6 329
Noncash and other costs, net 67 65 1 1 67
Total costs 2,113 2,162 151 46 2,359
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales 4 4 — — 4
Gross profit 982 $ 933 33 § 16 982
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 1,127 1,127
Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) @ 25
Gross profit per pound of copper/molybdenum:
Revenues, excluding adjustments 274 § 2.74 7.57
Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below 1.57 1.49 5.59
By-product credits (0.16) — —
Treatment charges 0.11 0.10 —
Unit net cash costs 1.52 1.59 5.59
DD&A 0.29 0.27 0.56
Noncash and other costs, net 0.06 0.06 0.06
Total unit costs 1.87 1.92 6.21
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales — — —
Gross profit per pound 0.87 $ 0.82 1.36
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
(In millions) Production
Revenues and Delivery DD&A
Totals presented above 3,337 $ 1,842 329
Treatment charges (36) 85 —
Noncash and other costs, net N 67 N
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales 4 — —
Eliminations and other 43 44 1
North America copper mines 3,348 2,038 330
Other mining © 10,270 7,751 850
Corporate, other & eliminations (2,256) (2,327) ”
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 11,362  $ 7462 $ 1,257

a. Reflects sales of molybdenum produced by certain of the North America copper mines to our molybdenum sales company at market-based pricing.
b. Includes gold and silver product revenues and production costs.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including South America mining, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper Smelting &
Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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South America Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Other @ Total

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 911 $ 911 $ 88 $ 999
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 599 ©® 549 62 611
By-product credits (76) — — —
Treatment charges 65 65 — 65
Royalty on metals 2 2 — 2

Net cash costs 590 616 62 678
DD&A 142 130 12 142
Noncash and other costs, net 14 14 — 14

Total costs 746 760 74 834
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (52) (52) — (52)
Gross profit $ 113 $ 9 $ 14 $ 113
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 326 326

Gross profit per pound of copper:

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2.80 $ 2.80
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 184 ©° 1.70
By-product credits (0.23) —
Treatment charges 0.20 0.20
Royalty on metals — —

Unit net cash costs 1.81 1.90
DD&A 0.44 0.40
Noncash and other costs, net 0.04 0.04

Total unit costs 2.29 2.34
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (0.16) (0.16)
Gross profit per pound $ 0.35 $ 0.30

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions)
Production
Revenues and Delivery DD&A

Totals presented above $ 999 $ 611 $ 142
Treatment charges (65) — —
Royalty on metals (2) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 14 —
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (52) — —
Eliminations and other — (1) —
South America mining 880 624 142
Other mining °© 4,750 3,161 298
Corporate, other & eliminations (722) (716) 18
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 4,908 $ 3,069 § 458

a. Includes silver sales of 1.2 million ounces ( $14.74 per ounce average realized price). Also reflects sales of molybdenum produced by Cerro Verde to our molybdenum sales company
at market-based pricing.

b. Includes charges totaling $69 million ( $0.21 per pound of copper) for Cerro Verde's new three-year CLA .

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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South America Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Other 2 Total

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 965 $ 965 $ 75 $ 1,040
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 524 490 46 536
By-product credits (63) N — N
Treatment charges 73 73 — 73
Royalty on metals 2 2 — 2

Net cash costs 536 565 46 611
DD&A 134 125 9 134
Noncash and other costs, net 225 ° 207 18 225

Total costs 895 897 73 970
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 59 59 — 59
Gross profit $ 129 $ 127 $ 2 $ 129
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 327 327

Gross profit per pound of copper:

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2.95 $ 2.95
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1.60 1.50
By-product credits (0.19) —
Treatment charges 0.22 0.22
Royalty on metals 0.01 0.01

Unit net cash costs 1.64 1.73
DD&A 0.41 0.38
Noncash and other costs, net 0.69 ° 0.63

Total unit costs 2.74 2.74
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 0.18 0.18
Gross profit per pound $ 0.39 $ 0.39

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions) Production

Revenues and Delivery DD&A
Totals presented above $ 1,040 $ 536 $ 134
Treatment charges (73) — —
Royalty on metals (2) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 225 —

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 59 — —
Eliminations and other (1) (2) —
South America mining 1,023 759 134
Other mining ° 3,991 2,789 261
Corporate, other & eliminations (704) (754) 23
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 4,310 $ 2794 $ 418

a. Includes silver sales of 1.0 million ounces ( $16.15 per ounce average realized price). Also reflects sales of molybdenum produced by Cerro Verde to our molybdenum sales company
at market-based pricing.

b. Includes charges totaling $216 million ($0.66 per pound of copper) associated with disputed Cerro Verde royalties for prior years.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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South America Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Other @ Total

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2,718 $ 2,718  $ 255 $ 2,973
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1,668 ° 1,540 163 1,703
By-product credits (220) — — —
Treatment charges 182 182 — 182
Royalty on metals 6 5 1 6

Net cash costs 1,636 1,727 164 1,891
DD&A 402 368 34 402
Noncash and other costs, net 46 46 — 46

Total costs 2,084 2,141 198 2,339
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (37) (37) — (37)
Gross profit $ 597 $ 540 $ 57 $ 597
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 928 928

Gross profit per pound of copper:

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2.93 $ 2.93
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1.80 ° 1.66
By-product credits (0.24) —
Treatment charges 0.20 0.20
Royalty on metals — —

Unit net cash costs 1.76 1.86
DD&A 0.44 0.40
Noncash and other costs, net 0.05 0.05

Total unit costs 2.25 2.31
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (0.04) (0.04)
Gross profit per pound $ 0.64 $ 0.58

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions) Production

Revenues and Delivery DD&A
Totals presented above $ 2,973 $ 1,708  $ 402
Treatment charges (182) — —
Royalty on metals (6) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 46 —

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (37) — —
Eliminations and other (1) (4) —
South America mining 2,747 1,745 402
Other mining © — 14,693 9,673 896
Corporate, other & eliminations = (2,496) (2,626) 53
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 14,944 $ 8,792 $ 1,351

a. Includes silver sales of 3.2 million ounces ( $15.84 per ounce average realized price). Also reflects sales of molybdenum produced by Cerro Verde to our molybdenum sales company
at market-based pricing.
b. Includes charges totaling $69 million ( $0.07 per pound of copper) for Cerro Verde's new three-year CLA.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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South America Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Other @ Total

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2,605 $ 2,605 § 190 $ 2,795
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1,429 1,340 123 1,463
By-product credits (156) — — —
Treatment charges 204 204 — 204
Royalty on metals 6 5 1 6

Net cash costs 1,483 1,549 124 1,673
DD&A 392 365 27 392
Noncash and other costs, net 234 ° 217 17 234

Total costs 2,109 2,131 168 2,299
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 40 40 — 40
Gross profit $ 536 $ 514 § 22 $ 536
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 923 923

Gross profit per pound of copper:

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2.82 $ 2.82
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1.55 1.45
By-product credits (0.17) —
Treatment charges 0.22 0.22
Royalty on metals 0.01 0.01

Unit net cash costs 1.61 1.68
DD&A 0.42 0.40
Noncash and other costs, net 025 °® 0.23

Total unit costs 2.28 2.31
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 0.04 0.04
Gross profit per pound $ 0.58 $ 0.55

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions) Production

Revenues and Delivery DD&A
Totals presented above $ 2,795 $ 1463 § 392
Treatment charges (204) — —
Royalty on metals (6) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 234 —

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales 40 — —
Eliminations and other 1 (2) —
South America mining 2,626 1,695 392
Other mining ° 10,992 8,094 788
Corporate, other & eliminations (2,256) (2,327) 77
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 11,362 $ 7,462 $ 1,257

a. Includes silver sales of 2.8 million ounces ( $16.66 per ounce average realized price). Also reflects sales of molybdenum produced by Cerro Verde to our molybdenum sales company
at market-based pricing.

b. Includes charges totaling $216 million ($0.23 per pound of copper) associated with disputed Cerro Verde royalties for prior years.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, Indonesia mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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Indonesia Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash (Credits) Costs

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018

(In millions) By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Gold Silver 2 Total

Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 1,036 1,036 $ 989 $ 17 2,042
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 514 261 249 4 514
Gold and silver credits (1,001) — — — —
Treatment charges 98 50 48 — 98
Export duties 52 26 25 1 52
Royalty on metals 73 35 37 1 73

Net cash (credits) costs (264) 372 359 6 737
DD&A 181 92 87 2 181
Noncash and other costs, net 14 7 7 N 14

Total (credits) costs (69) 471 453 8 932
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (50) (50) (5) — (55)
PT Smelting intercompany profit 6 3 3 — 6
Gross profit $ 1,061 518 $ 534 $ 9 1,061
Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 368 368
Gold sales (thousands of recoverable ounces) 831
Gross profit per pound of copper/per ounce of gold:
Revenues, excluding adjustments $ 2.81 2.81 $ 1,191
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 1.40 0.71 300
Gold and silver credits (2.72) — —
Treatment charges 0.26 0.13 57
Export duties 0.14 0.07 30
Royalty on metals 0.20 0.10 45

Unit net cash (credits) costs (0.72) 1.01 432
DD&A 0.49 0.25 105
Noncash and other costs, net 0.04 0.02 8

Total unit (credits) costs (0.19) 1.28 545
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

on prior period open sales (0.14) (0.14) (7)
PT Smelting intercompany profit 0.02 0.02 3
Gross profit per pound/ounce $ 2.88 1.41 $ 642
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
(In millions) Production

Revenues and Delivery DD&A

Totals presented above $ 2,042 514 $ 181
Treatment charges (98) — —
Export duties (52) — —
Royalty on metals (73) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 14 —
Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing

prior period open sales (55) — —
PT Smelting intercompany profit — (6) —
Indonesia mining 1,764 522 181
Other mining ° 3,866 3,263 259
Corporate, other & eliminations (722) (716) 18
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 4,908 3,069 § 458

a. Includes silver sales of 1.2 million ounces ( $14.10 per ounce average realized price).



b. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, South America mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.

68



Table of Contents

Indonesia Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017

(In millions)

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

Gold and silver credits

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals
Net cash costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total costs

Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on
prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Gross profit

Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds)

Gold sales (thousands of recoverable ounces)

Gross profit per pound of copper/per ounce of gold:

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

Gold and silver credits

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals
Unit net cash costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total unit costs

Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on
prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Gross profit per pound/ounce

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions)

Totals presented above

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals

Noncash and other costs, net

Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on
prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Indonesia mining

Other mining °©

Corporate, other & eliminations

As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements

By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Gold Silver 2 Total
762 $ 762 $ 453  §$ 11 $ 1,226
365 226 135 4 365
(466) — — — —
71 44 26 1 71
21 13 8 — 21
43 26 17 — 43
34 309 186 5| 500
136 85 50 1 136
24 ° 15 9 — 24
194 409 245 6 660
28 28 2 — 30
(18) an ) — (18)
578 $ 370 $ 203 $ 5 $ 578
258 258
352
2.95 $ 295 § 1,290
1.41 0.88 384
(1.80) — —
0.27 0.17 74
0.08 0.05 22
0.17 0.10 48
0.13 1.20 528
0.53 0.33 143
0.09 ® 0.06 25
0.75 1.59 696
0.11 0.11 4
(0.07) (0.04) (19)
2.24 $ 143 § 579
Production
Revenues and Delivery DD&A
1,226 $ 365 $ 136
(1) — —
@1 — —
(43) — —
30 — —
— 18 —
1,121 407 136
3,893 3,141 259
(704) (754) 23
4,310 $ 2794 § 418

a. Includes silver sales of 666 thousand ounces ( $16.64 per ounce average realized price).



b. Includes $9 million ($0.03 per pound of copper) of costs charged directly to production and delivery costs as a result of the impact of workforce reductions.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, South America mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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Indonesia Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash (Credits) Costs

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018

(In millions)

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

Gold and silver credits

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals
Net cash (credits) costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total (credits) costs

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Gross profit

Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds)

Gold sales (thousands of recoverable ounces)

Gross profit per pound of copper/per ounce of gold:

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

Gold and silver credits

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals
Unit net cash (credits) costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total unit (credits) costs

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Gross profit per pound/ounce

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions)

Totals presented above

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals

Noncash and other costs, net

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Indonesia mining

Other mining °

Corporate, other & eliminations

As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements

By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Gold Silver 2 Total
$ 2,935 $ 2935 § 2628 § 53 5,616
1,367 715 640 12 1,367
(2,698) — — — —
258 135 121 2 258
153 80 71 2 153
211 108 101 2 211
(709) 1,038 933 18 1,989
534 279 250 5 534
25 13 12 — 25
(150) 1,330 1,195 23 2,548
(34) (34) 17 — 17)
(12) 6) (6) - (12)
$ 3,039 $ 1,565 $ 1444  § 30 3,039
1,003 1,003
2,105
$ 2.93 $ 293 § 1,248
1.36 0.71 304
(2.69) — —
0.26 0.13 57
0.15 0.08 34
0.21 0.11 48
(0.71) 1.03 443
0.53 0.28 119
0.03 0.01 6
(0.15) 1.32 568
(0.04) (0.04) 8
(0.01) (0.01) (2)
$ 3.03 $ 156 $ 686
Production
Revenues and Delivery DD&A
$ 5,616 $ 1,367 $ 534
(258) — —
(153) — —
(211) — —
(7 — —
— 12 —
4,977 1,404 534
12,463 10,014 764
(2,496) (2,626) 53
$ 14,944 $ 8792 § 1,351




a. Includes silver sales of 3.5 million ounces ( $15.25 per ounce average realized price).

b. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, South America mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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Indonesia Mining Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017

(In millions)

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

Gold and silver credits

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals
Net cash costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total costs

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Gross profit

Copper sales (millions of recoverable pounds)

Gold sales (thousands of recoverable ounces)

Gross profit per pound of copper/per ounce of gold:

Revenues, excluding adjustments

Site production and delivery, before net noncash
and other costs shown below

Gold and silver credits

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals
Unit net cash costs

DD&A

Noncash and other costs, net
Total unit costs

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Gross profit per pound/ounce

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions)

Totals presented above

Treatment charges

Export duties

Royalty on metals

Noncash and other costs, net

Other revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing
on prior period open sales

PT Smelting intercompany loss

Indonesia mining

Other mining °

Corporate, other & eliminations

As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements

By-Product Co-Product Method
Method Copper Gold Silver 2 Total
$ 1,772 $ 1,772 $ 1,206 $ 32 3,010
1,067 629 427 11 1,067
(1,247) — — — —
170 100 68 2 170
62 36 25 1 62
106 60 45 1 106
158 825 565 15 1,405
372 219 149 4 372
140 82 56 2 140
670 1,126 770 21 1,917
39 39 9 — 48
(a7 (10) 7 — a7
$ 1124  § 675 § 438 § 11 1,124
630 630
956
$ 281 § 281 § 1,261
1.70 1.00 447
(1.98) — —
0.27 0.16 71
0.10 0.06 26
0.16 0.09 47
0.25 1.31 591
0.59 0.35 156
0.22 0.13 58
1.06 1.79 805
0.06 0.06 9
(0.03) (0.01) (7)
$ 178  §$ 1.07 $ 458
Production
Revenues and Delivery DD&A
$ 3010 $ 1,067 $ 372
(170) — —
(62) — —
(106) — —
— 140 —
48 — —
2,720 1,224 372
10,898 8,565 808
(2,256) (2,327) 77
$ 11,362 § 7462 $ 1,257

a. Includes silver sales of 1.9 million ounces ( $16.70 per ounce average realized price).



b. Includes $112 million ( $0.18 per pound of copper) of costs charged directly to production and delivery costs as a result of workforce reductions.

c. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, South America mining, Molybdenum mines, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9.
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Molybdenum Mines Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Three Months Ended September 30,

(In millions) 2018 2017
Revenues, excluding adjustments @ $ 109 §$ 72
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 73 55
Treatment charges and other 8 7

Net cash costs 81 62
DD&A 20 20
Noncash and other costs, net 3 2

Total costs 104 84
Gross profit (loss) $ 5 § (12)
Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) # 8 8
Gross profit (loss) per pound of molybdenum:
Revenues, excluding adjustments 2 $ 1217  $ 9.02
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 8.17 6.97
Treatment charges and other 0.85 0.85

Unit net cash costs 9.02 7.82
DD&A 2.18 244
Noncash and other costs, net 0.39 0.28

Total unit costs 11.59 10.54
Gross profit (loss) per pound $ 058 § (1.52)
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
(In millions)

Production

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Revenues and Delivery DD&A
Totals presented above $ 109 $ 73 20
Treatment charges and other (8) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 3 —
Molybdenum mines 101 76 20
Other mining ® 5,529 3,709 420
Corporate, other & eliminations (722) (716) 18
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 4908 $ 3,069 458
Three Months Ended September 30, 2017
Totals presented above $ 72 $ 55 20
Treatment charges and other (7) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 2 —
Molybdenum mines 65 57 20
Other mining ® 4,949 3,491 375
Corporate, other & eliminations (704) (754) 23
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 4310 $ 2,794 $ 418

a. Reflects sales of the Molybdenum mines’ production to our molybdenum sales company at market-based pricing. On a consolidated basis, realizations are based on the actual
contract terms for sales to third parties; as a result, our consolidated average realized price per pound of molybdenum will differ from the amounts reported in this table.

b. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, South America mining, Indonesia mining, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9. Also includes amounts associated with our molybdenum sales company, which includes sales of molybdenum produced by the
Molybdenum mines and by certain of the North America and South America copper mines.
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Molybdenum Mines Product Revenues, Production Costs and Unit Net Cash Costs

Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions) 2018 2017
Revenues, excluding adjustments 2 $ 330 $ 220
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 209 162
Treatment charges and other 23 21

Net cash costs 232 183
DD&A 60 58
Noncash and other costs, net 5 5

Total costs 297 246
Gross profit (loss) $ 33 $ (26)
Molybdenum sales (millions of recoverable pounds) 2 26 24

Gross profit (loss) per pound of molybdenum:

Revenues, excluding adjustments 2 $ 12.31 $ 9.05
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and other costs shown below 7.79 6.67
Treatment charges and other 0.85 0.85

Unit net cash costs 8.64 7.52
DD&A 2.22 2.38
Noncash and other costs, net 0.20 0.23

Total unit costs 11.06 10.13
Gross profit (loss) per pound $ 125  § (1.08)

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

(In millions)

Production
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 Revenues and Delivery DD&A
Totals presented above $ 330 $ 209 $ 60
Treatment charges and other (23) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 5] —
Molybdenum mines 307 214 60
Other mining ° 17,133 11,204 1,238
Corporate, other & eliminations (2,496) (2,626) 53
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 14,944  $ 8,792 § 1,351
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
Totals presented above $ 220 $ 162  $ 58
Treatment charges and other (21) — —
Noncash and other costs, net — 5 N
Molybdenum mines 199 167 58
Other mining ® 13,419 9,622 1,122
Corporate, other & eliminations (2.256) (2,327) ”
As reported in FCX’s consolidated financial statements $ 11,362 $ 7,462 $ 1,257

a. Reflects sales of the Molybdenum mines’ production to our molybdenum sales company at market-based pricing. On a consolidated basis, realizations are based on the actual
contract terms for sales to third parties; as a result, our consolidated average realized price per pound of molybdenum will differ from the amounts reported in this table.

b. Represents the combined total for our other mining operations, including North America copper mines, South America mining, Indonesia mining, Rod & Refining and Atlantic Copper
Smelting & Refining, as presented in Note 9. Also includes amounts associated with our molybdenum sales company, which includes sales of molybdenum produced by the
Molybdenum mines and by certain of the North America and South America copper mines.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

Our discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements in which we discuss our potential future performance. Forward-looking statements are all
statements other than statements of historical facts, such as projections or expectations relating to ore grades and milling rates, production and sales
volumes, unit net cash costs, operating cash flows, capital expenditures, expectations related to the pending transaction between us, PT-FI, PT-Il and PT
Inalum, including, but not limited to, replication of the economics of the revenue and cost sharing arrangements under the Joint Venture pursuant to a dividend
assignment mechanism, our continued management of PT-FI's operations, the expected timing of completion of the pending transaction, exploration efforts
and results, development and production activities and costs, liquidity, tax rates, the impact of copper, gold and molybdenum price changes, the impact of
deferred intercompany profits on earnings, reserve estimates, future dividend payments, and share purchases and sales. The words “anticipates,” “may,”
“can,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “projects,” “targets,” “intends,” “likely,” “will,” “should,” “to be,” “potential” and any similar expressions are
intended to identify those assertions as forward-looking statements. The declaration of dividends is at the discretion of the Board and will depend on our
financial results, cash requirements, future prospects, and other factors deemed relevant by the Board.

We caution readers that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results may differ materially from those anticipated,
expected, projected or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that can cause our actual results to differ materially from those
anticipated in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, supply of and demand for, and prices of, copper, gold and molybdenum; mine
sequencing; production rates; potential inventory adjustments; potential impairment of long-lived mining assets; the ability to satisfy conditions to close the
pending PT-FI transaction, including, but not limited to, the documentation and issuance by the Indonesian government of an IUPK providing for the extension
and stability of PT-FI's long-term mining rights with assured legal and fiscal terms and legal enforceability through 2041 in a form acceptable to us and PT
Inalum, resolution of environmental regulatory matters that include amendments satisfactory to us, the Indonesian government and PT Inalum, various other
Indonesian regulatory actions and approvals, including modification or revocation of current regulations and the implementation of new regulations by the
Indonesian government and assurances or approvals by Indonesian tax authorities with respect to the pending transaction and receipt of customary regulatory
approvals from international competition authorities; obtaining an extension of PT-FI's temporary IUPK after November 30, 2018; the potential effects of
violence in Indonesia generally and in the province of Papua; industry risks; regulatory changes; political risks; labor relations; weather- and climate-related
risks; environmental risks; litigation results (including the outcome of Cerro Verde’s royalty dispute with the Peruvian national tax authority); and other factors
described in more detail in Part |, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 , and Part I, Item 1A.
“Risk Factors” of our subsequent quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC.

Investors are cautioned that many of the assumptions upon which our forward-looking statements are based are likely to change after the forward-looking
statements are made, including for example commodity prices, which we cannot control, and production volumes and costs, some aspects of which we may
not be able to control. Further, we may make changes to our business plans that could affect our results. We caution investors that we do not intend to update
forward-looking statements more frequently than quarterly notwithstanding any changes in our assumptions, changes in business plans, actual experience or
other changes, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
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Iltem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

There have been no material changes in our market risks during the nine -month period ended September 30, 2018 . For additional information on market
risks, refer to “Disclosures About Market Risks” included in Part I, Items 7. and 7A. of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017
. For projected sensitivities of our operating cash flow to changes in commodity prices, refer to “Outlook” in Part |, Item 2. of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended September 30, 2018 ; for projected sensitivities of our provisionally priced copper sales to changes in commodity prices refer to
“Consolidated Results — Revenues” in Part |, Item 2. of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2018 .

Iltem 4. Controls and Procedures.

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, with the participation of management, have
evaluated the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Based on their evaluation, they have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of September 30, 2018 .

(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
quarter ended September 30, 2018 , that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Part [l. OTHER INFORMATION

Iltem 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in numerous legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business or that are associated with environmental issues arising from
legacy operations conducted over the years by Freeport Minerals Corporation and its affiliates. We are also involved from time to time in other reviews,
investigations and proceedings by government agencies, some of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other
relief.

Management does not believe, based on currently available information, that the outcome of any proceeding reported in our annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2017 , as updated in our subsequent filings, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition; although individual
outcomes could be material to our operating results for a particular period, depending on the nature and magnitude of the outcome and the operating results
for the period.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors.

The following updates the risk factor titled “ Development projects are inherently risky and may require more capital than anticipated, which could adversely
affect our business ,” which was included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, and was amended and restated in our
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018:

Development projects are inherently risky and could require more time and capital than anticipated, which could adversely affect our business.

Currently, our major mining projects include underground development activities in the Grasberg minerals district and development of the Lone Star oxide
project in Arizona. There are many risks and uncertainties inherent in all development projects including, but not limited to, unexpected or difficult geological
formations or conditions, potential delays, cost overruns, shortages of material or labor, construction defects, breakdowns and injuries to persons and
property. The development of our underground mines and operations are also subject to other unique risks including, but not limited to, underground fires or
floods, ventilating harmful gases, fall-of-ground accidents, and seismic activity resulting from unexpected or difficult geological formations or conditions. While
we anticipate taking all measures that we deem reasonable and prudent in connection with the development of our underground mines to safely manage
production, there is no assurance that these risks will not cause schedule delays, revised mine plans, injuries to persons and property, or increased capital
costs, any of which may have a material adverse impact on our cash flows, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, although we devote
significant
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time and resources to our project planning, approval and review processes, many of our development projects are highly complex and rely on factors that are
outside of our control, which may cause us to underestimate the time and capital required to complete a development project.

In September 2015, we initiated pre-commercial production at the Deep Mill Level Zone (DMLZ) underground mine.

During second-quarter 2018, PT Freeport Indonesia (PT-FI) initiated plans to conduct hydraulic fracturing activities to manage rock stresses and pre-condition
the DMLZ underground mine for large-scale production following mining induced seismic activity experienced in 2017 and 2018. Hydraulic fracturing activities
designed to safely manage production commenced in third-quarter 2018. PT-FI's revised mine plans for the DMLZ underground mine, which continue to be
reviewed, currently project block cave mining activities in the DMLZ underground mine to commence in mid-2019. PT-FI expects the DMLZ to reach full
production rates of 80,000 metric tons per day in 2022. Estimates of timing of future production continue to be reviewed and may be modified as additional
information becomes available.

In addition, the economic feasibility of development projects is based on many factors, including the accuracy of estimated reserves, estimated capital and
operating costs, and estimated future prices of the relevant commodity. Consolidated capital expenditures are expected to approximate $2.0 billion for the
year 2018, including $1.2 billion for major mining projects primarily associated with underground development activities in the Grasberg minerals district and
development of the Lone Star oxide project. Refer to the risk factor “Because our Grasberg mining operation in Indonesia is a significant operating asset, our
business may continue to be adversely affected by political, economic and social uncertainties in Indonesia” for further discussion of regulatory matters in
Indonesia that may impact future investments in PT-FI's underground development projects. The capital expenditures and time required to develop new mines
or other projects are considerable, and changes in costs or timing can adversely affect project economics.

New development projects have no operating history upon which to base estimates of future cash flow. The actual costs, production rates and economic
returns of our development projects may differ materially from our estimates, which may have a material adverse impact on our cash flows, results of
operations and financial condition.

Except as described above, there have been no material changes to our risk factors during the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018. For additional
information on risk factors, refer to Part |, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 .

Iltem 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the three months ended September 30, 2018 .

There were no shares of common stock purchased by us during the three months ended September 30, 2018 . On July 21, 2008, our Board of Directors
approved an increase in our open-market share purchase program for up to 30 million shares. There have been no purchases under this program since 2008.
This program does not have an expiration date. At September 30, 2018 , there were 23.7 million shares that could still be purchased under the program.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

The safety and health of all employees is our highest priority. Management believes that safety and health considerations are integral to, and compatible with,
all other functions in the organization and that proper safety and health management will enhance production and reduce costs. Our approach towards the
safety and health of our workforce is to continuously improve performance through implementing robust management systems and providing adequate
training, safety incentive and occupational health programs. The information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section
1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is included in Exhibit 95.1 to this quarterly report
on Form 10-Q.
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Iltem 6. Exhibits.

Filed
Exhibit with this Incorporated by Reference
Number Exhibit Title Form 10-Q Form File No. Date Filed
21 PTFI Divestment Agreement dated as of September 27, 2018 among X
FCX, International Support LLC, PT Freeport Indonesia, PT Indocopper
Investama and PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminium (Persero). (*)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of FCX, effective as of 8-K 001-11307-01 6/9/2016
June 8, 2016.
3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of FCX, effective as of June 8, 2016. 8-K 001-11307-01 6/9/2016
4.1 Indenture dated as of February 13, 2012, between FCX and U.S. Bank 8-K 001-11307-01 2/13/2012

National Association, as Trustee (relating to the 3.55% Senior Notes due
2022, the 4.00% Senior Notes due 2021, the 4.55% Senior Notes due
2024, and the 5.40% Senior Notes due 2034).

4.2 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 13, 2012, between 8-K 001-11307-01 2/13/2012
FCX and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (relating to the
3.55% Senior Notes due 2022).

4.3 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 31, 2013, among FCX, 8-K 001-11307-01 6/3/2013
Freeport-McMoRan Oil & Gas LLC and U.S. Bank National Association,
as Trustee (relating to the 3.55% Senior Notes due 2022, the 4.00%
Senior Notes due 2021, the 4.55% Senior Notes due 2024, and the 5.40%
Senior Notes due 2034).

4.4 Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 14, 2014 among 8-K 001-11307-01 11/14/2014
FCX, Freeport-McMoRan Oil & Gas LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee (relating to the 4.00% Senior Notes due 2021).

4.5 Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 14, 2014 among 8-K 001-11307-01 11/14/2014
FCX, Freeport-McMoRan Oil & Gas LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association, as (relating to the 4.55% Senior Notes due 2024).

4.6 Eighth Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 14, 2014 among 8-K 001-11307-01 11/14/2014
FCX, Freeport-McMoRan Oil & Gas LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee (relating to the 5.40% Senior Notes due 2034).

4.7 Indenture dated as of March 7, 2013, between FCX and U.S. Bank 8-K 001-11307-01 3/7/2013
National Association, as Trustee (relating to the 3.100% Senior Notes due
2020, the 3.875% Senior Notes due 2023, and the 5.450% Senior Notes
due 2043).

4.8 Form of Indenture dated as of September 22, 1997, between Phelps S-3 333-36415 9/25/1997
Dodge Corporation and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee (relating
to the 7.125% Senior Notes due 2027, the 9.50% Senior Notes due 2031,
and the 6.125% Senior Notes due 2034).

4.9 Form of 7.125% Debenture due November 1, 2027 of Phelps Dodge 8-K 01-00082 11/3/1997
Corporation issued on November 5, 1997, pursuant to the Indenture dated

as of September 22, 1997, between Phelps Dodge Corporation and The

Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee (relating to the 7.125% Senior Notes

due 2027).

Form of 9.5% Note due June 1, 2031 of Phelps Dodge Corporation issued 8-K 01-00082 5/30/2001
on May 30, 2001, pursuant to the Indenture dated as of September 22,

1997, between Phelps Dodge Corporation and First Union National Bank,

as successor Trustee (relating to the 9.50% Senior Notes due 2031).

IN
N
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Filed
Exhibit with this Incorporated by Reference
Number Exhibit Title Form 10-Q Form File No. Date Filed
4.11 Form of 6.125% Note due March 15, 2034 of Phelps Dodge Corporation 10-K 01-00082 3/7/2005
issued on March 4, 2004, pursuant to the Indenture dated as of
September 22, 1997, between Phelps Dodge Corporation and First Union
National Bank, as successor Trustee (relating to the 6.125% Senior Notes
due 2034).
4.12 Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 4, 2007 to the Indenture dated 10-K 001-11307-01 2/26/2016
as of September 22, 1997, among Phelps Dodge Corporation, as Issuer,
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc., as Parent Guarantor, and U.S.
Bank National Association, as Trustee (relating to the 7.125% Senior
Notes due 2027, the 9.50% Senior Notes due 2031, and the 6.125%
Senior Notes due 2034).
4.13 Indenture dated as of December 13, 2016, among FCX, Freeport- 8-K 001-11307-01 12/13/2016
McMoRan Oil & Gas LLC, as guarantor, and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee (relating to the 6.875% Senior Notes due 2023).
15.1 Letter from Ernst & Young LLP regarding unaudited interim financial X
statements.
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d X
—14(a).
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d X
—14(a).
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section X
1350.
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section X
1350.
95.1 Mine Safety and Health Administration Safety Data. X
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document. X
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema. X
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase. X
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase. X
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase. X
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase. X

(*) The registrant agrees to furnish supplementally to the SEC a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit upon the request of the SEC in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K.

Note: Certain instruments with respect to long-term debt of FCX have not been filed as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q since the total amount of securities
authorized under any such instrument does not exceed 10 percent of the total assets of FCX and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. FCX agrees to furnish a copy of
each such instrument upon request of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

Freeport-McMoRan Inc.

By: /s/ C. Donald Whitmire, Jr.
C. Donald Whitmire, Jr.
Vice President and

Controller - Financial Reporting
(authorized signatory
and Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: November 9, 2018
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27 September 2018
FREEPORT-MCMORAN INC.
and
INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT LLC
and
PT FREEPORT INDONESIA
and
PT INDOCOPPER INVESTAMA
and

PT INDONESIA ASAHAN ALUMINIUM (PERSERO)

PTFI DIVESTMENT AGREEMENT

Exhibit 2.1
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Agreement dated 27 September 2018

Parties

(1) FREEPORT-MCMORAN INC., a corporation established under the laws of Delaware, United States of America, with its principal place of
business at 333 North Central Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona ( FCX);

(2) INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT LLC, a limited liability company established under the laws of Delaware, United States of America, with its
principal place of business at 333 North Central Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona ( ZSLLC and, together with FCX, the PTII Sellers , and each a PTII Seller
);

(3) PT FREEPORT INDONESIA , a limited liability company established under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia whose registered office is at
Plaza 89 Lt. 5, JI. H.R. Rasuna Said Kav. X-7 No. 6, Jakarta 12940, Indonesia ( PTFI );

(4) PT INDOCOPPER INVESTAMA , a limited liability company established under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia with its domicile at Plaza 89
Lt. 5, JI. H.R. Rasuna Said Kav. X-7 No. 6, Jakarta 12940, Indonesia ( PTII ); and

(5) PT INDONESIA ASAHAN ALUMINIUM (PERSERO) , a limited liability company established under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia

whose registered office is at The Energy Building, 19 th Floor, SCBD—Lot 11A, J1. Jend. Sudirman Kav 52-53, Jakarta 12190, Republic of Indonesia
(Inalum ),

(each a Party in this Agreement and together, the Parties ).

Words and expressions used in this Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with Schedule 15.

Itis Agreed:

Recitals

&)

®)

The Parties have worked in cooperation to seek to document the rights and obligations of each other regarding the divestment of a majority
shareholding in PTFI to Indonesian citizens, an Indonesian legal entity Controlled by Indonesian citizens, or the Government of Indonesia.

In order to achieve the divestment described at Recital (A) and subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted, waiver of relevant Conditions
Precedent in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the following transactions will take place:

(a) the PTII Sellers, which are the owners of the shares in PTII as set out against their respective names in Schedule 1, being the entire issued share
capital of PTII (together, the PTII Shares ) and which have the right, power and authority to sell those PTII Shares, will transfer the PTII
Shares to Inalum in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Agreement, the PTII Deed of Acquisition of Shares and the PTII Deed of
Transfer of Shares (as applicable) (the PTII Share Transfer ),



©

1.1

1.2

(b) PTFI, Inalum and PTII will enter into an agreement under which:

@) PTFI will issue to Inalum, and Inalum will subscribe for, ordinary shares in PTFI representing in aggregate 20.6% of the outstanding
ordinary shares in PTFI immediately following the Closing (the PTFI Shares (Inalum) ); and

(ii) PTFI will issue to PTII, and PTII will subscribe for, ordinary shares in PTFI representing in aggregate 19.4% of the outstanding
ordinary shares in PTFI immediately following the Closing (the PTFI Shares (PTII) ),

substantially in the form set out at Schedule 12 (the PTFI Subscription Agreement ) (the PTFI Subscription ),

(c) the PTRTI Sellers will transfer the entire issued share capital of PTRTI (the PTRTI Shares ) to PTFI in accordance with and subject to the
terms of the PTRTI Buyout Agreement (the PTRTI Buyout ),

(d) PTFI and PTRTI will enter into a deed to merge with effect on and from or as soon as possible after Closing in a form to be agreed by the
parties thereto (the Merger Deed ); and

(e) Inalum, PTII, FCX (or one of its Affiliates) and PTFI will enter into a shareholders agreement with effect on and from Closing substantially in
the form set out at Schedule 14, which will include provisions relating to the replacement of the economics under the Participation Agreement
on equivalent terms in a mutually agreeable manner (the Shareholders Agreement ),

(together, the Divestment Transaction ), and the relevant Parties will enter into, or procure the entry into, other agreements necessary to effect the
Divestment Transaction, as set out in this Agreement.

The Parties enter into this Agreement to record the terms and conditions on which the Divestment Transaction will take place.
Divestment Transaction

In addition to this Agreement, the relevant Parties will enter into the following documents on or around the date of this Agreement to effect the
Divestment Transaction:

(a) Inalum will enter into the PTRTI Buyout Agreement to effect the PTRTI Buyout with the PTRTI Sellers;
(b) PTFI, Inalum and PTII will enter into the PTFI Subscription Agreement to effect the PTFI Subscription; and
(c) PTFI will enter into the Merger Deed with PTRTI.

The Divestment Transaction is valued at US$3,850,000,000.00, which FCX and the PTRTI Sellers have agreed such amount is apportioned as
follows:

(a) US$350,000,000.00 in respect of the PTII Share Transfer; and
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(b) US$3,500,000,000.00 in respect of the PTRTI Buyout.
PTFI Subscription

Inalum agrees to subscribe for the PTFI Shares (Inalum) and PTII agrees to subscribe for the PTFI Shares (PTII), each in accordance with and subject
to the terms of the PTFI Subscription Agreement.

FCX hereby waives its right of pre-emption arising under the Constitutional Documents of PTFI in respect of the PTFI Subscription.
PTII Share Transfer

Each PTII Seller shall sell the PTII Shares held by it, and Inalum shall purchase such PTII Shares, free from Third Party Rights with effect from
Closing and with all rights attaching to them including the right to receive all distributions and dividends declared, paid or made in respect of the PTII
Shares after Closing, subject to the terms of the Shareholders Agreement.

The sale and purchase of the PTII Shares shall be on and subject to the terms set out in this Agreement.
Until the Closing Time, the title to, property in and risk of the PTII Shares remain solely with the respective PTII Sellers.

Subject to Closing, with effect on and from the Closing Time, the title to, property in and risk of the PTII Shares (including all rights which were
attached to or had accrued on the PTII Shares at the Closing Time, including the right to receive all distributions and dividends declared, paid or made
in respect of the PTII Shares after Closing) pass to Inalum, subject to the terms of the Shareholders Agreement.

Each PTII Seller hereby waives its right of first offer arising under the Constitutional Documents of PTII in respect of the sale of the relevant PTII
Shares by the other PTII Seller as contemplated in this Agreement.

PTII Price

The aggregate consideration payable in respect of the sale and purchase of the PTII Shares shall be an amount of US$350,000,000.00 (the PTII Price
). The PTII Price shall be paid by Inalum in full in cash at Closing in accordance with Clause 24. The PTII Price shall be allocated among the PTII
Sellers in the proportion set out against their names in Schedule 1.

Any payment made following the Closing in satisfaction of any Claim arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall so far as possible be
deemed to be an adjustment of the PTII Price to the extent of such payment.

The PTII Sellers and Inalum agree to use the PTII Price (adjusted pursuant to Clause 4.2, if applicable) for all Tax reporting purposes relating to the
PTII Share Transfer to the extent legally permissible.
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52

Period Prior to Closing

From the date of this Agreement to (but excluding) the Closing Date, except (i) as disclosed in writing by the PTII Sellers or PTFI (as applicable) and
agreed to in writing by Inalum, (ii) as otherwise provided in this Agreement or, (iii) as required by Law:

(a)  the PTII Sellers must ensure that, until Closing, PTII carries on the Business of PTII in the ordinary and usual course; and
(b) the PTII Sellers and PTII must ensure that, until Closing, PTFI carries on the Business of PTFI in the ordinary and usual course.

From the date of this Agreement to (but excluding) the Closing Date, except (i) as disclosed in writing by the PTII Sellers or PTFI (as applicable) and
agreed to in writing by Inalum, (ii) as otherwise provided in this Agreement or, (iii) as required by Law:

(a) the PTII Sellers and PTII agree to procure that PTFI will not agree to any amendment or termination of the Participation Agreement; and
(b) the PTII Sellers and PTII agree to procure that PTFI, and PTII will ensure that it:
6] ( corporate actions ) will not:

(A) split, combine or reclassify any shares of its capital stock or redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire or offer to redeem,
repurchase, or otherwise acquire any of its securities;

(B) issue, deliver or sell, or authorize the issuance, delivery or sale of, any of its equity securities; or
(C) except as contemplated by this Agreement, amend its Constitutional Documents;

(i1) ( Affiliate transactions ) will not enter into or agree to enter into any arrangements which result in, or will result in, PTII or PTFI (as
applicable) incurring any liability to an Affiliate or which involve the provision of a financial benefit by PTII or PTFI (as applicable) to
an Affiliate, other than arrangements that will be terminated at or prior to the Closing;

(iii)  (accounting practices ) will not make any change in its accounting policies, principles or practices, except as required by Law or
applicable accounting standards;

(iv)  ( notify Claims, etc. ) will promptly notify Inalum of any Claim brought, asserted or commenced against it, its officers, commissioners
or directors, relating to the Divestment Transaction (as applicable);
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W) (restructure of PT Puncakjaya Power ) will not acquire or agree to acquire the assets or shares of PT Puncakjaya Power; and
(vi)  (other ) will not:

(A) modify its purpose or duration, including by way of merger or division;

(B) sell all or substantially all of its assets and liabilities;

(C) propose to be dissolved or subject to receivership or administration;

(D) grant of a security interest over more than 50% of its assets;

(E) change its residency for tax purposes;

(F) incur any indebtedness for borrowed money which is not on arm’s length terms, other than drawdowns under PTFI’s existing
credit facility; or

(G) undertake any acquisitions or disposals (in each case, whether of stock or assets, whether affected by purchase, sale, merger or
otherwise):

(I) inexcess of US$100 million; or
(II) thatis not on arms’ length terms.
5.3 From the date of this Agreement until the Closing Date, the PTII Sellers will:
(a) give Inalum and its Representatives reasonable access to the offices, properties, books and records of PTII;

(b) furnish to Inalum and its Representatives such financial and operating data and other information relating to PTII as may be reasonably
requested; and

(c) instruct the Representatives of PTII to cooperate with Inalum in its investigation of PTII.

5.4  Any investigation pursuant to Clause 5.3 shall be conducted in such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the Business of PTII.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Inalum nor any of its Representatives shall have access to personnel records of PTII relating to individual
performance or evaluation records, medical histories or other information which in PTII’s good faith opinion is sensitive or the disclosure of which
could subject PTII to risk of liability.

5.5 From the date of this Agreement until the Closing Date, PTFI will:

(a)  give the PTFI Subscribers and their Representatives reasonable access to the offices, properties, books and records of PTFI;
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5.6

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

(b)  furnish to the PTFI Subscribers and their Representatives such financial and operating data and other information relating to PTFI as may be
reasonably requested;

(c) provide Inalum and their Representatives with full access to all of PTFI’s material corporate policies and related information in order to conduct
due diligence on such policies and at the request of Inalum meet to discuss PTFI’s material corporate policies in light of the objectives of the
Company and the Shareholders Agreement; and

(d) instruct the Representatives of PTFI to cooperate with the PTFI Subscribers in their investigation of PTFI.

Any investigation pursuant to Clause 5.5 shall be conducted in such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the Business of PTFI.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither PTFI Subscriber nor any of its Representatives shall have access to personnel records of PTFI relating to
individual performance or evaluation records, medical histories or other information which in PTFI’s good faith opinion is sensitive or the disclosure
of which could subject PTFI to risk of liability.

Conditions Precedent

The obligations of the Parties to Close are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of each of the conditions set forth in Schedule 3 (the Conditions
Precedent ).

Each Party must:
(a) use reasonable endeavours to procure the satisfaction of the Conditions Precedent as soon as practicable and in any event by the End Date; and

(b) promptly give each other Party all information reasonably requested by that Party in connection with any application required to satisfy a
Condition Precedent.

If Closing has not occurred as a result of the Conditions Precedent set forth in Clause 1.14 of Schedule 3 having not been satisfied or waived by the
End Date (but all other Conditions Precedent have been satisfied as of such time (other than those Condition Precedent that by their nature are to be
satisfied at the Closing, but subject to such Conditions Precedent being capable of being satisfied)), any Party may elect by notice to the other Parties
for the End Date to be extended by no more than six months.

If the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied or waived on or before the End Date, then any Party may, at any time after the End Date, terminate this
Agreement by giving written notice to the other Parties; provided that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Clause 6.4 shall not be
available to any Party whose breach of this Agreement shall have been the cause of the failure of the Closing to occur prior to such date.

If all of the Conditions Precedent have been satisfied or waived and a Party does not Close on the Closing Date, other than as a result of default by
any other Party, any non-defaulting Party may give the defaulting Party notice requiring it to Close within five Business Days of receipt of the notice.
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6.6 If the defaulting Party does not Close within the period specified in Clause 6.5, the relevant non-defaulting Party may choose either to proceed for
specific performance or terminate this Agreement and the Transaction Documents promptly by notice to the other Parties. In either case, the relevant
non-defaulting Party may seek damages for the default.

7.  Closing

7.1  Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, Closing shall take place at 9:00 am (Jakarta time) on the Closing Date, or on such other date and at such
place as the Parties may agree in writing, when each of the Parties shall deliver or perform (or ensure that there is delivered or performed) all those
documents, items and actions respectively listed in relation to the relevant Party or any of its Affiliates in Schedule 2.

7.2 The obligations of the Parties with respect to Closing and the parties to the PTRTI Buyout Agreement with respect to closing under the PTRTI
Buyout Agreement are interdependent and as such, Closing will not have occurred under this Agreement until all actions required to be performed
under this Agreement with respect to Closing and the PTRTI Buyout Agreement with respect to closing under the PTRTI Buyout Agreement have
been performed.

7.3 Unless otherwise stated, all actions required to be performed by a Party at Closing are to have occurred contemporaneously at the Closing Time.
8.  Post-Closing Actions and Announcements

PTII shall announce the completion of the PTII Share Transfer in at least one daily newspaper in Indonesian language having nationwide circulation
in Indonesia within thirty days after the execution of the PTII Deed of Acquisition of Shares and the PTII Deed of Transfer of Shares.

9.  Termination
9.1 This Agreement shall terminate prior to the Closing and be of no further force or effect:
(a) in accordance with Clause 6.4 or 6.6; or

(b)  upon written notice of any Party if consummation of the Divestment Transaction would violate any nonappealable final, order, decree or
judgment of any Governmental Authority having competent jurisdiction.

9.2 If this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Clause 9.1, then all rights and obligations under this Agreement, other than rights and obligations
in Clauses 32 to 47 (inclusive) and Schedule 15, terminate on the date of termination without liability of any Party; provided that if such termination
results from a willful breach of this Agreement by any Party, then such Party shall be fully liable for any and all damages incurred or suffered by any
other Party as a result of such willful breach.
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9.3

10.
10.1

10.2
10.3

10.4
10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

The Parties waive the provisions and requirements of Article 1266 of the Indonesian Civil Code to the extent that a court decision is required to
terminate this Agreement.

PTII Sellers’ Warranties

Each PTII Seller represents and warrants to Inalum that each of the statements in Schedule 4:
(a) s true, complete and accurate as at the date of this Agreement; and

(b) will be true, complete and accurate as at the date on which Closing occurs.

The PTII Sellers’ Warranties are given subject to the limitations set out in Schedule 5.

None of the limitations in Schedule 5 shall apply to any Claim which arises as a consequence of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation by any director,
officer or employee or agent of any member of the PTII Sellers’ Group.

Each of the PTII Sellers’ Warranties shall be construed separately and independently.

The PTII Sellers’ Warranties shall not in any respect be extinguished or affected by Closing, but shall be extinguished as of the third anniversary of
the Closing.

The PTII Sellers acknowledge and agree that Inalum has executed this Agreement and agreed to take part in the Divestment Transaction in reliance on
the PTII Sellers’ Warranties and that those PTII Sellers” Warranties may form the basis for any Claim by Inalum or any other member of the Inalum
Group.

Inalum acknowledges and agrees that no statement, promise or forecast made by or on behalf of either PTII Seller or any other member of the PTII
Sellers’ Group, PTII or any other person or entity may form the basis of any Claim by Inalum or any other member of the Inalum Group, and Inalum,
on behalf of itself and the other members of the Inalum Group, acknowledges that neither Inalum nor any other member of the Inalum Group relied
on any representations and warranties, other than those set forth in Schedule 4 or Schedule 7. In particular, neither PTII Seller makes any
representation or warranty as to the accuracy of any forecasts, estimates, models, projections, statements of intent or opinion provided to Inalum or its
Representatives on or before the date of this Agreement (including any Disclosure Materials).

Except in the case of, and as against, any individual or entity who has acted fraudulently, Inalum agrees and undertakes with each PTII Seller that
neither it nor any other member of the Inalum Group has (solely in respect of the Divestment Transaction) any rights against, and will waive and shall
not make any claim against, any employee, director, commissioner, officer, adviser or agent of (a) PTII, or (b) the PTII Sellers or any other member
of the PTII Sellers’ Group on whom Inalum may have relied before agreeing to any term of or entering into this Agreement.
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10.9

11.

114

12.

If Inalum makes a Claim following the Closing in respect of the PTII Sellers’ Warranties, the PTII Sellers each must not make a Claim for
contribution or indemnity from PTII or from any officer, employee, agent or adviser of PTII (other than to the extent relating to any officer’s,
employee’s, agent’s or advisor’s actions prior to the Closing).

PTII Sellers’ Liability

Subject to Clause 11.3 and Closing occurring, the PTII Sellers covenant (which covenant is to survive Closing) that they are the sole parties liable for
and must indemnify and hold harmless Inalum and PTII from, against and in respect of any Loss arising as a result of any liability of PTII attributable
to the period prior to Closing.

Subject to Clauses 11.3 and 11.4 and Closing occurring, the PTII Sellers covenant (which covenant is to survive Closing) that they are solely liable
for and must indemnify and hold harmless Inalum and PTII from, against and in respect of any Loss arising as a result of Taxation disputes between
PTFI, on the one hand, and Governmental Authorities and Tax Authorities, on the other hand, disclosed to Inalum in the Statement Letter of the Tax
Court of Jakarta No. KET — 020/SP/Ket.Sengketa/2018 (collectively, the “ Current Tax Disputes ”); provided that any receipts by the PTFI or any
PTFI Subsidiary with respect to the Current Tax Disputes shall be netted against any such Losses. Any payments required under this Clause 11.2 shall
be made on the earlier of (i) the final resolution of all Current Tax Disputes and (ii) the seventh anniversary of Closing.

The covenants and indemnities set forth in Clauses 11.1 and 11.2 shall expire on the seventh anniversary of the Closing. The aggregate amount of the
liability of the PTII Sellers for Claims under Clauses 11.1 and 11.2 (together with any amounts payable in respect of PTII Sellers’ Warranties) shall
not exceed $350,000,000.00.

The PTII Sellers’ liability in relation to a Claim of Losses suffered in respect of PTFI is limited to an amount calculated by multiplying the amount of
such Loss of PTFI by (i) if the relevant Loss is finally incurred by PTFI prior to the end of the Initial Period (as defined in the Shareholders
Agreement), 9.36% and (ii) if the relevant Loss is finally incurred by PTFI following the end of the Initial Period (as defined in the Shareholders
Agreement), 5.616%.

Inalum Warranties
Inalum represents and warrants to each other Party that each of the statements set out in Schedule 6:
(a) s true, complete and accurate as at the date of this Agreement; and

(b) will be true, complete and accurate as at the date on which Closing occurs.
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13.
13.1

14.

15.
15.1

Inalum Liability

Subject to Closing occurring, Inalum covenants (which covenant is to survive Closing) that it is the sole party liable for and must indemnify and hold
harmless PTFI from, against and in respect of any Loss arising as a result of any liability of PTRTI attributable to the period prior to Closing, other
than any Loss arising as a result of any liabilities under or in connection with the Participation Agreement, including whether relating directly or
indirectly to, or in connection with the Contract of Work, the Contract Area and/or PTRTI’s Participating Interest (as defined in the Participation
Agreement) in operations under the Contract of Work.

Inalum shall not be liable for any Claim under Clause 13.1 to the extent that it would not have arisen but for, or has been increased or not reduced as a
result of, any act, omission or transaction carried out by PTFI following the Closing.

PTII Warranties

PTII represents and warrants to each other Party that each of the statements set out in Schedule 7:
(a) s true, complete and accurate as at the date of this Agreement; and

(b)  will be true, complete and accurate as at the date on which Closing occurs.

Third Party Claims (PTII Share Transfer)

If Inalum becomes aware of any Claim or potential Claim, or of any other matter or circumstance that might result in a Claim, by a third party that
might result in a Claim being made by Inalum (a Third Party Claim ):

(a) Inalum shall promptly give notice of the Third Party Claim to the PTII Sellers and ensure that the PTII Sellers are given all reasonable
information and facilities to investigate it;

(b) if Inalum makes a Claim under this Agreement in respect of Loss arising out of a Third Party Claim, the PTII Sellers may (and Inalum must
ensure that each member of the Inalum Group allows the PTII Sellers to) by written notice to Inalum take over, conduct, negotiate, defend or
settle the Third Party Claim at their own expense provided the PTII Sellers acknowledge in writing that, based on the information then known
by the PTII Sellers (and assuming the allegations made in the Third Party Claim are true), the Third Party Claim is one for which the PTII
Sellers are fully liable under this Agreement, subject to the limitations and exclusions set out in this Agreement; and

(c)  where the PTII Sellers take over the conduct of a Third Party Claim, Inalum shall:

(i) not (and ensure that no member of the Inalum Group shall) admit liability or make any agreement or compromise in relation to the
Third Party Claim without the prior written approval of the PTII Sellers; and
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(i1) ensure that it and each member of the Inalum Group shall:

(A) take such action as the PTII Sellers may reasonably request to avoid, resist, dispute, appeal, compromise or defend the Third
Party Claim; and

(B) provide such information and assistance as the PTII Sellers may reasonably require in connection with the preparation for and
conduct of any proceedings and/or negotiations relating to the Third Party Claim,

15.2 The PTII Sellers must diligently pursue any Third Party Claim they take over (or either of them takes over) under Clause 15.1 and must:
(a) upon Inalum’s reasonable request, inform Inalum of the progress of the Third Party Claim;
(b) allow Inalum to:
) have reasonable access to notices, correspondence and other documents relating to the Third Party Claim; and

(ii) participate (at its own cost) in the conduct of the Third Party Claim, provided that Inalum does not seek to instruct or direct the conduct
of the Third Party Claim; and

(c) obtain the prior consent of Inalum before offering or accepting any settlement of the Third Party Claim which involves a non-monetary
undertaking or specific performance commitment by or on behalf of PTII or any member of the Inalum Group.

15.3 Despite anything to the contrary in this Clause 15, Inalum will have the right to control, and the PTII Sellers are not entitled to take over, any Third
Party Claim that seeks only a non-monetary undertaking or specific performance by or on behalf of the Business of PTII or Inalum. To avoid doubt,
any Loss arising as a result of such undertaking or performance will be recoverable by Inalum from the PTII Sellers, subject to the terms of this
Agreement.

16. Protection of PTII officers

Without limiting any other provisions of this Agreement, subject to Closing occurring and from Closing, Inalum shall indemnify and hold harmless
each director, officer and commissioner of PTII that was appointed as, or nominated for appointment as, such by the PTII Sellers (or any other
member(s) of the PTII Sellers’ Group) from, against and in respect of any Loss arising after Closing as a result of a Claim relating to the period
between Closing and the date on which the relevant person’s resignation from such position becomes effective (if not effective on Closing), but
excluding where such Loss arose as a consequence of Gross Negligence, fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, wilful misconduct or wilful breach of
any obligation (statutory or otherwise) on the part of the relevant director, officer or commissioner of PTIL. The PTII Sellers and Inalum hereby
acknowledge and agree that this Clause 16 is intended to be for the benefit of, and enforceable by, each of the current or former directors, officers and
commissioners of PTII that is referred to herein.
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17.

18.

18.1

18.2

18.3

Insurance (PTII Share Transfer)

Upon Closing, all insurance cover arranged in relation to PTII and the Business of PTII by the PTII Sellers’ Group (whether under policies
maintained with third party insurers or other members of the PTII Sellers’ Group) shall cease (other than, where applicable, in relation to insured
events taking place before Closing) and no member of the Inalum Group shall make any claim under any such policies in relation to insured events
arising after Closing. Each PTII Seller shall be entitled to make arrangements with its insurers to reflect this Clause 17.

Further Assurances

Each of the Parties covenants and agrees to cooperate and use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or
cause to be done, all things (including signing and delivering any documents) as may be required by Law or be reasonably necessary, proper or
advisable to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Parties shall
cooperate with one another:

(a)  indetermining whether any action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required, or any actions, consents,
approvals or waivers are required to be obtained from parties to any material contracts, in connection with the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement; and

(b) in taking such actions or making any such filings, furnishing information required in connection therewith and seeking to timely obtain any
such actions, consents, approvals or waivers.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Parties shall make all filings with respect to the matters set forth in Clause 1.14 of Schedule 3 as
promptly as practicable following the date hereof. Inalum, on the one hand, and the PTII Sellers, on the other hand, shall each bear 50% of all filing
fees in respect of the matters set forth in Clause 1.14 of Schedule 3.

Each Party shall promptly notify the other Parties of:

(a) any notice or other communication received by such Party alleging that a consent or approval is or may be required in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(b) any notice or other communication received by such Party from any Governmental Authority in connection with the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement; or

(c) any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings threatened or commenced relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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19.

20.
20.1

20.2

20.3

21.
21.1

Pre-Closing Dividends

Inalum acknowledges that PTII and PTFI will be permitted to pay dividends and other distributions prior to Closing to the fullest extent permitted by
Law.

Information, Records and Assistance Post-Closing (PTII Shares)

For seven years following the date of this Agreement, each member of the Inalum Group shall provide the PTII Sellers (at the PTII Sellers’ cost) with
reasonable access at reasonable times to (and the right to take copies of) records held by PTII or a member of the Inalum Group after Closing to the
extent that they relate to PTII or the Business of PTII and to the period up to Closing, and to employees, directors and commissioners of PTII, but
only to the extent necessary for financial reporting, accounting or Tax purposes (the PTII Records ) (and the Parties agree and acknowledge that these
obligations are subject to the provisions of Clause 32), provided that Inalum (and any member of the Inalum Group) may deny or refuse the PTII
Sellers and their officers, employees and agents access as contemplated in this Clause 20.1 if the access required by the PTII Sellers would, based on
the written advice of outside counsel, give rise to a waiver of any legal professional privilege.

For seven years following the date of this Agreement, no member of the Inalum Group shall dispose of, or destroy any of, the PTII Records without
first giving the PTII Sellers at least two months’ notice of its intention to do so and giving the PTII Sellers a reasonable opportunity to remove and
retain any of them (at the expense of the PTII Sellers).

Following Closing:

(a) notwithstanding the obligations of Clause 15, each member of the Inalum Group shall (at the PTII Sellers’ expense) give such assistance to any
member of the PTII Sellers” Group as the PTII Sellers may reasonably request in relation to any third party proceedings by or against any
member of the PTII Sellers” Group so far as they directly relate to PTII or the Business of PTII, including proceedings relating to employees’
claims or Taxation;

(b) each PTII Seller shall promptly give to Inalum all written notices, correspondence, information or enquiries received by it or any member of the
PTII Sellers’ Group in relation to PTII; and

(c) Inalum shall promptly give to the PTII Sellers all written notices, correspondence, information or enquiries received by any member of the
Inalum Group in relation to any business of the PTII Sellers’ Group that is not related to the Business of PTII.

PTRTI Buyout Agreement

Inalum represents and warrants to the PTII Sellers that Inalum has provided the PTII Sellers with a true and complete copy of an advanced draft of the
agreement pursuant to which Inalum has agreed to acquire PTRTI that is proposed to be duly executed by the parties thereto (the PTRTI Buyout
Agreement ).
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21.2

22.
22.1

22.2

Inalum covenants and agrees that Inalum will not, without the PTII Sellers’ prior written consent, permit any amendment or modification to, or any
waiver of any provision or remedy under, the form of the PTRTI Buyout Agreement provided to the PTII Sellers’ on the date of this Agreement if
such amendment, modification or waiver (i) could reasonably be expected to (A) impede or delay or adversely affect the ability or likelihood of
Inalum consummating the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the PTRTI Buyout Agreement or (B) make the satisfaction of the
conditions precedent under this Agreement or the PTRTI Buyout Agreement less likely to occur in the timeframes contemplated, (ii) (iii) could
reasonably be expected to result in a material increase in liabilities of PTRTI following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the
PTRTI Buyout Agreement.

Change of Name and Information, Records and Assistance Post-Closing (PTRTI Buyout)

If PTFI acquires the PTRTI Shares, PTFI shall procure that as soon as reasonably practicable after Closing and in any event within 30 days after
Closing:

(a)  if the name of PTRTI includes the words “Rio Tinto”, such name is changed to a name which does not include the words “Rio Tinto” or any
name which, in the reasonable opinion of Inalum, is substantially the same or confusingly similar;

(b) PTRTI shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that it ceases to use or display any trade or service name or mark, business name, logo or
domain name used or held by any member of the PTRTI Sellers” Group or any mark, name or logo which, in the reasonable opinion of Inalum,
is substantially the same or confusingly similar to any of them, before the date that is three months after Closing; and

(c)  PTRTI shall not hold itself out as being part of, or otherwise connected or associated with, the PTRTI Sellers” Group.

For seven years following the date of this Agreement, PTFI shall provide the PTRTI Sellers (at Inalum’s expense) with reasonable access at
reasonable times to (and the right to take copies of) original records provided by the PTRTI Sellers relating to PTRTI held by it after Closing to the
extent that they directly relate to PTRTI or the Business of PTRTI and to the period up to Closing, and to employees, directors and commissioners of
PTRTI, but only to the extent necessary for financial reporting, accounting or Tax purposes (the PTRTI Records ) (and PTFI and Inalum agree and
acknowledge that these obligations are subject to the provisions of Clause 32, provided that PTFI may deny or refuse the PTRTI Sellers and their
officers, employees and agents access as contemplated in this Clause 22.2 if; in the opinion of PTFI, the access required by the PTRTI Sellers is
reasonably likely to give rise to a waiver of any legal professional privilege or accountant’s concession).

SNG408460 14195



223

23.
23.1

232

24.
24.1

Following Closing:

(a) PTFI shall (at Inalum’s expense) give such assistance to any member of the PTRTI Sellers’ Group as the PTRTI Sellers may reasonably request
in relation to any third party proceedings by or against any member of the PTRTI Sellers” Group so far as they directly relate to PTRTI or the
Business of PTRTI, including proceedings relating to employees’ claims or Taxation;

(b) Inalum shall promptly give to PTFI all written notices, correspondence, information or enquiries received by it or any member of the Inalum
Group from the PTRTI Sellers or any member of the PTRTI Seller’s Group in relation to PTRTI; and

(c) if PTFI acquires the PTRTI Shares, PTFI shall (at Inalum’s expense) cooperate and provide assistance to Inalum, and take all actions and do, or
cause to be done, all things (including executing and delivering, or procuring the execution and delivery of, any documents) in respect of the
PTRTI Buyout.

Anti-Bribery and Anti-Tax Evasion

In performing its obligations under, carrying out the transactions contemplated by, and obtaining any Government Approval required in connection
with this Agreement:

(a) each of the PTII Sellers, PTFI and PTII represents, warrants and undertakes that neither it nor any of its Affiliates nor any of their respective
Associated Persons has; and

(b) Inalum represents, warrants and undertakes that neither it nor any of its Affiliates nor any of their respective Associated Persons has,

(1) taken any action otherwise inconsistent with or prohibited by the substantive prohibitions or requirements of any of the applicable Anti-Bribery
Laws, in connection with any matter relating to this Agreement; or

(2) taken any action otherwise inconsistent with or prohibited by the substantive prohibitions or requirements of any of the applicable Anti-Tax
Evasion Laws, in connection with any matter relating to this Agreement.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, no Party shall be obliged to take any action or omit to take any action under this Agreement
that it believes, in good faith, would cause it to be in violation of any Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

Payments

Any payment to be made pursuant to this Agreement by Inalum (or any member of the Inalum Group) to any member of the PTII Sellers’ Group shall
be made to the PTII Sellers’ Bank Account.

SNG408460 15/95



242

24.3

244

25.
25.1

252

253

254

25.5

Any payment to be made pursuant to this Agreement by the PTII Sellers (or any member of the PTII Sellers’ Group) to any member of the Inalum
Group shall be made to Inalum’s Bank Account.

Payments under Clauses 24.1 and 24.2 shall be in immediately available funds by electronic transfer on the due date for payment. Receipt of the
amount due in cleared funds shall be an effective discharge of the relevant payment obligation.

If any sum due for payment in accordance with this Agreement is not paid on the due date for payment, the person in default shall pay Default Interest
on that sum from but excluding the due date to and including the date of actual payment calculated on a daily basis.

Gross-up

All sums payable under this Agreement or for breach of any warranties in this Agreement shall be paid free and clear of all deductions or
withholdings whatsoever, save only as provided in this Agreement or as required by Law.

If any deduction or withholding is required by Law from any payment under this Agreement or for breach of any warranties in this Agreement
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, on account of any Indonesian Withholding Tax) then:

(a) the payer shall make the required deduction or withholding and pay such amount to the relevant Tax Authority by the latest date on which the
amount can be paid to the relevant Tax Authority without incurring interest and/or penalties; and

(b) the payer shall pay the payee such additional amount as will, after such deduction or withholding has been made, together with any further
deduction or withholding made in respect of any gross-up amount, leave the payee with the same amount as it would have been entitled to
receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a deduction or withholding.

If any amount payable under this Agreement or for breach of any warranties in this Agreement (except for the Price due under Clause 4.1) is required
by Law to be brought into charge to Tax then the payer shall pay such additional amount as shall be required to ensure that the total amount paid, less
the Tax chargeable on such amount, is equal to the amount that would otherwise be payable.

If the PTII Sellers qualify for a reduced Indonesian Withholding Tax rate pursuant to the relevant tax treaty and Indonesian tax regulations, then PTII
Sellers must: (i) provide Inalum with the relevant documents that must be provided to the Tax Authority; and (ii) assist to support the entitlement for
such reduced rate.

To the extent that any deduction, withholding or Tax in respect of which an additional amount has been paid under Clauses 25.2 or 25.3 above results
in the payee or an Affiliate obtaining a Relief, the payee shall pay to the payer, within 10 Business Days of obtaining the benefit of the Relief, an
amount equal to the lesser of the value of the Relief obtained and the additional sum paid under Clauses 25.2 or 25.3.

SNG408460 16|95



26.
26.1

26.2

27.

28.

28.1

28.2

28.3

VAT

Any sum payable by a Party (the First Party ) to another Party (the Second Party ) under or pursuant to this Agreement is exclusive of any applicable
VAT. If any supply is treated as made for VAT purposes by the Second Party under or pursuant to this Agreement (except for the Price) and the
Second Party or an Affiliate of the Second Party is required to account for VAT in respect of that supply, the First Party shall, subject to the receipt of
a valid VAT invoice, pay to the Second Party an amount equal to such VAT in addition to any other consideration for that supply. Such payment shall
be made on demand or, if later, at the same time as any such consideration is payable.

If any Party (the Paying Party ) is required by this Agreement to reimburse another Party (the Payee Party ) for any Cost, the Paying Party shall also
reimburse the Payee Party for any VAT incurred by the Payee Party (or any of its Affiliates) in respect of that Cost, except to the extent that the Payee
Party (or its Affiliate) is entitled to Relief in respect of that VAT.

Costs

Subject to Clause 28 and except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Parties shall each be responsible for their own Costs and charges
incurred in connection with negotiating, preparing and executing the Transaction Documents.

Transfer Taxes (PTII Share Transfer)

The PTII Sellers and Inalum shall co-operate in good faith to seek an exemption of the PTII Share Transfer from Indonesian Withholding Tax under
the US/Indonesia Double Taxation Agreement, including engaging with relevant Governmental Authorities as required.

The PTII Sellers shall pay and bear the cost of (and Inalum shall bear no responsibility for) all stamp duties, transfer, value added or similar Taxes
and any other Indonesian Taxes (including Indonesian Withholding Taxes) arising as a result of the transfer of the PTII Shares pursuant to this
Agreement and/or in connection with the entry into or implementation of this Agreement (together with all penalties, charges, fees and interest
relating thereto, the Transfer Taxes ) other than arising out of any failure by Inalum to comply with the provisions of this Clause 28.

Inalum shall submit to the relevant Tax Authorities all returns and other relevant filings for the purposes of Tax in respect of the Transfer Taxes by
the latest date on which the submission or filing can be made without incurring interest and/or a penalty and in order to ensure that such submission or
filing is effective.
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28.4 The PTII Sellers covenant with Inalum to pay to Inalum immediately on demand an amount equal to any liability to or on account of Transfer Taxes
or any other Costs which Inalum (or any member of the Inalum Group) incurs or is required to pay (other than as a result of any failure by Inalum to
comply with this Clause 28) as a result of:

28.5

29.
29.1

(2
(b)

©

(d

any failure by the PTII Sellers to comply with Clause 28.1;

any Tax Authority issuing any notice, demand, assessment, letter or other document requiring or requesting Inalum (or any member of the
Inalum Group) to pay an amount of Transfer Tax or any amount on account of Transfer Tax;

notwithstanding Clause 28.5 below, the Inalum (or any member of the Inalum Group) being required to pay any amount of any restitution,
reimbursement or contribution to either (or both) of the PTII Sellers (or any member of the PTII Sellers’ Group) in respect of any of the
liabilities referred to in Clause 28.5; and/or

the PTII Sellers exercising any right of restitution, reimbursement or contribution from any person that it may have under applicable Law or
otherwise,

and including in each case all losses, costs and expenses incurred by Inalum (or any other member of the Inalum Group) in connection with a claim
made under this Clause 28.4, or in satisfying or settling any liability in respect of which a claim has been made under this Clause 28.4.

The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that this Clause 28 is intended to be for the benefit of, and enforceable by, each member of the PTII
Sellers’ Group, to the extent applicable.

Tax Indemnity (PTII Share Transfer)

In this Clause 29:

(a) areference to a return relating to Tax is to any document which must be lodged with a Tax Authority or which a taxpayer must prepare and
retain;

(b) Disputing Action means any action to have a matter withdrawn, reduced or postponed or any action to avoid, dispute, object to, resist, mitigate,
settle, compromise, defend or appeal against the matter;

(c)  Relevant Assessment means an assessment by a Tax Authority which creates or evidences an obligation to pay an ascertained amount of Tax in
respect of which the Sellers are liable to indemnify Inalum under this Agreement;

(d)  Tax return means any Tax return and also anything which operates as an assessment (or as the basis for an assessment) of the Tax concerned,

such as a request for a Tax ruling, an election, a Tax return, an amended Tax return or a request for an amended assessment of Tax.
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(e)  This Clause 29 applies:
@) to a Tax return of PTII which relates in whole or in part to the period before Closing; and

(i1) to a Tax return of PTII for any period, to the extent that the Tax return is reasonably likely to relate to an amount of Tax which could be
claimed from the PTII Sellers under this Agreement.

29.2 Subject to Closing occurring, the PTII Sellers covenant (which covenant is to survive Closing) that they are solely liable for and must indemnify and
hold harmless the Inalum Group from, against and in respect of:

(a) any amount of Tax payable by PTII or any PTII Subsidiary under any Relevant Assessment to the extent that the Tax arises from or relates to:
) an event or omission at or before Closing to the extent that such event or omission results in a Tax for a pre-Closing tax period;
(i1) any income, profit or gain earned, accrued or received or taken to be earned, accrued or received at or before Closing; or
(iii)  disallowance of an income tax deduction for an expense, loss or outgoing incurred before Closing;
(iv)  any withholding required to be made or any notice required to be given before Closing; or
) disallowance of a Tax credit or rebate of Tax relating to a matter referred to in paragraphs, (i), (ii) or (iv) above; and

(b) all reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Inalum Group as a result of enforcement actions undertaken to enforce its rights
pursuant to this Clause 29.2,

except to the extent that any such amount is incurred, or increased, as a direct result of Inalum’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Clause
29.

29.3 The covenants of Clause 29.2 shall not cover any Tax liability to the extent that:

(a) provision or reserve in respect of that Tax Liability has been made in the Last Accounts, or the Tax liability was taken into account in the Last
Accounts (in each case to the extent that such provision or reserve reduced the net assets of PTII);

(b) the Tax liability was paid or discharged before the Last Accounts Date, or such payment or discharge was taken into account in the preparation
of the Last Accounts (reducing the net assets of PTII shown in the Last Accounts) and such payment or discharge has in fact occurred;

(c) the Tax liability would not have arisen but for an event carried out or effected by (i) a PTII Seller or any member of the PTII Group prior to
Closing at the written request of Inalum or a member of the Inalum Group, or (ii) a member of the Inalum Group after Closing, except that this
exclusion (ii) will not apply where such event is required by Law or is carried out or effected pursuant to a legally binding commitment entered
into by a member of the PTII Group on or before Closing; or
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(d) the Tax liability arises as a result of a change after Closing in the accounting policy or Tax reporting practice of the PTII Group (in each case,
other than a change which is necessary as determined by the auditor of such member of the PTII Group in order to comply with Law),
applicable financial reporting standards or generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a member of the PTII Group.

29.4 Inalum must give the PTII Sellers notice within 10 Business Days of:
(a)  PTII receiving notice of a Relevant Assessment; or
(b) becoming aware of any matter that might lead to the making or issue of a Relevant Assessment.

29.5 Within 20 Business Days of receiving notice from Inalum under Clause 29.3, the PTII Sellers may by notice require Inalum to take Disputing Action
at the PTII Sellers’ expense in connection with the Relevant Assessment.

29.6 If the PTII Sellers require Inalum to take Disputing Action in connection with a Relevant Assessment, Inalum must provide, and must procure that
each member of the Inalum Group provides, all reasonable assistance in respect of the Disputing Action as the PTII Sellers is reasonably necessary
and must:

(a) take such Disputing Action as is reasonably requested by the PTII Sellers;

(b)  at the request of the PTII Sellers, give the PTII Sellers information and access to personnel, premises, plant, goods, documents and records to
the PTII Sellers and to their professional advisers as reasonably requested to take such Disputing Action; and

(c) authorise legal or other professional advisers nominated by the PTII Sellers to act in respect of the Disputing Action on behalf of Inalum or
PTII, but in accordance with the instructions of the PTII Sellers.

29.7 The PTII Sellers must indemnify and hold harmless the Inalum Group and PTII from, against and in respect of any Loss suffered or incurred by
Inalum or PTII or any PTII Subsidiary in connection with any Disputing Action taken, including any legal and accounting expenses (on a full
indemnity basis) incurred by the Inalum Group or PTII or any PTII Subsidiary in connection with any Disputing Action taken, other than any such
Losses that are incurred or increased as a result of Inalum’s failure to comply with the provisions of Clause 29.7.

29.8 Inalum, a member of the Inalum Group or PTII may engage its own legal or other representation without prejudice to the PTII Sellers’ rights under
Clause 29.5 and 29.6.
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29.9

29.10

29.11

29.12

30.
30.1

30.2

Inalum must ensure that any Tax return which is prepared or lodged by Inalum or by PTII after Closing, which relates in whole or in part to a period
before Closing:

(a) is prepared in consultation with the PTII Sellers and reflecting the reasonable comments of the PTII Sellers with respect to the period prior to
Closing; and

(b) is prepared and lodged on time and in accordance with Law.
To the extent that any Tax audit of PTII after Closing relates to any period before Closing:
(a) Inalum and the PTII Sellers must each co-ordinate and give each other all reasonable assistance they can provide concerning the audit; and

(b) the PTII Sellers must indemnify and hold harmless Inalum and PTII from, against and in respect of all reasonable costs of Inalum or PTII in
connection with the audit (including any legal and accounting expenses and internal costs), but only to the extent that such costs relate to the
audit for the period prior to Closing.

After the actual receipt by Inalum or any member of the PTII Group of an amount by way of refund or repayment of Tax (whether as a result of Tax
overpayment or otherwise) from any Tax Authority or otherwise relating to any event referred to in Clause 29.2(a), then Inalum shall repay, or
procure that the relevant member of the PTII Group repays, such amount to the PTII Sellers (without set off or deduction) within ten (10) Business
Days of the receipt of such amount together with any interest due thereon from the applicable Tax Authority and any recovery of legal fees from
such Tax Authority.

For the avoidance of doubt, Tax overpayment can include any refund or reimbursement due to any member of the PTII Group from the Tax
Authority or any member of the PTII Group otherwise deriving the benefit of such Tax overpayment due to such member from the Tax Authority in
any other manner.

Announcements

Notwithstanding Clause 32 and except for the Agreed Form Announcements or any subsequent announcement which repeats any details contained
in the Agreed Form Announcements, no Party, nor any of the Parties’ respective Affiliates, shall make any public announcement or issue any public
communication in connection with the existence or subject matter of this Agreement without the prior written approval of the other Parties.

The restriction in Clause 30.1 shall not apply to the extent that the announcement or communication is required by Law or by any stock exchange or
any regulatory, governmental or antitrust body having applicable jurisdiction (provided that the Party proposing to make the announcement or issue
the communication to shareholders shall, where practicable, first inform the other Parties of its intention to do so and take into account the
reasonable comments of the other Parties on the content and timing of such announcement or communication).
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31.

32.
32.1

322

323

Employee Matters

On or prior to the satisfaction or, to the extent permissible, waiver of the Conditions Precedent, the PTII Sellers shall have complied with all Laws
relating to matters with respect to the notification of the PTII Share Transfer and the PTFI Subscription to the employees of PTII and PTFI.

Confidentiality

For the purposes of this Clause 32, Confidential Information means:

(@
(b)
©

this Agreement and each other Transaction Document;
information relating to the provisions of, and negotiations leading to, this Agreement and each other Transaction Document; and

any information received or held by each Party (or any of its Representatives) relating to each other Party and the Affiliates of each other Party
in relation to the Divestment Transaction,

and includes written information and information transferred or obtained orally, visually, electronically or by any other means and any information
which the Party has determined from information it has received including any forecasts or projections.

Each Party shall, and shall procure that its Representatives shall, maintain Confidential Information in confidence and not disclose Confidential
Information to any person except (a) to its Representatives, (b) as permitted by Clause 30 or this Clause 32; or (c) as the other Parties approve in
writing.

Clause 32.2 shall not prevent disclosure by a Party or any of its Representatives to the extent it can demonstrate that:

(@)

(b)
©

(d)

disclosure is required by Law or by any stock exchange or any regulatory, governmental or antitrust body (including any Tax Authority) having
applicable jurisdiction (provided that, except in connection with disclosure to a Tax Authority, the disclosing Party shall first inform the other
Parties of its intention to disclose such information and take into account the reasonable comments of the other Parties);

disclosure is required for the proper management of the Tax affairs of the disclosing Party or any of its Affiliates;

disclosure is of Confidential Information which was lawfully in the possession of that Party or any of its Representatives (in either case as
evidenced by written records) without any obligation of secrecy before its being received or held (excluding any Confidential Information held
by PTII relating to the PTII Sellers’ Group);

in the case of the PTFI Subscribers, the disclosure was made to an Indonesian Government Entity (or to any commissioners, directors, officers,
employees, agents, advisers (including legal advisers), accountants, financiers or potential financiers, rating agencies or consultants thereof) that
is involved with the Divestment Transaction or any financing of any Indonesian Government Entity relating to the Divestment Transaction;
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32.4

33.

34.
34.1

342

(e) disclosure is of Confidential Information which has previously become publicly available other than through that Party’s action or failure to act
(or that of its Representatives); or

(f)  disclosure is required for the purpose of any arbitral or judicial proceedings arising out of this Agreement.

If this Agreement is terminated, each Party (the Returning Party ) shall as soon as practicable on request by the any other Party (the Requesting Party
):

(a) return to the Requesting Party all written documents and other materials relating to any member of the PTII Sellers’ Group or the PTFI Group
(as applicable to the Returning Party), PTII or this Agreement (including any Confidential Information) which the Requesting Party (or its
Representatives) have provided to the Returning Party (or its Representatives) without keeping any copies thereof;

(b)  destroy all information or other documents derived from such Confidential Information; and
(c) so far as it is practicable to do so, expunge such Confidential Information from any computer, word processor or other device.
Assignment

Unless the Parties specifically agree in writing, no person shall assign, transfer, hold on trust or encumber all or any of its rights under this Agreement
nor grant, declare, create or dispose of any right or interest in it, except that, following the Closing, any Party shall be permitted to assign any rights or
obligations under this Agreement to an Affiliate of such Party; provided that (a) no such assignment shall relieve the assigning Party of any of its
obligations hereunder and (b) any rights and/or obligations assigned to an Affiliate of a Party under this Clause 33 which ceases to be an Affiliate of
that Party must be assigned back to that Party or to a different Affiliate of that Party. Any purported assignment in contravention of this Clause 33
shall be void.

Notices

Any notice to be given by one Party to the other Parties in connection with this Agreement shall be in writing in English and signed by or on behalf of
the Party giving it. It shall be delivered by hand, email, registered post or courier using an internationally recognised courier company.

A notice shall be effective upon receipt and shall be deemed to have been received:

(a) if delivered by hand, registered post or courier, at the time of delivery; or
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(b) if delivered by email, at the earlier of (i) when the sender receives an automated message confirming delivery; or (ii) two hours after the time at
which the e-mail is sent (as recorded on the device on which the e-mail was sent), unless the sender receives an automated message that the
e-mail has not been delivered during that time.

34.3 Where delivery occurs outside Working Hours, notice shall be deemed to have been received at the start of Working Hours on the next following
Business Day.

34.4 The addresses and email addresses of the Parties for the purpose of Clause 34.1 are:

FCX/ISLLC (or, prior to the Closing, PTIl and  Address: Email:

PTFI)

For the attention of: Freeport-McMoRan Inc. kquirk@fmi.com
333 North Central Avenue

Kathleen Quirk Phoenix, Arizona 85004

with copies to:

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

450 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10017
Attention: Marc O. Williams

Fax: (212) 701-5800

Email: marc.williams@davispolk.com

Freeport-McMoRan Inc.
333 North Central Avenue
Phoenix, Arizona 85004
Attention: Douglas Currault
Email : dcurraul@fmi.com

Inalum (or, following the Closing, PTII) Address: Email:

For the attention of: The Energy Building elizabeth.silalahi@inalum.id
16th Floor Sudirman

Elizabeth Silalahi Central Business District

General Counsel Lot 11A J1. Jend.

Sudirman Kav. 52-53
Jakarta, Indonesia
with copies to:

Ashurst LLP

12 Marina Boulevard

#24-01, Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 3
Singapore 018982

Attention: Simon Brown

Fax: +65 6221 5484

Email: simon.brown@ashurst.com
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345

34.6
35.

36.
36.1

Oentoeng Suria & Partners

Level 37, Equity Tower

Sudirman Central Business District

JI. Jend. Sudirman Kav. 52-53

Jakarta Selatan, 12190, Indonesia

Attention: Ratih (Ipop) Nawangsari

Fax: +65 62 212 903 5360

Email: ratih.nawangsari@oentoengsuria.com

If to PTFI following Closing, to all Parties.

Any such notice given under this Agreement will not be invalid only by reason that a copy is not delivered to any addressee nominated to receive a
copy.

Each Party shall notify the other Parties in writing of a change to its details in Clause 34.4 from time to time.
Conlflict with other Agreements

If there is any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any other agreement, this Agreement shall prevail (as between the Parties and as
between any members of the PTII Sellers” Group, any members of the PTFI Group, and members of the Inalum Group and any members of the PTII
Group) unless:

(a) such other agreement expressly states that it overrides this Agreement in the relevant respect; and

(b) each of the Parties are either also parties to that other agreement or otherwise expressly agree in writing that such other agreement shall override
this Agreement in that respect.

Whole Agreement

This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents together set out the whole agreement between the Parties in respect of the Divestment
Transaction and supersede any previous draft, agreement, arrangement or understanding, whether in writing or not, relating to the Divestment
Transaction. It is agreed that:

(a) no Party has relied on or shall have any Claim or remedy arising under or in connection with any statement, representation, warranty or
undertaking made by or on behalf of any other Party (or any of its Representatives) in relation to the Divestment Transaction that is not
expressly set out in this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents;

(b) any terms or conditions implied by Law in any jurisdiction in relation to the Divestment Transaction are excluded to the fullest extent permitted
by Law or, if incapable of exclusion, any right or remedies in relation to them are irrevocably waived,;
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36.2
37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

(c) the only right or remedy of a Party in relation to any provision of this Agreement or the relevant Transaction Document shall be for breach of
this Agreement or the relevant Transaction Document (as applicable); and

(d) except for any liability in respect of a breach of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, no Party (or any of its Representatives)
shall owe any duty of care or have any liability in tort or otherwise to the other Party (or its respective Representatives) in relation to the
Divestment Transaction.

Nothing in this Clause 36 shall limit any liability for (or remedy in respect of) fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation.
Waivers, Rights and Remedies

Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, no failure or delay by any Party in exercising any right or remedy relating to this Agreement shall
affect or operate as a waiver or variation of that right or remedy or preclude its exercise at any subsequent time. No single or partial exercise of any
such right or remedy shall preclude any further exercise of it or the exercise of any other remedy.

Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by each Party on separate counterparts. Each counterpart is an original, but all
counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of a counterpart of this Agreement by e-mail attachment or telecopy shall
be an effective mode of delivery.

Variations
No amendment of this Agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and duly executed by or on behalf of all of the Parties to it.
No Merger

In respect of a term or condition of this Agreement, Closing does not operate as a merger of any of the rights or remedies of the parties under this
Agreement.

Set Off

All payments to be made by a Party under this Agreement shall be made in full in immediately available funds without any set off or counterclaim
and free from any deduction or withholding except to the extent required by Law.

Relationship of Parties

Nothing contained or implied in this Agreement is intended to create a partnership between the Parties or, except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, establish any Party as an agent or representative of any other Party. A Party has no authority to bind any other Party, or to act for, or to
incur any obligation or assume any responsibility on behalf of, any other Party.
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43.

44.

45.
45.1

452

453

46.
46.1

Invalidity

Each of the provisions of this Agreement is severable. If any such provision is held to be or becomes invalid or unenforceable under the Law of any
jurisdiction, then such provision shall (so far as invalid or unenforceable) be given no effect and shall be deemed not to be included in this Agreement
but without invalidating any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement, and the Parties shall use all reasonable efforts to replace it with a valid
and enforceable substitute provision the effect of which is as close to its intended effect as possible.

No Third Party Enforcement Rights

Except as expressly provided herein, no provision of this Agreement is intended to confer any rights, benefits, remedies, obligations, or liabilities
hereunder upon any Person other than the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Sovereign Immunity

To the extent that Inalum or the PTII Sellers may be entitled in any state or jurisdiction to claim or benefit from any immunity (whether characterized
as state immunity, sovereign immunity, act of state or otherwise) now or hereafter for itself or any of its property or assets (which it now has or may
hereafter acquire) in respect of its obligations under this Agreement from any proceedings, jurisdiction, suit, judgement, execution, attachment,
whether before award or judgement, in aid or execution or otherwise (or from any service of process or other documents relating thereto), or legal
process or to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to it or any of its property or assets any such immunity (whether or not
claimed), Inalum and the PTII Sellers expressly, unconditionally and irrevocably agrees not to claim, invoke or permit to be invoked on it or its
property or assets’ behalf or for it or its property or assets’ benefit and hereby expressly, unconditionally and irrevocably waives such immunity to the
fullest extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.

Each of Inalum and the PTII Sellers consents generally in respect of any proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in
connection with the proceedings, including the enforcement or execution against any property or assets whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended
use) of any order or judgement which may be made or given in the proceedings.

Each of Inalum and the PTII Sellers irrevocably and unconditionally acknowledges that the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement
constitutes private and commercial (and not public) acts of Inalum or the PTII Sellers, respectively.

Governing Law and Jurisdiction

This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be governed by, and interpreted in
accordance with, Indonesian law.
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46.2

46.3

46.4

47.
47.1

472

If any dispute, controversy or claim arises out of or in connection with this Agreement including regarding the breach, termination or invalidity
thereof ( Dispute ), a Party may serve formal written notice on the other Parties that a Dispute has arisen ( Notice of Dispute ).

Following the service of a Notice of Dispute, the Parties shall use all reasonable efforts to settle such Dispute amicably through negotiations between
their respective authorised representatives within a period of 30 days starting from the date of receipt of the Notice of Dispute by the relevant Party.
The Parties may by agreement extend such 30 day period and take all such other steps as they agree will assist them in reaching an amicable
settlement of the Dispute, including the joint appointment of a person who is an expert in the subject matter of the Dispute.

If the Dispute is not resolved by the signing of written terms of settlement by authorised representatives of the Parties within such 30 day period (or
such longer period as the Parties may have agreed) as provided under this Clause 45, then the Dispute shall be referred to and finally resolved by
arbitration administered by the Singapore International Arbitration Centre ( SIAC) in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of SIAC for the time
being in force, which rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Clause 46.4. The claimant and the respondent shall nominate one
arbitrator each, and the third arbitrator shall be nominated jointly by the two Party-appointed arbitrators. The seat of the arbitration shall be Singapore.
The language to be used in the arbitral proceedings shall be English. Arbitration shall be the exclusive forum for dispute resolution under this
Agreement if the Parties are not able to settle the Dispute amicably, as provided for in this Clause 45. Notwithstanding Clause 46.1, Clauses 46.2,
46.3 and this Clause 46.4 shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with Singapore law. Each Party renounces any right it may otherwise
have to appeal or seek relief from the award or any decision of the arbitrators contained therein and agrees that no Party shall appeal to any court from
the award or decision of the arbitrators contained therein.

Governing Language

For the purposes of compliance with Law No. 24 of the Republic of Indonesia on the National Flag, Language, Coat of Arms and National Anthem,
the Parties agree to translate and execute an Indonesian language version of this Agreement and any instrument or other document referred to in this
Agreement to which an Indonesian person is a party or signatory, or any amendment to such agreement, instrument or document (Ancillary
Documents) other than those which are already made and executed in Indonesian language, promptly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

The Parties agree that:

(a) the Indonesian language version of this Agreement (other than those which are already made and executed in Indonesian language only), when
executed, will be deemed to be effective and valid from the date of the English language version, and both the English language version and the
Indonesian language version will be equally authentic. The Parties further agree that the execution of the Indonesian language of this
Agreement must be undertaken at the latest within 60 days after the date of this Agreement;
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in the event of any inconsistency or different interpretation between the Indonesian language version and the English language version of such
dual-language documents, the Indonesian language version is deemed to be automatically amended (with effect from the date of the English
language version) to make the relevant part of the Indonesian language version consistent with the relevant part of the English language
version;

the costs and expenses in relation to:
(i) the translation of the English language version into an Indonesian language version;
(ii) the preparation and execution of the Indonesian language version; and

(iii)  any amendments of the Indonesian language version to conform with the English language version as contemplated by this Clause 47.2,

shall be borne 50% by Inalum, on the one hand, and 50% by the PTII Sellers, on the other hand (other than costs incurred by a Party in review and
commenting on such Indonesian language version, which shall be borne by the Party incurring such costs); and

(d

SNG408460

each Party:

6] acknowledges that, with its agreement, this Agreement has been negotiated in the English language;
(i1) represents that it has read and fully understands the contents and consequences of this Agreement;
(iii)  represents that it has made and entered into this Agreement freely and without duress;

(iv)  represents that it has received independent legal advice with regard to this Agreement; and

W) undertakes that it will not challenge the validity of this Agreement based on any failure to comply with Law No. 24 of the Republic of
Indonesia on the National Flag, Language, Coat of Arms and National Anthem or the implementing Presidential Regulation (when
issued).
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Schedule 1
The PTII Sellers

Proportion of PTII Shares
PTII Shares PTII Shares Purchase Price
__ PTII Seller held held Apportionment
1. Freeport-McMoRan Inc. 21,424,000 99.998% 99.998% of the PTII Price
2. International Support LLC 500 0.002% 0.002% of the PTII Price
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Schedule 2
Closing Arrangements

Part A : PTII Share Transfer—PTII Sellers’ obligations
At Closing, each PTII Seller shall deliver or ensure that there is delivered to Inalum (or made available to Inalum’s reasonable satisfaction):
(a) the signed resignation letters of each of the directors of PTII in relation to their resignation as directors of PTII (to be dated as at Closing);

(b) the signed resignation letters of each of the commissioners of PTII in relation to their resignation as commissioners of PTII (to be dated as at
Closing);

(c) acopy (certified by a duly appointed officer as true and correct) of a resolution of the board of directors of that PTII Seller authorising the
execution of and the performance by such PTII Seller of its respective obligations under this Agreement and the PTII Deed of Acquisition of
Shares or the PTII Deed of Transfer of Shares (as applicable);

(d) acertificate executed by an authorised signatory of each of the PTII Sellers confirming that:

(i) the PTII Sellers shall have performed in all material respects all of their obligations under the Transaction Documents required to be
performed by them prior to the Closing; and

(i1) the representations and warranties of the PTII Sellers contained in this Agreement and in any certificate or other writing delivered by
the PTII Sellers pursuant hereto shall be true and correct at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date, except that
(A) those representations and warranties that address matters as of a particular date shall be true at and as of such particular date and
(B) where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct in the aggregate has not had a Material Adverse
Effect;

(e) following receipt by the PTII Sellers of the PTII Price in accordance with Part B of this Schedule 2, the share certificates relating to all the PTII
Shares:

@) held by each PTII Seller in respect of which certificates were issued or are required by Law to be issued, marked as cancelled; and
(i1) it is transferring to Inalum, in the name of Inalum;

(f) acopy (certified by a duly appointed officer as true and correct) of a resolution of the board of directors of PTII authorising with effect on and
from Closing:

@) the cancellation and revocation of the share certificates relating to all the PTII Shares which were held by the PTII Sellers; and
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(i1) the issuance of new share certificates relating to all the PTII Shares in the name of Inalum; and

(g) anupdated copy of the register of shareholders of PTII reflecting Inalum as the holder of the PTII Shares.

Part B : PTII Share Transfer—Inalum’s obligations
At Closing, Inalum shall:
(a) pay the PTII Price in accordance with Clauses 4, 24.1 and 24.3; and
(b) deliver a certificate executed by an authorised signatory of Inalum confirming that:

@) Inalum shall have performed in all material respects all of its obligations under the Transaction Documents required to be performed by
it prior to the Closing; and

(i1) the representations and warranties of Inalum contained in this Agreement and in any certificate or other writing delivered by Inalum
pursuant hereto shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date.

Part C : PTII Share Transfer—Other obligations
At Closing and following receipt by the PTII Sellers of the PTII Price in accordance with Part B of this Schedule 2:
(a) in each case in the form of a notarial deed and in the presence of a notary, duly qualified in Indonesia:
) FCX and Inalum shall execute and deliver to one another the PTII Deed of Acquisition of Shares;
(i1) ISLLC and Inalum shall execute and deliver to one another the Deed of Transfer of Shares;
(iii)  the PTII Sellers and Inalum shall procure that PTII restates the Circular Resolution; and
(iv)  FCX, Inalum and PTII shall execute the PTFI Circular Resolution.

(b) FCX, Inalum and PTII shall procure that the board of directors of PTFI passes the PTFI Board Resolution.

Part D : PTFI Subscription

At Closing, PTFI and the PTFI Subscribers shall satisfy their respective obligations under section 2.03 of the PTFI Subscription Agreement.
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Part E : Other agreements
At Closing:
(a) each of Inalum, PTII, FCX (or one of its Affiliates) and PTFI shall deliver to each other executed counterparts of the Shareholders Agreement;

(b) PTFI shall deliver to FCX executed counterparts of the Services Agreement and FCX shall deliver to PTFI, or procure the delivery to PTFI of,
counterparts of the Services Agreement executed by the relevant Affiliate of FCX that is a party to the Services Agreement; and

(c)  PTFI shall deliver to the other Parties a copy of the fully signed IUPK.

Part F : General

All documents and items required to be delivered at Closing pursuant to this Schedule 2 and delivered on the Closing Date shall be held by the
recipient to the order of the person delivering the same until such time as Closing shall be deemed to have taken place in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement, at which time such documents and items will have been deemed to be delivered in accordance with this Schedule 2.
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Schedule 3
Conditions Precedent

1.1

1.2
1.3

1.4
1.5

1.6

There shall exist no order or injunction promulgated or issued by any Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction which restrains, enjoins or
otherwise prohibits the consummation of the Divestment Transaction.

The Transaction Approvals shall have been issued.

The TUPK shall have been issued in a form acceptable to the Parties valid until 29 December 2031, which shall include the remaining initial period of
the Contract of Work to 29 December 2021, and the first extension period of 10 (ten) years up to 29 December 203 1, recognizing that PTFI will have
met its obligations at the date the IUPK is issued, including the commitment to build the smelter and the divestment contemplated hereunder. The
IUPK shall further grant to PTFI the second extension to 2041, subject to satisfying specified agreed conditions, including, among others as agreed,
those related to smelter construction and payment of state revenues. The IUPK and any required documentation will create legally enforceable fixed
rights and obligations, which shall address certain key points to be provided in the IUPK and applicable regulations as necessary including, among
others, that PTFI will be allowed to complete the Grasberg smelter within 5 years of IUPK issuance and provisions for assurance of legal and fiscal
certainty and legal enforceability.

The New Licences and Approvals shall have been issued to PTFI.

The Indonesian Tax Office shall have provided assurances and/or approved the transfer of certain assets and the merger between PTRTI and PTFI on
a tax-neutral basis, which will effect the dissolution of PTRTI; and the Indonesian Tax Office shall confirm the withholding tax treatment for transfers
contemplated by this Agreement, in a manner satisfactory to the Parties.

In accordance with Article 127 of the Indonesian Company Law:

(a) the PTII Sellers shall have procured that the board of directors of PTII and board of directors of PTFI have jointly announced the Transaction
(including the fact that the Transaction will result in a change in control of PTFI) in at least one daily newspaper in the Indonesian language
having nationwide circulation in Indonesia, and also the notice to employees as further detailed in Clause 31;

(b) any objections received from creditors within 14 days of the publication have been resolved as required under the Indonesian Company Law, as
confirmed by the Board of Directors of PTII and the Board of Directors of PTFI,

(c) atleast 30 days after the publication:

@) the PTII Sellers shall procure that shareholder resolutions of the requisite majority of the shareholders of PTFI have approved the
issuance of the PTFI Shares (Inalum) to Inalum and the PTFI Shares (PTII) to PTII as contemplated by the PTFI Subscription
Agreement; and
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(i1) the PTII Sellers shall procure that shareholder resolutions of the requisite majority of the shareholders of PTII have approved the
transfer of the PTII Shares as contemplated under this Agreement.

1.7 The termination of the trust arrangements in place between PTFI, PTRTI and the First Trust of New York National Association with no further
liability to any party thereto.

1.8  Approval of the Articles of Association for PTFI to be attached as Schedule 4 of the Shareholders Agreement, on terms acceptable to the Parties.
1.9  Approval of the Long Term Investment Plan to be attached to the Shareholders Agreement, on terms acceptable to the Parties.
1.10 The satisfaction or waiver (if applicable) of the conditions precedent to closing in accordance with the terms of the PTRTI Buyout Agreement.
1.11 The Contract of Work will have been terminated upon the issuance of the [UPK.
1.12 The Parties shall have agreed on the six members of the Board of Directors of PTFI, each of which will take office from the Closing.
1.13 Inalum shall have obtained the following:

*  review report from the State Auditor in respect of the Divestment Transaction; and

* A legal opinion from the Attorney General in respect of the Divestment Transaction.

1.14 All actions by or in respect of or filings with any Governmental Authority required to permit the consummation of the Divestment Transaction (or any
part thereof) shall have been taken, made or obtained, including the following, but excluding any jurisdiction where the Parties, having consulted with
each other in good faith, both agree that a merger filing is not required by Law or otherwise recommended:

(a) SAMR issuing a notice approving the Divestment Transaction or the statutory clearance period specified by SAMR pursuant to the Anti-
Monopoly Law in China, including any extension of such period, having elapsed and no objection having been raised or qualifications or
requirements imposed by SAMR in relation to this Agreement;

(b) the KPPU in Indonesia issuing a letter confirming that it has no objection to the Divestment Transaction and no qualifications or requirements
imposed by the KPPU in relation to this Agreement;

(c)  written approval obtained from the KFTC of the business combination report filed by Inalum under the Korean Monopoly Regulation and Fair
Trade Act relating to the Divestment Transaction within the 30 days waiting period specified by the said Act (or any extension thereof) without
any corrective measures being imposed upon or issued to Inalum, or the expiry of such period with no decision being issued by the KFTC;
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(g

(h)

®
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the PCC issuing a notice approving the Divestment Transaction or the statutory clearance period specified by the PCC pursuant to the
Philippine Competition Act, including any extension of such period, having elapsed and no objections having been raised or qualifications or
requirements imposed by the PCC in relation to this Agreement;

to the extent required by applicable Law, any applicable waiting period under the United States Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act
of 1976, as amended, and any regulations made thereunder relating to the Divestment Transaction, and any agreement with a Governmental
Authority not to consummate the Divestment Transaction shall have expired or been terminated,;

the waiting period under the Japanese Act on Prohibition of Private Monopolization and Maintenance of Fair Trade (Act No. 54 of April 14,
1947, as amended) has expired, and written notification has been received from the JFTC of its decision not to issue a cease and desist order
pursuant to Article 9 of JETC Regulation No. 1 of 1953 with respect to the Divestment Transaction;

the Swiss Competition Commission notifying the parties under Article 32 paragraph 1 of the Swiss Federal Act on Cartels and Other Restraints
of Competition of its decision not to investigate the Divestment Transaction or the one month period specified in the said Article 32 paragraph 1
having elapsed and no objections having been raised or commitments, qualifications or requirements imposed or requested by the Swiss
Competition Commission in relation to this Agreement;

to the extent required by applicable Law, the expiration of any required waiting periods or the receipt of required consents under the anti-
monopoly or competition laws of Germany or Singapore;

the Divestment Transaction having obtained clearance under the German Act Against Restraints of Competition (Gesetz gegen
Wettbewerbsbeschrankankungen (GWB)), as amended, which shall occur on the sooner of: (1) the German Antitrust Authority having taken a
decision to clear the Divestment Transaction; or (2) all applicable waiting periods with respect thereto having expired or been terminated
without the German Antitrust Authority having prohibited the Divestment Transaction; and

the Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore issuing a notice or otherwise informing the parties that it does not intend to intervene
in the Divestment Transaction pursuant to section 54 of the Singapore Competition Act.
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Schedule 4
PTII Sellers’ Warranties

For the avoidance of doubt, each statement set out below in this Schedule 4 is made subject to and on the terms of Clause 5 and Schedule 5.

Part A: Title and Authority Warranties

1.  Authority and capacity

1.1 Each PTII Seller is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the Laws of Delaware.

1.2 Each PTII Seller has full legal capacity and power to own its property and to carry on its business.

1.3 Each PTII Seller has full legal capacity and power to enter into the Transaction Documents to which it is a party.

1.4 Each PTII Seller has obtained all corporate or company Authorisations required to empower it to enter into and perform its obligations under the
Transaction Documents to which it is a party where failure to obtain them would adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations
under the Transaction Documents to which it is a party.

1.5  Entry into and performance by each PTII Seller of each Transaction Document to which it is a party will not:
(a) breach any provision of its Constitutional Documents;

(b)  result in a breach of any Laws or regulations of Delaware or of any order, decree or judgment of any court or any governmental or regulatory
authority in Delaware;

(c)  breach the terms of any other agreement contract, undertaking or instrument binding on either PTII Seller, where (in any case) the breach would
materially and adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents to which it is a party; or

(d) contravene any Third Party Rights and does not and will not result in the creation or imposition of any Third Party Rights, the acceleration of
the date of any payment or obligation under any Third Party Rights or any other material restriction under the provisions of any Third Party
Rights, which would (in any case) materially and adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations under the Transaction
Documents to which it is a party.

1.6  Each Transaction Document to which it is a party will, when executed, constitute valid and binding obligations of each PTII Seller, enforceable
against each PTII Seller in accordance with its terms, subject to any necessary stamping or registration.
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1.7
1.8

1.9

1.10

1.12

2.1

2.2

2.3
2.4

2.5

2.6

Neither PTII Seller is entering into any Transaction Document to which it is a party as trustee of any trust or settlement.

Neither execution of any of the Transaction Documents to which either PTII Seller is a party nor Closing, assuming satisfaction of each of the
Conditions Precedent, will be or become a transaction which is voidable under any Law.

There is no circumstance with respect to a PTII Seller which could make any of the Transaction Documents to which such PTII Seller is a party or
any transaction contemplated by them void, voidable or unenforceable under any Law relating to insolvency.

No litigation, arbitration, mediation, conciliation or administrative proceeding is taking place or pending or threatened, whose outcome is likely to
have an adverse effect on the ability of either PTII Seller to perform its obligations to carry out the transactions that this Agreement contemplates.

Each PTII Seller is a resident of the United States for the purposes of:
(a) accessing tax treaty benefit under the US/Indonesia Double Taxation Agreement; and

(b)  domestic Indonesian tax rules under the Director General of Tax Regulation No. PER-10/PJ/2017 regarding Procedures for Implementation of
Tax Treaties.

Neither PTII Seller has any permanent establishment in Indonesia.
The PTII Shares and PTIL

PTII is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the Laws of the Republic of Indonesia and the liability of its shareholders is
limited by shares.

PTII has full legal capacity and power to own its own property and to carry on the Business of PTII in the jurisdiction(s) in which it carries on
business.

The PTII Shares constitute the whole of the issued share capital of PTII.

All the PTII Shares are, or are deemed to be, fully paid and each PTII Seller is:

(a) the sole legal and beneficial owner of the PTII Shares set out against its name in Schedule 1 free from all Third Party Rights; and
(b) entitled to transfer or procure the transfer of the PTII Shares on the terms of this Agreement.

Except as set out in this Agreement, no member of the PTII Sellers” Group has entered into any agreement whereby any person has the right
(exercisable now or in the future and whether contingent or not) to call for the issue or transfer to it of any share or loan capital in PTII.

Except as set forth in the Disclosure Materials, PTII does not hold or own (legally or beneficially) any shares in any other entity or Undertaking and is
not a member of any partnership or unincorporated association.
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2.7

4.1
4.2
43

44

5.
5.1
52

5.3

5.4
6.

6.1
6.2

No litigation, arbitration, mediation, conciliation or administrative proceeding is taking place or pending or threatened, whose outcome is likely to
have an adverse effect on the ability of PTII to perform its obligations to carry out the transactions that this Agreement contemplates.

The PTII Interest Shares

All the PTII Interest Shares are, or are deemed to be, fully paid and PTII is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the PTII Interest Shares free from all
Third Party Rights.

The PTII Subsidiaries

Each PTII Subsidiary is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the Laws of its place of incorporation.
Each PTII Subsidiary has full legal capacity and power to own its property and to carry on its business.

Every share issued by any PTII Subsidiary to PTII:

(a)  was duly issued;

(b) s, or is deemed to be, fully paid;

(c) is held by and beneficially owned by PTII; and

(d) s free from any Third Party Interest.

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, no PTII Subsidiary is subject to bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other proceeding under any
bankruptcy or insolvency law.

Corporate records
The copies of the Constitutional Documents of PTII disclosed to Inalum are true, complete and up to date copies.

The copies of resolutions of PTII disclosed to Inalum are true and complete copies of every resolution setting out rights attached to any share or the
terms of issue of any share in PTIL

All rights and restrictions affecting shares in PTII are contained in the copy Constitutional Documents and copy resolutions referred to in paragraphs
5.1 and 5.2.

The register of shareholders of PTII contains a true and accurate record of its shareholders from time to time.
Information
Each document provided in the Disclosure Materials is true and complete.

The PTII Sellers have not deliberately omitted from the Disclosure Materials any information concerning the PTII Shares, the PTFI Shares, or the
Businesses of PTII or PTFI, that a reasonable person acquiring the PTII Shares would consider material.
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7.  Anti-Bribery Law, Anti-Tax Evasion Law and Sanctions

7.1  So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, no member of the PTII Sellers” Group nor any of their Associated Persons has, at any time in the two years
before the date of this Agreement engaged in any activity in violation of applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

7.2 Each member of the PTII Sellers’ Group has in place policies, systems, controls and procedures designed to prevent it and its Associated Persons
from violating applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

7.3 Neither PTII Seller is, nor has it, during the past five years, been:

(a) aSanctioned Person or owned or controlled by a Sanctioned Person, or a holder of more than 10% of Equity Interests in a Sanctioned Person,
and that none of its officers or directors are or have, during the past five years, been Sanctioned Persons;

(b) party to or facilitated any agreement, transaction, dealing or relationship (i) with or for the benefit of, or otherwise made available any funds or
economic resources to, any Sanctioned Person, (ii) involving any property of a Sanctioned Person or (iii) relating to any Sanctioned Territory;

(c) in breach of, or subject to any penalties under, any Economic Sanctions Law; or

(d) subject to any actual litigation, legal action, claim, demand, suit, arbitration, investigation, inquiry, hearing, order or other proceeding or
administrative act related to any Economic Sanctions Law by or before any Governmental Authority.

8.  Insolvency etec.

Neither of the PTII Sellers nor PTII is subject to any bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other proceeding under any bankruptcy or
insolvency law.

Part B: Warranties relating to financial matters
9.  Financial matters

9.1 The Last Accounts (PTII) . The Last Accounts (PTII):

(a)  have been prepared in good faith and with all due care and attention and in accordance with relevant Law and accounting policies, statements
and practices;

(b) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PTII as at the Last Accounts Date (PTII) and its financial performance and cash
flows for the financial year ended on that date; and
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9.2

9.3

9.4

10.

(c) have been prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies as were applied in the corresponding accounts for the preceding three
financial periods.

Position since Last Accounts Date (PTII) . Since the Last Accounts Date (PTII), PTII has:

(a) carried on its business, in all material respects, in the ordinary and usual course of business;

(b) not reduced its paid-up share capital; and

(c) otherwise than in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, not issued or agreed to issue any share or loan capital.

Statutory books . All material records of PTII which relate to the Business of PTII (including financial records such as accounts, books and ledgers):
(a) arein its possession and control; and

(b) have been fully and properly maintained in accordance with Law.

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, all material documents, filings, publications and registrations required by Law to be delivered or made by PTII to
a Governmental Authority have been duly delivered or made on a timely basis.

Financial Debt

PTII does not owe any Financial Debt to any person outside the PTII Sellers’ Group.

Part C: Warranties relating to the Grasberg mine

In this Part C of Schedule 4:

(a)  Grasberg Assets means all material assets that are required for PTFI to conduct the Grasberg Operations substantially in the manner that as at
the date of this Agreement they are being carried on by PTFI;

(b)  Grasberg Operations means all activities conducted by or on behalf of PTFI in connection with the Grasberg mine, including in connection
with:

@) exploration, development, maintenance, mining and sustaining works in respect of the Grasberg Tenure;
(i)  handling, processing stockpiling, transportation and sale of products derived from the Grasberg Tenure; and
(iii)  non-mining related activities that support the operation of the Grasberg mine;

(c) Material Contract means:

@) contracts for supply of products or services to the Grasberg Operations with a value of at least US$15 million;
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11.2

11.3
12.
12.1

12.2

12.3

(i1) contracts for the sale of products from the Grasberg Operations with a value of at least US$15 million; and

(iii)  any other contract between PTFI and a third party which if terminated would cause a material disruption or interruption in or to the
conduct of the Grasberg Operations.

Assets and tenure
The Grasberg Assets:
(a) are legally and beneficially owned by PTFI;

(b) comprise all material assets that are required to conduct the Grasberg Operations substantially in the manner that, as at the date of Closing, they
are being carried on by PTFI;

(c) are free from all Third Party Rights except (i) as disclosed in the Disclosure Materials, (ii) relating to Taxes that are not yet due and payable or
that are being contested in good faith, (iii) mechanics, materialman’s, carrier’s, worker’s, warechouseman’s and other similar Third Party Rights
arising in the ordinary course of business, (iv) Third Party Rights arising under Law and (v) other Third Party Rights that do not materially
detract from the value or materially impair the current use of the Grasberg Assets; and

(d) arein good repair and working condition (subject to fair wear and tear) and, with respect to this paragraph 11.1(d), with exceptions as have not
had a Material Adverse Effect.

No Applicable Law or notice from a Governmental Authority adversely affects the ownership of any of the Grasberg Assets or, with exceptions as
have not had a Material Adverse Effect, restricts PTFI’s right to use the Grasberg Assets as PTFI sees fit in order to carry on the Grasberg Operations.

The Grasberg Assets are used solely in the carrying on of the Grasberg Operations.
Material contracts

Except as has been disclosed in the Disclosure Materials, each Material Contract is a legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable in accordance
with its terms and not voidable or liable to rescission for any reason.

Except as has been disclosed in the Disclosure Materials, PTFI is not in material breach or default of any Material Contract, nor has anything occurred
or been omitted which would be a default but for the requirement of notice or lapse of time or both.

As far as the PTII Sellers are aware, no person is in material breach or default under any Material Contract, nor has anything occurred or been omitted
which would be a material breach or default but for the requirements of notice or lapse of time or both.
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13.
13.1

14.
14.1

14.2

14.3

15.
15.1
15.2

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI has not received any notice which does or might adversely affect in a way any
rights or any exercise of any rights of PTFI in respect of any Material Contract.

Intellectual property

PTFI or the PTFI Subsidiaries holds the rights to, or has a licence to use, all intellectual property required for the conduct of the Grasberg Operations
as currently conducted, including all trade marks, business names, trade names, domain names, brands, trade secrets, copyright, know how and other
confidential information and all information technology.

Except as would not result in a Material Adverse Effect:

(a) all of the material intellectual property owned by PTFI (including industrial knowhow and trade secrets) which is of a confidential nature has at
all times been treated by PTFI and its Affiliates as confidential and has not been made available or communicated either in whole or in part to
any third party, other than on a confidential basis;

(b) any materials in which PTFI or the PTFI Subsidiaries claims copyright are original works, and as far as the PTII Sellers are aware, not copied
wholly or substantially from any other works or material owned by a third party; and

(c) as far as the PTII Sellers are aware, all of the material intellectual property owned by PTFI is valid and subsisting.
Information Technology

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, all information technology necessary to conduct the Grasberg Operations as currently conducted ( Information
Technology ) is owned by or licensed or leased to PTFI or the PTFI Subsidiaries.

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, in the 12 months prior to the date of this Agreement, there have been no material defaults, failures, outages,
breakdowns or substandard performance of any Information Technology which have caused any material disruption or interruption in or to conduct of
the Grasberg Operations.

Except as would not result in a Material Adverse Effect, immediately following Closing, PTFI and the PTFI Subsidiaries will be entitled to use the
Information Technology to the same extent and in the same manner as it has been used immediately prior to Closing.

Employment
PTFTI has paid all material amounts due and payable to any employees or former employees.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, except for remuneration for employment, no money is payable to any employee,
director, commissioner, or consultant of PTFI, including any former employee, director, commissioner, or consultant.
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16.
16.1

16.2
16.3

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI has complied with every contractual, statutory, legal or fiscal obligation
(including every code of practice, collective agreement and other agreement with a union) applying to the employment of any of its employees, and
the employment of former employees.

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, PTFI has complied with every contractual, statutory, legal or fiscal obligation applying to the engagement of
non-employee labour supply and outsourcing.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, there is no threatened, contemplated attempts of, pending, outstanding or unresolved
Claim between PTFI and past or present employees or groups of employees or consultants or contractors.

PTFI does not maintain an employee stock option program or any similar program.

As of the date of this Agreement, there is no work stoppage, strike or other concerted action by employees of PTFI and, with such exceptions as have
not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI has complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to employment and labour, including,
without limitation those relating to wages, outsourcing, and employment of expatriate employees.

As of the date of this Agreement, all of PTFI’s expatriate employees hold valid work and immigration permits and are performing work in accordance
with such permits.

Insurance

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, each insurance policy of PTFI and the PTFI Subsidiaries is:
(a) current; and

(b) alegal, valid and binding obligation enforceable in accordance with its terms.

Every premium due for an insurance policy of each of PTFI and the PTFI Subsidiaries has been paid in full.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, there is no circumstance which the terms of any insurance policy of PTFI or any of
the PTFI Subsidiaries require PTFI or any of the PTFI Subsidiaries to notify to the insurer.
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17.
17.1

17.2

17.3

18.

19.
19.1

19.2

19.3

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, nothing has been done or omitted so as:

(a) to make void or voidable any policy insuring any Grasberg Asset or insuring against any liability in connection with the Grasberg Operations;
or

(b) to permit an insurer to cancel the policy, or to refuse or reduce a claim, or to materially increase the premiums payable under the policy.
Health and safety

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI maintains and keeps up to date a health and safety policy and health and safety
management arrangements which are in compliance with all applicable Laws, treaty obligations and codes of practice.

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, PTFI is conducting and has at all times conducted its business in accordance with all applicable Laws and
international treaty obligations including, without limitation, all written guidelines, policies and codes of practice laid down from time to time, in
respect of occupational health and safety requirements.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI is not as of the date of this Agreement the subject of any Claim by any third
party seeking damages, contribution, indemnification, cost recovery, compensation or injunctive relief arising from any alleged injuries or threats of
injury.

Human Rights

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI is in compliance with, and requires any person under its Control to comply
with, all applicable Laws relating to ethical and responsible standards of behaviour, including, without limitation, those dealing with human rights,
human trafficking, slavery and conflict mineral sourcing and any legislation or regulation implementing the principles.

Environment

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, all environmental permits and approvals necessary for the conduct and operation of the activities carried out by
PTFI and on the Contract Area or in connection with the activities of PTFI and on the Contract Area as presently conducted have been obtained, are in
force and effect and are being complied with.

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, there are no facts or circumstances which constitute a breach of or give rise to any liability under any
Environmental Law applicable to the Grasberg Assets (whether held directly or indirectly) or PTFI.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI has not received written notice of any civil, criminal or administrative action,
or other proceeding or suit under any Environmental Law applicable to the Grasberg Assets (whether held directly or indirectly) of PTFI.
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19.5

19.6

19.7

20.
20.1

20.2

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI has not made any undertaking to a Governmental Authority (including any
court or tribunal) concerning the Environment.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, as far as the PTII Sellers are aware, there are no facts or circumstances which could
reasonably be expected to result in any Authorisation required in order for PTFI to comply with all Environmental Laws being modified, suspended,
revoked or not renewed.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI has no obligation to indemnify any person against liability in connection with
an Environmental Law or the Environment.

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, so far as the PTII Sellers are aware, no past or present act, omission, fact or
circumstance relating to the Environment is likely to give rise to:

(a) aliability of PTFI (or any shareholder of PTFI) to perform works or to spend money, or a practical necessity to do so; or
(b) alegal obligation or a practical requirement to cease or alter:
@) any activity of PTFI or its shareholders; or
(i1) any activity on the Contract Area or in relation to the Grasberg Assets.
Litigation and Claims
There is no outstanding Claim pending or (so far as the PTII Sellers are aware) threatened litigation of any kind involving:
(a) PTFI;
(b) any officer, employee, consultant or contractor of PTFI in connection with PTFI; or
(c) any person for whom PTFI may be vicariously liable,
in each case which would be material to the Company.

There is no unsatisfied judgment, order, arbitral award or decision of any court, tribunal or arbitrator, or unsatisfied settlement of proceedings in any
court, tribunal or arbitration, against PTFI or any asset of PTFL.

Part D: Warranties relating to PTFI and the PTFI Subsidiaries

21.
21.1

The PTFI Shares

The PTFI Shares (Inalum) constitute 20.6% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares immediately following Closing.
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21.5

21.6

21.7

22.

22.1
22.2
22.3

The PTFI Shares (PTII) constitute 19.4% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares immediately following Closing.

The PTFI Shares (Inalum) have been duly authorized and, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the PTFI
Subscription Agreement, will be validly issued and fully paid and Inalum will have valid title thereto, free and clear of all Third Party Rights (other
than those arising under the PTFI Subscription Agreement or the Shareholders Agreement, arising under any Constitutional Document of PTFI,
arising under applicable Laws relating to securities or arising from the acts of Inalum).

The PTFI Shares (PTII) have been duly authorized and, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the PTFI
Subscription Agreement, will be validly issued and fully paid and PTII will have valid title thereto, free and clear of all Third Party Rights (other than
those arising under the PTFI Subscription Agreement or the Shareholders Agreement, arising under any Constitutional Document of PTFI, arising
under applicable Laws relating to securities or arising from the acts of PTII).

The authorized capital stock of PTFI consists of 300,000 Ordinary Shares. As of the date of this Agreement, there are outstanding 227,490 Ordinary
Shares. All outstanding Ordinary Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth in this
paragraph 21.5, there are no outstanding:

(a) shares of capital stock or voting securities of PTFI;
(b) securities of PTFI convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of PTFI; or

(c) options or other rights (exercisable now or in the future and whether contingent or not) to acquire from PTFI, or other obligations of PTFI to
issue, any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of PTFI.

There are no outstanding obligations of PTFI or any of the PTFI Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding Ordinary
Shares.

PTFI does not hold or own (legally or beneficially) any shares in any other entity or Undertaking other than the PTFI Subsidiaries (as defined in the
Shareholders Agreement) and is not a member of any partnership or unincorporated association.

The PTFI Subsidiaries

Each PTFI Subsidiary is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the Laws of its place of incorporation.
Each PTFI Subsidiary has full legal capacity and power to own its property and to carry on its business.

Every share issued by any PTFI Subsidiary to PTFI:

(a) was duly issued;
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233

23.4
24.
24.1

242

243

(b) s, or is deemed to be, fully paid;

(c) is held by and beneficially owned by PTFI; and

(d) is free from any Third Party Interest.

No PTFI Subsidiary is subject to bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law.
The details set out in Schedule 12 are true and accurate.

Corporate records

The copies of the Constitutional Documents of PTFI disclosed to Inalum are true, complete and up to date copies.

The copies of resolutions of PTFI disclosed to Inalum are true and complete copies of every resolution setting out rights attached to any Ordinary
Share or the terms of issue of any Ordinary Share.

All rights and restrictions affecting Ordinary Shares are contained in the copy Constitutional Documents and copy resolutions referred to in
paragraphs 23.1 and 23.2.

The register of shareholders of PTFI contains a true and accurate record of its shareholders from time to time.
Anti-Bribery Law, Anti-Tax Evasion Law and Sanctions

No member of the PTFI Group nor any of their Associated Persons has, at any time in the two years before the date of this Agreement engaged in any
activity in violation of applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

Each member of the PTFI Group has in place policies, systems, controls and procedures designed to prevent it and its Associated Persons from
violating applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

PTFI is not, nor has it, during the past five years, been:

(a) aSanctioned Person or owned or controlled by a Sanctioned Person, or a holder of more than 10% of Equity Interests in a Sanctioned Person,
and that none of its officers or directors are or have, during the past five years, been Sanctioned Persons;

(b) party to or facilitated any agreement, transaction, dealing or relationship (i) with or for the benefit of, or otherwise made available any funds or
economic resources to, any Sanctioned Person, (ii) involving any property of a Sanctioned Person or (iii) relating to any Sanctioned Territory;

(c) in breach of, or subject to any penalties under, any Economic Sanctions Law; or

(d) subject to any actual litigation, legal action, claim, demand, suit, arbitration, investigation, inquiry, hearing, order or other proceeding or
administrative act related to any Economic Sanctions Law by or before any Governmental Authority.
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25.1
26.
26.1

26.2

26.3

26.4

27.
27.1

Insolvency etc.
PTFI is not subject to any bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law.
Financial Matters

The Last Accounts (PTFI) . The Last Accounts (PTFI):

(a)  have been prepared in good faith and with all due care and attention and in accordance with relevant Law and accounting policies, statements
and practices;

(b) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PTFI as at the Last Accounts Date (PTFI) and its financial performance and cash
flows for the financial year ended on that date; and

(c) have been prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies as were applied in the corresponding accounts for the preceding three
financial periods.

Since the Last Accounts Date (PTFI), PTFI has:

(a) carried on its business, in all material respects, in the ordinary and usual course of business;

(b) not declared, authorised, paid or made any dividend or other distribution (other than as disclosed in the Disclosure Materials);
(c) not reduced its paid-up share capital; and

(d) otherwise than in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the PTFI Subscription Agreement, not issued or agreed to issue any share or
loan capital.

All records of PTFI which relate to the Business of PTFI (including financial records such as accounts, books and ledgers):
(a) arein its possession and control; and
(b)  have been fully and properly maintained in accordance with Law.

So far as the PTII Sellers are aware, all documents, filings, publications and registrations required by Law to be delivered or made by PTFI to a
Governmental Authority have been duly delivered or made on a timely basis.

Regulator Matters

With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, PTFI has not received any written notice from a Governmental Authority in the 12
months before the date of this Agreement alleging that PTFI does not have any licence, permission, authorisation (public or private) or consent
required for carrying on its business effectively in the places and in the manner in which it is carried on at the date of this Agreement in accordance
with all Laws.
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27.2 With such exceptions as have not had a Material Adverse Effect, in the 12 months before the date of this Agreement there has been no default by
PTFI under any order, decree or judgment of any court or any governmental or regulatory authority in the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated
which applies to PTFL.
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Schedule 5

Limitations on Liability (PTII Sellers’ Warranties)

1.

Time Limits . Neither PTII Seller shall be liable for any PTII Sellers” Warranty Claim unless the PTII Sellers receive from Inalum written notice (as
soon as reasonably practicable after Inalum becomes aware of the fact, matter or circumstance reasonably likely to give rise to such PTII Sellers’
Warranty Claim) containing specific details of the PTII Sellers” Warranty Claim including Inalum’s estimate (on a without prejudice basis) of the
amount of the PTII Sellers” Warranty Claim before the third anniversary of the date of the Closing.

Thresholds for PTII Sellers” Warranty Claims . Neither PTII Seller shall be liable:

(a) for any single PTII Sellers” Warranty Claim unless the amount of its liability for that PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim would exceed
US$3,500,000.00; and

(b) for any PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claims unless the aggregate amount of its liability for all PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claims to the extent not
excluded by sub paragraph (a) would exceed US$10,000,000.00,

in which case Inalum may make a PTII Sellers” Warranty Claim for the whole amount of the Loss, and not just the excess.

Maximum limit for all PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claims . The aggregate amount of the liability for the PTII Sellers in total for PTII Sellers” Warranty
Claims for breach of any of the PTII Sellers’ Warranties (other than Fundamental Warranties) shall not exceed US$100,000,000.00; provided that the
aggregate amount of the liability for the PTII Sellers for all amounts under Clause 11.1 and 11.2 and in respect of all PTII Sellers” Warranties shall
not exceed US$350,000,000.00.

PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim to be withdrawn unless arbitration commenced . Any PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim by Inalum shall (if it has not been
previously satisfied, settled or withdrawn) be deemed to have been withdrawn six months after the notice is given pursuant to paragraph 1 of this
Schedule 5, unless arbitration proceedings in respect of it have been commenced. No new PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim may be made in respect of
the facts, matters, events or circumstances giving rise to any such withdrawn PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim following the third anniversary of the date
of the Closing.

Matters disclosed . Neither PTII Seller shall be liable for any PTII Sellers” Warranty Claim if and to the extent that the fact, matter, event or
circumstance giving rise to such PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim is disclosed by this Agreement or any document disclosed or referred to in the
Disclosure Materials (including as to quantum).

Matters provided for or taken into account in the Last Accounts . Neither PTII Seller shall be liable for any PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim if and to the
extent that the fact, matter, event or circumstance giving rise to the PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim is disclosed, allowed, provided or reserved for in the
Last Accounts (PTII) or Last Accounts (PTFI).
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7. No liability for Claims arising from acts or omissions of the relevant person . Neither PTII Seller shall be liable for any Claim to the extent that it
would not have arisen but for, or has been increased or not reduced as a result of, any act, omission or transaction carried out:

(a) after Closing, by PTII (or its respective directors, employees or agents) outside the ordinary and usual course of business of PTII as at Closing;

(b) before Closing, by any member of the PTII Sellers’ Group or PTII acting in accordance with the written direction or request or in accordance
with the written approval of Inalum or any member of the Inalum Group; or

(c) atany time, by Inalum or any member of the Inalum Group (other than PTII).

8. Parties’ duty to mitigate . Each of the PTII Sellers, on the one hand and Inalum, on the other hand, shall procure that all reasonable steps are taken to
avoid or mitigate any Loss or damage which it may suffer in consequence of any breach by the other of the terms of this Agreement or any fact,
matter, event or circumstance likely to give rise to a Claim.

9. Recovery from third party after payment from relevant Party(ies) . Where either PTII Seller has made a payment to Inalum in relation to any Claim
and Inalum or any member of the Inalum Group is entitled to recover (whether by insurance, payment, discount, credit, Relief received or otherwise)
from a third party a sum which indemnifies or compensates Inalum or any member of the Inalum Group (in whole or in part) in respect of the Loss
which is the subject of a Claim, Inalum or relevant member of the Inalum Group shall (a) promptly notify the PTII Sellers of the fact and provide such
information as the PTII Sellers may reasonably require, (b) take all reasonable steps or proceedings as the PTII Sellers may require to enforce such
right, and (c) pay to the relevant PTII Seller as soon as practicable after receipt an amount equal to the amount recovered from the third party (net of
Taxation on, and less any reasonable Costs of, such recovery).

10.  No liability for changes in legislation, Tax rules or accounting policy . Except where the change or enactment was announced as at the date of this
Agreement, neither PTII Seller shall be liable for any PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim if and to the extent it is attributable to, or the amount of such PTII
Sellers’ Warranty Claim is increased as a result of, any (a) legislation not in force at the date of this Agreement, (b) change of Law (or any change in
interpretation on the basis of case law), regulation, directive, requirement or administrative practice after the date of this Agreement, (c) change in the
rates of Taxation in force at the date of this Agreement or any imposition of any Taxation or any withdrawal of Relief not in effect at the date of this
Agreement, or (d) changes in accounting policy, basis or practice of Inalum or PTII introduced or having effect after the date of this Agreement.
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12.

13.

14.

15.

No double recovery. Neither of the PTII Sellers, on the one hand nor Inalum, on the other hand, shall be entitled to recover damages or obtain
payment, reimbursement, restitution or indemnity more than once in respect of any one Loss to the extent that the same Loss has been recovered in
another Claim or the subject of the Claim is made good or is compensated for without cost to that Party.

Excluded loss . Neither of the PTII Sellers, Inalum nor any member of the PTII Sellers’ Group or the Inalum Group shall be entitled to claim for any
loss of profit (except to the extent constituting direct damages), diminution of value (except to the extent constituting direct damages), and in each
case the Parties agree that a diminution in value of PTFI or any shares held in PTFI is a Loss capable of being recovered from the PTII Sellers to the
extent that diminution in value is attributable to direct damages, loss of goodwill or possible business after Closing, whether actual or prospective, or
for any punitive, special, indirect or consequential loss.

Inalum’s knowledge . Neither PTII Seller shall be liable for any PTII Sellers” Warranty Claim if and to the extent that any of the persons listed in
Clause 2(k) of Schedule 16 was actually aware before the date of this Agreement of the fact, matter, event or circumstance which is the subject matter
of the PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim.

Seller to have opportunity to remedy breaches . If a breach of the PTII Sellers” Warranties is capable of remedy, Inalum shall only be entitled to
compensation if it gives the PTII Sellers written notice of the breach and the breach is not remedied within 30 days after the date on which such notice
is served on the PTII Sellers. Without prejudice to its duty to mitigate any loss, Inalum shall (or shall procure that any relevant member of the Inalum
Group shall) provide all reasonable assistance to the PTII Sellers (or either PTII Seller as applicable) to remedy any such breach.

FCX Percentage Share . The PTII Sellers’ liability in relation to a Claim of Losses suffered in respect of PTFI (including a PTII Sellers’ Warranty
Claim) is limited to an amount calculated by multiplying the amount of such Loss of PTFI by (i) if the relevant Loss is finally incurred by PTFI prior
to the end of the Initial Period (as defined in the Shareholders Agreement), 9.36% and (ii) if the relevant Loss is finally incurred by PTFI following
the end of the Initial Period (as defined in the Shareholders Agreement), 5.616%.
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Schedule 6

Inalum Warranties

1.

Inalum is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has full power to conduct its
business as conducted at the date of this Agreement.

Inalum has full legal capacity and power to enter into the Transaction Documents to which it is a party.

Inalum has obtained all corporate Authorisations and all other governmental, statutory, regulatory or other consents, licences and Authorisations
required to empower it to enter into and perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents, where failure to obtain them would materially and
adversely affect its ability to enter into and perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

Entry into and performance by Inalum of the Transaction Documents will not:
(a) breach any provision of its Constitutional Documents;

(b) resultin a breach of any Laws or regulations in its jurisdiction of incorporation or of any order, decree or judgment of any court or any
governmental or regulatory authority, where any such breach would adversely affect to a material extent its ability to enter into or perform its
obligations under the Transaction Documents;

(c) breach the terms of any other agreement contract, undertaking or instrument binding on Inalum, where (in any case) the breach would
materially and adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents to which it is a party; or

(d) contravene any Third Party Rights and does not and will not result in the creation or imposition of any Third Party Rights, the acceleration of
the date of any payment or obligation under any Third Party Rights or any other material restriction under the provisions of any Third Party
Rights which would (in any case) materially and adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations under the Transaction
Documents to which it is a party.

Other than the Transaction Approvals, entry into and performance by Inalum of the Transaction Documents does not require the consent or approval
of any court, governmental or regulatory authority in any jurisdiction.

The Transaction Documents will, when executed, constitute valid and binding obligations of Inalum, enforceable against Inalum in accordance with
its terms, subject to any necessary stamping or registration.

Neither execution of any of the Transaction Documents to which Inalum is a party nor Closing, assuming satisfaction of each of the Conditions
Precedent, will be or become a transaction which is voidable under any Law.
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11.

12.

13.

14.

There is no circumstance with respect to Inalum which could make any of the Transaction Documents to which Inalum is a party or any transaction
contemplated by them void, voidable or unenforceable under any Law relating to insolvency.

No litigation, arbitration, mediation, conciliation or administrative proceeding is taking place or pending or threatened, whose outcome is likely to
have an adverse effect on the ability of Inalum to perform its obligations to carry out the transactions that this Agreement contemplates.

Inalum is not insolvent or bankrupt under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, unable to pay its debts as they fall due or has proposed or is
liable to any arrangement (whether by court process or otherwise) under which its creditors (or any group of them) would receive less than the
amounts due to them. There are no proceedings in relation to any compromise or arrangement with creditors or any winding up, bankruptcy or
insolvency proceedings concerning Inalum and no events have occurred which would justify such proceedings. No steps have been taken to enforce
any security over any assets of Inalum and no event has occurred to give the right to enforce such security.

Inalum is not aware of any facts or circumstances which could reasonably be expected to result in a Claim being made against a Seller or any
misrepresentation by or on behalf of a PTII Seller in connection with the Divestment Transaction.

So far as Inalum is aware, no member of the Inalum Group nor any of their Associated Persons has, at any time in the two years before the date of this
Agreement engaged in any activity in violation of applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

Each member of the Inalum Group has in place policies, systems, controls and procedures designed to prevent it and its Associated Persons from
violating applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

Inalum is not and has not, during the past five years, been:

(a) aSanctioned Person or owned or controlled by a Sanctioned Person, or a holder of more than 10% of Equity Interests in a Sanctioned Person,
and that none of its officers or directors are or have, during the past five years, been Sanctioned Persons;

(b) party to or facilitated any agreement, transaction, dealing or relationship (i) with or for the benefit of, or otherwise made available any funds or
economic resources to, any Sanctioned Person, (ii) involving any property of a Sanctioned Person or (iii) relating to any Sanctioned Territory;

(c) in breach of, or subject to any penalties under, any Economic Sanctions Law; or

(d) subject to any actual litigation, legal action, claim, demand, suit, arbitration, investigation, inquiry, hearing, order or other proceeding or
administrative act related to any Economic Sanctions Law by or before any Governmental Authority.
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15.  PTFI will acquire all of the issued share capital of PTRTI pursuant to the PTRTI Buyout Agreement, free and clear of all Third Party Rights.

16. The Participation Agreement is a legal, valid and binding obligation of PTRTI, enforceable in accordance with its terms, and PTRTI holds its interest
in the Participation Agreement free and clear of all Third Party Rights.
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Schedule 7
PTII Warranties

1.1
1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

PTII has full legal capacity and power to enter into the Transaction Documents to which it is a party.

PTII has obtained all corporate or company authorisations required to empower it to enter into and perform its obligations under the Transaction
Documents to which it is a party where failure to obtain them would adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations under the
Transaction Documents to which it is a party.

Entry into and performance by PTII of each Transaction Document to which it is a party will not (a) breach any provision of its Constitutional
Documents, (b) result in a breach of any Laws or regulations of the Republic of Indonesia or of any order, decree or judgment of any court or any
governmental or regulatory authority in the Republic of Indonesia, (c) breach the terms of any other agreement, contract, undertaking or instrument
binding on PTII, where (in any case) the breach would materially and adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations under the
Transaction Documents to which it is a party or (d) contravene any Third Party Rights and does not and will not result in the creation or imposition of
any Third Party Rights, the acceleration of the date of any payment or obligation under any Third Party Rights or any other material restriction under
the provisions of any Third Party Rights which would (in any case) materially and adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its obligations
under the Transaction Documents to which it is a party.

Each Transaction Document to which it is a party will, when executed, constitute valid and binding obligations of PTII, enforceable against PTII in
accordance with its terms, subject to any necessary stamping or registration.

Neither execution of any of the Transaction Documents to which PTII is a party nor, assuming satisfaction of each of the Conditions Precedent,
Closing will be or become a transaction which is voidable under any Law.

There is no circumstance with respect to PTII which could make any of the Transaction Documents to which PTII is a party or any transaction
contemplated by them void, voidable or unenforceable under any Law relating to insolvency.

No litigation, arbitration, mediation, conciliation or administrative proceeding is taking place or pending or, to the knowledge of PTII, threatened,
whose outcome is likely to have an adverse effect on the ability of PTII to perform its obligations to carry out the transactions that this Agreement
contemplates.

Neither PTII nor any member of the PTII Group is insolvent or bankrupt under the Laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, unable to pay its debts as
they fall due or has proposed or is liable to any arrangement (whether by court process or otherwise) under which its creditors (or any group of them)
would receive less than the amounts due to them. There are no proceedings in relation to any compromise or arrangement with creditors or any
winding up, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings concerning PTII or any member of the PTII Group and no events have occurred which would
justify such proceedings.
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1.9  So far as PTII is aware, no member of the PTII Group nor any of their Associated Persons has, at any time in the two years before the date of this
Agreement engaged in any activity in violation of applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

1.10 Each member of the PTII Group has in place policies, systems, controls and procedures designed to prevent it and its Associated Persons from
violating applicable Anti-Bribery Law or Anti-Tax Evasion Law.

1.11 PTII is not and has not, during the past five years, been:

(a)  aSanctioned Person or owned or controlled by a Sanctioned Person, or a holder of more than 10% of Equity Interests in a Sanctioned Person,
and that none of its officers or directors are or have, during the past five years, been Sanctioned Persons;

(b) party to or facilitated any agreement, transaction, dealing or relationship (i) with or for the benefit of, or otherwise made available any funds or
economic resources to, any Sanctioned Person, (ii) involving any property of a Sanctioned Person or (iii) relating to any Sanctioned Territory;

(c) in breach of, or subject to any penalties under, any Economic Sanctions Law; or

(d) subject to any actual litigation, legal action, claim, demand, suit, arbitration, investigation, inquiry, hearing, order or other proceeding or
administrative act related to any Economic Sanctions Law by or before any Governmental Authority.
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Schedule 10
Transaction Approvals

1. Confirmation of OSS registration of PTFI and PTII.
2. Ministry of Law and Human Rights approval for increase in authorised capital of PTFI
3. MEMR approval of:

(a) the transfer of all of FCX’s shares in PTFI to a fully owned Singapore-incorporated subsidiary of FCX (which condition may be waived by
FCX (and no other Party));

(b) the PTFI Subscription;
(c) the change in control of PTFI caused by the Divestment Transaction;

(d) the change to the board of directors and board of commissioners of PTFI as contemplated under this Agreement and the Shareholders
Agreement;

(e) the change to the Articles of Association of PTFI as contemplated under this Agreement and the Shareholders Agreement.
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Schedule 11
New Licences And Approvals

1.
2.
3.

4.

Izin Pinjam Pakai Kawasan Hutan (Borrow Use Permit for a Forest Area).
Issuance of DELH and resolution of environmental issues in Decrees 172 and 175 in a manner satisfactory to the Parties.

Approval of an amendment to PTFI’s B3 Disposal License(s) relating to tailings activities pursuant to Government Regulation No. 101 of 2014 on
Management of B3 Waste.

Extension of Export Approval for concentrates.

Issuance of other decrees or letters necessary for the operation, including approvals for the Board of Directors of PTFI and Board of Commissioners of PTFI
composition, Feasibility Study to 2041, Post-mining Plan to 2041, to continue use US$ and English in bookkeeping, to continue collect VAT from
subcontractor (WAPU), and new smelter incentives.
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Schedule 13
PTFI Subscription Agreement
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PTFI SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT
dated as of
September 27, 2018
between
PT FREEPORT INDONESIA
PT INDONESIA ASAHAN ALUMINIUM (PERSERO)
and

PT INDOCOPPER INVESTAMA



THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ), dated as of September 27, 2018, is entered into by and between PT Freeport
Indonesia, a limited liability company established under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia with its domicile at Plaza 89 Lt. 5, JI. H.R. Rasuna Said Kav.
X-7 No. 6, Jakarta 12940, Indonesia ( “ PTFI ), PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminium (Persero), a limited liability company established under the laws of the
Republic of Indonesia whose registered office is at The Energy Building, 19 th Floor, SCBD—Lot 11A, J1. Jend. Sudirman Kav 52-53, Jakarta 12190,
Republic of Indonesia (* Inalum ) and PT Indocopper Investama, a limited liability company established under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia with
its domicile at Plaza 89 Lt. 5, J1. H.R. Rasuna Said Kav. X-7 No. 6, Jakarta 12940, Indonesia (“ PTII ).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, PTFI, Inalum and PTII are parties to the PTFI Divestment Agreement between PTFI, Inalum, PTII, Freeport-McMoRan Inc., a
corporation established under the laws of Delaware, United States of America, with its principal place of business at 333 North Central Avenue, Phoenix,
Arizona (“ FCX ”), and International Support LLC, a Delaware limited liability company established under the laws of Delaware, United States of America,
with its principal place of business at 333 North Central Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona (“ ISLLC ), dated on the date of this Agreement (the “ PTFI
Divestment Agreement );

WHEREAS, this Agreement is the PTFI Subscription Agreement referred to in the PTFI Divestment Agreement;

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Constitutional Documents of PTFI, the existing shareholders of PTFI have (or prior to the Closing will have)
approved the issuance of new Ordinary Shares and in accordance with the PTFI Divestment Agreement, FCX has waived its right of pre-emption arising
under the Constitutional Documents of PTFI in respect of the PTFI Subscription; and

WHEREAS, PTF]I, Inalum and PTII enter into this Agreement to record the terms and conditions of the PTFI Subscription.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
D EFINITIONS ; I NTERPRETATION
Section 1.01. Definitions .

(a) Unless defined in this Agreement, capitalized terms have the meaning given to them in the PTFI Divestment Agreement.

(b) As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“ FCX ” has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause.



“ Inalum ” has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause.
“ISLLC ” has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause.

“ Ordinary Shares ” means the ordinary shares of PTFI, having par value IDR199,000 (equal to US$100), and any other security into which such
shares may hereafter be converted or changed.

“ Parties ” means PTFI, Inalum and PTII.

“ PTFI ” has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause.

“ PTFI Divestment Agreement ” has the meaning given to it in the Recitals.
“ PTII ” has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause.

“ Subscription Price (Inalum) ” means an amount of US$1,802,500,000.

“ Subscription Price (PTII) ” means an amount of US$1,697,500,000.

Section 1.02. Other Definitional and Interpretative Provisions . The words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” and words of like import used in this
Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The captions herein are included for convenience
of reference only and shall be ignored in the construction or interpretation hereof. References to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules are to Articles,
Sections, Exhibits and Schedules of this Agreement unless otherwise specified. Any singular term in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the plural,

(I3

and any plural term the singular. Whenever the words “include”, “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed
by the words “without limitation”, whether or not they are in fact followed by those words or words of like import. “Writing”, “written” and comparable
terms refer to printing, typing and other means of reproducing words (including electronic media) in a visible form. References to any statute shall be
deemed to refer to such statute as amended from time to time and to any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder. References to any agreement or
contract are to that agreement or contract as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.
References from or through any date mean, unless otherwise specified, from and including or through and including, respectively. References to “US$” are
references to the lawful currency from time to time of the United States of America. References to “IDR” are references to the lawful currency from time to

time of the Republic of Indonesia.
ARTICLE 2
PTFI S UBSCRIPTION
Section 2.01. PTFI Subscription .

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and the PTFI Divestment Agreement, including subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of the Conditions Precedent in accordance with the PTFI Divestment Agreement, at the Closing:

(1) PTFI will issue to Inalum the PTFI Shares (Inalum), and Inalum will accept the PTFI Shares (Inalum) issued to it; and



(ii) PTFI will issue to PTII the PTFI Shares (PTII) and PTII will accept the PTFI Shares (PTII) issued to it.

(b) All rights and obligations of the Parties arising under Article 2 are conditional on the Closing occurring in accordance with the terms of the PTFI
Divestment Agreement and no Party will be obliged to proceed to complete the transaction contemplated by this Agreement unless the Closing occurs in
accordance with the terms of the PTFI Divestment Agreement.

Section 2.02. Subscription Price .

(a) The aggregate consideration payable in respect of the issuance of and subscription for:
(1) the PTFI Shares (Inalum) shall be the Subscription Price (Inalum); and
(ii) the PTFI Shares (PTII) shall be the Subscription Price (PTII).

(b) The Subscription Price (Inalum) shall be paid by Inalum and the Subscription Price (PTII) shall be paid by PTII in full in cash at Closing in
accordance with Section 2.03.

Section 2.03. Closing .

(a) At the Closing:
(1) Inalum shall pay to PTFI the Subscription Price (Inalum) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by PTFI;
(ii) PTII shall pay to PTFI the Subscription Price (PTII) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by PTFI; and
(iii) PTFI shall:
(A) allot and issue:
(1) the PTFI Shares (Inalum) to Inalum; and
(2) allot and issue the PTFI Shares (PTII) to PTII;
(B) enter:
(1) Inalum in the shareholders’ register of PTFI as the holder of the PTFI Shares (Inalum);



(2) PTII in the shareholders’ register of PTFI as the holder of the PTFI Shares (PTII);

(C) deliver to each of Inalum and PTII a certified copy of the relevant extract of PTFI’s share register, evidencing the valid title of Inalum
to the PTFI Shares (Inalum) and PTII to the PTFI Shares (PTII), in each case free and clear of all Third Party Rights;

(D) deliver to:
(1) Inalum a duly executed share certificate showing Inalum as the holder of the PTFI Shares (Inalum); and
(2) PTII a duly executed share certificate showing PTII as the holder of the PTFI Shares (PTII);

(E) take all other steps required under PTFI’s Constitutional Documents and any Law to constitute and evidence Inalum as the holder of
the PTFI Shares (Inalum) and PTII as the holder of the PTFI Shares (PTII), respectively;

(F) deliver to each of Inalum and PTII a copy of a duly executed notarial deed of restatement of the resolutions of the shareholders of
PTFI authorising, approving and (to the extent necessary) ratifying:

(1) the allotment and issuance of the PTFI Shares (Inalum) to Inalum; and
(2) the allotment and issuance of the PTFI Shares (PTII) to PTII.

(G) deliver to each of Inalum and PTII a copy of duly executed resolutions of the commissioners of PTFI authorising, approving and (to
the extent necessary) ratifying:

(1) the allotment and issuance of the PTFI Shares (Inalum) to Inalum;
(2) the allotment and issuance of the PTFI Shares (PTII) to PTII; and

(3) the adoption of amended articles of association of PTFI (such amended articles of association being in form and substance
consistent with the terms of the Shareholders Agreement and otherwise satisfactory to FCX, Inalum, PTII and PTFI); and

(H) deliver to each of Inalum and PTII a copy of duly executed resolutions of the directors of PTFI approving the issuance of new share
certificates to Inalum in respect of the PTFI Shares (Inalum) and PTII in respect of the PTFI Shares (PTII), respectively.



Section 2.04. Delivery of Shares . Following the Closing, PTFI shall take all other steps required under the Constitutional Documents of PTFI and any
applicable Law as may be reasonably required by Inalum or PTII to constitute and evidence Inalum as the holder of the PTFI Shares (Inalum) and PTII as
holder of the PTFI Shares (PTII), respectively, including, among others, updating the TDP (Company Registration Number) if PTFI has not obtained the
NIB (Business Identity Number) under the OSS system (Online Single Submission) and procuring the announcement of the Closing in the State Gazette.

Section 2.05. Termination . This Agreement shall terminate prior to the Closing and be of no further force or effect immediately and automatically
upon the termination of the PTFI Divestment Agreement prior to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the PTFI Divestment Agreement.

ARTICLE 3
PTFI R EPRESENTATIONS AND W ARRANTIES

Section 3.01. Representations and Warranties of PTFI . PTFI represents and warrants to Inalum and PTII that:

(a) the PTFI Shares (Inalum) constitute 20.6% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares immediately following Closing;
(b) the PTFI Shares (PTII) constitute 19.4% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares immediately following Closing;

(c) the PTFI Shares (Inalum) have been (or prior to the Closing will be) duly authorized and, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms
of this Agreement and the PTFI Divestment Agreement, will be validly issued and fully paid and Inalum will have valid title thereto, free and clear of all
Third Party Rights (other than those arising under this Agreement or the Shareholders Agreement, arising under any Constitutional Document of PTFI,
arising under applicable Laws relating to securities or arising from the acts of Inalum);

(d) the PTFI Shares (PTII) have been (or prior to the Closing will be) duly authorized and, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement and the PTFI Divestment Agreement, will be validly issued and fully paid and PTII will have valid title thereto, free and clear of all Third
Party Rights (other than those arising under this Agreement or the Shareholders Agreement, arising under any Constitutional Document of PTFI, arising
under applicable Laws relating to securities or arising from the acts of PTII);

(e) the authorized capital stock of PTFI consists of 300,000 Ordinary Shares. As of the date of this Agreement, there are outstanding 227,490
Ordinary Shares. All outstanding Ordinary Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth in
this Section 3.01(e), there are no outstanding:

(1) shares of capital stock or voting securities of PTFI;



(i1) securities of PTFI convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of PTFI; or

(iii) options or other rights (exercisable now or in the future and whether contingent or not) to acquire from PTFI, or other obligations of PTFI
to issue, any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of PTFI;

(f) there are no outstanding obligations of PTFI or any of the PTFI Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding Ordinary
Shares;

(g) PTF1 is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia;

(h) PTFTI has full legal capacity and power to own its property and to carry on its business;

(i) PTFI has full legal capacity and power to enter into the Transaction Documents to which it is a party;

(j) PTFI has (or prior to the Closing will have) obtained all corporate or company authorisations required to empower it to enter into and perform its
obligations under the Transaction Documents to which it is a party where failure to obtain them would adversely affect its ability to enter into or perform its

obligations under the Transaction Documents to which it is a party;

(k) each Transaction Document to which it is a party will, when executed and delivered by PTFI, constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of
PTF]I, enforceable against PTFI in accordance with its terms, subject to any necessary stamping or registration;

(1) PTFI is not entering into any Transaction Document to which it is a party as trustee of any trust or settlement;

(m) neither execution of any of the Transaction Documents to which PTFI is a party nor Closing nor any other transactions which any of the
Transaction Documents to which PTFI is a party contemplate will be or become a transaction which is voidable under any Law; and

(n) there is no circumstance which could make any of the Transaction Documents to which PTFI is a party or any transaction contemplated by them
void, voidable or unenforceable under any Law relating to insolvency.



ARTICLE 4
M ISCELLANEOUS

Section 4.01. Notices . Any notice to be given by one Party to the other Parties in connection with this Agreement shall be given in accordance with
clause 34 of the PTFI Divestment Agreement, mutatis mutandis .

Section 4.02. Representations and Warranties .

(a) The representations and warranties set forth in Article 3 (the “ PTFI Warranties ) shall not in any respect be extinguished or affected by
Closing, but shall be extinguished as of the third anniversary of the Closing.

(b) Clauses 10.2, 10.3, 10.4, 10.6, 10.7, 10.8, 10.9 and 15 of the PTFI Divestment Agreement shall apply, mutatis mutandis (including as if PTFI were
a PTII Seller thereunder and PTFI Warranties were PTII Sellers” Warranties thereunder), with respect to the PTFI Warranties and Claims relating thereto.

(c) Schedule 5 to the PTFI Divestment Agreement shall apply, mutatis mutandis (including as if PTFI were a PTII Seller thereunder and Claims with
respect to the PTFI Warranties were PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claims thereunder), with respect to the PTFI Warranties and Claims relating thereto; provided
that:

(1) Section 3 thereof shall be deemed to read in its entirety as follows: “The aggregate amount of the liability for PTFI in total for Claims for
breach of any of the PTFI Warranties shall not exceed US$3,500,000,000.”; and

(ii) Section 15 thereof shall not apply.

Section 4.03. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Republic of Indonesia,
without regard to the conflicts of laws rules thereof. The Parties waive the provisions of Article 1266 and 1267 of the Indonesian Civil Code to the extent
necessary so that this Agreement can be terminated and damages or other compensation may be calculated and become payable without the need for an
order of any court. For the avoidance of doubt, the Parties agree that no changes in the laws of the Republic of Indonesia effected after the date hereof shall
affect the rights or obligations of the Parties hereunder.

Section 4.04. Dispute Resolution . Settlement of disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be in accordance with clause 46 of
the PTFI Divestment Agreement, mutatis mutandis .

Section 4.05. Entire Agreement . The Transaction Documents together with the certificates, documents, instruments and writings that are delivered
pursuant thereto, constitute the entire agreement and understanding of the parties hereto and thereto in respect of their subject matters and supersede all
prior understandings, agreements, or representations by or among such Parties, written or oral, to the extent they relate in any way to the subject matter of
the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents.



Section 4.06. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original but all of which
together will constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 4.07. Amendments and Waivers . This Agreement may not be amended or modified without the written consent of each of the Parties. Except
as may be limited by applicable Law, any provision of this Agreement may be waived in writing by the Party against whom the waiver is to be effective. No
action taken pursuant to this Agreement, including any investigation by or on behalf of any Party, shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the Party taking
such action of compliance with any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained herein. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any provision
of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. No
failure on the part of any Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any
single or partial exercise of such right, power or remedy by such Party preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right,
power or remedy. All remedies hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies provided by applicable Law.

Section 4.08. Successors and Assigns . The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their
respective successors and assigns; provided that no Party may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement
without the prior written consent of each other Party and any attempted assignment not in accordance with this Section shall be null and void ab initio .

Section 4.09. Severability . The provisions of this Agreement will be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof
will not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof; provided that if any provision of this Agreement, as applied to any Party or to any
circumstance, is adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction not to be enforceable in accordance with its terms, the Parties agree that the court making
such determination will have the power to modify the provision in a manner consistent with its objectives such that it is enforceable, or to delete specific
words or phrases, and in its reduced form, such provision will then be enforceable and will be enforced.

Section 4.10. Sovereign Immunity .

(a) To the extent that any Party may be entitled in any state or jurisdiction to claim or benefit from any immunity (whether characterized as state
immunity, sovereign immunity, act of state or otherwise) now or hereafter for itself or any of its property or assets (which it now has or may hereafter
acquire) in respect of its obligations under this Agreement from any proceedings, jurisdiction, suit, judgement, execution, attachment, whether before award
or judgement, in aid or execution or otherwise (or from any service of process or other documents relating thereto), or legal process or to the extent that in
any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to it or any of its property or assets any such immunity (whether or not claimed), such Party expressly,
unconditionally and irrevocably agrees not to claim, invoke or permit to be invoked on it or its property or assets’ behalf or for it or its property or assets’
benefit and hereby expressly, unconditionally and irrevocably waives such immunity to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.



(b) Each Party consents generally in respect of any proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with the
proceedings, including the enforcement or execution against any property or assets whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or
judgement which may be made or given in the proceedings.

(c) Each Party irrevocably and unconditionally acknowledges that the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement constitutes private and
commercial (and not public) acts of such Party.

Section 4.11. Inconsistency with the PTFI Divestment Agreement . If this Agreement is inconsistent with the PTFI Divestment Agreement, the PTFI
Divestment Agreement prevails to the extent of any inconsistency.

Section 4.12. Merger . In respect of a term or condition of this Agreement, Closing does not operate as a merger of any of the rights or remedies of the
parties under this Agreement.

Section 4.13. Relationship of the Parties . Nothing contained or implied in this Agreement is intended to create a partnership between the Parties or,
except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, establish any Party as an agent or representative of any other Party. A Party has no authority to bind any
other Party, or to act for, or to incur any obligation or assume any responsibility on behalf of, any other Party.

Section 4.14. Language and Interpretation .

(a) For the purposes of compliance with Law No. 24 of the Republic of Indonesia on the National Flag, Language, Coat of Arms and National
Anthem, the Parties agree to translate and execute an Indonesian language version of this Agreement and any instrument or other document referred to in
this Agreement to which an Indonesian person is a party or signatory, or any amendment to such agreement, instrument or document other than those which
are already made and executed in Indonesian language, promptly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(b) The Parties agree that:

(1) the Indonesian language version of this Agreement (other than those which are already made and executed in Indonesian language only),
when executed, will be deemed to be effective and valid from the date of the English language version, and both the English language version and the
Indonesian language version will be equally authentic. The Parties further agree that the execution of the Indonesian language of this Agreement must
be undertaken at the latest within 60 days after the date of this Agreement;



(i1) in the event of any inconsistency or different interpretation between the Indonesian language version and the English language version of
such dual-language documents, the Indonesian language version is deemed to be automatically amended (with effect from the date of the English
language version) to make the relevant part of the Indonesian language version consistent with the relevant part of the English language version;

(iii) the costs and expenses in relation to:
(A) the translation of the English language version into an Indonesian language version;
(B) the preparation and execution of the Indonesian language version; and

(C) any amendments of the Indonesian language version to conform with the English language version as contemplated by this
Section 4.14,

shall be borne by PTFI (other than costs incurred by a Party in reviewing and commenting on such Indonesian language version, which shall be
borne by the Party incurring such costs); and

(iv) each Party:
(A) acknowledges that, with its agreement, this Agreement has been negotiated in the English language;
(B) represents that it has read and fully understands the contents and consequences of this Agreement;
(C) represents that it has made and entered into this Agreement freely and without duress;
(D) represents that it has received independent legal advice with regard to this Agreement; and
(E) undertakes that it will not challenge the validity of this Agreement based on any failure to comply with Law No. 24 of the Republic of

Indonesia on the National Flag, Language, Coat of Arms and National Anthem or the implementing Presidential Regulation (when issued).

[ Remainder of page intentionally left blank |



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
PTFI:
PT FREEPORT INDONESIA

By:

Name:
Title:



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
INALUM:
PT INDONESIA ASAHAN ALUMINIUM (PERSERO)

By:

Name:
Title:



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
PTII:
PT INDOCOPPER INVESTAMA

By:

Name:
Title:
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SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT

SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ), dated as of [¢], among:

)

@

3

4)

A)

®)

©
D)

PT Freeport Indonesia, a limited liability company established under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia with its domicile at Plaza 89 Lt. 5, JI. H.R.
Rasuna Said Kay. X-7 No. 6, Jakarta 12940, Indonesia (the “ Company ”);

PT Indocopper Investama, a limited liability company established under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia with its domicile at Plaza 89 Lt. 5, JI.
H.R. Rasuna Said Kay. X-7 No. 6, Jakarta 12940, Indonesia, which will change its name to [*] as soon as practicable after the date of this Agreement
(“ Inalum SPV 7);

[Freeport Shareholder], a [¢] established under the laws of [], with its principal place of business at [*] (“ Freeport Shareholder ” and, together with
any of its Affiliates that become Shareholders, “ Freeport ”); and

PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminium (Persero), a limited liability company established under the laws of Indonesia whose registered office is at the
Energy Building, 19th Floor, SCBD — Lot 11A, JI. Jend. Sudirman Kav 52-53, Jakarta, 12190 (“ Inalum ” and together with Inalum SPV and their
respective Affiliates that become Shareholders, “ Inalum Group ).

WITNESSETH:

Inalum, Inalum SPV, Freeport Shareholder and the Company (collectively, the “ Parties ” and each a *“ Party ™) desire to have a mutually beneficial,
constructive and substantive long term partnership pursuant to which, as of the date hereof, the Inalum Group owns 51.232 percent (51.232%) of the
Shares.

The Shareholders acknowledge that the relationship between the Shareholders in respect of the Company shall balance the shared objective of active
participation from all Shareholders, where Inalum Group and Freeport manage the governance of the Company, and where Freeport will continue to
manage the operations of the Company and Inalum Group will have an appropriate and meaningful role in the operations of the Company, each in
accordance with the principles set out in this Agreement.

The Parties share an objective of high standards for corporate governance and social and environmental responsibility in respect of the Company.

The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement to govern certain of their rights, duties and obligations.
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:

1.
1.1

DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION

Definitions

(a) As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

“ Adherence Agreement ” means an agreement substantially in the form set out at schedule 1.

“ Affiliate ” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly Controlling, Controlled by or under common Control with such
Person; provided that no security holder of the Company shall be deemed an Affiliate of the Company or any other security holder of the Company
solely by reason of any investment in the Company or the existence or exercise of any rights or obligations under this Agreement or the Ordinary
Shares held by such security holder.

“ Agreed Expansion Projects ” means the projects set forth in schedule 3.

“ Anti-Bribery and Corruption Laws ” means the applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and anti-money laundering laws, rules, regulations,
decrees, and/or official government orders of any governmental body of Indonesia, Singapore, and the United States, including the United States
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, Republic of Indonesia Law No. 31 of 1999 regarding Eradication of Criminal Acts of Corruption, as amended
by Law No. 20 of 2011, Singapore Prevention of Corruption Act, and any other applicable legislation implementing either the United Nations
Convention Against Corruption or the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions.

“ Applicable Law ” means, with respect to any Person, any transnational, domestic or foreign federal, state or local law (statutory, common equity or
otherwise), constitution, treaty, convention, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling or other similar requirement
enacted, adopted, promulgated or applied by a governmental authority that is binding upon or applicable to such Person, as amended unless expressly
specified otherwise.

“ Articles ” means the Articles of Association of the Company, substantially in the form attached to this Agreement at schedule 4, as the same may be
amended from time to time, and references in this Agreement to “ Articles ” is a reference to an Article in the Articles.

“ Authorisations ” means:
(i) an authorisation, consent, declaration, exemption, notarisation or waiver, however it is described; and

(ii) in relation to anything that could be prohibited or restricted by any Applicable Law if a Government Authority acts in any way within a
specified period, the expiry of that period without that action being taken.
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“ Board of Commissioners ~” means the Board of Commissioners of the Company.
“ Board of Directors ” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“ Business Day ” means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York, New York, United States of
America or Jakarta, Indonesia are authorized by Applicable Law to close.

“ Close-down ” means the permanent ceasing of all operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries in the Contract Area.

“ Company Subsidiaries ” means each Person Controlled by the Company. The details of each Company Subsidiary as of the date hereof, including
the relevant shareholding in such Company Subsidiaries, are set out at schedule 5.

“ Confidential Information ” means any information concerning the Company or any Company Subsidiary or the financial condition, business,
operations or prospects of the Company or any Company Subsidiary in the possession of or furnished to any Shareholder (including by virtue of its
present or former right to designate a Director); provided that the term “Confidential Information” does not include information that (i) is or becomes
generally available to the public other than as a result of a disclosure by a Shareholder or its Representatives in violation of this Agreement or (ii) with
respect to a Shareholder, was available to such Shareholder on a non-confidential basis prior to its disclosure to such Shareholder or its
Representatives by the Company.

“ Consumer Price Index ” means the unadjusted Consumer Price Index for All Urban Workers, U.S. City Average, All Items, 1982 - 84 = 100,
calculated and published by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics ( provided that (i) if such index is ever rebased, the
new base will be used with appropriating compensating adjustments to the calculation of the Expenditure Adjustment Factor) and (ii) if such index is
ever discontinued, the Parties will select an alternative index as the “Consumer Price Index” which reasonably approximates the initial index as it
existed on the date of this Agreement).

“ Contract Area ” means the area defined as such under the IUPK.

2

“ Control ” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “ Controlling ”, “ Controlled by ” and “ under common Control with ”’) means, as
used with respect to any Person, (i) the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies
of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; or (ii) the ability to appoint a majority of the board of
directors or the board of commissioners or similar governing or management body or bodies of that Person; or (iii) the holding of the voting rights
and/or the ability to direct the voting rights of more than 50% of all the voting rights exercisable at general meetings of shareholders of that Person.
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“ Deadlock Matter ” means, in respect of:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™)

the Shareholders, a resolution which the Shareholders have failed to pass one time at a meeting of the Shareholders held in accordance
with this Agreement;

the Board of Commissioners:

(A) aresolution which the Board of Commissioners has failed to pass at one meeting of the Board of Commissioners held in
accordance with this Agreement due to an equal number of votes cast for and against the resolution; or

(B) all resolutions the subject of a meeting of the Board of Commissioners that has been dissolved in accordance with Clause 4.8(c);
the Board of Directors:

(A) aresolution which the Board of Directors has failed to pass at one meeting of the Board of Directors held in accordance with this
Agreement due to an equal number of votes cast for and against the resolution; or

(B) all resolutions the subject of a meeting of the Board of Directors that has been dissolved in accordance with Clause 5.9(c);

the Finance Committee, a matter which the Finance Committee has failed to pass at one meeting of the Finance Committee held in
accordance with this Agreement due to an equal number of votes cast for and against the matter; and

the Operating Committee, a matter which the Operating Committee has failed to pass at one meeting of the Operating Committee held
in accordance with this Agreement due to an equal number of votes cast for and against the matter.

“ Director ” means any director of the Company from time to time.

“ Dividend Policy ” means the terms on which dividends will be distributed to the Shareholders, as set out in Clause 10.1.

“ EBITDA ” means, with respect to any period, net income of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for such period as determined in
accordance with Indonesian generally accepted accounting principles, plus , to the extent deducted in calculating such net income, interest expense,
taxes, depreciation, amortization and all other noncash charges of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for such period. For purposes of this
calculation, net income will be adjusted to exclude any extraordinary gains or losses and the cumulative effect of any change in accounting principles.
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“ Emergency Situation ” means an emergency situation (including a significant fire, explosion, mine subsidence or collapse) that would unless
remedied immediately cause or could reasonably be expected to result in:

(i) a significant environmental event;
(ii) loss of life or serious injury to any persons; or
(iii)  serious property damage.

“ Force Majeure Event ” means any circumstance or event beyond the reasonable control of a Party (or any person acting on its behalf), including
acts of God, storms, floods, riots, fires, earthquakes, sabotage, civil commotion or civil unrest, strikes, lockouts or other labor difficulties, interference
by civil or military authorities, riots, insurrections or other hostilities, embargoes, fuel or energy shortages, acts of governmental authorities (including
bank closings and seizures), acts of war (declared or undeclared) or armed hostilities or other national or international calamities or one or more acts
of terrorism or failures or interruptions of networks or energy sources.

“ Freeport Services Agreement ” means the services agreement substantially in the form set out on schedule 9, as it may be amended from time to
time in accordance with this Agreement.

“ Government Authority ” means any transnational, domestic or foreign federal, state or local governmental, regulatory or administrative authority,
department, court, agency or official, including any political subdivision thereof.

“ Government Official ” means any Person qualifying as a public official or a “foreign official” under the laws of the Indonesia, Singapore, or any
other Applicable Laws, including (i) a Person holding an official position, such as an employee, officer, or director, with any government, or agency,
department, or instrumentality thereof, including a state-owned or -controlled enterprise; (ii) any Person “acting in an official capacity,” such as a
delegation of authority, from a government, or agency, department, or instrumentality thereof, to carry out official responsibilities, including a
specific project assignment; or (iii) an official of a public international organization such as the United Nations, the World Bank, the International
Monetary Fund, or a regional development bank.

“ Grasberg Smelter ” means a smelting and refining facility along with a precious metals refinery to process minerals to be constructed in Indonesia
by the Company or any of its Affiliates in accordance with the [TUPK.

“ Indonesian Company Law ” means Law No. 40 of 2007 (of the Republic of Indonesia) on Limited Liability Companies including any
implementing regulation thereof (as may be amended and/or replaced from time to time).

“ Inflation Adjustment Factor ” means the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the Consumer Price Index for the last completed month preceding the
completion of the relevant draft annual operating plan or annual financial plan by (ii) the Consumer Price Index for the month in which the LTIP was
adopted.



“ Initial Period ” has the meaning set forth at schedule 10.

“ Interest Coverage Ratio ” means, as of any date, the ratio of: (a) EBITDA for the most recent four fiscal quarters ending prior to such date to
(b) the total interest expense of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries determined in accordance with Indonesian generally accepted accounting
principles for such four fiscal quarters, plus capitalized interest of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for such four fiscal quarters.

“International Human Rights” means the fundamental principles and standards that enable individuals everywhere to have freedom to live in
dignity. All human rights are universal, interrelated, interdependent, and indivisible. International human rights include, the right to safe and healthy
working conditions, right to life, liberty, and security of person, right to health, right not to be subjected to forced and compulsory labor or child labor,
right to freedom of association, etc. The full definition of International Human Rights can be found within the 30 articles of the United Nations’
Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR).

“LIBOR ” means, with respect to calculation of interest for any period, the London interbank offered rate as administered by ICE Benchmark
Administration (or any other Person that takes over the administration of such rate) for deposits in U.S. dollars for a 180-day period which appears on
the Reuters screen LIBORO1 or LIBORO2 page that displays such rate (or, in the event such rate does not appear on such Reuters page or screen, on
the page or screen used by the administrative agent under the credit agreement of the ultimate parent company of Freeport to determine the rate
applicable to Eurodollar loans under such credit agreement or, if no such credit agreement is then in effect, on the page or screen mutually agreed by
the Parties) at or about 11:00 a.m. London time two business days in London before the first day of such period; provided that if LIBOR as so
determined shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement; provided , further , that, if two or more
such offered rates are indicated on such page, LIBOR shall be the rate that equals the arithmetic mean (expressed as a decimal fraction to five decimal
places) of such offered rates, and provided further that if such interest period is not equal to any period shown on such page, LIBOR shall be the rate
determined by interpolation from the rates for the next longer and next shorter periods shown on such page, using the number of days as the basis for
the interpolation, expressed as a decimal fraction to five decimal places. If at any time LIBOR cannot be determined as set forth in the preceding
sentence and such inability to determine LIBOR is not likely to be temporary, then (i) the rate shall be equal to the rate used by the administrative
agent under the credit agreement of the ultimate parent company of Freeport to determine the rate applicable to Eurodollar loans under such credit
agreement or (ii) if no such credit agreement is then in effect, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to establish an alternate rate of interest to
LIBOR that gives due consideration to the then



prevailing market convention for determining a rate of interest for syndicated loans in the United States at such time and, in each case, shall enter into
an amendment to this Agreement to reflect such alternate rate of interest and such other related changes to this Agreement as may be applicable.

“ Long Term Investment Plan ” or “ LTIP ” means the plan attached to this Agreement at schedule 2, as amended from time to time and approved
in accordance with this Agreement (it being understood that such plan reflects alternative options with respect to the development of Kucing Liar, and
the “LTIP” shall be the plan reflecting the option that the Company follows with respect to Kucing Liar).

“ Majority ” means in respect of voting at a meeting of the Shareholders, the Board of Commissioners, the Board of Directors, the Operating
Committee, the Finance Committee or any other committee or other body of the Company contemplated under this Agreement, a matter passed by
more than 50% of the votes cast by members entitled to vote on the matter.

“ Material Adverse Effect ” means a material adverse effect on the financial condition, business, assets or results of operations of the Company and
the Company Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, excluding any effect resulting from (A) changes in Indonesian generally accepted accounting principles
or changes in the regulatory accounting requirements applicable to any industry in which the Company and the Company Subsidiaries operate,

(B) changes in the general economic or political conditions or (C) changes (including changes of Applicable Law and price changes with respect to
copper or gold) or conditions generally affecting the industry in which the Company and the Company Subsidiaries operate.

“ Mining Information ” means all information, data (including electronically stored data), sketches, maps, drawings, memoranda, drill cores, logs of
those drill cores and records relating to exploration (including without limitation, expenditure records, statutory reports and correspondence with third
parties in relation to any Authorisations) including geological, geophysical, geochemical, aerial, exploration, mining, sampling and assay reports and
notes and other technical information developed by or on behalf of the Company or any Company Subsidiary.

“ Nominating Committee ” means a four person committee, comprised of (i) the Chief Executive Officer of Inalum (who will serve as Co-Chairman
of such committee); (ii) nominee of the Chief Executive Officer of Inalum; (iii) the Chief Executive Officer of the ultimate parent company of
Freeport (who will serve as Co-Chairman of such committee); and (iv) nominee of the Chief Executive Officer of the ultimate parent company of
Freeport.

“ Non-Discretionary Actions ” means an action that is required to be taken immediately to prevent an Emergency Situation, including (i) actions
taken as a result of a Force Majeure Event, (ii) actions relating to environmental, safety, health or security or that arise necessarily out of compliance
with Applicable Laws, or (iii) actions, such as cost and capital reductions, which are taken as a result of the impact of changes in commodity prices, in
each case to the extent such actions are taken acting in the best interest of the Company.
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“ NPV ” means the present value of future cash flows discounted at a rate of 8%, adjusted for any value that has been realized prior to the time the
NPV is calculated. For purposes of calculating NPV, effects caused by the following matters will be excluded: (i) changes in commodity prices,
(i) currency fluctuations, (iii) regulatory requirements or changes in Applicable Law and (iv) cash flows relating to smelter activities.

“ Ordinary Shares ” means the ordinary shares of the Company, having par value US$100 and any other security into which such shares may
hereafter be converted or changed.

“ Percentage Interest ” means, with respect to any Shareholder or group of Shareholders at any time, a fraction (expressed as a percentage), (i) the
numerator of which is the total number of Ordinary Shares owned by such Shareholder or group of Shareholders as of such time, and (ii) the
denominator of which is the total number of outstanding Ordinary Shares as of such time.

“ Person ” means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust or other entity or organization, including a
government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.

“ Person of Concern ” means (i) a Government Official; (ii) a political party, an official of a political party (including any member of an advisory
council or executive council of a political party), or a candidate for political office; (iii) an immediate family member, such as a parent, spouse,
sibling, or child of a Person in either of categories (i) and (ii) above; or (iv) an agent, intermediary, or close business associate of any Person in any of
the foregoing categories.

“ Qualifying Mining Company ” means any Person which is an international mining company which has:
@) extensive experience and skills in relation to; and
(i1) owns or operates (or has recently owned or operated),

substantial underground mining operations.

“ Representatives ” means, with respect to any Shareholder, such Shareholder’s, Controlled Affiliates and its and their respective directors, officers,
employees, stockholders, members, partners, agents, counsel, professional advisers (including tax advisors and auditors) or other representatives.

“ Shareholder ” means, at any time, any Person (other than the Company) who shall then be a party to or bound by this Agreement, so long as such
Person owns any Ordinary Shares at such time.
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“ Shareholder Representative ” means a representative of a Shareholder appointed to the Board of Directors, the Board of Commissioners, the
Operating Committee, the Finance Committee or any other committee of the Company (as relevant) by such Shareholder pursuant to a right in this
Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, a Shareholder may nominate the same person to be its Sharecholder Representative on the Board of Directors
and any committee (including the Operating Committee and the Finance Committee).

“ Shares ” means any shares in the capital of the Company including Ordinary Shares.

“ Significant Deviation ” means:
) during the Initial Period, a deviation from the LTIP resulting in a Material Adverse Effect; and
(i1) after the Initial Period:

(A) adeviation from the LTIP that would reasonably be expected to result in a 10% or greater reduction in NPV relative to the NPV
shown in the LTIP (with, for the purpose of such calculation, the revenues and expenditures set forth in the LTIP for periods not
yet completed multiplied by the Inflation Adjustment Factor);

(B) adeviation from the LTIP requiring capital calls from the Shareholders in respect of projects that are not included in the LTIP,
other than capital calls caused by any change in commodity prices, regulatory requirements, any change in Applicable Law or any
Force Majeure Event; or

(C) adeviation from the LTIP resulting in the aggregate amount of capital and operating expenditures for any year increasing by
more than 20% relative to the aggregate amount of such expenditures for such year set forth in the LTIP multiplied by the
Inflation Adjustment Factor, other than increases in such expenditures caused by (1) changes in commodity prices, (2) currency
fluctuations, (3) regulatory requirements or changes in Applicable Law, and (4) smelter activities.

“ Transfer ” means, with respect to any Ordinary Shares, (i) when used as a verb, to sell, assign, dispose of, exchange, pledge, encumber,
hypothecate or otherwise transfer such Ordinary Shares or any participation or interest therein, whether directly or indirectly (including pursuant to a
derivative transaction), or agree or commit to do any of the foregoing and (ii) when used as a noun, a direct or indirect sale, assignment, disposition,
exchange, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, or other transfer of such Ordinary Shares or any participation or interest therein or any agreement or
commitment to do any of the foregoing. For the avoidance of doubt, the term * Transfer ” includes (A) a direct or indirect sale, assignment,
disposition, exchange,
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pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, or other transfer however structured (whether pursuant to merger, consolidation, business combination or other
similar transactions or by operation of law) and (B) a direct or indirect sale, assignment, disposition, exchange, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation,
or other transfer of any equity interests of a Shareholder or any direct or indirect parent company of such Shareholder or any participation or interest
therein, but excludes (1) any such sale, assignment, disposition, exchange, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, or other transfer of equity interests in
any publicly-traded ultimate parent company of any Shareholder, (2) any spin-off, split-off or similar transaction of or by any Shareholder or any
direct or indirect parent company of such Shareholder and (3) any direct or indirect sale or issuance of any equity interests of any direct or indirect
parent company of any Shareholder if, after giving effect to such sale or issuance, an Affiliate of such Shareholder remains in Control of such direct
or indirect parent company.

“ Ultimate Deadlock Resolutions ” means the deadlock resolutions set out in Clause 9.3.

(b) Each of the following terms is defined in the Clause set forth opposite such term, or otherwise in the Preamble or Recitals (as set forth below):

Term Clause
Agreement Preamble
Annual Financial Plan 7.1(H(@1)
Annual Financial Plan 7.1(H(@1)
Annual Operating Plan 6.1(e)(1)
Arbitration Law 17.17
Company Preamble
Company Objectives 2.2(a)
Corporate Policies 17.2(a)
Deadlock Appointees 9.1(a)
Deadlock Notice 9.1(a)
Defaulter 17.15(a)
Disqualifying Action 5.4(a)
Finance Committee 7.1(a)
Finance Committee Special Meeting 7.2(b)
Freeport Preamble
Freeport Shareholder Preamble
ICMM 5.15(b)(ii)
Inalum Preamble
Inalum Group Preamble
Inalum SPV Preamble
Incoming Shareholder 11.1(b)
Indemnified Liabilities 17.1(a)
Indemnified Parties 17.1(a)
IPO 12.1(a)



Term Clause

IUPK 8.3(H)(vi)
Non-transferring Shareholder 11.2(a)
Offer 11.2(c)
Offer Period 11.2(d)
Operating Committee 6.1(a)
Operating Committee Special Meeting 6.3(b)
Parties Recital (A)
Relevant Deadlock Matter 9.1(a)
Remedy Period 17.15(c)
Replacement Commissioner Nominee 4.5(a)
Replacement Director Nominee 5.5(d)(1)
Reserved Matter 8.3(f)
Rules 17.17
Shareholder Designation Procedure 5.5
Shareholder Loans 10.3
SIAC 17.17
Supplementary Information 10.10
Transfer Acceptance Notice 11.2(d)
Transfer Notice 11.2(a)
Transfer Price 11.2(a)(it)
Transfer Shares 11.2(a)
Transferor 11.2(a)

1.2 Other Definitional and Interpretative Provisions

The following rules apply in interpreting this Agreement.

(@

(b)

©
(d)

®

The words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder”” and words of like import used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not
to any particular provision of this Agreement.

The captions and headings used herein are included for convenience of reference only and shall be ignored in the construction or interpretation
hereof.

References to Clauses and schedules are to Clauses of, and schedules to, this Agreement unless otherwise specified.
All schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in full herein.
Any capitalized terms used in any schedule but not otherwise defined therein, shall have the meaning as defined in this Agreement.

If a word or phrase is defined, any other grammatical form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning.
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(h)

®

0
(k)
M

(m)
()

(0)

®
@
(1)

®

Any singular term in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the plural, and any plural term the singular.

o

Whenever the words “include”, “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words
“without limitation”, whether or not they are in fact followed by those words or words of like import.

If an example is given of anything (including a right, obligation or concept), such as by saying it includes something else, the example does not
limit the scope of that thing.

Anything (including a right, obligation or concept) includes each part of it.

LEINTS

“Writing”, “written” and comparable terms refer to printing, typing and other means of reproducing words (including electronic media) in a
visible form.

A reference to “US$” is to an amount in the currency of the United States of America.
A reference to time is to local time in Jakarta, Indonesia, unless otherwise specified.

References to any document, agreement or contract are to that document, agreement or contract as amended, modified, replaced, novated or
supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.

References to any statute shall be deemed to refer to such statute as amended, re-enacted or replaced from time to time and to any rules or
regulations promulgated thereunder.

References to any Person or party to this Agreement or any other document include the successors and permitted assigns of that Person or party.
References from or through any date mean, unless otherwise specified, from and including or through and including, respectively.

A word which suggests one gender includes the other genders.

The word “agreement” includes an undertaking or other binding arrangement or understanding, whether or not in writing.

This Agreement is not to be interpreted against the interests of a Party merely because that Party proposed this Agreement or some version of it
or because that Party relies on a provision of this Agreement to protect itself.
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1.3

2.2

Best Interests

In addition to the requirements of any Applicable Law, where a commissioner, Director, member of the Nominating Committee, member of the
Operating Committee, member of the Finance Committee, or member of any other committee of the Company is required to act in the best interests of
the Company pursuant to this Agreement, then the commissioner, Director, member of the Nominating Committee, member of the Operating
Committee, member of the Finance Committee or member of any other committee of the Company will be taken to meet such requirements if they:

(a) make any judgment they are required to make in good faith, acting with prudence and full responsibility in accordance with proper policy;

(b) do not have a material personal interest in the subject matter of any judgment they are required to make (other than by reason of any
employment or other relationship between any commissioner, Director, member of the Nominating Committee, member of the Operating
Committee, member of the Finance Committee, or member of any other committee of the Company, on the one hand, and any Shareholder or
Affiliate of a Shareholder, on the other hand, in which case, they have disclosed their material personal interest to the Company and they
exercise their judgement in a manner that is consistent with a person who is exercising their judgement without having a material personal
interest); and

(c) inform themselves about the subject matter of any judgment they are required to make (including ways to avoid any negative impacts) to the
extent that they believe to be appropriate; and rationally believe that any judgment they are required to make is in the best interests of the
Company unless the belief is one that no reasonable person in their position would hold.

THE COMPANY
Initial Percentages Interests

As at the date of this Agreement, the Percentage Interest of each Shareholder is as follows:

(a) Freeport: 48.768%
(b) Inalum: 26.232%
(c) Inalum SPV: 25%

Company Objectives
(a)  Each Shareholder acknowledges and agrees that the objectives of the Company as of the date hereof are to:

@) ( Operations ) carry on and develop the operations of the Company in accordance with the LTIP, the Annual Operating Plan and
Annual Financial Plan for the benefit of the Shareholders in accordance with the IUPK;
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(b)
©

(d

(©

(i1) ( Grasberg Assets ) develop and exploit, for the benefit of the Shareholders, the assets of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries
to produce and sell product and to declare dividends in accordance with the Dividend Policy (and schedule 10);

(iii)  ( Shareholder value ) maximise the value of the operations of the Company and distribute dividends in accordance with the Dividend
Policy (and schedule 10); and

(iv)  (other ) conduct any other activity agreed unanimously by the Shareholders and undertaken by the Company or any of the Company
Subsidiaries,

together, the “ Company Objectives .

Clause 2.2(a) is not a limitation on the capacity of the Company.
In order to fulfil the Company Objectives:

@) each Shareholder must cooperate with each other; and

(i1) unless this document expressly provides otherwise, a Shareholder must not unreasonably take, give or delay taking or giving any action,
or making or giving any approval, direction, determination, agreement, consent or decision referred to in, or required under this
Agreement.

The Company must conduct (and each Shareholder must use reasonable endeavours to procure that the Company conducts) its activities in a
manner that is consistent with this Agreement, the LTIP, the Annual Operating Plan and the Annual Financial Plan during the periods in which
they apply (after giving effect to any amendments thereto or deviations therefrom to the extent permitted by the terms of this Agreement) and
the Company shall procure that each Company Subsidiary does the same.

The Company will endeavour:
@) to preserve and keep the IUPK and any other Authorisations held in respect of the Contract Area in full force and effect;

(i1) at all times to conduct operations of the Company in a manner consistent with good and acceptable international mining engineering
standards and practices as are economically and technically feasible, and in accordance with modern and accepted scientific and
technical principles and comply with and cause to be complied with all Applicable Laws (including those that apply to the environment
and community development), the violation of which would have a materially adverse effect on the operations of the Company, the
Company and/or the Company Subsidiaries; and
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(iii)  where possible, to conduct operations of the Company in a manner consistent with good and acceptable international standards and
practices in relation to environmental management and community relations.

The Company shall promptly notify each Shareholder of all matters it is aware of which may materially adversely affect the operations of the
Company and/or the assets of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries, including notifications, orders, demands and other communications
received from any Government Authority, and any notice of default, lawsuit, proceeding, action or damage.

2.3 Articles

(@)

(b)

©

Without affecting the scope and intent of Clause 17.20:
(i) this Agreement and the Articles are to be read together as component parts of a single arrangement; and
(ii) if there is any inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Articles:

(A) the provisions of this Agreement will prevail to the extent of any inconsistency and the Articles must be read and construed
accordingly; and

(B) as soon as practicable after the Shareholders become aware of any inconsistency, the Shareholders will take all steps reasonably
necessary to amend the Articles to remove the inconsistency and to ensure the provisions of this Agreement prevail.

If it is necessary for any provision of this Agreement to be included in the Articles in order for such provision to be effective in accordance with
its terms, the Shareholders shall cause the Articles to be amended to give effect to such provision.

Each Shareholder undertakes with each other Shareholder and the Company to:
6] exercise all its votes, powers and rights under the Articles so as to give full force and effect to the provisions of this Agreement;

(i1) subject to this Clause 2.3, observe and comply fully and promptly with the provisions of the Articles with the intent and to the effect
that each and every provision of them is enforceable by the Parties infer se ; and
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(iii)  exercise all its votes, powers and rights in relation to the Company so as to ensure that the Company fully and promptly observes,
complies with and gives effect to the requirements of this Agreement and the Articles.

(d) The Company must do all things necessary or desirable to give effect to the provisions of this Agreement in accordance with its terms and is
bound by all provisions of this Agreement which expressly or by implication apply to the Company.

Acting in the Best Interests of the Company

Each member of each of the Board of Commissioners, the Board of Directors, the Operating Committee, the Finance Committee, and all other
committees of the Company established pursuant to this Agreement (in their capacity as such a member) will, at all times and in accordance with
Applicable Law, act in the best interests of the Company.

MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Management Vests in the Board

(a) Management of the Company vests in the Board of Directors, as supervised by the Board of Commissioners to the extent required by
Indonesian Company Law.

(b) The Board of Directors may delegate its functions to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law and, subject to Applicable Laws, the
Shareholders shall exercise all their votes, powers and rights in relation to the Company to procure that the Board of Directors delegates those
functions required to be delegated in accordance with this Agreement.

Shareholders Obligations

(a)  Subject to Clause 3.2(b), and except as this Agreement otherwise provides, no Shareholder in its capacity as such may interfere with the
management of the Company nor has the authority to give directions to any officers or employees of the Company.

(b) Nothing in this Clause 3.2 restricts the ability of a Shareholder to nominate directors to the Board of Directors, commissioners to the Board of
Commissioners or Shareholder Representatives to the Operating Committee or the Finance Committee or to grant or withhold its consent or
vote at a Shareholders’ meeting.

(¢)  Each Shareholder agrees that:

@) a Shareholder may act in the interests of that Shareholder in performing any of its duties or exercising any power, right or discretion as a

Shareholder; and
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(i1) entry into this agreement does not give rise to a fiduciary duty towards any other Shareholder.

(d) Each Shareholder shall promptly notify the other Shareholders and the Company of all matters it is aware of which may materially adversely
affect the operations of the Company and/or the assets of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries.

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
Purpose

The Board of Commissioners is responsible for supervising the activities and management of the Company by the Board of Directors to the extent
required by Applicable Laws and the Articles.

Number of Commissioners and Designation Rights

(a) The Board of Commissioners shall consist of six (6) commissioners, of whom:
6] three (3) shall be nominated by Freeport; and
(ii) three (3) shall be nominated by Inalum Group.

(b) The Board of Commissioners will:

6] for the first period of five years from the date of this Agreement, and for each subsequent alternate period of five years, include a
President Commissioner who will be a nominee of Freeport and a Vice President Commissioner who will be a nominee of the Inalum
Group; and

(ii) for the second period of five years from the date of this Agreement, and each subsequent alternate period of five years, include a
President Commissioner who will be a nominee of the Inalum Group and a Vice President Commissioner who will be a nominee of
Freeport.

(c)  Each Shareholder agrees that, if at any time it is then entitled to vote for the appointment of commissioners to the Board of Commissioners, it
shall vote all of its Ordinary Shares or execute proxies or written consents, as the case may be, and take all other necessary action (including
causing the Company to call a general meeting of Shareholders) in order to ensure that the candidates nominated in accordance with Clause
4.2(a) are appointed to the Board of Commissioners in the positions to which they were nominated in accordance with Clause 4.2(a) (including
the positions specified in Clause 4.2(b)). If Applicable Law should prevent or disqualify any nominated candidate from being appointed to the
Board of Commissioners, the Person or Persons entitled to nominate the candidate under Clause 4.2(a) shall be entitled to nominate the
replacement candidate. The Company shall use its best efforts to cause the candidates nominated by each Shareholder in accordance with this
Clause 4.2 to be appointed to the Board of Commissioners.
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4.5

Term of Appointment
Each member of the Board of Commissioners shall be appointed for a term of five (5) years.
Removal

Each Shareholder agrees that, if at any time it is then entitled to vote for the removal of commissioners from the Board of Commissioners, it shall not
vote any of its Ordinary Shares or execute proxies or written consents, as the case may be, in favor of the removal of any commissioner who shall
have been nominated pursuant to Clause 4.2, unless the Person or Persons entitled to nominate such commissioner pursuant to Clause 4.2 shall have
consented to such removal in writing; provided that, if the Person or Persons entitled to nominate any commissioner pursuant to Clause 4.2 shall
request in writing the removal of such commissioner, each Shareholder shall vote all of its Ordinary Shares or execute proxies or written consents, as
the case may be, and take all other necessary action (including causing the Company to call a general meeting of Shareholders) in order to ensure such
commissioner is removed.

Vacancies
If, as a result of death, disability, retirement, resignation, removal or otherwise, there shall exist or occur any vacancy on the Board of Commissioners:

(a) the Person or Persons entitled under Clause 4.2(a) to nominate such commissioner whose death, disability, retirement, resignation or removal
resulted in such vacancy, shall have the exclusive right to nominate another individual (such person, the “ Replacement Commissioner
Nominee ) to fill such vacancy and serve as a commissioner on the Board of Commissioners;

(b) each Replacement Commissioner Nominee shall be appointed for the remaining term of the commissioner being replaced by such Replacement
Commissioner Nominee; and

(c) each Shareholder agrees that if it is then entitled to vote for the election of commissioners to the Board of Commissioners, it shall vote all of its
Ordinary Shares, or execute proxies or written consents, as the case may be, and take all other necessary action (including causing the Company
to call a general meeting of Shareholders) in order to ensure that the Replacement Commissioner Nominee is appointed to the Board of
Commissioners as soon as practicable following the nomination of such Replacement Commissioner Nominee and, in any event, prior to the
taking of any other action of the Board of Commissioners.
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4.6 Meetings

4.7

4.8

(@

(b)

©

(d

The Board of Commissioners shall hold a regularly scheduled meeting at least quarterly (unless the Board of Commissioners decides on
different timing), and at such other times as the President Commissioner may request. The Company shall pay all reasonable

out-of-pocket expenses incurred by each commissioner in connection with attending meetings of the Board of Commissioners, meetings of any
committee of the Board of Commissioners of which the relevant commissioner is a member and any general meeting of Shareholders.

To the extent Applicable Laws allow, at the request of the Board of Commissioners, the Board of Commissioners may hold meetings at the
same time and at the same place as the meetings held by the Board of Directors in accordance with this Agreement.

Members of the Board of Commissioners may participate in a meeting of the Board of Commissioners or any committee thereof, by means of a
conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all Persons participating in the meeting can hear one another,
and such participation shall constitute the presence of such commissioner for purposes of determining whether a quorum has been met.

Meetings of the Board of Commissioners shall be chaired by the President Commissioner or, if the President Commissioner is not present or
prevented from attending, the Vice President Commissioner. If both the President Commissioner and Vice President Commissioner are not
present or prevented from attending, the meeting shall be chaired by a person elected by and from the commissioners present. The chair of a
meeting of the Board of Commissioners may vote in his or her own right but does not have a casting vote.

Notice of Meetings

Notice of a meeting of the Board of Commissioners or any committee thereof stating the place, date and hour of the meeting and the agenda for which
the meeting is called shall be given to each commissioner by telephone, electronic mail or facsimile no less than five Business Days before the date of
the meeting unless otherwise agreed by all of the commissioners. Presence at the meeting shall constitute waiver of any deficiency of notice, except
when such commissioner attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business
because the meeting is not called or convened in accordance with this Agreement.

Quorum

(@

A quorum of the Board of Commissioners shall consist of a majority of the total number of commissioners, however no meeting of the Board of
Commissioners shall be considered to have a quorum unless at least one commissioner nominated by each of Freeport (for as long as Freeport
holds at least 25% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares) and Inalum Group (for as long as Inalum Group holds at least 25% of the outstanding
Ordinary Shares) is in attendance.
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(b) Ifaquorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of a meeting:

@) the meeting is adjourned for a minimum of 24 hours after the time appointed for the original meeting, however the day for the
adjourned meeting must be a Business Day; and
(ii) the quorum and the place of the adjourned meeting is otherwise the same as for the original meeting.

(c) Ifaquorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of the adjourned meeting, the meeting is dissolved.

(d) The only matters that may be considered at the adjourned meeting are matters which were included in the notice provided in relation to the
original meeting under Clause 4.7.

Voting

(a)  Subject to Clause 4.9(b), actions of the Board of Commissioners are adopted by the affirmative Majority vote of the Board of Commissioners at
a duly convened meeting of the Board of Commissioners at which a quorum is present.

(b) Each member of the Board of Commissioners shall vote in accordance with the decision of the Shareholders in relation to the matters set out in
Clause 8.3(f), and take all actions necessary to give effect to any affirmative vote of the Shareholders under Clause 8.3(f).

(¢)  Each commissioner on the Board of Commissioners shall have one vote; provided that a Shareholder Representative on the Board of
Commissioners shall also be entitled to cast votes on behalf of any other Shareholder Representative on the Board of Commissioners nominated
by the same Shareholder(s), that is not in attendance at any meeting by virtue of a power of attorney.

(d) Notwithstanding this Clause 4, on any matter requiring an approval or consent of the Board of Commissioners, the Board of Commissioners or

any committee thereof may take such action without a meeting, without notice and without a vote if a consent or consents in writing, setting
forth the action to be taken, shall be signed by all of the members of the Board of Commissioners (or in the case of a committee of the Board of
Commissioners, all of the members of such committee).
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4.10 Deadlock Matters

4.11

4.12

4.13

In the event a Deadlock Matter in respect of the Board of Commissioners occurs, Clause 9 shall apply.

Minutes of Meetings

Minutes of the meetings of the Board of Commissioners shall be drawn up by a person present at the meeting designated by the chairman of the
meeting and shall be signed by all members of the Board of Commissioners present at the meeting to verify the completeness and accuracy of the
minutes. Minutes of a meeting made and signed shall serve as conclusive evidence concerning the resolutions adopted at the meeting concerned. If
such minutes are drawn up by a notary, members’ signatures shall not be required. A copy of or excerpt from the minutes of meeting of the Board of
Commissioners shall be deemed a legal copy or excerpt if it is stated to be a true copy or excerpt and is signed by all members of the Board of
Commissioners or if it is issued by the notary who has drawn up the minutes concerned.

Language

(a)  Meetings of the Board of Commissioners shall be conducted in the English language provided that if a member of the Board of Commissioners
is not comfortable with the English language such member shall be entitled, at the cost of the Company, to use the services of an interpreter at
such meetings.

(b)  All notices of meeting and papers to be considered at any meeting of the Board of Commissioners shall be accompanied by an English
translation thereof, as shall any other papers that any member of the Board of Commissioners may reasonably request prior to the meeting.

(c)  The draft minutes (subject to approval at the next meeting) of any such meetings shall be provided to the members of the Board of

Commissioners in English and in Indonesian within a reasonable time period after such meeting (and in any event by no later than the date on
which the agenda and board papers for the next following meeting are due to be circulated); in the event of any inconsistency between the
English and Indonesian texts, the English text shall prevail.

Other Actions Taken by the Board of Commissioners

(@

(b

In addition to the committees expressly provided for in this Agreement, the Board of Commissioners may create additional committees as it
may determine.

Subject to acting in the best interests of the Company and complying with all Applicable Laws, the Board of Commissioners (and each
individual Commissioner making up the Board of Commissioners) must take steps to implement, and may not act inconsistently with the LTIP,
the Annual Operating Plan and Annual Financial Plan (after giving effect to any amendments thereto or deviations therefrom to the extent
permitted by the terms of this Agreement).
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5.4

(¢)  The Company shall not terminate the Freeport Services Agreement without the approval of the Board of Commissioners; provided that if any
member of the Board of Commissioners recuses himself or herself or is disqualified from participating in the decision of whether to terminate
the Freeport Services Agreement, then the termination of the Freeport Services Agreement will be deemed a Reserve Matter (and accordingly
subject to Section 8.3(e)(iv)).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Purpose

The Board of Directors is responsible for overall management of the Company and must act in the Company’s best interests and in accordance with
the Company’s purpose and objectives.

Number of Directors

(a)  The Board of Directors will be constituted by a maximum of six (6) Directors, subject to Clause 5.5.

(b)  The initial members of the Board of Directors (which will be appointed with effect on and from the date of this Agreement) shall be [].
Term of Appointment

Each Director shall be appointed for a period of five (5) years.

Removal

(a)  Each Sharcholder agrees that, if at any time it is then entitled at a general meeting of Shareholders to vote for the removal of any Director, it
shall not vote any of its Ordinary Shares or execute proxies or written consents, as the case may be, in favour of the removal of any Director,
unless such Director fails to (each, a *“ Disqualifying Action ”):

) take action to carry out, or takes any action contrary to, the LTIP or the Annual Operating Plan (after giving effect to any amendments
thereto or deviations therefrom to the extent permitted by the terms of this Agreement);

(ii) approve a dividend that is in accordance with the Dividend Policy or schedule 10; or
(iii)  comply with the Articles (including any of the Corporate Policies), this Agreement or Applicable Laws,

in which case such Director may be removed only pursuant to the procedures set forth in Clause 5.4(b) or 5.4(c), as applicable.
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(®)

©

If, prior to the end of the Initial Period, Freeport determines (acting reasonably) that any Director has committed a Disqualifying Action,
Freeport may notify the Inalum Group of the Disqualifying Action, in which case Inalum Group will act expeditiously and vote in favor of the
removal of such Director. Any Director so removed will be replaced on the Board of Directors by a designee of the Nominating Committee (it
being understood and agreed that the replacement of such Director shall not be a condition to such Director’s removal and, until such time as
the Nominating Committee makes any such replacement, the Board of Directors will continue to act in the ordinary course).

After the end of the Initial Period, each of Freeport or Inalum may notify the other of a Disqualifying Action by any Director, together with
reasonable evidence to support such claim, in which case the Party who received such notice will act expeditiously and vote in favour of the
removal of such Director, unless, acting reasonably, such Party has the justified belief that the evidence submitted to support such claim is
insufficient to show a Disqualifying Action has occurred. Any Director so removed will be replaced on the Board of Directors by a designee of
the Nominating Committee (it being understood and agreed that the replacement of such Director shall not be a condition to such Director’s
removal and, until such time as the Nominating Committee makes any such replacement, the Board of Directors will continue to act in the
ordinary course).

The Nominating Committee and Vacancies

(@

(®)

The Nominating Committee shall, acting in the best interests of the Company, develop qualifications required of, and a selection process in
respect of, prospective members of the Board of Directors; provided that if, prior to the end of any five-year term of the Board of Directors, the
Nominating Committee has not agreed on the successor members of the Board of Directors, such successor members shall be designated as
follows (the “ Shareholder Designation Procedure ):

@) three (3) Directors nominated by Freeport (for so long as Freeport holds at least 25% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares) and three
(3) Directors nominated by Inalum Group (for so long as Inalum Group holds at least 25% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares); and

(i1) the Nominating Committee shall determine the roles of the Directors.

A quorum of the Nominating Committee shall consist of all of the members of the Nominating Committee (present in person or by power
attorney as contemplated by the following sentence). A Shareholder Representative on the Nominating Committee shall be entitled to cast votes
on behalf of any other Shareholder Representative on the Nominating Committee nominated by the same Shareholder(s), that is not in
attendance at any meeting by virtue of a power of attorney. Actions of the Nominating Committee are adopted by the affirmative vote of the
majority of the members of the Nominating Committee.
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5.6

(¢)  The Nominating Committee shall develop a secondment policy pursuant to which the Shareholders would have an opportunity to second
employees to the Company and the Company Subsidiaries.

(d) Ifas aresult of the death, disability, retirement, resignation, removal or otherwise, a Director appointed by the Nominating Committee ceases to
serve on the Board of Directors:

@

(i)

if the Board was not comprised pursuant to the Shareholder Designation Procedure, then (A) the Nominating Committee, acting in the
best interests of the Company, shall nominate another individual (such person, the “ Replacement Director Nominee ”) to fill such
vacancy, (B) such Replacement Director Nominee shall be appointed for the remaining term of the Director being replaced by such
Replacement Director Nominee; and (C) if the Nominating Committee does not agree on the appointment of any Replacement Director
Nominee with respect to a vacancy, then such vacancy shall remain until such time as the Nominating Committee so agrees; provided
that if the Nominating Committee’s failure to agree on a Replacement Director Nominee would result in the Board being comprised of
fewer than four (4) Directors, then the Shareholder Designation Procedure shall apply except that during the Initial Period Freeport shall
(in consultation with, and giving due regard to the views of, Inalum Group) determine the roles of Directors other than the President
Director (who shall be determined by the Nominating Committee); or

if the Board was comprised pursuant to the Shareholder Designation Procedure, then the Shareholder that nominated the vacating
Director shall be entitled to nominate a replacement for that Director and such replacement shall be appointed for the remaining term of
the Director being replaced.

Shareholder Voting for Nominated Directors

Each Shareholder agrees that, if at any time it is then entitled to vote for the appointment of directors to the Board of Directors, it shall vote all of its
Ordinary Shares or execute proxies or written consents, as the case may be, and take all other necessary action (including causing the Company to call
a general meeting of Shareholders) in order to ensure that any individuals nominated under this Clause 5 (including Replacement Director Nominees)
are appointed to the Board of Directors (including, to the extent necessary, by causing the removal of any incumbent Directors). If Applicable Law
should prevent or disqualify any individual nominated under this Clause 5 from being appointed to the Board of Directors, a replacement individual
shall be nominated either by the Nominating Committee, Freeport or the Inalum Group (depending on how the Board of Directors is constituted at
that time) in accordance with Clause 5.5. The Company shall use its best efforts to cause the individuals
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5.8

nominated under this Clause 5 to be appointed to the Board of Directors as soon as practicable following the nomination of such Replacement
Director Nominee (including, to the extent necessary, by causing the removal of any incumbent Directors) and, in any event, prior to the taking of any
other action of the Board of Directors.

Meetings

(a) The Board of Directors shall hold a regularly scheduled meeting at least once every calendar quarter, and at such other times as a majority of
the members of the Board of Directors may agree. The Company shall pay all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by each member of
the Board of Directors in connection with attending meetings of the Board of Directors, meetings of any committee of the Board of Directors of
which the relevant member of the Board of Directors is a member, and any general meeting of Shareholders.

(b) To the extent Applicable Laws allow, at the request of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors may hold meetings at the same time and at
the same place as the meetings held by the Board of Commissioners in accordance with this Agreement.

(c) Members of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, by means of a conference
telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all Persons participating in the meeting can hear one another, and such
participation shall constitute the presence of such member for purposes of determining whether a quorum has been met.

(d) Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be chaired by the President Director, or if the President Director is not present or prevented from
attending, the Vice President Director. If both the President Director and the Vice President Director are not present or prevented from
attending, the meeting shall be chaired by a person elected by and from the Directors present. The chair of a meeting of the Board of Directors
may vote in his or her own right but does not have a casting vote.

Notice of Meetings

Notice of a meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof stating the place, date and hour of the meeting and the agenda for which the
meeting is called shall be given to each member of the Board of Directors by telephone, electronic mail or facsimile no less than five Business Days
before the date of the meeting unless otherwise agreed by all Directors. Presence at the meeting shall constitute waiver of any deficiency of notice,
except when such member of the Board of Directors attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the
transaction of any business because the meeting is not called or convened in accordance with this Agreement.
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5.9 Quorum

5.10

(a) A quorum of the Board of Directors shall consist of a majority of the total number of members of the Board of Directors; provided that during
periods where the Directors have been appointed by the Shareholders pursuant to the Shareholder Designation Procedure, no meeting of the
Board of Directors shall be considered to have a quorum unless at least one Director nominated by each of Freeport (for as long as Freeport
holds at least 25% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares) and Inalum Group (for as long as the Inalum Group holds at least 25% of the
outstanding Ordinary Shares) is in attendance.

(b) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of a meeting:

@) the meeting is adjourned for a minimum of 24 hours after the time appointed for the original meeting, however the day for the
adjourned meeting must be a Business Day; and
(i1) the quorum and the place of the adjourned meeting is otherwise the same as for the original meeting.

(c) Ifaquorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of the adjourned meeting, the meeting is dissolved.

(d) The only matters that may be considered at the adjourned meeting are matters which were included in the notice provided in relation to the
original meeting under Clause 5.8.

Voting

(a)  Actions of the Board of Directors are adopted by the affirmative Majority vote of the Board of Directors at a duly convened meeting of the
Board of Directors at which a quorum is present.

(b) Each member of the Board of Directors shall vote in accordance with the decision of the Shareholders in relation to the matters set out in Clause
8.3(f), and take all actions necessary to give effect to any affirmative vote of the Shareholders under Clause 8.3(f).

(c) Each member on the Board of Directors shall have one vote; provided that a Shareholder Representative on the Board of Directors shall be

entitled to cast votes on behalf of any other Shareholder Representative on the Board of Directors nominated by the same Shareholder(s)
pursuant to Clause 5.5(a), that is not in attendance at any meeting by virtue of a power of attorney.
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5.12

5.13

(d) Notwithstanding this Clause 5, on any matter requiring an approval or consent of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors or any
committee thereof may take such action without a meeting, without notice and without a vote if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth
the action to be taken, shall be signed by all of the members of the Board of Directors (or in the case of a committee of the Board of Directors,
all of the members of such committee).

Deadlock Matters

(a)  Subject to Clauses 5.11(b), all Deadlock Matters in respect of the Board of Directors must be referred to the Board of Commissioners for a
decision.

(b) Ifa Deadlock Matter in respect of the Board of Directors occurs in relation to the approval of an Annual Financial Plan, the Deadlock Matter
will be deemed resolved pursuant to Clause 9.3(a)(iv).

(c) IfaDeadlock Matter in respect of the Board of Directors occurs in relation to a matter described in Clause 7.7(c), the Board of Directors will be
deemed to have approved all matters that were approved by the Finance Committee.

(d)  The Shareholders, the Board of Commissioners, the Board of Directors, the Operating Committee, the Finance Committee and any other
committee of the Company established in accordance with this Agreement must each, to the extent required by (and subject to) all Applicable
Laws or otherwise, and acting in the best interests of the Company, take all such action and do all such things (including pass any resolution or
sign or date any document) necessary to effect any resolution that applies to a Deadlock Matter in respect of the Board of Directors under
Clause 5.11(b).

Minutes of Meetings

Minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors shall be drawn up by a person present at the meeting designated by the chairman of the meeting and
shall be signed by all members of the Board of Directors present at the meeting to verify the completeness and accuracy of the minutes. Minutes of a
meeting made and signed shall serve as conclusive evidence concerning the resolutions adopted at the meeting concerned. If such minutes are drawn
up by a notary, members’ signatures shall not be required. A copy of or excerpt from the minutes of meeting of the Board of Directors shall be
deemed a legal copy or excerpt if it is stated to be a true copy or excerpt and is signed by all members of the Board of Directors or if it is issued by the
notary who has drawn up the minutes concerned.

Language

(a)  Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be conducted in the English language provided that if a member of the Board of Directors is not
comfortable with the English language, such member shall be entitled, at the cost of the Company, to use the services of an interpreter at such
meetings.
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All notices of meeting and papers to be considered at any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be accompanied by an English translation
thereof, as shall any other papers that any member of the Board of Directors may reasonably request prior to the meeting.

The draft minutes (subject to approval at the next meeting) of any such meetings shall be provided to the members of the Board of Directors in
English and in Indonesian within a reasonable time period after such meeting (and in any event by no later than the date on which the agenda
and board papers for the next following meeting are due to be circulated); in the event of any inconsistency between the English and Indonesian
texts, the English text shall prevail.

5.14 Other Actions Taken by the Board of Directors

(@

(®)

In addition to the committees expressly provided for in this Agreement, the Board of Directors may create additional committees as it may
determine.

Subject to acting in the best interests of the Company and complying with all Applicable Laws, the Board of Directors (and each individual
Director making up the Board of Directors) must take steps to implement, and may not act inconsistently with the LTIP, the Annual Operating
Plan and Annual Financial Plan (after giving effect to any amendments thereto or deviations therefrom to the extent permitted by the terms of
this Agreement).

5.15  Health, Security, Environment and Community Development

(2

(b)

The Board of Directors will unanimously agree on the appointment of an appropriate consultant to advise the Board of Directors with respect to
community development and government relations.

The Shareholders agree to adopt the practices of the Company at the time of entering into this Agreement in respect of:

@) engaging an independent third party to conduct an environmental audit every three years;

(i1) implementing the International Council on Mining & Metals (“ ICMM ”) Sustainable Development Framework;

(iii)  applying the ICMM’s ten Sustainable Development Principles that are linked to the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals;
(iv)  adhering to the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights; and

(v) supporting the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative.
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OPERATING COMMITTEE

General

(a) The Company acting through the Board of Directors shall form an operating committee (the “ Operating Committee ), which shall have five
members.

(b) Three members of the Operating Committee shall be appointed by Freeport and two members shall be appointed by Inalum Group. All
members of the Operating Committee must act in the best interests of the Company in fulfilling their duty as a member of the Operating
Committee. Each Shareholder, member of the Board of Commissioners and member of the Board of Directors shall take all necessary action in
order to ensure that the candidates appointed in accordance with this Clause are appointed to the Operating Committee.

(¢) The Operating Committee will be given delegated authority from the Board of Directors (including making decisions):

@
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™

to the extent provided in schedule §;

to develop the draft annual operating plan for approval by the Board of Directors (and if applicable the Shareholders) in accordance
with Clauses 6.1(d) and 6.1(e) and oversee the implementation of the Annual Operating Plan approved by the Board of Directors,
including:

(A) being responsible for ensuring that the day to day activities and operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries are
carried out in accordance with the Annual Operating Plan; and

(B) providing the Board of Directors with quarterly reports on the operations and activities of the Company, responding to any
reasonable requests for information from the Board of Directors;

to manage the operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries, including where relevant making recommendations to the
Board of Directors in relation to the activities of the Company;

to enter into, amend, waive, terminate and take any other actions with respect to contracts so long as such actions are consistent with the
Annual Operating Plan and LTIP (after giving effect to any amendments thereto or deviations therefrom to the extent permitted by the
terms of this Agreement); and

to select and manage the retention of key operating personnel of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries required to support and
implement the Annual Operating Plan and the operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries.
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The Operating Committee shall, no later than 20 October each year, prepare a draft annual operating plan for the activities and operations of the
Company for the next calendar year, which draft plan will cover similar topics in similar level of detail as the example draft annual operating
plan set forth on schedule 6. The draft annual operating plan must be consistent with Corporate Policies and Applicable Laws.

No later than 20 days following preparation of the draft annual operating plan, the Operating Committee shall hold a meeting to review the draft
annual operating plan and either:

(i) approve the draft annual operating plan, after which it will be referred to:
(A) the Board of Directors; and, if applicable,
(B) the Shareholders if it includes an activity that constitutes a Reserved Matter under Clause 8.3(f),

for a decision, and once approved by the Board of Directors and, if applicable, the Shareholders it will be the Annual Operating Plan for
the applicable year (the “ Annual Operating Plan ); or

(ii) not approve the draft annual operating plan, and set out reasons why the proposed plan was not approved.

If the Operating Committee does not approve the draft annual operating plan, then the Operating Committee must prepare a revised plan that
still meets the requirements of Clause 6.1(d), but addresses the reasons stated by the Operating Committee as to why it did not approve the draft
annual operating plan pursuant to Clause 6.1(e)(ii). The Operating Committee shall hold a meeting to review the revised draft annual operating
plan in which case either the provisions of Clause 6.1(e)(i) or Clause 6.1(e)(ii) will apply,

The Operating Committee may prepare updates to the Annual Operating Plan each quarterly period during the currency of the Annual
Operating Plan. Any updates to the Annual Operating Plan must meet the requirements of Clause 6.1(d) and be approved in accordance with
Clause 6.1(e) before they are effective.

Actions that are not approved in the Annual Operating Plan and constitute a deviation to the LTIP require Shareholder approval as a Reserved
Matter pursuant to Clause 8.3(f); provided that the Operating Committee and the Company may take actions that constitute a deviation to the
then-current Annual Operating Plan without Shareholder approval in the following circumstances:

@) the plan or action does not constitute a Significant Deviation to the LTIP; or

32



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

(i1) the action is a Non-Discretionary Action.

(i)  The Shareholders agree and acknowledge that the LTIP may require amendment as a result of any circumstance described in, and/or action
taken pursuant to, Clause 6.1(h)(ii), and will engage in good faith discussions with each other to agree such amendments to the LTIP.

Reporting

The Operating Committee must prepare quarterly reports for the Board of Directors and respond to any other reasonable requests for information or
reporting received from the Board of Directors from time to time in respect of any functions that the Board of Directors has delegated to the Operating
Committee.

Meetings

(a)  The Operating Committee shall hold a regularly scheduled meeting at least once every calendar quarter, and at such times as determined by a
majority of the members of the Operating Committee, to review the operations of the Company, studies related to the Company’s mining and
development plans, and environmental management programs, and to monitor execution of Company’s capital projects and other activities
against the Annual Operating Plan.

(b)  Any member of the Operating Committee may call a special meeting by notice to the other members of the Operating Committee in accordance
with Clause 6.4 (“ Operating Committee Special Meeting ).

(¢) The Operating Committee may hold meetings by means of telephone or video conference or similar, so long as all Persons participating in the
meeting can hear one another, and such participation will constitute the presence of such Person for the purposes of determining whether a
quorum has been met.

Notice of Meeting

Notice of a meeting of the Operating Committee stating the place, date and hour of the meeting and the agenda for which the meeting is called shall
be given to each member of the Operating Committee by telephone, electronic mail or facsimile no less than five Business Days before the date of the
meeting, or in the case of an Operating Committee Special Meeting, no less than ten Business Days before the date of the meeting, or if the meeting is
to consider an Emergency Situation, a reasonable time before the date of the meeting (which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be less than five
Business Days).

Quorum

(a) A quorum of the Operating Committee shall consist of a majority of the total number of members of the Operating Committee, however no
Operating Committee meeting shall be considered to have a quorum unless at least one representative of each of Freeport (for as long as
Freeport holds at least 25% of
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6.6

(b)

(d

the Ordinary Shares) and Inalum Group (for so long as the Inalum Group holds at least 25% of the Ordinary Shares) is in attendance. Each of
Freeport and Inalum Group must use reasonable efforts to cause its representatives to attend or participate in each meeting and neither Freeport
nor Inalum Group shall withhold the presence or participation of its representatives to forestall decisions of the Operating Committee.

If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of a meeting:

) the meeting is adjourned for a minimum of 24 hours after the time appointed for the original meeting, however the day for the
adjourned meeting must be a Business Day; and

(ii) the quorum and the place of the adjourned meeting is otherwise the same as for the original meeting.

If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of the adjourned meeting, the meeting is adjourned for a minimum of
three Business Days after the appointed time for the adjourned meeting and the place of the second adjourned meeting is otherwise the same as
for the original meeting. The quorum for the second adjourned meeting of the Operating Committee shall consist of a majority of the total
number of members of the Operating Committee.

The only matters that may be considered at the adjourned meeting or the second adjourned meeting are matters which were included in the
notice provided in relation to the original meeting under Clause 6.5(b).

Voting

(@

(b)

Each member of the Operating Committee will have one vote, and all actions of the Operating Committee will be decided by Majority vote. A
Shareholder Representative on the Operating Committee shall be entitled to cast votes on behalf of any other Shareholder Representative on the
Operating Committee nominated by the same Shareholder(s), that is not in attendance at any meeting by virtue of a power of attorney.

Each member of the Operating Committee shall vote in accordance with the decision of the Shareholders in relation to the matters set out in
Clause 8.3(f), and take all actions necessary to give effect to any affirmative vote of the Shareholders under Clause 8.3(f).
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6.7

6.8

6.9

Minutes of Meetings

Minutes of the meetings of the Operating Committee shall be drawn up by a Person present at the meeting designated by the meeting attendees and
shall be signed by all members of the Operating Committee present at the meeting to verify the completeness and accuracy of the minutes. Minutes of
a meeting made and signed shall serve as conclusive evidence concerning the resolutions adopted at the meeting concerned. If such minutes are drawn
up by a notary, members’ signatures shall not be required. A copy of or excerpt from the minutes of meeting of the Operating Committee shall be
deemed a legal copy or excerpt if it is stated to be a true copy or excerpt and is signed by all members of the Operating Committee or if it is issued by
the notary who has drawn up the minutes concerned.

Deadlock Matters
Deadlock Matters in respect of the Operating Committee will be referred to the Board of Directors for consideration.
Removal and Vacancies

A Shareholder entitled to appoint a particular number of members to the Operating Committee shall have the right to remove from the Operating
Committee any such member appointed by such Shareholder and to fill vacancies in the office of such a member of the Operating Committee
appointed by such Shareholder.

FINANCE COMMITTEE
General

(a) The Company acting through the Board of Directors shall form a finance committee (the “ Finance Committee ), which shall have four
members.

(b) Two members of the Finance Committee shall be appointed by Freeport and two members shall be appointed by Inalum Group. All members of
the Finance Committee must act in the best interests of the Company in fulfilling their duty as a member of the Operating Committee.

(c)  The Finance Committee will be given delegated authority from the Board of Directors (including making decisions) to be responsible for
developing a draft annual financial plan (approved in accordance Clauses 7.1(e) and 7.1(f)) and for overseeing the execution of the Annual
Financial Plan approved by the Board of Directors, including:

@) to review finance forecasts, operating and maintenance budgets and capital expenditure requirements;
(i1) to review financial statements;

(iii)  to review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors for the declaration and distribution of interim dividends in accordance
with the Dividend Policy;

(iv)  to review corporate insurance coverage with the Operating Committee;
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W) to review and approve the manner in which operating and/or capital costs are to be funded;
(vi)  toreview and recommend approval of financial commitments and major corporate strategic actions; and
(vil)  to make recommendations to the Board of Directors in relation to the above.

The Finance Committee shall report periodically to the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors will retain oversight of the Finance
Committee.

The Finance Committee shall, no later than 20 October each year, prepare a draft financial plan for the activities and operations of the Company
for the next calendar year, which draft annual financial plan will cover similar topics in similar level of detail as the example draft annual
financial plan set forth on schedule 6. The draft annual financial plan must be consistent with the Annual Operating Plan, Corporate Policies
and Applicable Laws, and contain a breakdown on a quarterly basis of:

@) decisions on the Company’s leverage, including long- and short-term debt;

(i1) implementation of the Dividend Policy;

(i)  managing fluctuations in interests rates and commodity prices (hedging) and investment of financial assets;

(iv)  estimated capital costs and operating costs to be incurred during the applicable calendar year;

W) estimated production of products;

(vi)  estimated revenues;

(vil) amounts and timing of expected cash requirements for the Company, including for any smelter project and expansion projects; and
(viii)  such other items that the Finance Committee may deem necessary or desirable.

No later than 20 days following preparation of the draft annual financial plan the Finance Committee shall hold a meeting to review the draft
annual financial plan and either:

@) approve the draft annual financial plan, after which it will be referred to:

(A) the Board of Directors; and, if applicable,
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(B) the Shareholders if it includes an activity that constitutes a Reserved Matter under Clause 8.3(f),

for a decision, and once approved by the Board of Directors and, if applicable, the Shareholders it will be the Annual Financial Plan for
the applicable year (the “ Annual Financial Plan ); or

(ii) not approve the draft annual financial plan, and set out reasons why the draft annual financial plan was not approved.

If the Finance Committee does not approve the draft annual financial plan, then the Finance Committee must prepare a revised draft annual
financial plan that still meets the requirements of Clause 7.1(e), but addresses the reasons stated by the Finance Committee as to why it did not
approve the draft annual financial plan pursuant to Clause 7.1(f)(ii). The Finance Committee shall hold a meeting to review the revised draft
annual finance plan in which case either the provisions of Clause 7.1(f)(i) or Clause 7.1(f)(ii) will apply,

The Finance Committee may prepare updates to the Annual Financial Plan each quarterly period during the currency of the Annual Financial
Plan. Any updates to the Annual Financial Plan must meet the requirements of Clause 7.1(e) and be approved in accordance with Clause 7.1(f)
before they are effective.

Actions that are not approved in the Annual Financial Plan and constitute a deviation to the LTIP require Shareholder approval as a Reserved
Matter pursuant to Clause 8.3(f); provided that the Operating Committee, Finance Committee and the Company may take actions that constitute
a deviation to the then-current Annual Financial Plan without Shareholder approval in the following circumstances:

(i) the plan or action does not constitute a Significant Deviation to the LTIP; or

(i1) the action is a Non-Discretionary Action.

Meetings

(@

(b)

©

The Finance Committee shall hold a regularly scheduled meeting at least once every calendar quarter, and at such times as determined by a
majority of the members of the Finance Committee, to review the operations of the Company and studies related to the Company’s financial
affairs.

Any member of the Finance Committee may call a special meeting by notice to the other members of the Finance Committee in accordance
with Clause 7.3 (“ Finance Committee Special Meeting ™).

The Finance Committee may hold meetings by means of telephone or video conference or similar, so long as all Persons participating in the
meeting can hear one another, and such participation will constitute the presence of such Person for the purposes of determining whether a
quorum has been met.
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7.3

7.4

7.5

Notice of Meeting

Notice of a meeting of the Finance Committee stating the place, date and hour of the meeting and the agenda for which the meeting is called shall be
given to each member of the Finance Committee by telephone, electronic mail or facsimile no less than five Business Days before the date of the
meeting, or in the case of a Finance Committee Special Meeting, no less than ten Business Days before the date of the meeting, or if the meeting is to
consider an Emergency Situation, a reasonable time before the date of the meeting (which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be less than five Business
Days).

Quorum

(@

A quorum of the Finance Committee shall consist of a majority of the total number of members of the Finance Committee, however no Finance
Committee meeting shall be considered to have a quorum unless at least one representative of each of Freeport (for as long as Freeport holds at
least 25% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares) and the Inalum Group (for so long as the Inalum Group holds at least 25% of the outstanding
Ordinary Shares) is in attendance. Each Shareholder must use reasonable efforts to cause its representatives to attend or participate in each
meeting and no Shareholder shall withhold the presence or participation of its representatives to forestall decisions of the Finance Committee.

(b) Ifaquorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of a meeting:

6] the meeting is adjourned for a minimum of 24 hours after the time appointed for the original meeting, however the day for the
adjourned meeting must be a Business Day; and

(ii) the quorum and the place of the adjourned meeting is otherwise the same as for the original meeting.

(c) Ifaquorum is not present within 30 minutes from the scheduled start of the adjourned meeting, the meeting is dissolved.

(d) The only matters that may be considered at the adjourned meeting are matters which were included in the notice provided in relation to the
original meeting under Clause 7.2(c).

Voting

Each member of the Finance Committee will have one vote, and all actions of the Finance Committee will be decided by Majority vote. A
Shareholder Representative on the Finance Committee shall be entitled to cast votes on behalf of any other Shareholder Representative on the Finance
Committee nominated by the same Shareholder(s), that is not in attendance at any meeting by virtue of a power of attorney.
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7.6

7.7

7.8

Minutes of Meetings

Minutes of the meetings of the Finance Committee shall be drawn up by a Person present at the meeting designated by the meeting attendees and shall
be signed by all members of the Finance Committee present at the meeting to verify the completeness and accuracy of the minutes. Minutes of a
meeting made and signed shall serve as conclusive evidence concerning the resolutions adopted at the meeting concerned. If such minutes are drawn
up by a notary, members’ signatures shall not be required. A copy of or excerpt from the minutes of meeting of the Finance Committee shall be
deemed a legal copy or excerpt if it is stated to be a true copy or excerpt and is signed by all members of the Finance Committee or if it is issued by
the notary who has drawn up the minutes concerned.

Deadlock Matters

(a)  Subject to Clauses 7.7(b) and 7.7(c), Deadlock Matters in respect of the Finance Committee will be referred to the Board of Directors for
consideration.

(b) Inrespect of a Deadlock Matter in respect of the Finance Committee relating to the approval of a recommendation to the Board of Directors of
a draft annual financial plan, the Deadlock Matter will be resolved by the Finance Committee being deemed to recommend to the Board of
Directors the draft annual financial provided it satisfies the criteria set out in Clauses 9.3(a)(iv)(A) to 9.3(a)(iv)(E).

(c) Inrespect of a Deadlock Matter in respect of the Finance Committee relating to:
@) the approval of a Reserved Matter, such Deadlock Matter will be referred to the Shareholders pursuant to Clause 8.3(f);

(i1) the approval of the manner in which any operating or capital costs to be incurred by the Company will be funded that is not set out or
considered in the Annual Financial Plan, such Deadlock Matter will be resolved by the Finance Committee being deemed to approve
that any operating or capital costs to be incurred by the Company will be funded by a cash capital contribution by the Shareholders; and

(iii)  the approval of a recommendation to the Board of Directors of any distributions or dividends, which Deadlock Matter will be resolved
by the Board of Directors being deemed to approve any distribution or dividend that is in accordance with the Dividend Policy or
schedule 10.

Removal and Vacancies

A Shareholder entitled to appoint a particular number of members to the Finance Committee shall have the right to remove from the Finance
Committee any such member appointed by such Shareholder and to fill vacancies in the office of such a member of the Finance Committee appointed
by such Shareholder.
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8.3

SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Meetings
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(®)

©

The Company shall hold a general meeting of the shareholders of the Company annually, and no later than six months following the end of each
fiscal year.

The Board of Directors shall convene a general meeting of shareholders at the written request of the Board of Commissioners, or at the written
request of one or more shareholders representing (whether jointly or individually) at least 10% of the total Ordinary Shares (which may consist
of one or more Shareholders). Any such written request by shareholders must be sent by registered mail, stating the matter to be discussed
together with the reasons, with a copy submitted to the Board of Commissioners.

A circular resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all the Shareholders shall be as valid and effective for all purposes as a resolution
passed by the Shareholders at a meeting duly convened, held and constituted.

Quorum

A quorum for any meeting of the shareholders of the Company shall consist of holders of two-thirds of the total outstanding Ordinary Shares being
present or represented at the meeting, unless Applicable Law as in effect on the date of this Agreement or in effect from time to time hereafter
requires a higher quorum (including any meeting for the approval of (i) any merger, amalgamation, acquisition, spin-oft, bankruptcy filing, extension
of the period of establishment of the Company or dissolution of the Company or (ii) grant of a security interest over more than 50% of the Company’s
assets in any fiscal year, in each case which shall require at least 75% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares to be present or represented at the applicable
shareholders meeting in order to constitute a quorum). If the required quorum is not met, a second meeting will be convened at which the same
quorum requirement will apply.

Voting Thresholds

(2

(b)

Each Share will carry one vote on both a show of hands and a poll at any Shareholder meeting. The chairman at any Shareholder meeting shall
not be entitled to a second or casting vote.

Subject to Clauses 8.3(d), 8.3(e) and 8.3(f), all actions of the shareholders of the Company shall require the affirmative vote of at least
two-thirds of the votes cast by eligible Shareholders at a duly-convened meeting of the Shareholders at which a quorum is present.
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Except in relation to the matters set out in Clauses 8.3(d), 8.3(e) and 8.3(f), and subject to the terms of this Agreement, each of the Shareholders
agrees to vote their shares and to exercise their rights under the Articles and the Indonesian Company Law to:

) support the decisions of the Board of Directors (including to follow recommendations made by the Operating Committee and Finance
Committee under delegated authority from the Board of Directors) and the Board of Commissioners;

(i1) uphold the agreed governance structure set forth in this Agreement; and
(iii)  ensure compliance with this Agreement and Applicable Laws.

The approval of any amendment to the Articles shall require the affirmative vote representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding Ordinary
Shares.

The approval of the following shall require the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the votes cast by eligible Sharcholders at the applicable
Shareholders’ meeting:

@) any merger, amalgamation, acquisition, spin-off, bankruptcy filing, extension of the period of establishment of the Company or any
Company Subsidiary or dissolution of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries;

(i1) any grant of a security interest over more than 50% of the Company’s consolidated assets in any fiscal year;

(iii)  any dismissal of any member of the Board of Commissioners or Board of Directors of the Company or any of the Company
Subsidiaries; and

(iv)  Reserved Matters.

Inalum Group shall have the right to approve the following actions at a general meeting of Shareholders (or by written resolution), prior to such
actions being taken, provided that, at the time consent is required, Inalum Group holds at least 25% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares (each
such action, a “ Reserved Matter ):

(i) approval of any draft annual operating plan or draft annual financial plan, or any amendment thereto that includes an action or expense
that is a Significant Deviation to the LTIP (other than Significant Deviations resulting from Non-Discretionary Actions); provided that,
to the extent any draft annual operating plan required to be approved pursuant to this Clause 8.3(f)(i) is not approved, the Shareholders
shall work in good faith to develop and approve an alternative draft annual operating plan, and, prior to the time at which such
alternative draft annual operating plan is agreed, the Company shall continue to operate prudently in the ordinary course to continue
developing the projects identified by the LTIP and to incur costs to protect the value of the resources as contemplated by the LTIP;
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(iii)

(iv)
™)
i)

(vii)

(viii)

(i)

any change in the Company’s share capital;

any material modification of the purpose of the Company or duration of the Company, including by way of merger or division of the
Company, the sale of all or substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the Company, or proposal that the Company be dissolved or
subject to receivership or administration;

any grant of a security interest over more than 50% of the Company’s consolidated assets in any fiscal year;
any proposed change in the residency of the Company for tax purposes;

any proposal to materially amend, waive any material right under or terminate the Company’s special mining business permit (the “
IUPK ),

any incurrence of indebtedness for borrowed money which:

(A) exceeds US$1 billion in aggregate and would cause the Interest Coverage Ratio to fall below two to one; or

(B) isnotonarms’ length terms;

any acquisition or disposition (in each case, whether of stock or assets, whether affected by purchase, sale, merger or otherwise):
(A) inexcess of US$250 million; or

(B) thatis not on arms’ length terms;

in each case other than the acquisitions relating to the Grasberg Smelter (as identified in the LTIP);

any transactions with any Shareholder or Affiliate of a Shareholder, other than:

(A) the entry into Shareholder Loans; and

(B) the Freeport Services Agreement and a revolving credit note (including any drawdowns thereunder) (substantially in the form set
out on schedule 9),
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8.4

8.5

8.6

however any material amendment to or termination (other than a termination in accordance with the terms of such agreements) of such
agreements or loans requires the consent of Inalum Group pursuant to this Clause 8.3(f); or

x) payment of any dividends other than in accordance with the Dividend Policy or schedule 10.

A series of related transactions shall be construed as a single transaction, and any amounts involved in such series of related transactions shall be
aggregated, to determine whether a matter is a Reserved Matter.

Deadlock Matters
In the event a Deadlock Matter in respect of the Shareholders occurs, Clause 9 shall apply.
Provisions of the Articles

Each Shareholder agrees to vote all of its Ordinary Shares or execute proxies or written consents, as the case may be, and to take all other actions
necessary, to ensure that the Articles do not at any time conflict with, any provision of this Agreement.

Implementation of the LTIP, Dividend Policy, Annual Operating Plan and Annual Financial Plan

The Shareholders acknowledge and agree that the implementation of the LTIP, the Dividend Policy (and any dividends required by schedule 10), the
Annual Operating Plan and the Annual Financial Plan by the Board of Commissioners, Board of Directors, Operating Committee, Finance Committee
or any committee of any of the foregoing is in the best interests of the Company.

DEADLOCK
Referral to Shareholder senior executives for good faith discussion
(a) If a Deadlock Matter in respect of:

@) the Shareholders; or

(i1) the Board of Commissioners,

(each, a “ Relevant Deadlock Matter ) occurs, then either Freeport or Inalum Group (for as long as they hold at least 25% of the outstanding
Ordinary Shares) may by giving notice to the other Shareholders (a “ Deadlock Notice ) refer the Relevant Deadlock Matter to the Chief
Executive Officer of each Shareholder (or a person with delegated authority from the Chief Executive Officer provided that such delegate has
full authority to resolve the Relevant Deadlock Matter) (the “ Deadlock Appointees ).
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9.3

(b) Any Deadlock Notice must set out:

@) the fact that a Relevant Deadlock Matter has occurred and the background for the Relevant Deadlock Matter as understood by that
Shareholder;

(ii) the proposed resolution and the dates on which the meeting of the Board of Commissioners was held; and

(iii)  the proposed dates, times and places (being within 28 days from the date of the Deadlock Notice) for the Deadlock Appointees to meet
and discuss in good faith to attempt to resolve the Relevant Deadlock Matter.

(c)  Within 14 days from receipt of the Deadlock Notice by all Deadlock Appointees, the Deadlock Appointees shall discuss in good faith with a
view to resolving the Relevant Deadlock Matter in respect of the Board of Commissioners and shall, in good faith and within 30 days of receipt
of a Deadlock Notice by all Deadlock Appointees, schedule two meetings, with at least one meeting being in person, at a venue agreed by the
Deadlock Appointees.

(d) Ifa Deadlock Appointee intends to be accompanied at the meeting by an attorney and/or a consultant, each other Deadlock Appointee shall be
given written notice of such intention at least three (3) Business Days in advance and may also be accompanied at the meeting by an attorney
and/or a consultant.

Ultimate Deadlock Matters

If a Relevant Deadlock Matter is not finally resolved in accordance with Clause 9.1 within 30 days of receipt of a Deadlock Notice by all Deadlock
Appointees:

(a) and arelevant Ultimate Deadlock Resolution applies, the Relevant Deadlock Matter shall be exclusively and ultimately resolved in accordance
with the applicable Ultimate Deadlock Resolution;

(b) and if no relevant Ultimate Deadlock Resolution applies, the matter will not be resolved unless the Shareholders otherwise agree and the
Relevant Deadlock Matter will not proceed.

Ultimate Deadlock Resolutions

(a) Relevant Deadlock Matters that are not finally resolved in accordance with Clause 9.1 within 30 days of receipt of a Deadlock Notice by all
Deadlock Appointees will be exclusively and ultimately resolved as follows:

(i) in respect of the distribution of dividends (including interim dividends), the distribution of dividends that are in accordance with the
Dividend Policy or schedule 10;

(ii) in respect of the approval of any annual financial statements to be used in the annual report by the Board of Commissioners, the
approval of financial statements that have been audited;
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(iii)  inrespect of the approval of the Annual Operating Plan, the approval of an Annual Operating Plan that:
(A) is in the prescribed format for the Annual Operating Plan;
(B) adheres to Applicable Laws;
(C) is consistent with the Corporate Policies;
(D) has been approved by the Operating Committee in accordance with this Agreement; and
(E) does not Significantly Deviate from the LTIP,

and if the Annual Operating Plan does Significantly Deviate from the LTIP (and does not fall within an exception in Clause 6.1(h)), it
will be a Reserved Matter and this Ultimate Deadlock Resolution mechanism will not apply; and

(iv)  inrespect of the approval of any Annual Financial Plan, the approval of an Annual Financial Plan that:
(A) s in the prescribed format of the Annual Financial Plan;
(B) adheres to Applicable Laws;
(C) is consistent with the Corporate Policies;
(D) is consistent with the approved Annual Operating Plan; and
(E) does not Significantly Deviate from the LTIP,

and if the Annual Financial Plan does Significantly Deviate from the LTIP, it will be a Reserved Matter and this Ultimate Deadlock
Resolution mechanism will not apply.

(b)  The Shareholders, the Board of Commissioners, the Board of Directors, the Operating Committee, the Finance Committee and any other
committee of the Company established in accordance with this Agreement must each, to the extent required by (and subject to) all Applicable
Laws or otherwise, and acting in the bests interests of the Company, take all such action and do all such things (including pass any resolution or
sign or date any document) necessary to effect any Ultimate Deadlock Resolution that applies under the provisions of this Agreement.
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9.4

10.
10.1

10.2

10.3

Operation of the Company ’ s Business

Each Party acknowledges and agrees that:

(@

(b)

the existence of any Deadlock Matter does not have the effect of relieving or excusing any Party from the performance of any obligation under
this Agreement and each Party must continue to perform such obligations as and when required under this Agreement during any period in
which a deadlock persists; and

without limiting Clause 9.4(a), each Shareholder must:
@) procure that its senior executive officers discuss any Relevant Deadlock Matter in accordance with Clause 9.1; and

(i1) at all times, comply with, and discharge its obligations under Applicable Law, the Articles and this Agreement.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND FUNDING

Dividend Policy

The Dividend Policy will be as set out in schedule 7.

Funding

(a) Funding shall be undertaken by the Company in accordance with Annual Financial Plans.

(b)  All capital calls made by the Company shall be funded in the manner set forth in [Section [*]] of schedule 10.

Shareholder Loans

(a)  With respect to any funding needs of the Company or any Company Subsidiary and to the extent provided for in the Annual Financial Plan, the
Company may request Shareholders to contribute funds pursuant to unsecured shareholder loans (each, a “ Shareholder Loan ). The principal
and interest on Shareholder Loans shall be repaid in priority to any dividends to the Shareholders; provided that all Shareholder Loans made to
fund obligations relating to the Grasberg Smelter shall not be repayable until after the Initial Period.

(b) No Shareholder shall be obliged to provide funds in respect of cash calls under Clause 10.2(b); provided that in the event any other Shareholder

is willing to provide the Company with the funds sufficient to meet the obligations required by such capital call, all Shareholders who fund such
capital call shall be required to fund such capital call by way of a Shareholder Loan at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 6% per annum.
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10.4 Financial Records for the Company to be Kept

10.5

10.6

The Company must keep and maintain written financial records that:

(b)

©

correctly record and explain the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company (including all capital and operating
costs that accrue); and

would enable true and fair financial accounts for the Company to be prepared and audited.

Preparing Accounts for the Company

The Finance Committee must arrange for the preparation of and provide to the Board of Directors and Board of Commissioners:

(&)

(®)

©

Audit

(€

(b)

©

management accounts for the Company for each quarter detailing the financial position of the Company as at the end of the quarter and for the
fiscal year to date;

financial accounts for the Company for each quarter, including the following financial statements in respect of those accounts:
©) balance sheet;

(i1) profit and loss statement; and

(iii)  cash flow statement; and

that comply with all applicable accounting standards and generally accepted accounting principles in Indonesia. The functional currency of the
Company shall be United States dollars.

The Company must ensure that the financial accounts for the Company for each fiscal year are audited within 90 days after the end of the fiscal
year. The auditor of the Company shall be the same as the auditor of the ultimate parent company of Freeport; provided that the auditor
appointed by the ultimate parent company of Freeport is a “big four” accounting firm.

A Shareholder may, (no more than once in each fiscal year and at that Shareholder’s own expense), cause an audit of the financial accounts for
the Company to be conducted by notifying the Company and each other Shareholder at least 14 days before the start of the audit.

To the extent necessary to facilitate the conduct of any audit under this Clause 10.6, the Company must facilitate reasonable access by the
auditors to all information reasonably requested, at all reasonable times and on reasonable prior written notice.
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10.7 Reports for the Directors and Commissioners

10.8

The Board of Directors must ensure that the Company prepares and provides to the Board of Directors and Board of Commissioners within 60 days
after the end of each fiscal year a detailed management report which includes:

(@
(b)
©

(d

(©
®

the management accounts for the fiscal year prepared by the Company under Clause 10.4;
details of the activities and operations of the Company conducted during the fiscal year;

a comparison of the activities and operations conducted by the Company during, and the financial position and financial performance of the
Company as at the end of, the fiscal year with the targets and budgeted performance in the relevant approved Annual Operating Plan and
Annual Financial Plan together with an explanation for any significant differences between them;

details of any factors having the potential to affect the targets, projections or budgeted performance contained in the currently relevant approved
Annual Operating Plan and Annual Financial Plan for the fiscal year;

details of any key events and developments relating to the Company; and

any other information as may be reasonably required by any Director or commissioner to allow the Board of Directors or the Board of
Commissioners, as applicable, to understand the financial affairs of the Company and to control the efficient operation of the Company.

Reports for Shareholders

(@

(b)

©

The Company must give the Shareholders within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year a detailed annual report which includes the audited
financial accounts and financial statements for the fiscal year prepared by the Company under Clause 10.5(b) and audited under Clause 10.6.

The Company must give the Shareholders a copy of all minutes of meetings confirmed pursuant to this Agreement in respect of meetings of the
Board of Commissioners, the Board of Directors, the Operating Committee, the Finance Committee and any other committees created under
this Agreement, promptly after completion of the relevant meeting.

The Company must give the Shareholders all material returns and reports (and each other return and report as requested) submitted to the
Government of Indonesia under the IUPK, within a reasonable time before the latest day for such submission to permit time for review by the
Shareholders, provided that tax returns shall not be required to be provided by the Company under this Clause 10.8(c).
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(d) The Company must give each Shareholder all financial or other information, including Mining Information and any relevant information
produced or provided to the Company by a third party (including any Persons that are not Affiliates of the Company or either Shareholder), as
the Shareholder may from time to time request in writing.

(e) The Company must upon reasonable prior notice by a Shareholder, permit representatives of that Shareholder at all reasonable times during
normal working hours to inspect and obtain copies of all documents, records and accounts under the control of the Company or the Company
Subsidiaries, provided that the frequency and duration of inspections shall be without undue hindrance to the proper conduct of the operations
or activities of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries.

10.9 Request for Additional Information

A Shareholder may request the Company to provide it, and subject to Clause 10.10, the Company must provide the Shareholder, with information
relating to the affairs of the Company in addition to the information referred to in Clause 10.8.

10.10 Supplementary Information

Subject to any Applicable Law and the Company’s obligations under Clauses 10.7 and 10.8, the Company is not required to provide any Shareholder
with any information with respect to the Company (* Supplementary Information ) unless:

(a)  awritten request is made by a Shareholder to the Board of Directors; and

(b) the request is approved by the Board of Directors, such approval to be considered within 15 days of the request and not to be unreasonably
withheld.

10.11 Access to Operations

11.

At all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, the Company will allow each Shareholder, at its sole risk and expense, and subject to reasonable
safety regulations, to inspect the assets of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries and observe the operations of the Company, so long as the
inspecting Shareholder does not unreasonably interfere with the operations of the Company.

RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER
General Restrictions on Transfer

(a)  Subject to Applicable Law, Ordinary Shares are not Transferable by the holders thereof without the consent of the other Shareholders, unless
(i) at the time of and as a condition to any such Transfer, the transferee agrees to comply with the restrictions and obligations set forth in this
Agreement as if it were the transferor by executing an Adherence Agreement and (ii) prior to the consummation of an
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(b)

©

(d

IPO, Freeport complies with Clause 11.2 with respect to any Transfer by Freeport to a Person other than (A) a Qualifying Mining Company or
(B) any of Freeport’s Affiliates; (iii) prior to the consummation of an IPO, Inalum Group complies with Clause 11.2 with respect to any
Transfer by Inalum Group to a Person other than any of Inalum Group’s Affiliates. The provisions of Clause 11.2 shall terminate upon the
consummation of an IPO and thereafter the Parties shall be free to Transfer their Ordinary Shares, subject to clause (i) of the preceding sentence
to the extent the transferee of such Ordinary Shares shall be assigned any rights of the transferring Party hereunder.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company must not register a Transfer of Ordinary Shares to any person who is not
a Party (each such person, an “ Incoming Shareholder ) in its shareholders register, unless and until that person executes and delivers to the
Company an Adherence Agreement.

The Parties acknowledge and agree that, upon the delivery to the Company of an Adherence Agreement executed by the Incoming Shareholder,
the Incoming Shareholder shall be deemed to be a party to and to be bound by this Agreement as a Shareholder, and shall accordingly (without
prejudice to any antecedent liabilities of the transferor of the Ordinary Shares acquired by the Incoming Shareholder (if applicable)) be entitled
to all rights available to, and bound by all obligations applicable to, a holder of the class of shares in the Company acquired by the Incoming
Shareholder and shall be otherwise bound by and entitled to the benefit of this Agreement.

Any attempt to Transfer any Ordinary Shares not in compliance with this Agreement shall be null and void ab initio , and the Company shall
not, and shall cause any transfer agent not to, give any effect in the Company’s stock records to such attempted Transfer.

11.2 Pre-emption Right s

(@)

If Freeport or a member of the Inalum Group (“ Transferor ) intends to transfer, other than, in the case of Freeport, to a Qualifying Mining
Company or, in the case of either Freeport or Inalum Group, any of such Transferor’s Affiliates, any or all of its Ordinary Shares (“ Transfer
Shares ), it must, prior to the completion of such transfer, give a notice (“ Transfer Notice ) to the other (the “ Non-transferring
Shareholders ) and the Company that specifies:

@) the number of Ordinary Shares it intends to transfer (which must not be less than 5% of the issued Ordinary Shares);

(i1) the price at which it is willing to transfer the Transfer Shares (which must be a cash price only) (“ Transfer Price ”); and
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(b
©

(d

©

(iii)  all other material terms on which the Transferor is willing to transfer the Transfer Shares (which shall include an acknowledgement that
certain Authorisations may be required to effect the transfer of the Transfer Shares).

A Transfer Notice is irrevocable once given, unless the Non-transferring Shareholders agree otherwise.

The Transfer Notice is an offer by the Transferor to sell all (but not less than all) of the Transfer Shares to the Non-transferring Shareholders in
proportion to their Percentage Interests (determined as at the date of the Transfer Notice) at the Transfer Price and on the other terms set out in
the Transfer Notice (the “ Offer ).

The Non-transferring Shareholders may accept the Offer as to all (but not less than all) of the Transfer Shares (which may be conditional on the
relevant Non-transferring Shareholder obtaining applicable Authorisations) by giving a notice (* Transfer Acceptance Notice ”) to the
Transferor and the Company within 30 days after the Transfer Notice is given (“ Offer Period ™), as long as such acceptance does not breach
Government Regulation No. 23 of 2010 on the Implementation of Mineral and Coal Mining Business Activities and MEMR Regulation No. 9
0f 2017 on the Share Divestment Procedures and the Mechanism to Determine the Price of the Divestment Share in Mineral and Coal Mining
Business Sectors, each as amended from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the Non-transferring Shareholders shall not be permitted to
assign their rights in the Transfer Acceptance Notice as the transferee of the Transfer Shares, other than to an Affiliate of the Non-transferring
Shareholders.

If the Non-transferring Shareholders accept the Offer (whether or not conditional on the relevant Non-transferring Shareholders obtaining
applicable Authorisations) under this Clause 11.2:

6] the Transferor and the Non-transferring Shareholders must enter into the documentation necessary to effect the transfer on the terms set
forth in the Transfer Notice and complete the sale and purchase of the Transfer Shares on the latest of:

(A) the day which is 10 days after all Authorisations required by the Non-transferring Shareholders in respect of the transfer of the
Transfer Shares, as set out in the Transfer Acceptance Notice are obtained, provided that if such Authorisations are not obtained
within 90 days of the Transferor receiving the Transfer Acceptance Notice, then the Transfer Acceptance Notice shall lapse and
the Transferor shall be permitted to transfer the Transfer Shares pursuant to Clause 11.2(f); and

(B) any other date the Shareholders agree on in writing before the date in Clause 11.2(e)(i)(A); and
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(i1) at completion of the relevant transfer, the Non-transferring Shareholders must pay (or ensure its Affiliate pays) the Transfer Price by
wire transfer of immediately available funds.

(f)  If the Non-transferring Shareholders do not accept the Offer by the expiry of the Offer Period, the Transferor may transfer the Transfer Shares:
(i) to any Person;
(ii) at a price no less than the Transfer Price; and
(iii)  on terms no more favourable in the aggregate to such Person than the terms set out in the Transfer Notice,

within (i) if the Non-transferring Shareholders did not accept the Offer by the expiry of the Offer Period, three (3) months after the end of the
Offer Period or (ii) if the Non-transferring Shareholders accepted the Offer, but the transaction between the Transferor and the
Non-transferring Shareholders failed to close as contemplated by Clause 11.2(e)(i)(A), three (3) months after the end of the 90 day period
contemplated by Clause 11.2(e)(i)(A); provided , in each case, that if any Authorisations are required to complete such transfer, such three
(3) month period shall be extended (by no longer than 12 months) to allow for such Authorisations to be obtained.

11.3 Legends

In addition to any other legend that may be required, each certificate for Ordinary Shares issued to any Shareholder shall bear a legend in substantially
the following form:

“This security is subject to restrictions on transfer as set forth in the shareholders agreement to which the company is a party, as amended from
time to time, copies of which may be obtained upon request from the company or any successor thereto, and this security may not be voted or
offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in compliance therewith.”

12. IPO
12.1 General

(a)  Subject to Clause 12.1(b), the Parties acknowledge and agree that the Parties shall cause a public offering of a mutually agreed portion of the
Ordinary Shares on at least the Indonesian Stock Exchange, at a valuation to be approved by the Board of Directors (“ IPO ) one (1) year after
the later to occur of:

(i) the end of the Initial Period; and

(ii) completion of construction of the Grasberg Smelter,

52



12.2

13.

(b)

©

(d

provided that suitable market conditions prevail such that the IPO will not directly cause a devaluation of the Shareholders’ respective interests
in the Company held via their Ordinary Shares (or of any other Shares that have been issued at that time) and at least 51% of Ordinary Shares
are owned by Indonesian Persons following the IPO.

To the extent that more than one Shareholder participates in the IPO, the Parties agree to discuss in good faith the extent, if any, to which each
Party will participate in the IPO.

The IPO will be carried out on the basis that the governance regime between Freeport, Inalum and the Inalum SPV in respect of the Company
reflected in this Agreement can continue in all material respects, and, if such governance regime cannot continue in all material respects
following an IPO, no IPO shall occur without the written consent of each Party (which may be withheld by each Party in its sole discretion).

The Parties acknowledge that, to the extent required by Applicable Law and the rules of any stock exchange on which the Shares are intended to
be admitted, the governance regime between Freeport, Inalum and the Inalum SPV in respect of the Company reflected in this Agreement will
need to be disclosed in the prospectus relating to the IPO.

Process

The Shareholders shall sign such documents as may be necessary to effect the IPO. All payments received for the IPO shall be credited to the
Shareholders in proportion to their Percentage Interests.

DEVELOPMENT OF GRASBERG SMELTER

(@

(b)

The Shareholders acknowledge and agree it is the Company’s intention to:

(i) develop (including through joint venture arrangements) the Grasberg Smelter in accordance with Applicable Laws, the [UPK and
applicable Authorisations (including in respect of timing);

(i1) ensure the development of the Grasberg Smelter is on terms that provides commercial benefit to the Company; and
(iii))  fund the development of the Grasberg Smelter through third party financing.

To the extent the Company develops the Grasberg Smelter through a joint venture or similar arrangement with any third party, the Company
must ensure it Controls the joint venture vehicle or arrangement (as applicable).
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14.

15.
15.1

(c)  Inalum Group shall be permitted to appoint a designee to serve on the project team for the Grasberg Smelter.

(d) The Finance Committee shall review the proposed structure, financing and long-term sales contract for the Grasberg Smelter prior to submitting
such proposed structure, financing and long-term sales contract for Board of Directors approval.

SALES AND MARKETING

(a)  During the Initial Period, sales and marketing activities shall be performed in accordance with the Services Agreement, which Services
Agreement will include obligations on the counterparty:

@) that the Company will have the right for a representative of the Company (such representative to be nominated by the Board of
Directors) to be part of the team that performs the sales and marketing services under the Services Agreement (including the right to
attend all meetings with counterparties or proposed to any product sales arrangements);

(ii) to provide sales and marketing training to the Company; and

(iii)  to provide the Company will full disclosure of all sales, marketing and financial data in respect of sales of products by or on behalf of
the Company.

(b)  Prior to the end of the Initial Period, the Parties agree that the Company shall establish a sales and marketing department with the capability to
undertake and oversee the marketing of excess copper concentrate (above Grasberg Smelter consumption) with the assistance of Freeport
marketing representatives, and oversee and administer any contract for the supply of concentrate to the Grasberg Smelter with the assistance of
Freeport marketing representatives.

SHAREHOLDERS * ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE THE CONTRACT AREA
Shareholders ’ Activities Outside the Contract Area

(a)  Every Shareholder shall have the right independently to engage in and receive full benefits from business activities outside the Contract Area,
whether or not in competition with the Company, without consulting the other Shareholders, and without prejudice to the generality of the
foregoing, to the extent that the first-mentioned Shareholder requires the use of the assets of the Company or support services provided by the
Company, the other Shareholders agree to discuss and take under consideration having the Company make available and charge to the first-
mentioned Shareholder the direct and allocable costs of providing such assets and services; and

(b)  no Shareholder shall have any obligation to the other Shareholders under this Agreement with respect to any opportunity to acquire any
property outside the Contract Area at any time, or within the Contract Area after the termination of this Agreement.
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16.

CONFIDENTIALITY

(@

Each Party agrees that Confidential Information furnished and to be furnished to it has been and may in the future be made available in
connection with such Shareholder’s investment in the Company. Each Party agrees that it shall use, and that it shall cause any Person to whom
Confidential Information is disclosed pursuant to Clause 16(a)(i) to use, the Confidential Information only in connection with the relevant
Shareholder’s investment in the Company and not for any other purpose. Each Shareholder further acknowledges and agrees that it shall not
disclose any Confidential Information to any Person, except that Confidential Information may be disclosed:

@

(i)

(iii)

(i)

™

(vi)

to Representatives of the Shareholder in the normal course of the performance of their duties or to any financial institution providing
credit to such Shareholder, provided that such Shareholder’s Representatives are bound to keep such disclosed Confidential Information
confidential;

to the extent required by Applicable Law or any national securities exchange or made by any Shareholder in connection with its or its
Affiliates’ ordinary course public reporting to the extent required by any Applicable Law or the rules of any recognised stock exchange;

to any Person to whom such Shareholder is contemplating a Transfer of its Ordinary Shares; provided that such potential transferee is
advised of the confidential nature of such information and agrees to be bound by a confidentiality agreement consistent with the
provisions hereof;

to any regulatory authority or rating agency to which such Shareholder or any of its Affiliates is subject or with which it has regular
dealings; provided that such authority or agency is advised of the confidential nature of such information;

to the extent related to the tax treatment and tax structure of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including all materials of
any kind, such as opinions or other tax analyses that the Company, its Affiliates or its Representatives have provided to such
Shareholder relating to such tax treatment and tax structure); provided that the foregoing does not constitute an authorization to disclose
the identity of any existing or future party to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or their Affiliates or Representatives, or,
except to the extent relating to such tax structure or tax treatment, any specific pricing terms or commercial or financial information; or

if the prior written consent of the Shareholders has been obtained.
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(®)

Nothing contained herein shall prevent (i) the use (subject, to the extent possible, to a protective order) of Confidential Information in
connection with the assertion or defense of any claim by or against the Company or any Shareholder or (ii) any commissioner or member of the
Board of Directors nominated by a Shareholder providing Confidential Information to the Shareholder that nominated him or her or such
Shareholder’s Representatives.

17. MISCELLANEOUS

17.1 Indemnification

(@

(b

Subject to Clause 17.1(b), the Company shall indemnify, and hold harmless, each Shareholder (and its Affiliates and its and their respective
directors, officers, managers, contractors, employees and agents) (collectively, the “ Indemnified Parties ) from and against any and all
damage, loss, liability and expense (including reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by
any of the Indemnified Parties before, on or after the date of this Agreement (collectively, the *“ Indemnified Liabilities ), arising out of any
actual or threatened action, cause of action, suit, proceeding or claim arising directly or indirectly out of such Indemnified Party’s ownership of
Ordinary Shares, status as a stockholder or actual, alleged or deemed control or ability to influence the Company or any of the Company
Subsidiaries or the actual or alleged act or omission of any commissioner on the Board of Commissioners designated by such Indemnified Party
(other than any such Indemnified Liabilities that arise out of any breach of this Agreement by such Indemnified Party); provided that if and to
the extent that the foregoing undertaking may be unavailable or unenforceable for any reason, the Company hereby agrees to make the
maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of each of the Indemnified Liabilities which is permissible under Applicable Law. The
rights of any Indemnified Party to indemnification hereunder will be in addition to any other rights any such Person may have under any other
agreement or instruction to which such Indemnified Party is or becomes a party or is or otherwise becomes a beneficiary or under law or
regulation or under the Articles or the organizational documents of any of the Company Subsidiaries and shall extend to such Indemnified
Party’s successors and assigns. Each of the Indemnified Parties shall be a third party beneficiary of the rights conferred to such Indemnified
Party in this Clause 17.

The Company shall not indemnify and hold harmless Freeport (and Affiliates and its and their respective its directors, officers, managers,
contractors, employees, and agents) or any party seeking to claim through Freeport, in respect of any damage, loss, liability and expense to the
extent relating to the period before the date of this Agreement.
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17.2 Governance and Compliance

(a) The Board of Commissioners, the Board of Directors, the Operating Committee, the Finance Committee, all other committees of the Company
established pursuant to this Agreement and Shareholders will exercise their respective rights to ensure that the Company maintains and adheres
to adequate policies and procedures to promote good corporate governance, including without limitation in respect of professional corporate
conduct and environmental matters, corporate social responsibility, internal controls and compliance with Indonesian and international
standards of lawful and ethical behaviour (“ Corporate Policies ).

(b) Any Shareholder, the Board of Directors, Board of Commissioners or committee may request to change the Corporate Policies, which change
will require approval of the Shareholders. To the extent the change is required to ensure the Company or any Shareholder is compliant with any
Applicable Law, the Shareholders must vote in favour of the change, except to the extent that the change would cause another shareholder or
the Company to be in breach of any Applicable Law. To the extent the Shareholders have approved a change to the Corporate Policies, the
members of the Board of Directors and Board of Commissioners (as applicable) must vote in favour of the change.

17.3 Anti-bribery and Corruption

(a)  Each of the Shareholders shall exercise all rights and powers available to it in relation to the Company so as to endeavour to ensure that neither
the Company nor any of its directors, officers, agents, employees, consultants and contractors, or any other person acting on its behalf has or
will (a) offer, promise, pay, authorize, or take any act in furtherance of any offer, promise, payment or authorization of payment of anything of
value to any Person of Concern for the purpose of securing discretionary action or inaction or a decision of a Government Official(s), influence
over discretionary action of a Government Official(s), or an improper advantage; or (b) take any action otherwise inconsistent with or
prohibited by the substantive prohibitions or requirements of any of the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Laws, in connection with any matter
relating to this Agreement.

(b) In the performance of their obligations under this Agreement, each Party will cause its officers, directors, agents, employees, consultants,
contractors, and other persons acting on their behalf, to (a) comply strictly with all Applicable Laws, including not offering, promising, paying,
authorizing, or taking any act in furtherance of any offer, promise, payment or authorization of payment of anything of value to any Person of
Concern for the purpose of securing discretionary action or inaction or a decision of a Government Official(s), influence over discretionary
action of a Government Official(s), or an improper advantage; and (b) take no action otherwise inconsistent with or prohibited by the
substantive prohibitions or requirements of any Applicable Law, in connection with any matter relating to this Agreement.
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17.4

17.5

17.6

(c)  Each Party hereby agrees that in the performance of its obligations under this Clause 17.3, it shall take appropriate steps to cause Company and
its officers, directors, agents, employees, consultants and contractors to implement and maintain while this Agreement is in effect policies and
procedures designed to ensure compliance with all Applicable Laws, including the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Laws.

Sanctions

Each Party certifies that neither it nor any of its principals or owners, nor any of their respective subcontractors and their respective principals or
owners, nor any other Person who will provide services under this Agreement, are listed on the Specially Designated Nationals, Specially Designated
Terrorists, and/or Specially Designated Narcotic Traffickers lists maintained by the Office of Foreign Asset Controls, United States Department of
Treasury or with whom a person bound by any similar sanctions administered or enforced by, or based upon the obligations and authorities of the
United Nations Security Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s Treasury or other relevant sanctions authority.

International Human Rights

Each of the Shareholders shall exercise all rights and powers available to it in relation to the Company so as to ensure that the Company and the
Company Subsidiaries respect International Human Rights. The Company shall (i) promptly investigate any allegations of International Human
Rights violations allegedly caused by Company or any subcontractor or subsidiary of the Company, (ii) notify the complainant of the results of that
investigation, and (iii) take appropriate remedial action where such investigations confirm International Human Rights violations have occurred.

Representations, Warranties and Undertakings
Each Shareholder makes the following representations and warranties to the other Shareholder as at the date of this Agreement:
(a) (status) it is a corporation validly existing under the laws of the place of its incorporation;

(b) (power ) it has the power to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and to carry on its business as now conducted or
contemplated;

(c)  (authorisations ) it holds each Authorisation (and is complying with any conditions to which any Authorisation is subject) that is necessary to:
(6] enable it to properly execute and perform its obligations under this Agreement;

(i1) ensure that this Agreement is legal, valid, binding and admissible in evidence; and
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17.7

17.8

(d

(©

®
(2

()

(iii)  enable it to properly carry on its business as it is now being conducted;

( binding obligations ): this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the
extent limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws of general application related to the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity;

( transactions permitted ): the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement does not and will not violate, breach or result in a
contravention of:

(i) any law to which it or any of its property is subject or any order of any Government Authority that is binding on it or any of its
property;

(i1) contravene any Authorisation;

(iii)  contravene any agreement binding on it or any of its property;

(iv)  contravene the Articles; or

W) require it to make any payment or delivery in respect of any financial accommodation before it would otherwise be obliged to do so;

( no other trusts ): it is not entering into this Agreement as trustee of any trust or settlement;

(o litigation ): there is no subsisting, pending or, to the knowledge of such Shareholder, threatened litigation, arbitration, dispute or
administrative proceeding in relation to it or any of its assets or undertakings which would reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse
effect on the performance of any obligation under this Agreement; and

( winding up etc. ): it is not subject to any bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other proceeding under any bankruptcy or
insolvency law.

Reliance by Parties

Each Party acknowledges that each of the other Parties has entered into this document in reliance on the representations and warranties in, or given
under, this document.

Partnership

Nothing contained or implied in this Agreement shall constitute or be deemed to constitute an association, trust or partnership between, or impose a
trust or partnership duty, obligation or liability, on or with regard to the Parties and none of the Parties shall have any authority to bind or commit any
other Party.
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17.9 Agency

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed so as to constitute any Party the agent or legal
representative of any other Party for any purpose. No Party has any right or authority to assume or create in any way any obligation of any kind or to
make nay warranty or representation, express or implied, in the name or on behalf of any other Party.

17.10 Binding Effect, Assignability and Benefit

(a)  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties and their respective heirs, successors and permitted assigns. Any
Shareholder that ceases to own beneficially any Ordinary Shares shall cease to be bound by the terms hereof (other than Clauses 16, 17.11,
17.15 and 17.17).

(b) Neither this Agreement nor any right, remedy, obligation or liability arising hereunder or by reason hereof shall be assignable by any Party
pursuant to any Transfer of Ordinary Shares or otherwise, except to any Incoming Shareholder acquiring Ordinary Shares from any Shareholder
in a Transfer in compliance with Clause 11.1.

(c)  Except as otherwise set forth herein, nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to confer on any Person other than the Parties,
and their respective heirs, successors, legal representatives and permitted assigns, any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities under or by
reason of this Agreement.

17.11 Notices

All notices, requests and other communications to any Party shall be in writing and shall be delivered in person, mailed by certified or registered mail,
return receipt requested, or sent by facsimile transmission or email transmission so long as receipt of such email is requested and received:

if to the Company to:

[Company name]
[Address]
Attention: [¢]
Fax: [*]

Email: [*]

with a copy to Freeport at the address listed below.

if to Freeport, to:

Freeport-McMoRan Inc.
333 North Central Avenue
Phoenix, Arizona 85004
Attention: []

Fax: [+]

Email: [*]
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with a copy to:

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

450 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10017
Attention: Marc 0. Williams

Fax: (212) 701-5800

Email: marc.williams@davispolk.com

and

[Name]
[Address]
Attention: [*]
Fax: []
Email: [+]

if to Inalum, to:

[Name]
[Address]
Attention: [*]
Fax: [*]
Email: [¢]

with a copy to:

[Name]
[Address]
Attention: []
Fax: [*]
Email: [*]

if to Inalum SPV, to:

[Name]
[Address]
Attention: [¢]
Fax: [*]
Email: [*]

with a copy to:

[Name]
[Address]
Attention: []
Fax: []
Email: []
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All notices, requests and other communications shall be deemed received on the date of receipt by the recipient thereof if received prior to 5:00 p.m.
in the place of receipt and such day is a business day in the place of receipt. Otherwise, any such notice, request or communication shall be deemed
not to have been received until the next succeeding business day in the place of receipt. Any notice, request or other written communication sent by
facsimile transmission shall be confirmed by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, posted within one Business Day, or by personal
delivery, whether courier or otherwise, made within two Business Days after the date of such facsimile transmissions.

Any Person that becomes a Shareholder shall provide its address, fax number and email address for notice purposes to the Company, which shall
promptly provide such information to each other Shareholder.

Any notice given to a Party in accordance with this Clause 17.11 will not be invalid if that notice is not delivered to a Person entitled to receive a
copy.

17.12 Waiver, Amendment and Termination

(a)  No provision of this Agreement may be amended, waived or otherwise modified except by an instrument in writing executed by each of the
Parties at the time of such proposed amendment or modification. In addition, any Party may waive any provision of this Agreement with respect
to itself by an instrument in writing executed by the Party against whom the waiver is to be effective.

(b)  This Agreement shall terminate and be of no further force or effect upon the earliest to occur of:
6] only one person holds all shares of the Company;
(ii) the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company; and
(iii)  the mutual written agreement of all Parties.

(c)  Any Shareholder that Transfers (in accordance with the terms of this Agreement) all of its, and owns no, Ordinary Shares shall immediately
cease to be a Shareholder and shall no longer be a party to this Agreement (in its capacity as a Shareholder); provided, however, that such
Shareholder:

@) shall not thereby be relieved of its liability for breach of this Agreement prior to such time or from any obligations under this
Agreement not related to its capacity as a Shareholder;

(i1) shall retain any rights with respect to a breach of this Agreement by any other Person prior to such time;
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(iii)  shall retain the right to indemnification hereunder; and
(iv)  shall not thereby be relieved of any of its obligations under Clause 11.1 or 16.
17.13 Close-down
(a) The Company must not Close-down the operations of the Company without unanimous consent of the Shareholders.

(b) Immediately following the agreement of the Shareholders to Close-down the operations of the Company, the Company must carry out the
activities required to shut down and rehabilitate the operations of the Company and the assets of the Company, which include:

) arranging to provide a Close-down plan and an estimate of the costs of the Close-down as at the anticipated date of Close-down,
including the cost of satisfying all rehabilitation obligations and outstanding or anticipated liabilities of the Company and the Company
Subsidiaries (“ Estimated Shutdown Costs ”); and

(ii) taking steps to dispose of the assets of the Company (other than any assets of the Company or amount that must be retained to satisfy
rehabilitation obligations and outstanding liabilities).

(¢)  The Company must fund the costs of Close-down in the following order:
@) first , with cash held by the Company and any cash deposited pursuant to government regulations, as such funds are made available;
(i1) second , proceeds from the sale of the assets of the Company; and

(iii)  third , if there remains a shortfall of funds to meet the costs of Close-down, issuing a cash call to the Shareholders to fund the shortfall
in proportion to their Percentage Interest.

(d) If after Close-down the Company retains any of its assets, such assets will be sold and the proceeds of sale, together with any remaining case,
shall be distributed to the Shareholders in proportion to their Percentage Interest after first satisfying out of any Shareholders’ share, any
liabilities owed by that Shareholder to the Company.

17.14 Fees and Expenses

All costs and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation of this Agreement, or any amendment or waiver hereof, and the transactions
contemplated hereby shall be paid by the Party incurring such costs or expenses.
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17.15 Default

(@

(b

©

(d

A Shareholder becomes a “ Defaulter ” if it fails to comply with any of its material obligations under this Agreement, other than a failure to
provide capital in accordance with Clause 10.2 (an “ Event of Default ).

The Company must notify all the Shareholders immediately after it becomes aware:

6] of anything, which in the Company’s reasonable opinion, is likely to result in a Shareholder committing an Event of Default or an Event
of Default occurring in respect of a Shareholder;

(ii) that a Shareholder has committed an Event of Default or an Event of Default has occurred in respect of a Shareholder; or
(iii)  that a Shareholder has remedied an Event of Default,
as applicable, and provide relevant details.

If an Event of Default is committed by or occurs in respect of a Shareholder, the Company must (or any Shareholder may), as soon as
practicable after that party becomes aware of the Event of Default, provide to the Defaulter a notice setting out all relevant details of the Event
of Default it is aware of. If the Party giving the notice, acting reasonably, considers the Event of Default can be remedied, that party may
require the Defaulter to remedy the Event of Default within 45 days after the Defaulter receives the Default Notice (the “ Remedy Period ). If
after the Remedy Period, the party giving the notice considers the Event of Default as not having been remedied, the Parties may proceed to
arbitration pursuant to Clause 17.17.

Following the decision of the tribunal or any arbitrator appointed under Schedule 1 of the Rules in accordance with Clause 17.17 and until such
decision is fully paid or otherwise satisfied by the Defaulter, the Defaulter may receive notices of and attend meetings of the Board of Directors,
Board of Commissioners, Operating Committee, Finance Committee, and any other committee established under this Agreement, but unless
otherwise agreed by each other Shareholder:

) any Shareholder Representative appointed by the Defaulter:

(A) shall not be taken into account in determining whether a quorum is present and for the purposes of meeting any minimum quorum
requirements for any meeting, of Shareholders, any meeting of the Board of Directors, Board of Commissioners or any other
committee established under this Agreement will be taken as present, even if not in attendance; and
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(B) shall not be entitled to exercise any right to vote in respect of any matters and resolutions to be approved by the Shareholders or
before the applicable Board of Directors, Board of Commissioners or any other committee established under this Agreement;

(ii) no vote taken or matter decided without that Shareholder Representative of the Defaulter during that period will be invalid for want of
that Shareholder Representative’s vote; and

(iii)  any rights of the Defaulter or the Shareholder Representative of the Defaulter under this Agreement (including any rights to vote on any
Reserved Matters) shall be suspended.

(e)  The rights and remedies under this Clause 17.15 are in addition to, and do not take away from any other right or remedy a Shareholder may
have at law or in equity.

17.16 Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Republic of Indonesia, without regard to the conflicts of laws
rules thereof. The Parties waive the provisions of Article 1266 and 1267 of the Indonesian Civil Code to the extent necessary so that this Agreement
can be terminated and damages or other compensation may be calculated and become payable without the need for an order of any court. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Parties agree that no changes in the laws of the Republic of Indonesia effected after the date hereof shall affect the rights or
obligations of the Parties hereunder.

17.17 Dispute Resolution

All disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, including any Event of Default in accordance with Clause 17.15, shall be referred to
and finally resolved by arbitration administered by the Singapore International Arbitration Centre (“ SIAC ) in accordance with the Arbitration Rules
of SIAC for the time being in force, which rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Clause 17.17 (“ Rules ™). The claimant and the
respondent shall nominate one arbitrator each, and the third arbitrator shall be nominated jointly by the two Party-appointed arbitrators. The seat of
the arbitration shall be Singapore. The place of the arbitration shall be Singapore. The language of the arbitration shall be English. Notwithstanding
Clause 17.15, this Clause 17.17 shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with Singapore law. Clause 18.14 shall be governed by and
interpreted in accordance with Singapore law. Each Party renounces any right it may otherwise have to appeal or seek relief from the award or any
decision of the arbitrators contained therein and agrees that, in accordance with Article 60 of Law No. 30 of 1999 of the Republic of Indonesia on
Arbitration and Alternative Dispute Resolution (the “ Arbitration Law ), no Party shall appeal to any court from the award or decision of the
arbitrators contained therein. Each Party waives the applicability of Article 48 of the Arbitration Law and agrees that arbitration need not be
completed within a specific time.
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17.18 Settlement of claims and lawsuits

The Company shall prosecute and defend, but not initiate without approval of the Shareholders any litigation or administrative proceedings arising out
of the operations of the Company the outcome of which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.

17.19 Counterparts and Effectiveness

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, with the same effect as if the
signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. Until and unless each Party has received a counterpart hereof signed by the other Party,
this Agreement shall have no effect and no Party shall have any right or obligation hereunder (whether by virtue of any other oral or written
agreement or other communication).

17.20 Entire Agreement

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement in relation to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and
understandings, both oral and written, among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

17.21 Severability

If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other authority to be invalid, void or
unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no
way be affected, impaired or invalidated so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any
manner materially adverse to any Party. Upon such a determination, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect
the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner so that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as
originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

17.22 Further Assurances

Each Party agrees from time to time to execute and deliver any further documents and instruments and do or refrain from doing all such further acts
and things as may from time to time reasonably be requested by the other Parties to carry out the terms of this Agreement.
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17.23 Sovereign Enforcement Matters

(@

(b)

©

(d

To the extent that any member of the Inalum Group or Freeport may be entitled in any state or jurisdiction to claim or benefit from any
immunity (whether characterized as state immunity, sovereign immunity, act of state or otherwise) now or hereafter for itself or any of its
property or assets (which it now has or may hereafter acquire) in respect of its obligations under this Agreement from service of process or
other documents relating to proceedings, jurisdiction, suit, judgement, execution, attachment (whether before award or judgement, in aid or
execution or otherwise) or legal process or to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to it or any of its property or assets
such immunity (whether or not claimed), each member of the Inalum Group and Freeport expressly, unconditionally and irrevocably agrees not
to claim, invoke or permit to be invoked on it or its property or assets’ behalf or for it or its property or assets’ benefit and hereby expressly,
unconditionally and irrevocably waives such immunity to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.

Each member of the Inalum Group and Freeport consents generally in respect of any proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any
process in connection with the proceedings, including the enforcement or execution against any property or assets whatsoever (irrespective of
its use or intended use) of any order or judgement which may be made or given in the proceedings.

Each member of the Inalum Group and Freeport irrevocably and unconditionally acknowledges that the execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement constitutes private and commercial (and not public) acts of such member of the Inalum Group or Freeport, respectively.

For purposes of this Clause 17.23, the term “Inalum Group” shall include only Inalum and Inalum SPV and not any of their respective
Affiliates, except to the extent any such Affiliate is a transferee of Ordinary Shares, in which case the provisions of this Clause 17.23 shall
apply to such Affiliate.

17.24 Governing Language

(@

For the purposes of compliance with Law No. 24 of the Republic of Indonesia on the National Flag, Language, Coat of Arms and National
Anthem, the Inalum Group and Freeport agree to translate and execute an Indonesian language version of this Agreement and any instrument or
other document referred to in this Agreement to which an Indonesian person is a party or signatory, or any amendment to such agreement,
instrument or document (Ancillary Documents) other than those which are already made and executed in Indonesian language, promptly in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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(®)

The Inalum Group and Freeport agree that:

@

(i)

(iii)

the Indonesian language version of this Agreement (other than those which are already made and executed in Indonesian language
only), when executed, will be deemed to be effective and valid from the date of the English language version, and both the English
language version and the Indonesian language version will be equally authentic. The Inalum Group and Freeport further agree that the
execution of the Indonesian language of this Agreement must be undertaken at the latest within 60 days after the date of this
Agreement;

in the event of any inconsistency or different interpretation between the Indonesian language version and the English language version
of such dual-language documents, the Indonesian language version is deemed to be automatically amended (with effect from the date of
the English language version) to make the relevant part of the Indonesian language version consistent with the relevant part of the
English language version;

the costs and expenses in relation to:
(A) the translation of the English language version into an Indonesian language version;
(B) the preparation and execution of the Indonesian language version; and

(C) any amendments of the Indonesian language version to conform with the English language version as contemplated by this
Clause 17.24,

shall be borne 50% by Inalum, on the one hand, and 50% by Freeport, on the other hand (other than costs incurred by a party in review and
commenting on such Indonesian language version, which shall be borne by the party incurring such costs); and

©

each of the Inalum Group and Freeport:

()
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
v)

acknowledges that, with its agreement, this Agreement has been negotiated in the English language;
represents that it has read and fully understands the contents and consequences of this Agreement;
represents that it has made and entered into this Agreement freely and without duress;

represents that it has received independent legal advice with regard to this Agreement; and

undertakes that it will not challenge the validity of this Agreement based on any failure to comply with Law No. 24 of the Republic of
Indonesia on the National Flag, Language, Coat of Arms and National Anthem or the implementing Presidential Regulation (when
issued).

[ Signature page follows ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first
above written.

PT FREEPORT INDONESIA

By:

Name:
Title:

[FREEPORT SHAREHOLDER]

By:

Name:
Title:

PT INDOCOPPER INVESTAMA

By:

Name:
Title:

PT INDONESIA ASAHAN ALUMINIUM (PERSERO)

By:

Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Shareholders Agreement]
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SCHEDULE 7
Dividend Policy

Dividends will be restricted to the lowest of (a) Available Cash Flow for Dividends; (b) after the Initial Period, an amount equal to the maximum
distribution that can be made without resulting in the Leverage Ratio exceeding 4.0 to 1.0, pro forma for the payment of such dividend; and (c) the amount
allowed pursuant to any limitation on distributions imposed by lenders or other counterparties pursuant to a distributions covenant or as a result of financial
ratio maintenance requirements.

“ Leverage Ratio ” means, as of any time, an amount equal to the quotient of (i) the aggregate principal amount of Total Funded Debt of the Company
outstanding as of such date, in the amount that would be reflected as a liability on a balance sheet prepared as of such date on a consolidated basis in
accordance with the Accounting Principles less unrestricted cash of the Company as of such time, divided by (ii) EBITDA for the twelve-month period
ending on or immediately preceding such time.

“ Indebtedness ” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person
evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements
relating to property acquired by such Person, (d) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding
trade accounts payable and other accrued expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business and deferred compensation), (e) all Indebtedness of others
secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any lien on property owned or
acquired by such Person, whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed, (f) all guarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of others,
(g) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (h) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party (including reimbursement
obligations to the issuer) in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty, which support or secure Indebtedness, (i) all obligations in respect of prepaid
production arrangements, prepaid forward sale arrangements or derivative contracts in respect of which such Person receives upfront payments in
consideration of an obligation to deliver product or commodities (or make cash payments based on the value of product or commodities) at a future time and
(j) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers’ acceptances.

“ Total Funded Debt ” of any Person means Indebtedness of such Person of the types referred to in clauses (a), (b), (¢), (d), (g), (i) and (j) of the definition
thereof and all Indebtedness of the types referred to in clauses (e), (f) and (h) of such definition relating to Indebtedness of others of the types referred to in
such clauses (a), (b), (¢), (d), (g), (i) and (j); provided, however that Total Funded Debt shall exclude the Make Whole Note referenced in schedule 10.

“ Capital Lease Obligations ” of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement
conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital or
finance leases on a balance sheet of such Person under the Accounting Principles and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof
determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles.
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“ Available Cash Flow for Dividends ” means, with respect to any period:

(a)  Without duplication, the sum of:

@

(i)
(iii)
(iv)
™)
(vi)
(vii)

minus

cash and short-term investments of the Company included in current assets on the balance sheet at beginning of the period, excluding short-term
Restricted Cash. “ Restricted Cash ” means amounts that are reserved or otherwise restricted from withdrawal pursuant to laws, regulations or
contractual arrangements with financial institutions or other third parties, including cash to secure financial assurance instruments.

cash flow from operations of the Company during such period,

cash proceeds from the sale of assets by the Company during such period, net of transaction costs,
cash proceeds from the issuance of debt by the Company during such period,

cash proceeds from cash calls by the Company during such period,

reductions in Restricted Cash (to the extent received by the Company) during such period and

repayments to the Company from Company Subsidiaries or joint ventures of the Company of investments or loans during such period;

(b)  without duplication, the sum of:

@
(i)
(iii)
(i)
™)
i)

increases in Restricted Cash during such period,

capital expenditures of the Company (including capitalized interest) during such period,

investments by the Company in or loans to Company Subsidiaries or joint ventures during such period,
debt service by the Company during such period,

dividends paid by the Company during such period,

cash reserves necessary to address forecasted expenditures in excess of forecasted available cash,
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(vii) any other cash expenditures not included in the above items in this clause (b) (including, to the extent not otherwise included above in this
clause (b), Monthly Deficit Payments referenced in schedule 10 made during such period);
provided that for purposes of calculating the amounts for each of the items above,
(A)  amounts attributable to Company Subsidiaries that are consolidated in accordance with the Accounting Principles will be excluded,

(B) actual cash payments to or from Company Subsidiaries in the form of dividends, distributions, investments or advances will be
included, and

(C)  amounts will be determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles. “ Accounting Principles ” means Indonesian generally
accepted accounting principles using the assumptions, classifications, judgments, practices, and methodologies used in the preparation
of the Company’s audited financial statements.
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@

(b)

©

SCHEDULE 8
Operating Committee Authority

The Board of Directors shall delegate its full authority (including a delegation of the right to make all decisions) with respect to mining, development
and planning, exploration, concentrating, technical services, power services, port-site operations, smelter activities, health & safety, security,
environmental management, purchasing and logistics, and jobsite-based human resources & administration, in each case with respect to the Company
and the Company Subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors may, in addition to the delegation contemplated by paragraph (a) above, also delegate limited authority to the Operating
Committee to undertake operations in the ordinary course with the Board of Directors retaining oversight authority to direct the Operating Committee
on its approach to the relevant functions. The Operating Committee will give periodic reports to the Board of Directors and respond to any other
reporting requests received from the Board of Directors from time to time with respect to any functions that are delegated to the Operating
Committee.

The Board of Directors shall have full authority to oversee strategy, government relations, internal communications, external affairs, sales and
marketing, environmental strategy, security assessment, finance, accounting, tax, community development, legal, compliance, corporate social
responsibility, strategic procurement advice, Jakarta-based human resources, and Jakarta-based administration, in each case with respect to the
Company and the Company Subsidiaries.
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SCHEDULE 10

Economics Replacement During the Initial Period

ARTICLE 1

D EFINITIONS

Section 1.01. Definitions.

Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Agreement. As used in this Schedule, the following terms
have the following meanings:

“ Accounting Principles ” means Indonesian generally accepted accounting principles using the assumptions, classifications, judgments, practices, and
methodologies used in the preparation of the Company’s audited financial statements.

“ Adjustment Date ” means the last day of each calendar quarter. In addition, if the Company makes a payment under the Make Whole Note, the date of
such payment shall be treated as an Adjustment Date.

“ Available Cash Flows ” means, with respect to any period:

(a)  without duplication, the sum of (i) the cash and short term investments of the Company included in current assets on the balance sheet at the
beginning of such period, excluding Restricted Cash, (ii) cash flow from operations of the Company during such period, (iii) cash proceeds from the
sale of assets by the Company during such period, net of transaction costs, (iv) cash proceeds from the issuance of debt by the Company during such
period, (v) cash proceeds from cash calls by the Company during such period, (vi) reductions in Restricted Cash (to the extent received by the
Company) during such period and (vii) repayments to the Company from subsidiaries or joint ventures of the Company of investments or loans during
such period; minus

(b)  without duplication, the sum of (i) increases in Restricted Cash during such period, (ii) capital expenditures of the Company (including capitalized
interest) during such period, (iii) investments by the Company in or loans to its subsidiaries or joint ventures during such period, (iv) debt service by
the Company during such period, (v) dividends paid by the Company during such period that were declared from the Available Cash Flow in any
preceding period; and (vi) any other cash expenditures not included in the above items in this clause (b) (including, to the extent not otherwise
included above in this clause (b), Monthly Deficit Payments referenced in this schedule made during such period);

provided that for purposes of calculating the amounts for each of the items above, (A) amounts attributable to subsidiaries of the Company that are
consolidated in accordance with the Accounting Principles will be excluded, (B) actual cash payments to or from subsidiaries of the Company in the form of
dividends, distributions, investments or advances will be included, and (C) amounts will be determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles.



“ Copper Target ” means [*] pounds. !

“ Cut-Off Date Copper Volume Deficit ” means (i) as of the end of the Initial Period

(@
(b)

the Copper Target; minus

the Company’s cumulative production and sales thereof of recovered copper in concentrates following [the date hereof] 2 and prior to the end of the
Initial Period,

multiplied by (ii) 96.5%.

Definitions of Copper Target and Gold Target to be filled in upon the signing of the Agreement. If the transaction closes in 2018, Copper Target &

Gold Target will be based on the Metal Strip as of 1/1/2018, adjusted for date of the transaction and adjusting (by pro rating) the 2018 metal strip to
the same date. If the transaction closes in 2019, the Copper Target and Gold Target will be the Metal Strip as of 1/1/2019. For example:

If the transaction had occurred on January 1, 2018, then:

Start Date = January 1, 2018

Copper Target = 4,872,227,000

Gold Target = 7,275,883

Note: Remaining Strip as of 1/1/2018 = 2018-2022 metal strip amounts
If the transaction had occurred on July 1, 2018, then:

Start Date = July 1, 2018

Copper Target = 4,322,631,658

Gold Target = 6,240,229

Note: Reduced metal strip v. 1/1/2018 strip = 1/1/2018 total strip less 181 days/365 days x 2018 metal strip (2018 strip = 1,108,300,000 lbs Cu &
2,088,473 ozs Au)

If the transaction occurs on January 1, 2019 or at any time thereafter, then:

Start Date = January 1, 2019

Copper Target = 3,763,927,000

Gold Target = 5,187,410

Note: Reduced metal strip v. 1/1/2018 strip = 1/1/2018 total strip less 2018 metal strip

Note: If the transaction closes in 2019, “the date hereof” will be replaced with January 1, 2019.



For the avoidance of doubt, the Cut-Off Date Copper Volume Deficit shall not be less than zero.

“ Cut-Off Date Gold Volume Deficit ” means (i) as of the end of the Initial Period
(a) the Gold Target; minus

(b) the Company’s cumulative production and sales thereof of recovered gold in concentrates following [the date hereof] 3 and prior to the end of the
Initial Period,

multiplied by (ii) 97%.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Cut-Off Date Gold Volume Deficit shall not be less than zero.
“ Eligible Volume ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) with respect to copper, the lesser of (i) the pounds of payable copper sold by the
Company in such month and (ii) 86,000,000 pounds; provided that such amount shall not exceed the Cut-Off Date Copper Volume Deficit less the Eligible
Volume of copper with respect to which Monthly Deficit Payments were made pursuant to Section 2.03 in respect of prior calendar months, and (b) with
respect to gold, the lesser of (i) the ounces of payable gold sold by the Company in such month and (ii) 122,000 ounces; provided that such amount shall not

exceed the Cut-Off Date Gold Volume Deficit less the Eligible Volume of gold with respect to which Monthly Deficit Payments were made pursuant to
Section 2.03 in respect of prior calendar months.

“ Exchange Assignment Percentage ” means, with respect to any Exchange Shareholder at any time, a fraction (expressed as a percentage), (i) the
numerator of which is the total number of Exchange Shares owned by such Exchange Shareholder as of such time, and (ii) the denominator of which is the

total number of outstanding Exchange Shares as of such time.

“ Exchange Share Percentage ” means, as of any time, a fraction (expressed as a percentage), (i) the numerator of which is the total number of Exchange
Shares outstanding as of such time, and (ii) the denominator of which is the total number of outstanding Ordinary Shares as of such time.

“ Exchange Shareholders ” means the holders of Exchange Shares in their capacity as such.

“ Exchange Shares ” means the Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the Subscription Agreement dated as of [+] among the Company, Inalum and Inalum
SPV.

“ Gold Target ” means [*] ounces.

3 Note: If the transaction closes in 2019, “the date hereof” will be replaced with January 1, 2019.



“ Initial Period ” means the period ending on the earlier of (a) December 31, 2022 and (b) the Volume Target Date.

“ Interest Rate ” means a daily rate expressed as a percentage equal to LIBOR plus 6.00% per calendar year, divided by 365 or 366 calendar days, as the
case may be, during such calendar year.

“ Monthly Deficit Payment ” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit B.

“ Ordinary Shares ” means the ordinary shares of the Company, and any other security into which such shares may hereafter be converted or changed.

“ Payment Return ” means an amount calculated as of each Adjustment Date, beginning on the second Adjustment Date, equal to the sum of the amounts
determined for each day (including such Adjustment Date) since the immediately preceding Adjustment Date by multiplying the Interest Rate by the sum of
(i) the Unpaid Post-Cut-Off Payments and (ii) the Unpaid Payment Interest, in each case as of the immediately preceding Adjustment Date.

“ Pre-Exchange Percentage Interest ” means, with respect to any Pre-Exchange Shareholder at any time, a fraction (expressed as a percentage), (i) the
numerator of which is the total number of Pre-Exchange Shares owned by such Pre-Exchange Shareholder as of such time, and (ii) the denominator of
which is the total number of outstanding Pre-Exchange Shares as of such time.

“ Pre-Exchange Shareholders ” means the holders of Pre-Exchange Shares, in their capacity as such.

“ Pre-Exchange Shares ” means the Ordinary Shares outstanding as of immediately prior to the date hereof.

“ Restricted Cash ” means cash amounts of the Company that are reserved or are otherwise restricted from withdrawal pursuant to laws, regulations or
contractual arrangements with financial institutions or other third parties, including cash to secure financial assurance instruments.

“ Smelter Project ” means the new smelting and refining facility, including precious metal refining, required to be developed by the Company pursuant to
the ITUPK.

“ Specified Expansion Project ” means New Power Generation, SAG Pre-Crushers and C3 Ball Mill.

“ Unpaid Assigned Payments ~ means, at any time, the sum of (i) the Unpaid Post-Cut-Off Payments as of such time and (ii) the Unpaid Payment Interest
as of such time.

“ Unpaid Payment Interest ” means, as of each Adjustment Date beginning on the second Adjustment Date, (i) the Unpaid Payment Interest as of the
previous Adjustment Date plus (ii) the Payment Return since the previous Adjustment Date minus (iii) the amount of repayments since the previous
Adjustment Date that are deemed to be payments of Unpaid Payment Interest in accordance with Section 3.06(b).



“ Unpaid Post-Cut-Off Payments ” means, as of any time, the aggregate amount of any capital call(s) the Exchange Shareholders have failed to pay in
accordance with Section 3.02 or Section 3.03 or Section 3.04 as of such time.

“ Volume Target Date ” means the later of (a) the date on which the Company’s cumulative production and sales thereof of recovered copper in
concentrates following the date hereof exceeds the Copper Target and (b) the date on which the Company’s cumulative production and sales thereof of
recovered gold in concentrates following the date hereof exceeds the Gold Target. For purposes of this determination, if such date occurs (i) during the first
half of a month, the Volume Target Date will be deemed to be the last day of the immediately preceding month and (ii) during the second half of a month,
the Volume Target Date will be deemed to be the last day of such month.

ARTICLE 2

D IVIDEND A SSIGNMENT ; R EIMBURSEMENT

Section 2.01. Dividend Assignment.

(a) Pre-Cut-Off Dividends .

Each Exchange Shareholder (each in such capacity, an “ Assignor ) hereby assigns to the Pre-Exchange Shareholders ( pro rata in accordance with
their respective Pre-Exchange Percentage Interest) all of such Assignor’s right, title and interest in and to all dividends of Available Cash Flows
generated on or prior to the end of the Initial Period.

For the avoidance of doubt, dividends of Available Cash Flows generated on or prior to the end of the Initial Period may be made following the end of
the Initial Period and will remain subject to this provision.

(b) Payment of Assigned Dividends .

With respect to any dividend assigned to the Pre-Exchange Shareholders pursuant to Section 2.01(a) , the Parties hereby agree that the Company shall
make the payment of such assigned dividends directly to the applicable Pre-Exchange Shareholders (and not to the Assignors).



Section 2.02 Adjustments to Dividends.

(@

(b)

Overpayment during Pre-Cut Off Date .

To the extent that following the end of the Initial Period the Company:

i

il.

overpaid taxes with respect to the period prior to the end of the Initial Period; or
receives a payment relating to an extraordinary event occurring prior to the end of the Initial Period,

the amount of such overpayment or payment shall be deemed Available Cash Flows generated prior to the end of the Initial Period and,
promptly following receipt of the related tax refund or payment, be distributed to the Shareholders as a dividend (and, for the avoidance of
doubt, Section 2.01(a) would apply to such dividend).

Underpayment during Pre-Cut Off Date .

To the extent that following the end of the Initial Period the Company:

i.

ii.

iil.

determines or is subject to a ruling that it has underpaid or failed to pay taxes with respect to the period prior to the end of the Initial Period; or

incurs costs or payments (excluding costs and payments relating to the Smelter Project) attributable to an extraordinary event occurring prior to
the end of the Initial Period; or

Available Cash Flows are reduced in respect of the repayment of third party debt or Shareholder Loans (including interest thereon) incurred
prior to the end of the Initial Period (other than third party debt or Shareholder Loans made to fund the Smelter Project),

then such amount shall be applied as a reduction of Available Cash Flows generated prior to the end of the Initial Period and, to the extent
dividends paid to the Shareholders with Available Cash Flows generated prior to the end of the Initial Period exceed such reduced amount of
Available Cash Flows generated prior to the end of the Initial Period, then within five Business Days following such determination, incurrence
of cost or payment or reduction in Available Cash Flows, each Pre-Exchange Shareholder shall pay to the Exchange Shareholders ( pro rata in
accordance with their respective Exchange Assignment Percentage) an amount equal to such Pre-Exchange Shareholder’s Pre-Exchange
Percentage Interest of such excess multiplied by the Exchange Share Percentage in immediately available funds to an account or accounts

designated by the Exchange Shareholders, with the effect that the Shareholders receive such amount in proportion to their respective Percentage
Interests.



Section 2.03 Make Whole Note.

(@

(b)

©
(d

©

®

(8

(h)

Notwithstanding anything in the Dividend Policy to the contrary, within 30 days after the end of the Initial Period, the Company shall issue a dividend
payable as a note equal to the Monthly Deficit Payments payable in respect of the:

i. Cut-Off Date Copper Volume Deficit; and
ii. Cut-Off Date Gold Volume Deficit,

(the “ Make Whole Note ”’). The Make Whole Note will be repaid in monthly installments on the 20th day following the end of each calendar month
in an amount equal to the Monthly Deficit Payment payable with respect to the calendar month immediately preceding the month in which the
payment is made.

Each Exchange Shareholder hereby assigns to the Pre-Exchange Shareholders ( pro rata in accordance with their respective Pre-Exchange Percentage
Interest) all of such Assignor’s right, title and interest in and to the Monthly Deficit Payments.

The Make Whole Note shall not bear interest.

The Make Whole Note shall be repaid out of Available Cash Flow generated following the end of the Initial Period without duplication, in priority to
any dividends to the Shareholders.

Any Available Cash Flows generated in calendar months following the end of the Initial Period in excess of the Monthly Deficit Payment for such
month shall be distributed to the Shareholders as a dividend, subject to Section 3.06(b) and the Dividend Policy.

Within 30 days following each Adjustment Date, the Company shall provide the Shareholders a schedule setting forth the Cut-Off Copper Volume
Deficit and Cut-Off Gold Volume Deficit less Eligible Volumes of copper and gold used in the calculation of Monthly Deficit Payments paid in
respect of the Make Whole Note.

If there is a Close-down of the Company, the Make Whole Note will be cancelled and the Pre-Exchange Shareholders waive any and all rights to be
repaid any amount of the Make Whole Note that remains outstanding at the time.

Solely for accounting purposes, the parties intend to adjust the nominal value of the Make Whole Note as payments are made pursuant to this
Section 2.03 in a manner that tracks as closely as possible to the fair market value of the liability (it being understood and agreed that this
Section 2.03(h) shall not have any impact on the actual cash payments required to be made under this Section 2.03).



ARTICLE 3

F INANCING ; F UNDING ; S HAREHOLDER L OANS

Section 3.01. Project Financing.

Subject to the terms of the Shareholders Agreement, the Shareholders acknowledge that the Company intends to seek to secure third party project financing
with a target to maximize the funds for the development of the Smelter Project in the form of third party debt.

Section 3.02. Expansion Capex Payments.

(@

(b)

©

Subject to Section 3.02(b), in equal quarterly installments on the 20 th day following the end of each calendar quarter of each calendar year up to the
end of the Initial Period, the Exchange Shareholders ( pro rata in accordance with their respective Exchange Assignment Percentage) shall pay to the
Company as a capital contribution the amounts set forth in Exhibit A under the column “40% Share” for such calendar year (“ Fixed Capital
Payment ”); provided that, in the event the end of the Initial Period occurs on a date other than the last day of a calendar quarter, the last Fixed
Capital Payment shall be due 20 days following the end of the Initial Period and shall be reduced proportionately based on the number of days that
elapsed from the end of the prior calendar quarter through the end of the Initial Period. For the avoidance of doubt, all Fixed Capital Payments shall
be deemed Available Cash Flows generated prior to the end of the Initial Period, including the last Fixed Capital Payment, which will be required to
be made 20 days following the end of the Initial Period.

If any of the Specified Expansion Projects are deferred or cancelled and as a result of which the Company’s aggregate spending on such Specified
Expansion Project is less than what was projected to be spent in the applicable period when deriving the Fixed Capital Payments set forth on Exhibit
A, then a proportionate amount of the Fixed Capital Payment corresponding to the unspent amounts with respect to such Specified Expansion Project
for that calendar quarter will be deferred to the calendar quarter in which the corresponding cost for such Specified Expansion Project is incurred or
cancelled, as applicable.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 3.02 but without limiting the obligations of all Shareholders to make capital contributions in accordance
with Section 3.05(b), any amount of Fixed Capital Payments that are not incurred prior to the end of the Initial Period, are cancelled and are not
required to be paid by the Exchange Shareholders .



Section 3.03 Smelter Payments.

On the 20 th day following the end of each calendar quarter up to the end of the Initial Period (and, if the end of the Initial Period does not fall on the last
day of a calendar quarter, on the 20 th day following the end of the Initial Period), the Exchange Shareholders ( pro rata in accordance with their respective
Exchange Assignment Percentage) shall pay to the Company as a capital contribution the following amounts (and, for the avoidance of doubt, all such
capital contributions shall be deemed Available Cash Flows generated prior to the end of the Initial Period):

@

(i)

(iif)

the amount by which Available Cash Flows generated in the applicable calendar quarter are reduced in respect of the Exchange Share Percentage of
costs of the Company associated with the Smelter Project (excluding any such costs incurred prior to the date hereof), whether in the form of capital
costs, equity contributions or loans to a project company, debt service, treatment and refining charges, cash costs incurred for purposes of credit
support or otherwise, and any other payments relating to the Smelter Project; plus

without duplication of the amounts described in clause (i):
(A) the Exchange Share Percentage of Restricted Cash as of the date hereof to the extent relating to the Smelter Project ; and

(B) the Exchange Share Percentage of any increases in Restricted Cash in the applicable calendar quarter to the extent such increases relate to the
Smelter Project; less

in the case of each of clause (A) and (B), the Exchange Share Percentage of any reductions in Restricted Cash (to the extent received by the
Company) in the applicable calendar quarter to the extent such reductions relate to the to the Smelter Project); minus

the Exchange Share Percentage of the aggregate amount of capital calls and Shareholder Loans made in the applicable calendar quarter to fund the
Smelter Project.

Section 3.04 Restricted Cash Payment

On the 20 th day following the end of the Initial Period, the Exchange Shareholders (pro rata in accordance with their respective Exchange Assignment
Percentage) shall pay to the Company as a capital contribution the Exchange Share Percentage of Restricted Cash as of the end of the Initial Period to the
extent relating to any obligations that will arise or occur after the end of the Initial Period (other than relating to the Smelter Project). All such capital
contributions shall be deemed Available Cash Flows generated prior to the end of the Initial Period.



Section 3.05. Funding.

(@

(b)

Initial Period .

(i)  General . All capital calls made by the Company prior to the end of the Initial Period (other than capital calls in respect of the Smelter Project
and any capital calls under Section 3.03) shall be funded by the Pre-Exchange Shareholders pro rata in accordance with their respective
Pre-Exchange Percentage Interests, and the Exchange Shareholders shall bear no liability for such capital calls.

(ii)  Smelter Project . All capital calls made by the Company prior to the end of the Initial Period in respect of the Smelter Project (other than capital
calls made pursuant to Section 3.03) shall be funded by all Shareholders pro rata in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests.

Post-Initial Period .

Following the end of the Initial Period, all capital calls made by the Company shall be funded by all Shareholders pro rata in accordance with their
respective Percentage Interests.

Section 3.06 Failure to Fund

(@)

(b)

General .

If any Shareholder fails to fund any capital call it is required to fund in accordance with Section 3.05 and any other Shareholder is willing to provide
the Company with the funds sufficient to meet the obligations required by such capital call, all Shareholders who fund such capital call shall be
required to fund such capital call by way of a Shareholder Loan at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 6% per annum. The principal and interest on
Shareholder Loans shall be repaid in priority to any dividends to the Shareholders; provided that all Shareholder Loans made to fund obligations
relating to the Smelter Project shall not be repayable until after the end of the Initial Period.

Smelter and Expansion Capex.

An amount equal to (i) 250% multiplied by (ii) Unpaid Assigned Payments will be repaid by the Company to the Pre-Exchange Shareholders ( pro
rata based on their respective Pre-Exchange Percentage Interest) out of Available Cash Flows generated following the end of the Initial Period in
priority to any dividends to the Shareholders, but following the payments to be made under Section 2.03. Repayments under this Section 3.06(b) shall
(i) first, be deemed payments of Unpaid Payment Interest until the Unpaid Payment Interest is equal to zero and (ii) second, be deemed payments of
Unpaid Post-Cut-Off Payments.



Exhibit A — Expansion Capex Schedule



Exhibit A — Expansion Capex Schedule

$ millions
Specified Exg ion Project
Aggregate 40% Share
40% New Power SAG C3 New Power SAG C3
Aggregate Share Generation Pre-Crushers Ball Mill Generation Pre-Crushers Ball Mill
2018 $ 325 $130 $ 0 $ 1 $ 0 $ 0 $ 1 $ 0
2019 322 129 0 39 2 0 16 1
2020 413 165 25 64 20 10 26 8
2021 468 187 36 116 50 14 46 20

2022 474 190 213 60 28 85 24 11



Exhibit B — Monthly Deficit Payment

“ Monthly Deficit Payment ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) Pre-Tax Deficit Payment with respect to such month multiplied by (b) 75%
minus (c) Net Profits Tax with respect to such month.

kkck

“ Pre-Tax Deficit Payment ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) Deficit Net Revenues with respect to such calendar month minus (b) Deficit
Cost Share with respect to such calendar month.

“ Deficit Net Revenues ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) Deficit Copper Revenue with respect to such calendar month, p/us (b) Deficit Gold
Revenue with respect to such calendar month, minus (c) Deficit Copper TC/RCs with respect to such calendar month, minus (d) Deficit Gold RCs with
respect to such calendar month, minus () Deficit Copper Royalties with respect to such calendar month, minus (f) Deficit Gold Royalties with respect to
such calendar month, minus (g) Deficit Freight Cost with respect to such calendar month, minus (h) Deficit FFIJD Cost with respect to such calendar month.

“ Deficit Copper Revenue ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) Eligible Volume of copper in such month multiplied by (b) the average copper
price, before any deductions for TC/RCs, realized by the Company in such month.

“ Deficit Gold Revenue ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) Eligible Volume of gold in such month multiplied by (b) the average gold price,
before any deductions for TC/RCs, realized by the Company in such month.

“ Deficit Copper TC/RCs ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) actual Copper TC/RCs incurred on a $/Ib basis on sales to PT Smelting
multiplied by (b) Eligible Volume of copper for such calendar month.

“ Deficit Gold RCs ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) actual Gold RCs incurred on a $/0z basis on sales to PT Smelting multiplied by
(b) Eligible Volume of gold for such calendar month.

“ Deficit Copper Royalties ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) 4.00% multiplied by (b) (i) Deficit Copper Revenue for such month, minus
(i1) Deficit Freight Cost for such month minus (iii) Deficit Copper TC/RCs for such month.

“ Deficit Gold Royalties ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) 3.75% multiplied by (b) (i) Deficit Gold Revenue for such month minus
(ii) Deficit Gold RCs for such month.

“ Deficit Freight Cost ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) Eligible Volume of copper for such month multiplied by (b) the Company’s average
per pound freight cost for such month.



“ Deficit FFIJD Cost ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) 1.00% multiplied by (b) (i) Deficit Copper Revenue for such month, plus (ii) Deficit
Gold Revenue for such month, minus (iii) Deficit Copper TC/RCs for such month, minus (iv) Deficit Gold RCs for such month, minus (v) Deficit Copper
Royalties for such month minus (vi) Deficit Gold Royalties for such month.

“ Deficit Cost Share ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) the sum of the Company’s site operating costs for such month (excluding FFIJD and
smelter costs), the Company’s general and administrative (G&A) expenses for such calendar month as set forth in the Company’s income statement for such
month (excluding smelter-related expenses) and the Company’s sustaining capital for such month as set forth in the Company’s cash flow statement for
such month (excluding smelter) multiplied by (b) the Deficit Sharing Ratio for such month.

“ Deficit Sharing Ratio ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) Deficit Net Revenues for such month divided by (b) Company Net Revenues for
such month.

“ Company Net Revenues ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) the Company’s gross revenue for such month (including copper, gold and
silver), minus (b) the Company’s TC/RCs for such month as set forth on the Company’s income statement for such month, minus (c) royalties of the
Company in respect of copper, gold and silver for such month as set forth on the Company’s income statement for such month, minus (d) the Company’s
concentrate freight cost for such month as set forth on the Company’s income statement for such month, minus () the Company’s FFIJD for such month
(calculated as (x) 1% of (y) the Company’s gross revenue for such month (including copper, gold and silver) less the amounts deducted pursuant to clauses
(b) and (c) of this definition).

*3kok

“ Net Profits Tax ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) 10% multiplied by (b) (A) (i) Pre-Tax Deficit Payment for such month, plus (ii) Deficit
Sustaining Capital for such month, minus (iii) Deficit Book Depreciation for such month multiplied by (B) 75%.

“ Deficit Sustaining Capital ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) the Company’s sustaining capital for such month as set forth in the
Company’s cash flow statement for such month (excluding smelter) multiplied by (b) the Deficit Sharing Ratio for such month.

“ Deficit Book Depreciation ” means, with respect to any calendar month, (a) the depreciation, depletion and amortization (DD&A) of the Company for
such month as set forth on the Company’s income statement for such month (excluding smelter) multiplied by (b) the Deficit Sharing Ratio for such month.

EE TS

An example of the calculation is set forth below:



Schedule 15
Definitions and Interpretation

1.

Definitions . In this Agreement, the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings:
Affiliate means, in relation to any Party or other Undertaking (the relevant person ):

(a) any person Controlled by the relevant person (whether directly or indirectly);

(b) any person Controlling (directly or indirectly) the relevant person;

(c) any person Controlled (whether directly or indirectly) by any person Controlling the relevant person; and
(d) in the case of the PTII Sellers, includes each other member of the PTII Sellers’ Group,

and PTII shall be deemed to be (i) an Affiliate of the PTII Sellers and their Affiliates at any time prior to Closing, and (ii) an Affiliate of Inalum and
its Affiliates at any time after Closing; provided that PTFI shall not be considered an Affiliate of any Party and neither the Government of Indonesia
nor any Indonesian Government Authority shall be considered an Affiliate or an Associated Person of Inalum or its Affiliates;

Agreed Form means, in relation to a document, the form of that document which has been initialled on the date of this Agreement for the purpose of
identification by or on behalf of the Parties (in each case with such amendments as may be agreed in writing by or on behalf of each Party);

Agreed Form Announcements means (a) the announcement in the Agreed Form proposed to be made by FCX in respect of the Divestment
Transaction, (b) the announcement in the Agreed Form proposed to be made by Inalum in respect of the Divestment Transaction, and (c) the
announcement(s) in the Agreed Form proposed to be made by PTII in respect of the Divestment Transaction as required by Indonesian Law;

Anti-Bribery Law means the applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and anti-money laundering laws, rules, regulations, decrees, and/or official
government orders of any governmental body of Indonesia and the United States, including the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977,
Republic of Indonesia Law No. 31 of 1999 regarding Eradication of Criminal Acts of Corruption, as amended by Law No. 20 of 2011, and any other
applicable legislation implementing either the United Nations Convention Against Corruption or the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of
Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions;

Anti-Tax Evasion Law means:

(a) any Law prohibiting fraudulent or dishonest (a) failure to pay any amount of Tax to the relevant Tax Authority within any applicable time limit
for the payment of such Tax without incurring interest and/or penalties, and/or (b) claims for any Relief ( Tax Evasion) ; and
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(b) any Law prohibiting the facilitation of Tax Evasion;

in each case including Title 26, Section 7201 et seq . of the United States Code, Republic of Indonesia Law No. 14 of 2002 on Tax Court and
Republic of Indonesia Law No. 16 of 2009 on General Provision of Tax and its accompanying regulations;

Associated Person means, in relation to a company, a person (including any director, officer, employee, agent or other intermediary) who holds
shares of capital stock, partnership interests, limited liability company membership interests and units, shares, interest and other participations in that
company (in each case when performing such services or acting in such capacity);

Authorisation means an authorisation (public or private), licence, permission, consent, declaration, exemption, notarisation or waiver, however it is
described, and includes any renewal or amendment of them;

Business means the business conducted by PTIL, PTFI or PTRTI (as applicable) as at the date of this Agreement;

Business Day means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday in the United States or Indonesia on which banks are open in New York
and Jakarta for general commercial business;

Circular Resolution means the resolution of the shareholders of PTII in the Agreed Form, approving, with effect on and from Closing: (i) the sale and
transfer of the PTII Shares from the PTII Sellers to Inalum, (ii) the resignation of each of the directors and commissioners nominated by the PTII
Sellers to the board of directors and board of commissioners of PTIIL, (iii) the appointment of such persons as directors and commissioners to the
board of directors and board of commissioners of PTII as nominated by Inalum and (iv) the change of shareholders’ composition of PTFI as a result
of the PTFI Subscription, to be reflected by confirmation through the online single submission system operated by the Coordinating Ministry for
Economic Affairs;

Claim means, in relation to any person, any claim, cause of action, dispute, prosecution, litigation, proceeding, arbitration, mediation, dispute
resolution or demand made against the person concerned, however it arises;

Closing means completion of the Divestment Transaction in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and Close shall be construed
accordingly;

Closing Date means the date which is five Business Days after each of the Conditions Precedent has been satisfied or (where capable of waiver)
waived under Clause 5, or such other date agreed in writing between the Parties;

Closing Time means 00:01 (Jakarta time) on the Closing Date, or such other time agreed in writing between the Parties;

Conditions Precedent has the meaning given to it in Clause 6.1;
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Confidential Information has the meaning given to in Clause 32.1;

Constitutional Documents means, with respect to any entity, its memorandum and articles of association, by-laws or equivalent constitutional
documents;

Contract of Work means the Contract of Work between PTFI and the Government of the Republic of Indonesia dated 30 December 1991;
Control means, in relation to any Undertaking (being the Controlled Person ), being:

(a) entitled to exercise, or control the exercise of (directly or indirectly) more than 50% of the voting power at any general meeting of the
shareholders, members or partners or other equity holders (and including, in the case of a limited partnership, of the limited partners of) (or in
the case of a trust, of the beneficiaries thereof) in respect of all or substantially all matters falling to be decided by resolution or meeting of such
persons;

(b) entitled to appoint or remove or control the appointment or removal of:

@) directors on the Controlled Person’s board of directors or its other governing body (or, in the case of a limited partnership, of the board
or other governing body of its general partner) who are able (in the aggregate) to exercise more than 50% of the voting power at
meetings of that board or governing body in respect of all or substantially all matters;

(ii) any managing member of such Controlled Person;
(iii)  in the case of a limited partnership its general partner; or
(iv)  inthe case of a trust, its trustee and/or manager; or

(c) entitled to exercise a dominant influence over the Controlled Person (otherwise than solely as a fiduciary) by virtue of the provisions contained
in its constitutional documents or, in the case of a trust, trust deed or pursuant to an agreement with other shareholders, partners, members or
beneficiaries of the Controlled Person such that it has the capacity to determine the outcomes of the financial and operating policies of the
Controlled Person,

and Controller , Controlled , and Controlling shall be construed accordingly;
Costs means losses, damages, costs (including reasonable legal costs) and expenses (including Taxation), in each case of any nature whatsoever;
Current Tax Disputes has the meaning set forth in Clause 11.2.

Data Room means the data room comprising the documents and other information relating to PTII and PTFI made available by the PTII Sellers as
listed on the data room index in the Agreed Form;

Default Interest means interest at LIBOR plus 6%;
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Disclosure Materials means the documents, information and materials listed in the Data Room, including all responses to questions posted in that
online data room prior to the date hereof, or otherwise in writing to Inalum or any of its Representatives before the date of this Agreement;

Dispute has the meaning given to it in Clause 46.2;
Divestment Transaction has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

Economic Sanctions Law means any economic or financial sanctions administered by OFAC, the US State Department, the United Nations, the
European Union or any member state thereof, or any other national economic sanctions authority;

End Date means December 31, 2018 as extended in accordance with Clause 6.3;

Environment means:

(a) any ecological systems or components thereof (including living organisms existing in such systems);

(b) the living organisms which live in (a) (including persons, communities of people and their property); and

(c) all or any of the following media: air (including the air within buildings or other natural or man-made structures above or below ground), water
(including territorial, coastal and in-land waters, water under or within land and water in drains and sewers) and land (including land under
water);

Environmental Law means any and all Laws relating in any way to Environmental Matters;

Environmental Matters means all matters relating to the pollution or protection of the Environment and the remediation or compensation for any
pollution of, or damage to, the Environment;

Equity Interest means shares, shares of capital stock, partnership interests, limited liability company membership interests and units, interests and
other participations in the equity of an entity;

Exchange Rate means, with respect to a particular currency for a particular day, the spot rate of exchange (the closing mid-point) for that currency
into US$ on such date as published in the London edition of the Financial Times first published thereafter or, where no such rate is published in
respect of that currency for such date, at the rate quoted by Citibank N.A. as at the close of business in London on such date;

FCX has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause;

Financial Debt means borrowings and indebtedness in the nature of borrowings (including by way of acceptance credits, discounting or similar
facilities, loan stocks, bonds, debentures, notes, overdrafts or any other similar arrangements the purpose of which is to raise money) owed to any
banking, financial, acceptance credit, lending or other similar institution or organisation;
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Fundamental Warranties means the warranties set forth in Clauses 1.1, 1.2, 1.3,1.4,1.6,1.7,1.8,1.9, 1.11, 1.12,2.1,2.2,2.3,2.4, 2.5, 2.6 and 3 of
Schedule 4.

Government Approval means the approval or consent of any Governmental Authority;
Government of Indonesia means the government of the Republic of Indonesia;

Government Official means any person qualifying as a public official or a “foreign official” under the laws of the United States or Indonesia, or any
of the other Anti-Bribery Laws, including, without limitation, (i) a person holding an official position, such as an employee, officer, or director, with
any government, or agency, department,; (ii) any person “acting in an official capacity,” such as a delegation of authority, from a government, or
agency, department, or instrumentality thereof, to carry out official responsibilities, including a specific project assignment; or (iii) an official of a
public international organization such as the United Nations, the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund, or a regional development bank;

Governmental Authority means:

(a) the government of any jurisdiction (or any political or administrative subdivision thereof), whether provincial, central, regional or local, and any
department, ministry, agency, instrumentality, court, central bank or other authority thereof, including any entity directly or indirectly owned or
controlled thereby;

(b) any public international organisation or supranational body (including the European Union) and its institutions, departments, agencies and
instrumentalities; and

(c) any quasi-governmental or private body or agency lawfully exercising, or entitled to exercise, any administrative, executive, judicial,
legislative, regulatory, licensing, competition, Tax or other governmental or quasi-governmental authority;

Gross Negligence means any act or failure to act (whether sole, joint or concurrent) by a person which was in reckless disregard of or wanton
indifference to, harmful consequences such person knew, or should have known, such act or failure to act would have had on the safety or property of
another person or entity;

Inalum has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause;
Inalum Group means Inalum and its Affiliates from time to time, which from Closing shall include PTII;

Inalum’s Bank Account means Inalum’s bank account designated in writing to the PTII Sellers at least three Business Days prior to Closing;
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Indonesian Company Law means Law No. 40 of 2007 (of the Republic of Indonesia) on Limited Liability Companies including any implementing
regulation thereof (as may be amended and/or replaced from time to time);

Indonesian Withholding Tax means any Indonesian withholding tax due including under the Decree of the Indonesian Ministry of Finance Number
434/KMK.04/ 1999 dated 24 August 1999;

ISLLC has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause;

IUPK means an Izin Usaha Pertambangan Khusus (Special Mining Business Licence) issued by the MEMR to PTFI;
JFTC means the Japan Fair Trade Commission;

KFTC means the Korean Fair Trade Commission;

KPPU means Komisi Pengawas Persaingan Usaha ;

Last Accounts (PTFI) means the audited financial statements of PTFI for the financial year ended on the Last Accounts Date and which comprises a
statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss or other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
as set out in the Data Room together with any notes, reports, statements or documents included in or annexed or attached to them;

Last Accounts (PTII) means the audited financial statements of PTII for the financial year ended on the Last Accounts Date and which comprises a
statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss or other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
as set out in the Data Room together with any notes, reports, statements or documents included in or annexed or attached to them;

Last Accounts Date (PTFI) means December 31, 2017;
Last Accounts Date (PTII) means December 31, 2017;

Law means any statute, law, rule, regulation, guideline, ordinance, code, policy or rule of common law (if any) issued, administered or enforced by
any Governmental Authority, or any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof as in force at the date of this Agreement;

LIBOR means, with respect to calculation of interest for any period, the London interbank offered rate as administered by ICE Benchmark
Administration (or any other Person that takes over the administration of such rate) for deposits in U.S. dollars for a 180-day period which appears on
the Reuters screen LIBORO1 or LIBOR02 page that displays such rate (or, in the event such rate does not appear on such Reuters page or screen, on
the page or screen used by the administrative agent under the credit agreement of the ultimate parent company of Freeport to determine the rate
applicable to Eurodollar loans under such credit agreement or, if no such credit agreement is then in effect, on the page or screen mutually agreed by
the Parties) at or about 11:00 a.m. London time two business days in London before the first day of such period; provided that if LIBOR as so
determined shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be
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zero for the purposes of this Agreement; provided, further, that, if two or more such offered rates are indicated on such page, LIBOR shall be the rate
that equals the arithmetic mean (expressed as a decimal fraction to five decimal places) of such offered rates, and provided further that if such interest
period is not equal to any period shown on such page, LIBOR shall be the rate determined by interpolation from the rates for the next longer and next
shorter periods shown on such page, using the number of days as the basis for the interpolation, expressed as a decimal fraction to five decimal places.
If at any time LIBOR cannot be determined as set forth in the preceding sentence and such inability to determine LIBOR is not likely to be temporary,
then (i) the rate shall be equal to the rate used by the administrative agent under the credit agreement of FCX to determine the rate applicable to
Eurodollar loans under such credit agreement or (ii) if no such credit agreement is then in effect, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to establish
an alternate rate of interest to LIBOR that gives due consideration to the then prevailing market convention for determining a rate of interest for
syndicated loans in the United States at such time and, in each case, shall enter into an amendment to this Agreement to reflect such alternate rate of
interest and such other related changes to this Agreement as may be applicable;

Loss means any loss, damage, liability, compensation, fine, penalty, charge, payment, cost or expense (including reasonable legal cost and expense)
incurred or suffered by the person concerned, however it arises and whether it is present or future; provided that Loss shall not include any loss of
profit (except to the extent constituting direct damages), diminution of value (except to the extent constituting direct damages), loss of goodwill or
possible business after Closing, whether actual or prospective, or for any punitive, special, indirect or consequential loss;

LTIP has the meaning given to it in the Shareholders Agreement;

Material Adverse Effect means a material adverse effect on the financial condition, business, assets or results of operations of PTFI and the PTFI
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, provided that none of the following events, changes, developments, conditions, circumstances, occurrences or state of
facts shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been or may be a Material Adverse Effect: (A) changes in Indonesian generally
accepted accounting principles or changes in the regulatory accounting requirements applicable to any industry in which PTFI and the PTFI
Subsidiaries operate, (B) changes in the general economic or political conditions or (C) changes (including changes of Applicable Law and price
changes with respect to copper or gold) or conditions generally affecting the industry in which PTFI and the PTFI Subsidiaries operate, (D) acts of
war, sabotage or terrorism or natural disasters, (E) the announcement or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (F) any
action taken that is required, expressly contemplated or permitted pursuant to this Agreement.

MEMR means the Minister of Energy and Mineral Resources of the Republic of Indonesia;

Merger Deed has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

SNG408460 84/95



New Licences and Approvals means the licences and approvals listed in Schedule 11 in the form agreed between PTFI and the Government of
Indonesia;

Notice of Dispute has the meaning given to it in Clause 46.2;
OFAC means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the US Department of the Treasury;

Ordinary Shares means the ordinary shares of PTFI, having par value IDR199,000 (equal to US$100), and any other security into which such shares
may hereafter be converted or changed;

Participation Agreement means the participation agreement between PTFI and PTRTI dated 11 October 1996 (as amended from time to time);
Payee Party has the meaning given to it in Clause 26.2;

Paying Party has the meaning given to it in Clause 26.2;

PCC means the Philippine Competition Commission;

Person of Concern means (i) a Government Official; (ii) a political party, an official of a political party (including any member of an advisory
council or executive council of a political party), or a candidate for political office; (iii) an immediate family member, such as a parent, spouse,
sibling, or child of a person in either of categories (i) and (ii) above; or (iv) an agent, intermediary, or close business associate of any person in any of
the foregoing categories;

PTFI has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause;
PTFI Board Resolution means resolutions of the Board of Directors of PTFI:

(a) establishing the sub-committees of the Board of Directors of PTFI, appointing their members and setting out their roles and responsibilities as
required pursuant to the agreed governance structure set forth in the Shareholders Agreement;

(b) adopting and approving the LTIP as the long-term investment plan of PTFI;

(c) approving the acquisition of the PTRTI Shares; and

(d) approving the change of name of PTRTI in accordance with this Agreement;

PTFI Circular Resolution means the resolution of the shareholders of PTFI in the Agreed Form, approving, with effect from Closing:

(a) the new composition of the Board of Directors and Board of Commissioners of PTFI as agreed between FCX and Inalum consistent with the
provisions of the Shareholders Agreement;

(b) the replacement of the Articles of Association of PTFI with new Articles of Association as agreed between FCX and Inalum consistent with the
provisions in the Shareholders Agreement;
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(c) the acquisition of the PTRTI Shares; and

(d) the change of name of PTRTI in accordance with this Agreement;
PTFI Group means PTFI and its Affiliates from time to time;

PTFI Subscribers means Inalum and PTII;

PTFI Subscription has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

PTFI Subscription Agreement has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);
PTFI Subsidiaries means each of:

(a) PT Smelting;

(b)  PT Freeport Management;

(c) PT Airfast Aviation Facilities;

(d) PT Kencana Wisata Nusakarya;

(e) PT Kencana Infra Nusakarya;

(f) PT Mitradaya Vulkanisindo; and

(g) PT Pangansari Utama Mitra.

PTFI Shares (Inalum) has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);
PTFI Shares (PTII) has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

PTII has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause;

PTII Deed of Acquisition of Shares means the deed of transfer of PTII Shares in the form set out in Schedule 8 in Bahasa Indonesia (with any
amendments reasonably required by the Indonesian notary public before which the document will be executed) pursuant to which FCX’s PTII Shares
are transferred from FCX to Inalum,;

PTII Deed of Transfer of Shares means the deed of transfer of PTII Shares in the form set out in Schedule 9 in Bahasa Indonesia (with any
amendments reasonably required by the Indonesian notary public before which the document will be executed) pursuant to which ISLLC’s PTII
Shares are transferred from ISLLC to Inalum;

PTII Group means PTII and its Affiliates from time to time;

PTII Interest Shares means 21,300 ordinary shares in PTFI, being all the shares in PTFI to which PTII is the registered holder or beneficial owner;
PTII Price has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.1;

PTII Records has the meaning given to it in Clause 20.1;

PTII Sellers has the meaning given to it in the Parties clause;
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PTII Sellers’ Bank Account means the PTII Sellers’ bank account designated in writing to Inalum at least three Business Days prior to Closing;
PTII Sellers’ Group means any Affiliate of FCX and which up until Closing shall include PTII;

PTII Sellers’ Warranties means the warranties given pursuant to Clause 10 and set out in Schedule 4 and PTII Sellers’ Warranty shall be construed
accordingly;

PTII Sellers’ Warranty Claim means a Claim for a breach of any PTII Sellers’ Warranty;
PTII Share Transfer has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

PTII Shares has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

PTII Subsidiaries means each of:

(a) PT Freeport Indonesia;

(b) PT Irja Eastern Minerals; and

(c) PT Mineserve International;

PTRTI means PT Rio Tinto Indonesia, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia with registered office at 31 st Floor,
Menara BTPN, J1. Dr. Ide Anak Gde Agung Kav. 5.5-5.6, Mega Kuningan, Jakarta 12950, Indonesia;

PTRTI Buyout has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

PTRTI Buyout Agreement means the agreement between Inalum and the PTRTI Sellers governing the PTRTI Buyout, pursuant to which Inalum will
nominate PTFI as the purchaser of the PTRTI Shares;

PTRTI Buyout Agreement has the meaning given to it in Clause 21.1;

PTRTI Records has the meaning given to it in Clause 22.2;

PTRTI Sellers means Rio Tinto Indonesian Holdings Limited and Rio Tinto Nominees Limited;

PTRTI Sellers’ Group means the PTRTI Sellers and any of their Affiliates and which up until Closing shall include PTRTI;
PTRTI Shares has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

Relief includes, unless the context otherwise requires, any allowance, credit, deduction, exemption or set off in respect of any Tax or relevant to the
computation of any income, profits or gains for the purposes of any Tax, or any right to or actual repayment of or saving of Tax (including any
repayment supplement, fee or interest in respect of Tax), and any reference to the use or set off of Relief shall be construed accordingly;
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Representatives means, in relation to a Party, its Affiliates and the commissioners, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers, accountants and
consultants of that Party and/or of its Affiliates;

Requesting Party has the meaning given to it in Clause 32.4;
Returning Party has the meaning given to it in Clause 32.4;
SAMR means China’s State Administration for Market Regulation;
Sanctioned Person means any person, organization or vessel:

(a) designated on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons maintained by OFAC, the Consolidated List of Financial
Sanctions Targets or list of Investment Ban Targets, the Consolidated List of Persons, Groups and Entities Subject to EU Financial Sanctions
maintained by the European Commission, or any other list of targeted persons, entities, groups or bodies issued by the UN, US, EU, UK (or any
other member state of the EU);

(b) thatis, or is part of, a government of a Sanctioned Territory;

(c) owned or controlled by, or acting on behalf of, any of the foregoing;

(d) incorporated or located within or operating from a Sanctioned Territory; or
(e)  otherwise targeted under any Economic Sanctions Law;

Sanctioned Territory means any country or other territory subject to a general export, import, financial or investment embargo under any Economic
Sanctions Law (including, but not limited to, Iran, Syria, Sudan, Cuba and North Korea);

Services Agreement means the services agreement in the form scheduled to the Shareholders Agreement;
Shareholders Agreement has the meaning given to it in Recital (B);

Tax or Taxation means (a) taxes on gross or net income, profits and gains, and (b) all other taxes, levies, duties, imposts, charges and withholdings of
any nature, including any excise, property, wealth, capital, value added, sales, transfer, franchise and payroll taxes (including national insurance or
social security contributions), the clawback or other recovery of any credit or other amount previously paid by a Tax Authority, and any payment
which the relevant person may be or become bound to make to any person as a result of the discharge by that person of any tax which the relevant
person has failed to discharge, together with all penalties, charges, fees and interest relating to any of the foregoing or to any late or incorrect return in
respect of any of them, and regardless of whether such taxes, levies, duties, imposts, charges, withholdings, penalties and interest are chargeable
directly or primarily against or attributable directly or primarily to the relevant person or any other person and of whether any amount in respect of
them is recoverable from any other person;
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Tax Authority means any taxing or other authority competent to impose any Tax, or assess, collect or repay or otherwise provide credit in respect of
any Tax;

Third Party Claim has the meaning given in Clause 15;
Third Party Right means:

(a) any right of any person to acquire property or to restrain someone from acquiring property under an option, a right of pre-emption, a right of
first refusal, or a right of conversion;

(b) any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, assignment, hypothecation, security interest, power of attorney or title retention arrangement, a right of
set-off or a right to withhold payment of a deposit or other money;

(c) any easement, restrictive covenant, caveat or similar restriction over property; or
(d) any agreement to create any of the above or to allow any of the above to exist;
Transaction Approvals means the approvals in respect of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents as listed in Schedule 10;

Transaction Documents means this Agreement, the PTII Deed of Acquisition of Shares, the PTII Deed of Transfer of Shares, the I[UPK, the PTRTI
Buyout Agreement, the PTFI Subscription Agreement, the Shareholders Agreement and the Merger Deed;

transfer means, in relation to any Share, to:

(a) sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of them or any interest in them (including the grant of any option over or in respect of them);
(b) create or permit to subsist any Third Party Right over or in them;

(c) direct (by way of renunciation or otherwise) that another person should, or assign any right to, receive them;

(d) enter into any agreement in respect of the votes or any other rights attached to them (other than by way of proxy for a particular sharecholder
meeting); or

(e) agree, whether or not subject to any condition precedent or subsequent, to do any of the foregoing,
and transferred shall be construed accordingly;
Transfer Taxes has the meaning given to it in Clause 28.2;

Undertaking means a body corporate or partnership or unincorporated association or trust carrying on trade or business with or without a view to
profit. In relation to an undertaking which is not a company, expressions in this Agreement appropriate to companies are to be construed as references
to the corresponding persons, officers, documents or agents (as the case may be) appropriate to undertakings of that description;
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US/Indonesia Double Taxation Agreement means the Convention between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of
the Republic of Indonesia for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income signed on
11 July 1988 (as amended by 1996 Protocol signed on 24 July 1996).

VAT means value added tax and any similar sales or turnover tax; and

Working Hours means 9.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. on a Business Day in the place of receipt of a notice.

2. Interpretation . In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

(a) references to a person include any individual, firm, body corporate (wherever incorporated), government, state or agency of a state or any joint
venture, association, partnership, works council or employee representative body (whether or not having separate legal personality);

(b) references to a paragraph, Clause or Schedule shall refer to those of this Agreement unless stated otherwise;

(c) headings do not affect the interpretation of this Agreement; the singular shall include the plural and vice versa; and references to one gender
include all genders;

(d) references to USS are references to the lawful currency from time to time of the United States of America;

(e) for the purposes of applying a reference to a monetary sum expressed in US$, an amount in a different currency shall be deemed to be an
amount in USS translated at the Exchange Rate at the relevant date (which, in relation to a Claim (including in relation to a warranty provided
in this Agreement), shall be the date of the receipt of notice of that Claim under Schedule 5);

(f)  unless otherwise expressly stated, all obligations to be performed or owed by the PTII Sellers or any of them are deemed to obligations of both
PTII Sellers and the liability of each of them, including for breach of a PTII Sellers’ Warranty, shall be joint and several;

(g) “writing”, “written” and comparable terms refer to printing, typing and other means of reproducing words (including electronic media) in a
visible form;

(h) references to any document, agreement or contract are to that document, agreement or contract as amended, modified, replaced, novated or
supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof;

(i)  this Agreement is not to be interpreted against the interests of a Party merely because that party proposed this Agreement or some version of it

or because that Party relies on a provision of this Agreement to protect itself;
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(j)  any statement in this Agreement qualified by the expression so far as the PTII Sellers are aware or any similar expression shall be deemed
only to be made on the basis of the actual knowledge after making reasonable inquiry with respect to the particular matter in question, at the
date of this Agreement, of the following persons:

Name

Kathleen Quirk
Douglas Currault
Dean Falgoust

Rob Schroeder
Tony Wenas

Mark Johnson
Clementino Lamury

(k)  any statement in this Agreement qualified by the expression so far as Inalum is aware or any similar expression shall be deemed only to be
made on the basis of the actual knowledge after making reasonable inquiry with respect to the particular matter in question, at the date of this
Agreement, of the following persons:

Name

Budi Gunadi Sadikin
Orias Petrus Moedak
Ogi Prastomiyono
Elizabeth Silalahi

(I)  any obligation on the part of a Party to procure or ensure any act or omission by another, whether or not that other is also under a contractual or
other obligation with regard to that act or omission, shall take effect as a primary obligation of the first Party and not as a guarantee or other
secondary obligation; and

(m) any phrase introduced by the terms including, include, in particular or any similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit
the sense of the words preceding those terms.

3. Enactments . Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any express reference to a Law (which includes any legislation in any
jurisdiction) includes references to (a) that Law as amended, consolidated or re-enacted by or under any other Law before or after the date of this
Agreement, (b) any Law which that Law re-enacts (with or without modification), and (c) any subordinate legislation (including regulations) made
(before or after the date of this Agreement) under that Law, as amended, consolidated or re-enacted as described at (a) or (b) above, except to the
extent that any of the matters referred to in (a) to (c) occurs after the date of this Agreement and increases or alters the liability of each PTII Seller or
Inalum under this Agreement.
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4. Schedules . The Schedules comprise schedules to this Agreement and form part of this Agreement.

5. Inconsistencies . Where there is any inconsistency between the definitions set out in this Schedule 15 and the definitions set out in any Clause or any
other Schedule, then, for the purposes of construing such Clause or Schedule, the definitions set out in such Clause or Schedule shall prevail to the
extent of any inconsistency.
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SIGNATURE

Each of the undersigned (i) represents that it has read this Agreement, including Clause 47 ( Governing Language ) of this Agreement, and
understands its English language contents and its consequences, (ii) represents that it has made and entered into this Agreement freely and without
duress, (iii) represents that it has received independent legal advice with regard to this Agreement, and (iv) undertakes that it will not challenge the
validity of this Agreement based on any failure to comply with Law No. 24 of 2009 of the Republic of Indonesia on the National Flag, Language,
Coat of Arms and National Anthem or the implementing Presidential Regulation (when issued).

Setiap penandatangan dengan ini (i) menyatakan bahwa pihaknya telah membaca Perjanjian ini, termasuk Pasal 47 (Bahasa) Perjanjian ini, dan
memahami isinya yang dibuat dalam Bahasa Inggris dan akibat Perjanjian ini, (ii) menyatakan bahwa pihaknya telah membuat dan menandatangani
Perjanjian ini secara sukarela tanpa adanya paksaan, (iii) menyatakan bahwa pihaknya telah menerima nasihat oleh penasihat hukum independen
berkenaan dengan Perjanjian ini dan (iv) berjanji bahwa pihaknya tidak akan menolak keabsahan Perjanjian ini atas dasar tidak ditaatinya Undang-
undang No 24 atau Peraturan Presiden pelaksanaannya (pada saat diterbitkan).
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This Agreement is signed by duly authorised representatives of the Parties:

SIGNED
for and on behalf of
FREEPORT-MCMORAN INC.

SIGNED
for and on behalf of
INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT LLC

SIGNED
for and on behalf of
PT FREEPORT INDONESIA

SNG408460

)
)
)
SIGNATURE:

NAME:

)
)
)

SIGNATURE:

NAME:

)
)
)

SIGNATURE:

NAME:

/s/ Richard C. Adkerson

Richard C. Adkerson

/s/ Kathleen L. Quirk

Kathleen L. Quirk

/s/ Kathleen L. Quirk

Kathleen L. Quirk
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SIGNED
for and on behalf of
PT INDOCOPPER INVESTAMA

SIGNED

for and on behalf of

PT INDONESIA ASAHAN
ALUMINIUM
(PERSERO)

SNG408460

)
)
)

SIGNATURE:

NAME:

SIGNATURE:

NAME:

/s/ Kathleen L. Quirk

Kathleen L. Quirk

/s/ Budi G. Sadikin

Budi G. Sadikin
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Exhibit 15.1

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Freeport-McMoRan Inc.:

We are aware of the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

-

A WN
—_— 2 = =

9]

8)
9)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-85803) pertaining to the Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-105535) pertaining to the Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-115292) pertaining to the Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. 2004 Director Compensation Plan,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-136084) pertaining to the Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-141358) pertaining to the Phelps Dodge 2003 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan and the Phelps
Dodge 1998 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-147413) pertaining to the Amended and Restated Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. 2006 Stock
Incentive Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-189047) pertaining to the Plains Exploration & Production Company 2010 Incentive Award Plan; the Plains
Exploration & Production 2004 Stock Incentive Plan; the McMoRan Exploration Co. Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan; the McMoRan
Exploration Co. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated; the McMoRan Exploration Co. 2004 Director Compensation Plan, as amended
and restated; the McMoRan Exploration Co. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated; the McMoRan Exploration Co. 2001 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended and restated; the McMoRan Exploration Co. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated; the McMoRan
Exploration Co. 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated; and the McMoRan Exploration Co. 1998 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee
Directors, as amended and restated,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-212523) pertaining to the Freeport-McMoRan Inc. 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, and

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-226675) pertaining to the Freeport-McMoRan Inc. 2018

Automatic Shelf Registration Statement.

of our report dated November 9, 2018 relating to the unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of Freeport-McMoRan Inc. that is included in its Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018 .

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
November 9, 2018



Exhibit 31.1
Certification

I, Richard C. Adkerson, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Freeport-McMoRan Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(b)

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: November 9, 2018

/s/ Richard C. Adkerson

Richard C. Adkerson

Vice Chairman,

President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
Certification

I, Kathleen L. Quirk, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Freeport-McMoRan Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(b)

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: November 9, 2018

/s/ Kathleen L. Quirk
Kathleen L. Quirk

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Freeport-McMoRan Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ending
September 30, 2018 , as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Richard C. Adkerson, as Vice
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Dated: November 9, 2018

/s/ Richard C. Adkerson
Richard C. Adkerson
Vice Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of § 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Freeport-McMoRan Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ending
September 30, 2018 , as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Kathleen L. Quirk, as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to
§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of her knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Dated: November 9, 2018

/s/ Kathleen L. Quirk
Kathleen L. Quirk

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of § 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.



Exhibit 95.1
Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) Safety Data

FCX's U.S. mining operations are subject to regulations issued by MSHA under the U.S. Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the Mine Act). MSHA
inspects our U.S. mines on a regular basis and issues various citations and orders when it believes a violation has occurred under the Mine Act. Whenever
MSHA issues a citation or order, it also generally proposes a civil penalty, or fine, related to the alleged violation. Citations or orders can be contested and
appealed, and as part of that process, are often reduced in severity and amount, and are sometimes dismissed. The number of citations, orders and proposed
assessments varies depending on the size and type (underground or surface) of the mine, among other factors.

The following disclosures have been provided pursuant to Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the Act).

Mine Safety Data . Following provides additional information about references used in the following table to describe the categories of violations, orders or
citations issued by MSHA under the Mine Act:

» Section 104 S&S Citations : Citations issued by MSHA under Section 104(a) of the Mine Act for violations of health or safety standards that could
significantly and substantially contribute to a serious injury if left unabated.

» Section 104(b) Orders : Orders issued under Section 104(b) of the Mine Act, which represent a failure to abate a citation under Section 104(a) within the
period prescribed by MSHA. This results in an order of immediate withdrawal from the area of the mine affected by the condition until MSHA determines
that the violation has been abated.

« Section 104(d) Citations and Orders : Citations and orders issued by MSHA under Section 104(d) of the Mine Act for unwarrantable failure to comply
with mandatory health or safety standards. These types of violations could significantly and substantially contribute to a serious injury; however, the
conditions do not cause imminent danger (refer to discussion of imminent danger orders below).

« Section 110(b)(2) Violations : Flagrant violations identified by MSHA under Section 110(b)(2) of the Mine Act. The term flagrant with respect to a
violation is defined as “a reckless or repeated failure to make reasonable efforts to eliminate a known violation of a mandatory health or safety standard
that substantially and proximately caused, or reasonably could have expected to cause, death or serious bodily injury.”

+ Section 107(a) Orders : Orders issued by MSHA under Section 107(a) of the Mine Act for situations in which MSHA determined an imminent danger
existed. Orders issued under Section 107(a) of the Mine Act require the operator of the mine to cause all persons (except authorized persons) to be
withdrawn from the mine until the imminent danger and the conditions that caused such imminent danger cease to exist.



The following table details the violations, citations and orders issued to us by MSHA during the three months ended September 30, 2018 :

Potential
to Have
Pattern of  Pattern of
Section Violations Violation
Section  Section 104(d) Section Section Mining Under Under
104 S&S 104(b) Citations 110(b)(2) 107(a) Proposed Related Section Section
Citations Orders and Orders Violations Orders Assesg)ments Fatalities 104(e) 104(e)
Mine ID Mine or Operation Name (#) (#) (#) (#) (#) (%) (#) (yes/no) (yes/no)
0200137  Freeport-McMoRan Bagdad Inc. (Bagdad) — — — — — — — No No
Freeport-McMoRan Chino Mines Company
2900708  (Chino) — — — — — 4,584 — No No
0200112  Freeport-McMoRan Miami Inc (Miami) — — — — — — — No No
0200024  Freeport-McMoRan Morenci Inc (Morenci) 14 — 4 — — 68,447 — No No
0203131  Freeport-McMoRan Safford Inc (Safford) — — — — — — — No No
0200144  Freeport-McMoRan Sierrita Inc (Sierrita) 15 — — — — 74,907 - No No
2900159  Tyrone Mine (Tyrone) 1 — — — — 2,169 - No No
0500790 Henderson Operations (Henderson) — — — — — 1,555 — No No
0502256  Climax Mine (Climax) — — — — — — — No No
Freeport-McMoRan Cobre Mining Company:
2900725 Open Pit & Continental Surf Comp — — — — — — — No No
2900731 Continental Mill Complex — — — — — — — No No
0201656  Copper Queen Branch = = = = = = - No No
0202579  Cyprus Tohono Corporation — — — — — — — No No
0203262  Twin Buttes Mine — — — — — — — No No
2902395  Chieftain 2100 Screening Plant — — — — — — — No No
0203254  Warrior 1800 Screening Plant — — — — — — — No No

(1) MSHA assigns an identification number to each mine or operation and may or may not assign separate identification numbers to related facilities.

(2) Amounts represent the total dollar value of proposed assessments received on or before October 31, 2018, for citations or orders issued by MSHA during the quarter ended

September 30, 2018 . FCX is currently contesting approximately $30 thousand of these proposed assessments.

Pending Legal Actions . The following table provides a summary of legal actions pending before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission (the

Commission) as of September 30, 2018 , as well as the aggregate number of legal actions instituted and resolved during the third quarter of 2018 . The
Commission is an independent adjudicative agency established by the Mine Act that provides administrative trial and appellate review of legal disputes arising
under the Mine Act. These cases may involve, among other questions, challenges by operators to citations, orders and penalties they have received from
MSHA, or complaints of discrimination by miners under Section 105 of the Mine Act.



The following provides additional information of the types of proceedings that may be brought before the Commission:

Contest Proceedings - A contest proceeding may be filed by an operator to challenge the issuance of a citation or order issued by MSHA.

Civil Penalty Proceedings - A civil penalty proceeding may be filed by an operator to challenge a civil penalty MSHA has proposed for a violation
contained in a citation or order. FCX does not institute civil penalty proceedings based solely on the assessment amount of proposed penalties. Any
initiated adjudications described in the table below address substantive matters of law and policy instituted on conditions that are alleged to be in violation
of mandatory standards or the Mine Act.

Discrimination Proceedings - Involves a miner's allegation that he or she has suffered adverse employment action because he or she engaged in an
activity protected under the Mine Act, such as making a safety complaint. Also includes temporary reinstatement proceedings involving cases in which a
miner has filed a complaint with MSHA stating that he or she has suffered discrimination and the miner has lost his or her position.

Compensation Proceedings - A compensation proceeding may be filed by miners entitled to compensation when a mine is closed by certain closure
orders issued by MSHA. The purpose of the proceeding is to determine the amount of compensation, if any, due to miners idled by the orders.

Temporary Relief - Applications for temporary relief are applications filed under section 105(b)(2) of the Mine Act for temporary relief from any
maodification or termination of any order.

Appeals - An appeal may be filed by an operator to challenge judges decisions or orders to the commission, including petitions for discretionary review
and review by the commission on its own motion.

Legal Actions Pending at September 30, 2018

Contest Civil Penalty Discrimination = Compensation = Temporary Legal Actions Legal Actions

Proceedings Proceedings Proceedings Proceedings Relief Appeals Total Instituted @ Resolved )

Mine ID @ ) ) #) #) #) #) #) #) #)

(

0200137 — - - — - — — —_ _
2900708 = — - ! — - — _ 1
0200112 — — - — — — — _ _
0200024 = - — — - . _ _ I
0203131 — — - — — - — _ _
0200144 — 3 _ | _l i 3 ; :
2900159 — — — — — — — — _
0500790 = - | — - . _ _ I
0502256 — — - — — - — _ _
2900725 = = — ! = - — _ I
2900731 — — — — — — — — _
0201656 = — — —l _ . — _ |
0202579 — — - — — — — _ _
0203262 = - = ! - . _ _ I
2902395 — — — — — - — —_ _
0203254 = — — — — - — _ |

1)

@)

(

3)

MSHA assigns an identification number to each mine or operation and may or may not assign separate identification numbers to related facilities. Refer to "Mine Safety Data" table
for related mine or operation name.

Legal actions pending at October 31, 2018, and legal actions instituted during the year are based on the date that a docket number was assigned to the proceeding.

Legal actions resolved during the year are based on the date that the settlement motion resolving disputed matters is filed with the Commission, and the matter is effectively closed
by MSHA.



